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Opus Securities 5.A. (the “Issuer”) accepts responsibility for the information in this Prospectus with
respect to itself and the €514,274,000 3.95 per cent. Income Certificates Exchangeable for Shares (the
“ICES”). To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Issuer, having made all reasonable enquiries, such
inforination is in accordance with the facts and does not ormit anything tkely to affect the import of sach
information. The Issuer accepts responsibility accordingly.

QTP Bazk Plc. {“OTP” or the “Bank”) accepts responsibility for the information in this Prospectus
with respect to OTE, OTP and its subsidiaries and affiliates taken as a whole (the “Group™), the ICES and
the fully paid ordinary shares of nominal value HUF100 each in the capital of OTP (the “Ordinary
Shares”} available on exchange of the ICES which is material in the context of the issue and offering of the
ICES. To the best of the knowledge and belief of OTE having made all reasonable enquiries, such
information is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such
information. OTP accepts responsibility accordingly.

OTP, having made all reasonable snquiries, further confirms that (3) the statements contained in this
Prospectus relating to OTE the Group, the ECES and the Ordinary Shares are in every material particolar
true 2nd accurate and not misleading; (i) the opinions and intentions expressed in this Praspectus with
regard to OTP, the Group, the ICES ard the Ordinary Shares are honestly held, have been reached after
considering all relevent circnmstances and are based on reasonable assumptions; (i) there are no other
facts in relation to (T, the Group, the ICES or the Ordinary Shares the omission of which would, in the
context of the issue and offering of the ICES, make any staternent in this document misteading in any
material respect; and (iv) all reasonable enquiries have been made by OTP to ascertain such facts and to
verify the acouracy of all such information and statements, OTP accepts responsibility accordingly.

This Prospectus should be read and construed with all documents incorporated herein by reference.
See “Documents Incorporated by Reference” below.

Application has been made to the Luxembourg $tock Exchange for the ICES to be admitted to the
official tist and traded on the “Bourse de Luxembourg” of the Luxerabourg Stock Exchange (the
“Luxemnbourg Stock Exchange Regulated Market™). The Luxembourg Stock Exchange Regulated Market
is a regulated market for the putposes of the Investment Services Directive (EC Directive 93/22f2EC).

Neither the ICES nor the Ordinary Shares deliverable upon exchange of the 1CES have been or will
be registered under the United Statos Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) or with
any securities regulatory authority of any other jurisdiction. The ICES are being offered and sold in
offshore transactions outside the United States in reliance on Regulation 8 (“Regulation 8”) under the
Secaritics Act and, except in a transaction exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act,
may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States.

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer, OTFP or
Merrill Lynch International (the “BManager™) to subscribe for, or purchase any of, the ICES or the
Ordinary Shares, The distribution of this Prospectus and the offering of the TCES and the Ordinary Shares
in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Prospectus comes are
required by the Lssuer, OTP and the Manager to inform themselves about and to chserve any such
resirictions. For a description of certzin further restrictions on offers and sales of the ICES and the
Ordinary Shares and distribution of this Prospectus, see “Subscription and Szle” below.

Priov to making an investment decision, all prospective purchasers of the ICES should carefuily
consider the risk factors set out herein wnder “Risk Factors” in addition fo the other information contained
ig or incorperated by reference in this Prospecius.

The ICES will be perpetual obiigations of the Issuer secured on 2 limited recourse basis over certain
assets of the Issuer as more fully described herein. The Issuer has creaied a specific compartment
(compartiment) within which the ICES will be issued and will not create any other indebtedness or
ohiigations within that compartment other than those directly related to the ICES. If the ret proceeds of
the enforcement of the security in respect of the ICES are not sufficient to meet all ohligations which
would otherwise then be dus in respect of the ICES, the obligations of the Issuer will be limited to such net
proceeds and any ather assets of the Issuer (including any assets in other compartments created by the
Tssuer from time to fime, as well as any assets heid by the Issuer outside of its comapartments) wilt not be
available to meet any shertfall, The Issuer will not be obliged to make any further payment in excess of
such net proceeds and accordingly no debt shall be owed by the Issuer in respect of such shortfall,



No petson is authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in this
Prospectus and any information or representation not so contained must not be refied upon as having been
autborised by or on behalf of the Issuer, OTP or the Manager, Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor
eny offer, sale or delivery made in connection-with the issue of the ICES shall, under any circumstance,
constitute a representation that there has been no change or development likely to involve a change in the
condition {financial or otherwise) of the Issuer, OTP or the Group since the date hereof or treate any
implication that the information contained herein is correct as of any date subsequent io the date hereof or
the date as at which that information is stated herein to be given. The information in this Prospectus in
relation to Merrill Lynch & Co. Inc. has been accurately reproduced from information published by the
samze or provided to the Issuer for inclusion herein by the same ot has been accurately reproduced from
publicly available information. So far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from information
published in relation to Mertill Lynch & Co., Inc., no facts have been omitted which wottld render the
repreduced information misleading,

None of the Issuer, OTP or the Manager is providing any advice or recommendation in this
Prospectus on the merits of the purchase, subscription for, or investment in, the ICES or the Ordinary
Shates or the exercise of any rights conferred by the 1CES or the Ordinary Shares.

No representation or warranty, express or implied, is made by the Manager as to the aceuricy,
completeness or sufficiency of the information contained in this Prospectus, and nothing contained in this
Prospectns is, or shall be relied upor as, a promise, representation or warranty by the Manager, This
Prospectus is not intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be
considered as a recommendation by the Issuer, OTP or the Manager that any recipient of this Prospectus
should purchase the ICES or any Ordinary Shares. Each potentia! prrchaser of ICES should detesmine for
itself the relevance of the information contained in this Prospectus and its purchase of ICES should be
based upon such investigations as it deems necessary.

In connection with this issne, Merrill Lynch International {the “Stabilising Manager”) (or persons
acting on behalf of the Stabilising Manager) may over.allot ICES {provided that the aggregate princlpal
amount of ICES allotted does not exceed 105 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the ICES) or
effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the ICES at a level higher than that which
might otherwise prevail, However, there is no assurance that the Stabilising Manager (or persons acting on
behalf of the Stabilising Manager) will undertake stabitisation action. Any stabilisation action may begin on
or after the date on which adeguate public disclosure of the texrms of the offer of the ICES is made and, if
begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of
the ICES and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the ICES.

Unless otherwise specified or the context requires, references herein to “£”, “pounds™ and “sterling”
age to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Notthern Ireland (the “United
Kingdom”), references herein to “U.S. dollars”, “11.5.5” and “$” are to the lawfui currency of the United
States of America, its tetritories and possessions; references herein to “Buro” and “€” are to the currency
introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary unjon pursuant to the Treaty
establishing the European Community, as amended by the Treaty on European Unior and as amended by
the Treaty of Amsterdam, references herein to “HUF" and “forints” are to the lawful currency of
Hungary, references herein to “BGN” are to the lawful currency of Bulgaria, references hersin to
“Hungary” are to the Republic of Hungary and references hercin to the “Government” are to the
government of Hungary.

Exchange Rate Information:

On 31 December 2004, €1.00 = HUF 245,93,
On 31 December 2005, €1.00 = HUF 252.73.
On 25 Qctober 2006, €1.00 = HUF 262.50.
Souzce: National Bank of Hungary.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following documents which have previously been published or are published simuitaneously with
this Prospectus and have been filed with the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (“CSSF™)
shall be incorporated in, and form part of, this Prospectus;

(2) the audited consolidated and non-consolidated annual financial statements of OTP for the
financial year ended 31 December 2004 and the andit reports thereon, comprising the
information set out at the following pages in particular:

Document Section incorporated
Congsolidated IFRS Financial Statements for the financial years ended
31 Deceznber 2004 and 2003 . ... ..uui e Pages 75 to 106
— Independent Auditors' Opinion ........................... .. .. Page 75
— Financial Statements:
= Balance Sheet.. ... Page 76
= Profit and Loss Account ..................... e, Page 77
— Statement of Cash Flow .............. I I Pages 78 to 7¢
— Statement of changes in Shareholders’ Bauity. .o..oooouii i, Page 80
—  Notes to Fivancial Statements . ....................... ... Pages 80 to 106

Unconsolidated IFRS Financizl Statements for the financial years ended

31 December 2004 and 2003 . ...\l Pages 107 ta 112
— Independent Auditors’ Opinion .............................. . . . Page 107
~ Financial Statemnents:
— BalamceSheet.......... ... . Page 108
— Profit and Loss Account . ....ouuii il Page 109
— Statement of Cash Flow ..........oooiiiiii Pages 110 to 111
— Statement of changes in Shareholders’ Bauity . ooovueyiiii s, Page 112
Notes to Financial Statements. .. ................................. Pages 112 to 134
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(b) the audited consolidated and noﬁ-consolidated annual financial statements of OTP for the
financial year ended 31 December 2005 and the audit reports therson, comprising the
information set out at the followlng pages in particalar:

Docament Secilon incorporated
Consolidated IFRS Financial Statements for the financial year ended .
31 Decemmbet 2005 o o ovener e et Pages 64 to 109
— Independent Auditors’ Tt SETSUURPPPORRETRREEEREE AR Page 64
_. Financiel Statemenis:

o BalAne SREEL. .o v e e i eI Page 65

— Profit and Loss Account ... F T R Page 66

— Statement of €ash FIOW « oo ooy mmunsres st Page 67

—  Statement of changes in Shareholders’ BQuity . o .o vovv o reeersenr Page 68

——  Noles to the Consolidated TFRS Financial Statements as at December 31,2005 Pages 69 to 109

Unconsolidated IFRS Financial Statements for the financial year ended

31 December 2005 o v e e nr e s e Pages 110 to 151
+~ Independent ANGitoss OPIDION .. cvonvrrerssemere o Page 11¢
— Financial Statements:

o Balamee SREEl. .oy eeeerpee sy Page 111

_— Profit and Loss Account «.oooveerrrerires o e Page 112

_ Staterent of Cash Flaws . o oo vvn e et Page 113

— Statement of changes in Sharzholders' BQuity . .o v ovvoes s Page 114

— Notes to the unconsolidated IFR$ Financial Statements as at 31 December,
R Pages 115 to 151

{¢) the unandited interim condensed un-consolidated financial statements of OTP for the six months
ended 30 June 2006; and

{d) the English langrage translation of the By-Laws of OTP,

save that any statements contained in 2 document which is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein
shall be deemmed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Prospectus to the exient that a
statement contained in any subsequent document which is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein
or set out in this Prospectus modifies or supersedes such earhier statement (whether expressly, by
implication or otherwise). Any staterment s0 modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as s0

modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this Frospectus.

Any information included in the documents listed in {a) and (b) above but not listed in the cross
reference tables listed abave is given for information purposes only. '

Copies of docurzents incarporated by reference in this Prospeetus can be chtaned from the website of
OTE, www.otpbank ki, and/or from the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, www.pourseu. The
contents of such websites shall not form part of this Prospectus. In. addition, copies of such documents will
he available free of charge during usnat business hours at the specified offices for the time being of each of
the Paying, Transier and Exchange Agents.



OVERVIEW OF THE OFFERING

The following is an overview of the principal features of the ICES and the offering. For a sunimary of the
provisians relating to the ICES while in global form, see “Sumimary of Provisions Relating to the ICES whie in
Global Form”™. Terms defiried under “Terms and Conditions of the ICES” {the “Conditions "} or elsawhere jn
this Prospectus shall have the Same respeciive meanings in this overview: The Jollowing overview is gqualified in
its entirety by the morz detailed information appearing elsewhere in this FProspectus,

Isswer ..................... Opus Securities S.A., a special purpose vehicle set up as 2
securitisation vehicle, incorporated in Luzembourg a3 a société
anofyme.

The ICES................... €514,274,000 in aggregate principal amount of 3.95 per cent.

Income Certificates Exchangeable for Shares to be issned within a
specific compartment (compartiment) of the Issner and which will
be exchangeable for Ordinary Shares in the manner set out in the
Conditions.

Transaction Structure ., , .. .. .. The net proceeds from the issue of the ICES will be uged by the
Issuer to fund the purchase from OTE, by no later than the Closing
Date, of 14,500,000 Ordinary Shares, which prior thereto will have
been held as treasury shares by OTP As of 10 October 2005, the
Issuer entered into the Subordinated Swap Agreement with OTP
and the Sscurities Lending Agreement with the Stock Borrower.
The Issver will use jts rights in respect of the Ordinary Shares held
by it or on its behalf from time to time and its rights under the
Subordinated Swap Agreement, the Securities Lending Agreement
and the other Traosaction Documents entered into by it in
cormection with the issue of the ICES to service its pbligations
under the ICES. See “Terms and Conditions of the ICES” and
“Security for the ICES” for further detaits.

The Offering ..., .,,., .. .. .. The ICES are being offered by the Manager outside the United
States in accordance with Regulation S under the Securjties Act,

Issue Price.....,....,..... .. 160 per cent. of the principal amount,

Denemination. . ... .. ... .. €125,000 and integral multiples of €1,000 in excess thereof.
Closing Pate ,...,.... .., .. 31 October 2006 {the “Closing Date™),

Interest Rate prior fo the First

ResetDate ............ . ... . The rate of intetest payable on the ICES for Interest Periods

aceurting prior to 31 October 2015 (the “First Reset Date™) will be
3.95 per cent, per annum, subject as provided under “Enhanced
Interest Rate” below. Interest will be payable, subject as providad
below, on the ICES annually in arrear on 31 October iy each year
(each an “Interest Payment Date™), commencing 31 October 2007,

Intetest Rate on and after the

First Reset Date .. .,...., . .. . From and jncluding the First Reget Date and unless previously
purchased and cancelled, exchanged or redeemed as provided in
the Conditions, the ICES will bear interest at a floating rate per
annum gqual to the sum of three month EURIBOR plus a margin
of 3.0 per cent,, subject as provided under “Enhanced Interest
Rate” below. Interest will ba payable, subject as provided below, on
the ICES quarterly in arrear on {subject to adjustment as provided
herein) 31 January, 30 April, 31 Taly and 31 October in each year
(each also an “Interest Payment Date"), commencing on
31 January 2617,

Non-payment of Interest ., .,, . .. Interest will not be payable on the ICES on an Interest Payment
Date if and to the extent that OTP has given notice to the Issuer

i
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Dividend SWOPPEr .- v+ v oo

pursuant to the provisions of the Subordinated Swap Agreement
that it will not make payment of any sum otherwise due in respect
of interest on the Subordinated Swap Agreement or such Interest
Payment Date. OTP may give such notice to the lssuer in its
absolute discretion.

Payraents of interest on the ICES will be non-curnulative and, to
the extent that any such payment is mot paid as described above,
the ICES Holders will not have any claim in respect of the amount
of interest which would otherwise have been due on the relevant
Interesi Payment Date.

1¢ and to the extent that any notice is given by OTF to the Issuer as
referred to under “Non-payment of Interest” above, OTF will not
{a) declare or pay any, distribution or dividend or make any other
payment on, and will procure that #o distribution or dividend o7
other payment is declared, paid or made on, any Junior Securities
or Dividend Parity Securities, or (b} (if otherwise permitted}
redeen, purchase, sancel, reduce or otherwise acquire any Tunior
Securities or Dividend Parity Securities, in each case unless of until
{he interest due and payable on the 1CES on a subsequent Interest
Payment Date (or, if this provision applies after the First Reset
Date, the interest due and payable on the ICES on any four
subsequent consecutive Interest Payment Dates) has been paid in
fult (or an amount equal to the same has been duly set aside of
provided for in falt for the benefit of the Issuer and the 1CES
Holdess and in 2 manner satisfactory to the Trostee).

The ICES will constimte secursd, limited recourse obligations of
the Issuer, as provided in the Conditions, at all times ranking pari
passu and without aay preference amongst themselves,

The lssuer’s obligations under the ICES, including payment
abligations and delivery chligations in respect of the Exchange
Rights, will be secured by, inter ali, the foflowing (in swmmary):

(i) the Security Deposit Agreement governed by Hungarian
law creating e security deposit (fvaddk) over the Ordinary
Shares held by or for the Issuer from time to time and,
subject to the Transaction Documents, to all sums oF assets
derived therefrom, all in accordance with Sections 270 and
271 of Act NoJV of 1959 on the Civil Code of the Republic
of Hungary;

(if) assignments by way of securiiy of the Tssuer's rights, title
and interest arising or existing under the Custody
Agreement, the Agency Agreement, the Subordinated
Swap Agreement, the Securities Lending Agreement and
the ML Guarantee; and

()  afirst fixed charge over the Issuer's rights, tile and interest

arising or existing in respect of any monies held by the

Registrar or the Principal Paying, Transfer and Exchange
Agenl 10 meet payments due in respect of the ICES,

The property listed above, together with any other properfy Or
assets held by andfor charged ix favour of and/or assigned 10 fthe
Trustee pursuant io the Security Documents and/or any deed or
docurnent supplemental thereto is referred o herein as the
ageaured Property”, Subject to 20y relevant termination rights, the
property and agreements cornprising the Secured Property have no
set maturity date(s),



Limited Recourse . . .

Ranking of OTP’s Obligations
under the Subordinated Swap

Agreement .., ...,

Exchange for Ordinary Shares
(Exchange Rights) and Adjustment

of the Exchange Price

14,500,000 Ordinary Shares have been sold to the Issuer by OTP
and, except as provided herein, will be helg by OTP as Custodian
on behalf of the Issuer in an account with KELER {the Central
Clearing House and Depositary Ltd., the central Hungarian
depositary and clearing system) (subject to the security descobed
above). Howsver, the [ssuer may pursuant to the Securities
Lending Agreement lend from time to time up to 7,250,000
Ordinary Shares sold to it by OTP pugsuant 1o the terms of the
Subordinated Swap Agreement. Therefore, the Issuer will use the
Ordinary Shases remaining with the Custodian, together with jis
rights under the Secugities Lending Agreement, the Subordinated
Swap Agreemens and the other Transaction Documents, to service
its obligations in respect of the ICES. See Condition 2 snd
“Security for the ICES” for further datails,

The Trustee and the ICES Halders shall have recourse only to the
Secured Property in the compartment within which the ICES are
issued and, the Trustee having reatised the same and distributed the
Net Proceeds in accordance with Condition 2 and the Trust Deed,
none of the Trustee or the FCES Holders or anyone acting on their
behalf shall be entitied to take any further steps agafnst the Issuer
(including the compartment within which the ICES are issued and
any other compartment created by the Issuer from time to time) to
recover any further sum and no debt shall be owed by the Issuer
(inclading the compartment within which the ICES are issued and
any other compartment of the Issuer created by it from time to
time) in respect of such sum. In particalar, none of the Trustee or
the ICES Holders skall be entitled to institute, or join with any
other person in bringing, instituting or joining, insolvency
proceedings (whether court based or otherwise) in relation to the
Tssuer or seck the liquidation of any compartment of the Issuer and
nexe of them shalt kave any claim in respect of any sum arising in
respect of any assets secured for the benefit of any other
obligations of the Issuer or contained in any other compartments of
the Issuer,

OTP's obligations under the Subordinated Swap Agreement will
rank on 2 liguidation of OTP junior in tight of payment to the
ciaims of holders of any present or future Senjor Secutities, pari
passu with the claims of hoiders of any present or future Parity
Securities, and semior to the claims of hoiders of any present or
future Junior Securitics.

See “Security for the ICES—The Subordinated Swap Agreement”
and "“—OTP Coverants/Limited Remedies” belaw for further
detaiis,

Unless previously purchased and cancelled, each ICES wil entitie
‘the holder to exchange such ICES into Ordinary Shares at the then
applicable Exchange Price at any time on or afier 31 October 2011
and up to the close of business on 17 October 2016. Bach ICES
may also be exchanged prior to 31 October 2011 for a Limited
periad following the accurrence of a Relevant Event (being a
change of controf in respect of OTE as more particularly described
in the Conditions).




Cash Alternative Amount Election

and Extra Ordinary Shares

The initial Bxchange Price will be HUF 8,346 per Ordinary Share.
Accordingly, based on the fixed rate of exchange of HUF 263.50 =
€1.00, each €125,000 in principal amount of ICES may initially be
exchanged for 3,524 Qrdinary Shares.

The Exchange Price will be subject to adjustment in certain
circamstances deseribed in “Terms and Conditicns of the ICES—
Exchange of ICES into Ordinary Shares”, including upon OTP
making a Capital Distribution and  {in  accordance with 2
downwards ratcbet) upon the ocourrence of a Relevant Event, as
provided n the Conditions.

As used herein, “Capital Distributicn”™ means:

(i) any Non-Cash Dividend (in which case the Capital
Distribution shall be the Fair Market Value of the relevant
Spin-Off Securities or, as the case may be, the relevant
property of assets); of

(i) aCash Dividend (the “Relevant Dividend™) paid in respect
of any fiscal year {the “Relevent Fiscal Year™) or part
thereof, to the extent that the sum of (a) the Fair Market
value of the Relevant Dividend per Ordinary Share and
{b) the Fair Market Value per Ordinary Share of the
aggregate of any other Cash Dividend(s) paid in respect of
the Reievant Fiscal Year or part thereof (disregarding for
such purpose eny amount previously determined to be a
Capitel Distribution in respect of the Relevant Fiscal Year
or part thereof) exceeds the amount per Ordinaty Share
shown in the table below for the Relevant Fiscal Year

question.

. Amount ger

Relevant Fiscal Year Ordinary Share

e e . —
(HUF)
DB o vvsrwamrrr e 21479
0T v esmasen s ra g 250.13
D B R 278,04
DOOG oo e v rer e 33256
LD 4 evrerme e 340.19
17 T S 366.65
s v PP R 384.9%
L1 % T peearan 404.23
/1T R T R ] 424.45
IOLS vuevvcrnnanrmnm e 445,67
DOLE v vvrevarnenerr Ty 487.85

Qrdinary Shares to be delivered npon exchangs will be fully paid
and will rank part passu in all respects with the fully paid Ordinary
Shares in issue on the relevant Exchange Date.

Under the Subordinated Swap Agreement, OTP has agreed that, to
the extent that after the Closing Date there is any downward
adjustment 1o the Exchange Price and as a result thereof the
number of Oréinary Shares held by or for the Issuer {when
aggregated with the aumber of Ordinary Shares which the Issuer
has lent to the Stock Borrower at such time under the Securities
Lending Agreement and the aumber of Qrdinary Shares in respect
of which OTP has previously made a Cash Alternative Amount
Election} is less than the pumber of Ordinary Shares fnto which ali

10



No Maturity .

Redemption at the Option of the

Issuer ... ..

Enhanced Interest Rate , .., .. ..

Redemption at the Option of the

ICES Holders

of the ICES then outstanding could be exchanged at the then
prevailing Exchange Price, OTP shall, on such date determined
pursuant to the Subordinated Swap Agreement, elect either to
(%) deliver to the Issuer a corresponding number of Extra Ordinary

Skares (if, at such time, the delivery of such shares is permitted in

accordance with applicable law) or, () int lieu of defivery thereof,
make a Cash Altenative Amount Elaction to pay to the Issuer,
upon the exercise (if any) of Exchange Rights by aay ICES Holder,
an amovat equal to the Cash Alternative Amount attributable to
the number of Extra Ordinazy Shares to which such ICES Holder
would have been entitled in the absence of such Cash Alternative
Amourt Election (and the Issuer shail on Teceipt of the Cash
Alternative Amount pay the same to the relevant ICES Holder in
accordance with the Conditions), Bach Cash Alternative Arount
Election, once made, shall be irrevocabls. Although OTP reserves
the right to elect to deliver Fxpa Ordinary Shares in such
circurnstances (if at such time the delivery of such shares is permitted
in accordance with applicable law), it is its current intention to
exercise the Cash Alternative Amount Election in all such
circumstances.

The ICES are perpetual securities with no scheduled maturity date,

Unless previously purchased and cancelled or exchanged as
provided in the Conditions, the ICES will be redeemed {in whole
and not in part only) at their principal amount together with
accrued interest only in the following circumstances:

(i) if OTP exercises its optien to terminate the Subordinated
Swap Agreement at any time prior to 31 QOctober 2016
following the occarrerce of a Redemption Bvent;

(i} if OTP exercises its option to termigate the Subordinated

Swap Agreement at any time prior to 21 October 2015 or .

on agy Interest Payment Date thereafter folowing the
occutrence of 2 Relevant Event; or

(iif) if OTP exercises its option to terminate the Bubordinated
Swap Agreement (such optien being in OTP’s absolute
discretion) on 31 October 2016 or on aty Interest Payment
Date thereafter,

As used herein, “Redemption Event” means that Exchange Rights
shall have been exercised and/or purchases (and corresponding
canceliations) effected in tespect of 85 per cent. or more in
principal amount of the ICES originally issued.

If a Relevant Event oceurs and OTP does aot, within 30 days of
such Relevant Event, elect to terminate the Suberdinated Swap
Agreement as described above, the TCES will instead bear interest
at the Enhanced. Inferest Rate, being the Floating Interest Rate
(including the margin of 3.0 per cent, per annum referred to above)
plus an additional margin of 0.5 per cent, per annum, The
Enhanced Interest Rate will be payabie quarterly in arrear and, for
the avoidance of doubt, shall also be payable {provided that the
above conditions have been met) during the period when the
Interest rate which would otheswise have been applicable is a fixed
rate of interest payable annually I arrear. See Condition 7(c) for
further details.
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Withhelding Taxes (No gross up). .

Isguer Covenants ......ceoro-

All payments in respect of the ICES shall be made without
withholding or deduction for anmy taxation uniess such deduction or
withholding is requived by law. In the event of deductions or
withholding being required by law, there will be no grossing wp of
any payments on the ICES.

The Issuer will not, so long as any of the ICES remains
outstanding, without the prior written approval of the Trustee or as
approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the ICES Holders, in
rolation to or within the compartment of the fssuer within which
the ICES are issued {among other things):

(i) engage in any business other than (x) acquiring and holding
the Secured Property, entering into the Transaction
Documents, entering into  related agreements and
transactions and performing acts incidental to or necessary
in connection with any of the foregoing and (y) incurring
any other Permitted Indebtedness and creating or incurring
further obligations relating to the same;

(i) dispose of any Secured Property or any interest therein, or
create any mortgage, charge or sgeurity or right of recourse
in Tespect thereof in favour of any person other than as
referred to in Condition 2 and other than in connection
with any other Permitted Indebtedness;

(i) cause or permit any Transaction Document to be amended,
terminated or discharged (other than as contempiated by
the ‘Trust Deed and the Conditions) or amend, supplement
or otherwise modify its constitutional documents;

(i) release any party to any Transaction Document from any
obligations existing thereunder;

(v) without prejudics to its rights pursuant to Conditions 7(b),
7(e) or T{f), purchase any ICES in the open market or
otherwise;

(vi) have any subsidiaries or employees;

(vif) consent to any variation of, or exercise any powers or
congent or waiver pursuant to the terms of any Transaction
Document or any oiher velated transactions;

(viil) consolidate or merge with any other person or convey ot
’ transfer its properties or assets substantially as an eatirety
to any person (other than as contemplated by the Trust

Deed and the Conditions);

() consolidate or merge the compartment within which the
ICES are issued with any other compartment of the Issner
or convey or transfer the properties or assets of the
carnpartment within which the ICES are issued to another
compartraent of the Issuer;

(%) issue any shares {other than such shares as aré in issue at
16 October 2006) or make any distribution to its
shareholders;

(d) open or have any interest in any account with a bank ot
Enancial institetion unless (x} such account or the Issuer’s
interest in it is simultapeously charged in favour of the
Trustee s as to form part of sach Secured Property,
(¥) such account refates to the issue of other Permitied
Indebtedness or (z) such accovnt is opested in connection
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OTP Covenants/Limited Remedies .

Events of Default .,...........

Governing Law

with the administration and minagement of the Issver and
only moneys necessary for that putpose are credited to jt;

(i) declare, pay or make any dividend or other distribution in
respect of its shares:

(dif} incur any other indebtedness for torrowed moneys, other
than Permitted Indebtedness; or

{(xiv) purchase, own, Jease or otherwise acquire any real property
(including office premises or like facilities).

The Subordinated Swap Agreement will be 2 sitbordinated
abligation of OTP and will contain no negative pledge and only
limited events of default (dissolution znd liquidation). In addition,
the sole remedy available to the Tssuer {or, upon enforcement of
the Secured Property, the Trustee or the ICES Holders) against
OTP under the Subordinated Swap Agreement for recovery of
amounts owing thereunder will be proving or claiming for the same
in any proceedings commenced by OTP or a third perty in Hungary
(but not elsewhere) for the dissolution and fiquidation of OTE
OTP has also given certain additional covenants to the Issuer
pursuant - to the Subordinated Swap Agreement.  See
Condition 11(b} for details.

The ICES will contain certain Bvents of Default including in
relation to failure by the Issuer to Ppay any amounts when due under
the ICES, failure by the Tssuer to deliver Ordinary Shares upon
exercise of Exchange Rights, failure by the Tssuer to perform any of
its other obligations under the I1CES or the Trast Deed, the
bankruptcy, stay of paymenis, controlled management,
moratorium, liquidaticn, winding-up or dissolution of the Essuer,
the lquidation of the compartment of the Issuer within which the
ICES are issued and the illegality of the ICES or any Transaction
Document.

An BEvent of Default wit also occur under the ICES if:

(i} the Stock Borrower fails to deliver any Ordinary Shares to
the Issuer under the Securities Lending Agreement ot the
Guarantor fails to make payment under the ML Guarantee,
and in each case such failure is not remedied within seven
days, or the Securities Lending Agreement is terminated
for any reason;

(i) certain specified events relating to the liguidation of OTP
oceur; or

(i} OTP or the Issuer defanlts for o periad of five days or more
under the Subordinated Swap Agreement, or the
Subardinated Swap Agreement is terminated for any
reason.

The security referred to in “Security” above will become
enforceable (1) if payment in respect of the FCES js not made when
dug and payable or (ii) upon the oceurrence of any BEvent of
Defavit. See, however, “—Q7TP Covenants/Limited Remedies”
above,

The ICES, the Subordinated Swap Agreement {except as stated
below), the Securities Lending Agreement, the Trust Deed and the
Agefioy Agreement will be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, English law.
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Registrar - .. ..

Principal Paying, Transfer and

Exchange Agent

Custodian .. ..

Sales Restrictions , .. ... - .. 00y

Listing and Trading ......... .

ISTN for the ICES ... v\ v- v e s
Common Code for the ICES ... ..

The Security Deposit Agrssment, the Custody Agreement and
certain  provisions of the Subordinated  Swap Agreement,
concerning the subordination of OTP’s obligations thereunder, are
governed by, and shall he construed in aceordance with, Hungarian
law,

The ML Guarantee (in relation to the Seonrities Lending
Agreement) Is governad by, and shall be construed in accordance
with, the laws of the State of New York,

The provisions of articles 86 to 94-8 of the Luxembourg law dated
10 August 1915 on commercial companies, as amended, will not
apply in respect of the ICES.

J, B Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A

TPMozgan Chase Bank, N.A.
OTP Bank Ple.
BNY Corporate Trustee Services Limited

The ICES will be constituted by a Trust Deed to be dated en or
about the Closing Date betweer the Tssuer and the Trustee.

The ICES will be issued in registered form. The ICES will be
represented by & Global YCES, without interest coupons, which will
be deposited with, and registered in the name of a nominee for, a
common depositary of Euroclear Bank S.A/N.V. (“Buroclear”)
amé Clearstreamn  Banking, société suonyme (*Clearstrear,
Luxembourg™) on or about the Closing Date, The Globai ICES will
be exchangeable for definitive ICES in registered form only in the
timited circumstances set out therein and herein. See “Summary of
Provisions Relating to the ICES while in Global Form”,

There are restrictions on offers and sales of the ICES, iriter atia, in
the United States {Regulation 8, Category 1; not Rule 144A
cligible), the United Kingdom and Hungary. See “Subscription and
Sale".

The Issuer has applied for the ICES to be admitted to the Official
List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and for the ICES to be
traded on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange Regulated Market. The
Ordinary Shares trade on the Budapest Stock Bxchange under the
symbol “OTE”, The International Secarities Identification Number
(#1SIN") in respect of the Ordinary Shates is HK0000061726.

Ordinary Shares to bs delivered on exchange of the ICES will be
delivered in uncertificated form through KELER, the Hungarian
central clearing and depositary  system, OF Clearstream,
[uxembourg {at the opticn of the relevant ICES Holder).

X80272723551
027272355

QTP has, subject to certain exceptions, agreed mot to issue or sell
Ordinary Shares (in a public transaction} or certain related
securities for the period ending 90 days after the Closing Date. See
“Subscription and Sale”.

The gross proceeds of the offering will be €514,274,400. The Issuer
has agreed to pay a combined management and underwriting
commmission and selling concession to the Manager and, at the sole
discretion of OTE an incentive fee may also be payable to the
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Manager in connection with the issme of the ICES. The net
proceeds are payable to OTP by or on behaif of the Issuer pursuant
to the terms of the Subordinated Swap Agreement and related
transactions entered into by (among others) OTP and the Issuer in
connection with the issue of the ICES and the safe of 14,500,000
Ordinary Shates by OTP to the Issuer as described in this
Prospectus,

The net proceeds payable to OTP as described above are expected
to be used by it to fund in part its acquisitions of the Russian
Investsberbank Group (2 96.4 per cent, stake) and Raiffeisenbank
Ukraine (a 100.0 per cent. stake), Subject to market conditions,
OTP expects to finance the remaining consideration required for
these acquisitions by issuing non-gifutive, perpetual subordinated
debt in the near term. OTP intends to focus its attention on the
consolidation of the acquired assets throughout the remainder
of 2006, See further “The Bank—Recent Developments”.
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RISK FACTORS

Prior fo making an investtnent decision, prospeciive purchasers of the TCES should carefully consider the
visk factors set out below in addition to the other information contained in this Prospectus and in the documents
ingorporated by reference into this Prospectus. Stuch documents will Be available as described under
“Documents Incorporated by Reference” abave.

Risk Factors Relating to OTP

This section describes some of the risk factors that could affect the Group’s operations. The risks set
out below are not the only ones that the Group faces—some Tisks are not yet known to the Group and
some not currently believed to be material conld turn out to be material in the future, All of these risks
could materiaily affect the Group’s business, its revenues, operating incerme, net income, net assets and
liquidity and capital resources.

Risks related to lending and general economic conditions, in particilar in Hungary and the region

Risks avising from changes in credit quality and the recoverability of loans and amounts due from
covnterpariies are inherent in a wide range of OTP's businesses. Adverse changes in the credit quality of
OTP's borrowers or counterparties, 2 general deterioration in economic conditions in Hungary in
particular or in Central and Fastern Europe generally or systemic risks in the financiat systems in such
locations could affect the recoverability of extended loans or other assets and require an adjustment in
OTP’s provisions for bad and doubtful debts.

The fiscal austerity policies recently announced by the Hungarian government may have an adverse
effect on the Hungariar: econoray. As a direct or indirect consequence of these policies, there may be lower
demand from customers for OTP’s products or services, OTP may suffer a deterioration in the credit
quality of its lending portfotios, and OTP may be subject to higher rates of taxation than would otherwise
have been the case. These policies or future government policies or actions could, directly or indirectly,
have & material adverse effect on OTP’s financial situation or results of operations. See also “The Bank-—
Brief Description of the Group’s Activities and Results—Trend Information™.

Whils OTP's management considers that it has in place adequate evatuation procedures to mitigate
the credit risk, OTP may be umable to evaluate comectly the current economic condition of each
prospective borrower and 16 determine the long-term economic outlook for each such borrower. Even if
OTP regelarly estimates the net realisable value of collateral in determining the applicable provisioning
and coliateral requirements, and believes that its provision levels and the collateral supporting loans are
adequate, thers can be no assurance that an impairment in the ability of one or more of the borrowers to
repay their loans would not result in an adverse effect on OTF’s financial siteation and results of
operations.

OTE's financial condition and results of eperations could be affected by politicat changs or changes in
governmental poticies in the countries in which OTP operates or 10 which it otherwise has exposure. In
some circomstances such changes could have a material adverse cffect on OTE :

Thete have boen recent nstances in Hungary of political unrest, including public demonstrations.
Continued political difficulties could sesult in further changes in governmental policies or in an adverse
change in the economic conditions in Hungary and as & consequence could lead to a material adverse
change in OTP's financial situation or results of operations.

Liquidity risks
Due to the significant volume of retail deposits in the Hungarian market, OTP has a high liquidity rate
resulting from the fact that it receives more deposits than the volume of loans it extends to vetail or

corporate clients, OTP’s liquidity policy is to meet all payment obligzations as and when they fall due,
however, there is no guarantee that maturity adequacy will prevail at all iimes.

In addition, any economic difficulties that affect the ability of OTP’s depositors to meet Liquidity
seeds from current operations could also cause such clients to withdraw their funds from OTE U such
withdrawals were 1o occur within a relatively short period of time, it could cause Leidity difficalties for
OTP and also the loss of a significant source of funding, which could have a material adverse effect on the
financiat condition and results of operations of OTE For further detalls in respect of Yiguidity risks, see
“The Bank-~Asset-Lizbility Management”,
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OTP's exposure to interest rate risk

The level of OTP’s exposure to interest rate risk js fairly low, due to the fact that the greater part of jts
deposit portfolio consists of short maturity deposits and is also repriceable at OTP's discrotion on the basis
of market wwends, Nevertheless, changes in interest rate levels, yield curves and spreads may affect the
interest rate masgin realised between lending and borrowing costs. For further details, see “The Bank—

Asset-Lisbility Management”.

Changes in foreign exchange rates, equity prices and other market factors

The lending risk of OTP’s foreign exchange-based transactions is increased by the fact that the typicat
curtency of income from clients may be different from the currency of coliateral sales, Currency

experience. Lending denominated in foreign currency and funds raised in foreign currency do not
necesserily mean that OTP’s receivables and obligations arise in the same cusrency. Further, changes in
curtency rates, particularly in the HUS-EUR exchange rate, affect earnings reported by OTP’s subsidiaries
and also the income from foreign currency dealing. For further details, see “The Bank—aAsset-Liability
Management”.

Further significant risks which OTP faces are bond and equity price risks and market risks. The
performance of the financial markets may cause changes in the value of OTP’s investment and trading
portfolios. Although OTF has impiemented risk Taanagement methods to mitigate these risks, it cannot be
predicted with safety what effect the alteration of economic and market conditions may have on OTP’s
financial performance and business operations.

Risks related to growth strategy

OTP devotes substantial management and planaing resources to the development of strategic pians
for organic growth and identification of possible acquisitions, supported by substantial expenditure to
generate growth in client business. As a result of these efforts, OTP could successfully expand its network
and acquire new subsidiaries. The overalf growth of OTP's business also requires greater atlocation of
management resources, involving, among other things, continued development of OTP’s financial and
information management control systems, the ability to integrate new branches or newly acquired
subsidiaries with existing operations and management systems, the ability to attract and retain sufficient
rumbess of qualified management and other personnel, the continued training of such personre! and the
adequate supervision of the maintenance of high-level client services. Failure to manage this growth conid
have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects of
OTE I the strategic plans of OTP in respect of futther expansion are not successful, GTP’s earnings may
grow more slowly or decline. See further “The Bank—Recent Developments™.

Operational risks

OTPs businesses are dependent on ite ability to process a very large number of transactions efficiently
and accurately, OTP is exposed to many types of operational tjsk, including fraud by employees or
outsidets, unauthorised transactions by employees or operatienal errors, including clerical or record-
keeping emors or errors resulting from faulty computer or telecommunications systems. Although OTP
maintains 2 system of controls designed to keep operational risks at appropriate Jevels, it cannot be
absolutely certain that such control procedures will be effective for the management of all aperational risks
which OTP faces.

Regulatory oversight

OTF is subject to Hungarian financial services taws, regulations, administrative actions and policies as
further described under “The Hungarian Banking System”, Any changes in this supervision and regulation

could materially affect OTP's business, products and results of operations.

Basel Capital Reguirements Directive

The Basel Committee has issuad proposals for reform of the 1988 Basel Capital Accord and has
proposed a new framework, which places enhanced emphasis on market discipline and sensitivity to risk.
OTP cannot predict the precise effects of the potential changes that might resuit from implementation of
the proposals on both its own financial performance or the impact on the pricing of its Ordinary Shares
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andfor the ICES. Prospective investors in the ICES should consult their own advisers as to the
consequences for them of the potential application: of the New Basel Capital Accord proposals.

ansiont of the Group’s business into Central and Eastern Europe
p P

Recent acquisitions by OTP in the Central and Eastern European (the “CEE"} markets, and the
expansion and integration of the acquired businesses may impact upon the consolidated financial resuits of
the Group., The ongoing integration of these businesses may also expose OTP to risks associated with
monitoring these operations and will require continued capital expenditure, the implementation of which

may carry execution risk. OTP can give no assurances as to the future profitability of its CEE acquisitions
and their continued strategic viability as part of the Group.

In addition, the CEE acquisitions wil in some arkets such as Russia not operats to give the Group 2
market share comparable to its Hungarizn business model and might require more aggressive lending
terms to gain market presence.

Increase in proportion of merigage loans denominated in non-HUF currencies

The proportion of moTtgage loans made by the Group in non-HUF currencies has icreased. In the
case of non-HUF denominated loans, OTP is the only bank in Hungary that offers FX protection schermes
for its clients as of the date of this Prospectus. Movements in exchange rates could lead to berrowers being
unable to meet repayments on MOTLEAge loans ané vlimately to defaults vnder such loans as there is no
obligation: on: the borrowers to hedge. Such defaults could have an impact on the financial resuits of the
Growp.

Hungarian government policy

OTP can give no assurances that the ongoing austerity measures being applied by the Hungarian
government will not negatively impact upon the business of OTP and the Group. Although the
tmplementation of Act LIX which seeks 1o achieve a balanced state budget, and introduce a special
banking tax and the recent introduction of capital gains and withholding taxes on interest income and
capitel gains on the disposal of securities have as yet had no absolute impact on OTP’s business, there can
be no assurance that this pesition will not change in the future, The continuing uncettainty and delay inthe
introduction of the Buro in Hungary may have a negative impact on the sconomic climate within Hungary
which may in turn have an impact on OTP's business operations.

Risk Factors Relating to the Markets for the ICES and the Ordinary Shares
No prior market
There can be no assurance regarding the future development of & market for the ICES, or the ability

of the 1CES Holders to sell any or all of their 1CES, or the price, if any, at which such ICES Holders may
be able to sell their ICES. If a market for the ICES were to develop, the ICES could trade at prices that
may be higher or lower than the Tssue Price referred to on the first page of this Prospectas depending on
many factors, including prevailing interest Tates, OTP's operating resulis and the market for simifar
securities. Therefore, there can be no assurance as to the liquidity of any trading market for the ICES or
that an active market for the JCES will develop,

Valatility of the market for the ICES and the Ordinary Shares

The market price of the Ordinary Shares has been subject to volatility and fluctuations i the market
prics of the Ordinary Shares may affect the market price of the JCES, The market price of the ICES and
the Ordinary Shares could be subject to wide fluctuations in response 1o numerous factors, many of which
are beyond the control of OTF. These factors inclade, among other things, actual or anticipated varfations
in operating results, earnings releases by the Group and its competitors, changes in financial estimates by
securities anelysts, market conditions in the banking industry, the general state of the securities markets,
governmental legistation or regulation and currency and exchange rate flactoations, as well as general
economic and rmarket conditions, such as recessions.

Limited liquidity on the Budapest Stock Exchange

The principal trading market for the Ordinary Shares is the Budapest Stock Exchange {the “BSE”).
The BSE is Jess Hquid than major markets in Western Europe. As a result, [CES Holders and holders of
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the Ordinary Shares may have difficulty assessing the past performance of the Ordinary Shares based on
the prior trading records of the BSE. There can be no assurance about the future liquidity of the market
for the Ordinary Shares.

The price of the Ordinary Shares and that of the ICES may decline if substantial mumbers of Ordinary
Shares are sold in the market

Although OTP has agreed to certain restrictions on {ssuing Ordinaty Shares in non-private
transactions for a period which ends 50 days after the Closing Date (see “Subseription and Sate™), any
future sales of substantial numbers of the Ordinary Shares by OTP or any of its shareholders (or the
perception that such sales could occur) could adversely affect the market price of the Ordinary Shares and
therefore the ICES.

Risk Factors Relating to the Suitability of the ICES
ICES may not be a suitable investmens for alf investars

Each potential fnvestor in the ICES must determine the sujtabitity of an investment in the ICES in
light of its own cireumstances, In particular, each potential investor should: :

(i) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the ICES, the
merits and risks of investing in the 1CBS apd the information contained or inicorporated by
teference in this Prospectus;

{ii} have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular finencial situation, an investment in the ICES and the impact such investment wiil have
on its overall investment portfolio;

(#i) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear alt of the risks of an Investment i the

3

(iv) understand thoroughly the terrms of the ICES and be familiar with the bshaviour of all relevant
markets; and

{v) be able to evalnate {either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the
applicable risks,

A potential investor should ot invest in the ICES, which are complex financial instruments, unless it
has the expertise (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) to evaluate how the ICES will
perform under changing conditions, the tesulting effects on the value of the ICES and the impact this
investment will have on the potential investor's overall investment portfolio.

Legal investment considerations may restrict centain investments

EU '.S'auings Directive

Under EC Couneil Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income (the “Savings Directive”),
EU member states (sach being 2 “Member State”) are required ta provide to the tax authorities of another
Member State details of payments of interest (or similar income) paid by a person within its jurisdiction to
an individual resident in that other Member State. However, for a transitional period, Belgfurg,
Luxembourg and Austriz will instead be required (unless during that period they elect otherwise} to
operate & withholding system in relation to such payments (the ending of such transitional petiod being
dependent upon she conelusion of certain other agreements relating to information exchange with cerfain
other countries). It should be noted that the Savings Directive does not preclude any Member State which
is a party to the Savings Directive from levying other types of withholding tax or from imposing
withholding tax in other circumstances,

19

[
|
i
i
1
£
i

i
]
i
§
]




Risk Factors Relating to the Terms and Conditions of the ICES
ICES subject to optional redemption

The optional redemption features in the ICES and the Subordinated Swap Agreement are likely to
fimit the market value of the ICES at any time when the ICES may be redeemed, During the period when
the Issuer may be required to redeem ICES in accordance with Condition 7(b), the market value of those
ICES generally will not rise substantjally above the price at which they can be redeemed. This may be
particularly true i the period leading up to 31 October 2016 (the first date on which the Subordinated
Swap Agreement may be terminated by OTP for any reasen, in its absolute discretion) when (to the extent
not redesmed on such date) the ICES will accrue interest at 4 rate stepped-up to 3,00 per cent. plus three
month EURIBOR. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments
available at that time.

Restricted remedy for non-perfarmance

The sole remedy available to the Issuer {ox, following enforcement of the Secured Property, to the
Trostee or the 1CES Holders) against OTP under the Subordinated Swap Agreement for recovery of
amounts owing will be proving and claiming in any proceedings commenced by OTP or a third party in
Hungary (and not elsewhere) for the dissotution and tiquidation of OTR

OTP’s obligations under the Subordinated Swap Agreement are subordinated

The rights and claiis available to the Issuer (07, follawing enforcement of the Secured Property, to
the Trustee or the ICES Holders) against OTP under the Subordinated Swap Agreement will be
subordinated to the claims of ai Senjor Creditors. There is therefore a significant Tisk that an investor in
the ICES will fose all or some of its investment should OTP become insolvent,

Non-payment of interest on the ICES

Interest will not be payable on the ICES on an Interest Payment Date if and to the extent that OTP
has given notice to the lssuer pursuant to the provisions of the Subordinated Swap Agreement that OTP
will cancel, and accordingly not make payment of, any surm otherwise due in respect of interest under the
Subordinated Swap Agreement on an Interest Payment Date.

Payments of interest on the ICES will be non-cumulative and, to the extent that any such payment is
cancelled ps described above, the JCES Holders will not have any claim W respect of the amount of interest
which would otherwise have been due on the relevant Interest Payment Date.

Although the Subordinated Swap Agreement provides that, feilowing any non-payment of ingerest
thereunder, OTP will be restricted from making certzin payments on its Junior Securitics and Dividead
Parity Securities {as described in Condition 5(3)), petential investors should note that OTF has not in any
event declared or paid a dividend on its Ordinary Shares in respect of every fnancial year during its recent
operating history, including, most recently, no dividend was paid during 2003 in respect of the financial
year ended 31 December 2002,

Perpetual Securities

OTP is under n obligation to repay smounts owing under the Subordinated Swap Agreement at any
time. TCES Holders have no right to calf for the redemption of the ICES at any time.

Na tax gross-up

The [ssues is not obliged to make any additional payments to ICES Holders if any payment in respect
of the ICES is required to be withheld or deducted for taxation. None of the Issuer or the ICES Holders
has sny night to require redemption of the ICES in the event of such a withholding or deduction. See
“Terms and Conditious of the ICES—Taxation”.

There is @ Kmited period for, and costs associated with, the exercise of Exchange Rights

An ICES Holder will, subject as more fully described herein under “Terms and Conditions of the
1CES—Exchange of ICES into Ordinary Shares”, have the right to exchange ICES for Ordinary Shares.
Exchange Rights may only be exercised on or after 31 October 2011 up to the close of business on
17 October 2016, Tn addition, the ICES may be exchanged prior to 31 October 2011 for a limited period
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following the ocenrrence of a Relevant Fvent (being a change of coniral of OTE as more particularly
described in the Conditions), Furthermore, the relevant JCES Holder may be required to pay certain costs
associated with such exchange, as more particulasly described in Condition 6(k), and an Exchange Date
shall only be deemed to have occurred once it has done so. If the Exchange Rights are not exercised by
ICES Holders during the Fxchange Period,. andfor such costs are not paid, the ICES will remain
outstanding after the Exchange Period (but without any Exchange Rights attached) until such time (if any)
as they are redeemed at their principal amount in accordance with Condition 7(b) or are otherwise
putchased and cancelled in accordance with the Conditions,

Modification, waivers and substitution

The Conditions contain provisions for calling meetings of ICES Holders to consider matters affecting
theiz interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all ICES Holders including
ICES Holders who do not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and ICES Holders who vote in a manper
contrary to the majority.

The Conditions also provide that the Trustee may, without the consent of ICES Holders, agree to any
modification of, or to the waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of, any of the
provisions of ICES or any of the Transaction Documents or the substitution of another company as
principal debtor under the ICES in place of the Issuer, in each case in the circumstances more particularly
-described in Condition 14,

Redemption rik

Unless previously purchased and cancelled or exchanged as provided in the Conditions, the ICES wilt
be redeemed (in whole and not in part only) at their principal amount together with acerued interest only
in the following eircumstances:

{i) if OTP exercises its opticn to terminate the Subordinated Swap Agreement at any time prior to
31 October 2016 following the occurrence of a Redemption Event;

{ii) if OTP exercises its option to terminate the Subordipated Swap Agreement at any time prior to
31 October 2016 or on any Interest Payment Date thereafter foliowing the occarrence of a
Relevant Bvent; or

(iif) if OTP exercises its option to terminate the Suborginated Swap Agreement (sach option being in
OTP’s absolute discretion) on 31 October 2016 or on any Interest Payment Date thereafter,

OTP may not exercise its option to terminate the Subordinated Swap Agreement in any of the
circurastances described above unless it has first received approval from the Hungarian Financial
Supervisery Authority to do so. Thete can therefore be go assurance that any such redemption shall océur
either before or after 31 October 2016 or at all,

No limiration on issuing senior or pari passu securities

There is no restriction on the number or amount of securities which OTP may issve and which may
rank senior to, or pari passu with, OTP's obtigations under the Subordinated Swap Agreement. The issue
of any such securities may reduce the amount recoverable by the Issuer {or, upon enforcement of the
Secured Property, the Trustee or the ICES Holders} on a winding-up of OTP and/or may increase the
likelihoed of non-payment of amounts otherwise due under the Subotdinated Swap Agreement and,
consequently, the ICES.

Risk Factors relating to the Issuer
The Issuer is a special purpose vehicle with limited resources

The Issuer is a special purpose vehicle in the form of a société anonyme, set up as a securitisation
vehicle and incorporated under the laws of Luxembourg on 1 February 2006, The business of the Issuer, in
respect of the relevant compartment within which the ICES are issued, is restricted to certain activities
desaribed in Condition 11(a)(if), the Trust Deed and herein under the heading “The Issuer”. These
activities include ineurring othet obligations on a secured, limited recourse basis.

Notwithstanding that this Prospectus relates only to the issue of the ICES, prospective ivestors are
advised that the Board of Directors of the Issuer may establish one or more additional compartments, each
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of which is a separate and distinct part of the Tssuer's estate (patrimoine) and which may be distinguished
by the nature of acquired risks or assets, the termns and conditions of the debt securities issued by the Issuer
in relation to that compartment, the reference currency or other distingnishing characteristics,

The rights of holders of the debt secarities issued by the Issuer in respect of a compartment (including
the compartment within which the ICES are to be Issued) and the rights of creditors are limited to the
assets of that compartment, where these rights refate to that compartment ot have arisen at the ooeasion of
the constitution, the operation or the liquidation of the relovant compartment. The assets of a
compartment are available only 1o satisfy the rights of holders of the debt instruments issued in relation to
that compartment and the rights of the creditors whose claims have arisen at the occasion of the
constitution, the operation or the liquidation of that compartment.

Agcordingly, only the Secured Property in the compartment within which the ICES are issued will be
available in support of the Issuer's obligations under the ICES. The assets within that comparkment will
consist of, ameng other things, the Ordinary Shares held by the Issuer from time to tme and its rights
under the Subordinated Swap Agreement and the Securities Lending Agreement. See “Security for the
ICES" for further details, These assets may not be sufficient to meet all such claims in certain
ciroumnstances, such as failore by OTF to comply with its obligations under the Subordinated Swap
Agreement andfor failure by the Stock Borrower to comply with its cbligations under the Securities
Lending Agreement,

Consequerices of winding up proceedings

If the Issuer £ails for any reason to meet its obtigations or Habilities to a creditor who has not agreed
not to make application for the commencerment of winding-up or similar proceedings against the Issuer,
such creditor may be entitled to make an application for the commenceraent of Insolvency proceedings
apainst the Tssuer.

The commencement of such proceedings may involve certain conditions, catitle creditors to terminate
contracts with the Issuer and claim damages far any loss arising from such early termination. The
commencament of such proceedings may resuit in the Issuer's assets being realised and applied to pay the
foes and costs of the liguidatar, debts preferred by 1aw and debts payable in insolvency, before any surpius
is distributed to the holders of debt securities. n the event of proceedings being commenced, the Tssuer
mey ot be able to pay the amounts anticipated by the Conditions.

Compartments of the ssuer may be liquidated separately without such Hquidation resulting in the
liquidation of the Issuer itseif or any other compartment.

Limited recourse, non-petition and enforcement of security

Tn order to meet its obligations in relation to the ICES, the Issuer has acquired Ordinary Shares from
OTP and has also entered into the Subordinated Swap Agreement and the Securities Lending Agreement
(see “Security for the ICES” for descriptions of these agreements), Accordingly, ICES Holders will have {¢
rely on amounts and property received by the Issuer pursuant to OTP’s obligations under the Subordinated
Swap Agresment and the Stock Borrower's obligations under the Securities Lending Agreement (and
{hose of the Guarantor under the ML Guarantee) for payments of interest and principal on the ICES and
performence of the Exchange Rights.

To the extent that either OTF or ihe Stock Borrower (failing which, the Guarantor under the
ML Guarantee) fails to fulfil its obligations due to the Issuer under the Subordinated Swap Agreement or
the Securities Lending Agreement, as the case may be, the Issuer will be tnable to meet its obligations in
respect of the ICES, In such event, ICES will become repayable In accordance with the Conditions and the
security thezefor will become enforceable. There can be no assurance that the Trustes will, upon
enforcement, be able to take possession of the Ordinary Shares (held by OTP as Castodian for the Issuer)
or other property comprising the Secured Propetty or that if it does take possession that the net proceeds
receivable will not be less than the claims of 1he ICES Holders. If the net praceeds of the enforcement of
such security are not suficient to meet all obligations which would otherwise then be due in respect of the
ICES, the oblgations of the [ssuer will bz limited to such net proceeds and any other assets of the Issuer
(including any assets in other compartments created by the fsguer from time to Lime, as well as any assets
held by the Issuer ousside of its compartements) will not be available to meet any shortfall. The Issuer will
not be obfiged to make any further payment in excess of such net proceeds and accordingly o debt shall
bs owed by the Issuer in respect of such shortfall,
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Compatibility of the Luxembourg Securitisation Law with Etropean legislation relating to the provision of
State Aid

On 13 February 2006, the EU Commission (the “Commission”) wrote to the Luxembourg
Government, requesting information from it in respect of the Luxembourg sectritisation law (Law of
22 March 2004) and the Luxembourg law on investment companies in risk capital (SICAR) (Law of
15 Jute 2004) as regazds the compatibiiity of these laws with Enropean legislation relating to the provision
of State Aid.

If the Commission determines that a tegislative regime is in breach of EU legislation relating to the
provision of State Aid, it could (as a worst case scenafio) require that such legislation be repealed,
depending upon the circumstances. In addition, the Commission could require that such legistation be
repeated with retrospective effect.

Given that proceedings remain at a very preliminary stage, it is impossible to assess the impact, if any,
of the Commission’s request for information made to the Luxembourg Government. However, even if the
tax regime provided for in the Securitisation Law is required to be repealed as a result of the foregoing, it
is not expected that this would have a material adverse effect on the funds available to the Issuer to satisfy
its obligations under the ICES, as such a repeal would probzbly only have the effect that a minimum net
wealth tax of €62 becomes due annuglly, but would have no impact on the tax deductibility of interest paid
by the Issuer under the JCES,
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE ICES

The following, subject to completion and amendmeni, avd save for the paragraphs in italics, is the 1t of
the Terms and Conditions of the ICES.

The issae of the €514,274,000 3.95 per cent. lncome Certificates Fxchanggable for Shares {the
“ICES™) was authorised by a resolation of the Board of Directors of Opus Securities S.A. {the “Issuer™}
passed on 19 October 2006. The ICES are constituted by a trust deed dated 31 October 2006 {as the same
may be amended or supplemented from time to time, the “Trust Deed”) between the Issuer and BNY
Corporate Trustee Services Limited {the “Trustee”, which expression shall include all persons for the time
being appointed as the trustes or trustees under the Trust Deed) as trustee for the ICES Holders (as
defined below). The statéments set out in these Terms and Conditions {the “Conditions”}) are summaries
of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Dsed, which includes the forms of the ICES. The
ICES Holders are entitled to the benefit of, and are bound by, and are deemed {o have notice of, all the
provisicns of the Trust Deed and those provisions applicable to them which are contained in the Paying,
Transfer and Exchange Agency Agreement dated 31 October 2005 (as the sams may be amended or
supplemented from time to time, the “Agency Agreerent”) relating to the ICES between the Issuer, the
Trustee, JPMorgan Chase Bank, M, A. {in its capacity as (i) principal paying, transfer and exchange agent,
the “Principal Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agent”, which expression shall include any successor as
principat paying, transfer and exchange agent under the Agency Agreement and (i)} caleulation agent, the
“Calenlation Agent”, which expression shall include any successor as calculation agent under the Agency
Agreement), the paying, transfer and exchange agents for the time being {such persons, together with the
Principal Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agent, being referred to below as the “Paying, Transfer and
Exchange Agents”, which expression shall include their successors as Paying, Transfer and Exchange
Agents under the Agency Agreement) and J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A. in its capacity as registrar
(the “Registrar”, which expression shall include any successor as registrar under the Agency Agreement).
The Issuer has appointed OTP Bank Plc. as custodian (the “Custodian”, which expression shall include any
successor as custodian) in respect of the Ordinary Sheres (as defined belew) pursuant to 2 Custody
Agrecient governed by Hungarian aw and dated 31 October 2006 {as the same may be amended or
supplemented from time to time, the “Costody Agreement”).

Copies of each of the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Custody Agreement and the ather
Transaction Documents {as defined below) are available for inspeetion at the registered office for the time
being of the Trustee (being at the date of issue of the FCES at One Canada Square, Londen E14 SAL), and
at the specified offices of the Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agents and the Registrar.

Cepitalised terms used but not defined in these Conditfons shall have the meanings attributed to them
in the Trust Deed unless the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise stated.

1 Form, Denomination, Title and Statns
(a) Form and Denomination

The ICES are in registered form, serially numbered, in principal amounts of €125,000 or integral
multiples of €1,000 in-excess thereof (“authorised denominations”).

{b) Tirle

Title to the ICES will pass by transfer and registration as described in Condition 4. Each ICES Holder
will (except as otherwise required by law or as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction) be treated as
the absolute owner of the relevant ICES for all purposes (whether or not it is overdue and regardless of
any notice of ownership, trust or any interest in it or its theft or joss (oz that of the related certificate, as
appropriate) or anything written on the relevant ICES Cestificate (other than a duly executed transfer
thereef)} and ne person will be Hable for so treating the ICES Holder.

(e} Status

The ICES are secured, limited recourse obligations of the Issver, at all times ranking parf passu and
without any preference among themselves, secured in the manner deseribed in Condition 2 and recourse in
tespect of which is lirnited in the manner described in Condition 2 and Condition 15.



2 Security and Shortfall
(a} Security

The issuer’s obligations under the YCES and the Trust Deed are secured (subject as provided in these
Conditions and the Security Documents) in favour of the Trustee for the benefit of itself and the ICES
Holders pursuant to the Security-Decuments as follows:

(i) by a security deposit (Svadék) over the Ordinary Shares held by or for the Issuer from time to
time and, subject to the terms of the Transaction Documents, to a}l sums or assets derived
therefram, alt in accordaznce with Sections 270 and 271 of Act No. IV of 1959 or the Civil Code of
the Republic of Hungary;

{ii) by assignments by way of security of the Issuer’s rights, title and interest arising or existing against
the Custodian existing under the Custody Agrecment, 1o the extent that they relate to Ordinary
Shares held for the Issuer and, subject to the terins of the Transaction Docaments, of all sumns or
assets derived therefrom;

(i} by an assignment by way of security of the Issuer’s rights, title and imterest arising or existing
under the Agency Agreement;

(iv) by an assignment by way of secutity of the Issuer's rights, title and interest arising or existing
under the Subordinated Swap Agreement;

(v) by an assignment by way of security of the Issuer’s rights, title and interest arising or existing
under the Securities Lending Agreement;

(vi) by an assignment by way of security of the Issuer’s rights, title and interest arising or existing
under the ML Guarantee; and

(vii) by n first fixed charge over she Issuer’s rights, title and jnterest arising or existing in respect of any
monies held by the Registrar or the Principal Paying, Transfer and Exchange Apgent to meet
payments due in respect of the ICES.

The property listed in {i) to (vii) above, together with any other property or assets held by and/or
charged in favour of andfor assigned to the Trustee pursuant to the Security Documents and/or any deed or
document supplemental thersto is referred to in these Conditions as the “Secured Property”.

(b} Ordinary Shares and Securities Lending Agreement

As at the Closing Date, the Secured Property includes 14,500,000 Ordinary Shares sold by OT'P to the
Issuer pursuant to the Subordinated Swap Agreement. Ordinary Shares held from time to time by or for
the Issuer and which have not heea borrowed by the Stock Borrower are held on behalf of the Issuer in an
account with the Custodian in KELER pursuant to the Custody Agreement and are subject to the security
arrangements set out in the Security Docurpents,

Prospective investors in the ICES are advised that the directors of the Issuer may evercise any of the voling
rights attaching to the Ordinary Shares, to the extent that such Ordinary Shares have not been lent fo the Stock
Borrower pursuant to the Securities Lending Agreement and if the divectors determine that such exercise would
be in the best interests of the Issuer. Furthermore, to the extent thar Ordinary Shares have been lent 1o the Stock
Borrower pursuant to the Securities Lending Agreement, the voting rights in respect thereof will also be
transferred io the Stock Borrower or (as the case may be) to other parties to whom the Stock Borrosver lends the

-Ordinary Shares. It is possible that in exercising such rights the Issuer, the Stock Berrower or such other parties
(as the case may be} tnay not act in accordance with the best interests of the ICES Holders. FProspective
investors in the ICES are also advised thar OTP has entered into arrangements with the shareholders of the
Issuer by which OTP may provide written: instructions to the sharehiolders of she Issuer to appoint cenain
persons as directors of the Issuer, that would, if appointed by the shareholders, constitute a majority of the board
of directors of the Issuer. See “The Issuer—Directors”,

The Issuer and the Stock Borrower have entered into the Securities Lending Agreement pursuant to
which the Stock Borrower may from time to time borrow up to 7,250,000 Ordinary Shares held by or for
the Issuer as part of the Secured Property (such maximum number of shares to be amended accordingly
solely to take account of alterations (i any) to the nominaf value of the Ordinary Shares as a resuit of
conselidation or subdivision or any event deseribed in Condition 6(b)) and the Issuer shall have the right at
apy time on five Business Days’ (as defined in the Securities Lending Agresment) notice to require
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re-delivery of Ordinary Shares, provided that the Issuer shall only be entitled to require re-delivery of
Ordinary Shares as aforesaid if necessary to satisfy (£) the exercise of Exchange Rights by ICES Holders;
and/or {ii) the Issner’s obligations to OTP under the Subordinated Swap Agreersent if OTP exercises its
option to purchase the Ordinary Shares if the ICES are to be redeemed pursuant to Condition 7(b). If the
Stock Borrower borrows Ordinary Shares as aforesaid, the Trust Deed and the Security Deposit
Agresment contain provisions enabling the relevant mumber of Ordinary Shares so borrowed to be
released from the Secured Property and to be delivered 1o, or to the order of, the Stock Borrower in
accordance with the terms of the Securities Lending Agreement. Any Crdinary Shares delivered to the
Issuer by the Stock Borrower from time to time pursuant to its re-delivery obligations under the Securities
Lending Agreement shall become part of the Secured Property in accordance with the terms of the Trust
Deed and the Security Deposit Agreement,

Tnder the terms of the Securlties Lending Agreement, where dividends are paid on Ordinary Shares
which have bsen borrowed by the Stock Borrower {rom the Issuer, the Stock Borrower has agreed to pay
to the Issuer a sum equal to that which the Issuer wonld have been entitled to receive had such Ordinary
Shares not been loaned by the Issuer and had been retained by it

The Stock Borrower's obligations to the Issner under the Securities Lending Agreement have been
guaranteed by the Guarantor pursuant to the ML Guarantee,

(¢} Subordinated Swap Agreement

OTP has agreed in the Subordinated Swap Agreement () to pay the Swap Interest Payments to the
Issuer to enable the Issuer to make payments of amounts of interest due on the ICES; (i) (to the extent
that the ICES are to be redeemed pursuant to Condition 7{b) and OTP so elects) to purchase the Ordinary
Shares then betd by the Issuer {and which the Issuer is entitled to have re-delivered pursuant to the
Securities Lending Agreement); (iif) to pay such additional amounts as will enable the Issuer to pay to the
1CES Holders all 2mounts of principal and accrued interest due on the ICES in connection with such
redemption; (iv} to pay an amount corresponding to any Cash Alternative Amount due upon the exchange
of any FCES; and (v} to pay such additional amounts as will enable the Issuer to pay suth taxes, capital
duties or stamp duties as are payable by the Issuer pursuant to Condition 6(h) in connection with any
exercise of Bxchange Rights by an ICES Helder.

OTP has also agreed in the Subordinated Swap Agreement that, if after the Closing Date there is any
downward adjustient to the Exchange Price in accordance with Condition 4(b) or {c) and as a result
thereof the number of Ordinary Shares held by or for the Issver (when aggregated with the number of
Ordinary Shares which the Issuer has lent to the Stock Borrower at such fime under the Securities Lending
Agreement and the number of Ordinary Shares in respect of which OTP has previously made a Cash
Alternative Amount Election {as defined below)} is less than the number of Ordinary Shares into which all
of the ICES then eutstanding could be exchanged (assuming for this purpose only that no Cash Alternative
Ammount Flections have been made) at the thep prevailing Bxchange Price (which shall mean, during any
Relevant Event Period, the relevant Change of Control Bxchange Price) (ignoring for this purpose whether
or not in fact the ICES could be exchanged at such time in accordance with Condition 6(a}), OTP shalt, on
such date determined pursuant to the Subordinated Swap Agreement, elect either to (%) deliver to the
Issuer such additional number of Ordinary Shares as is required to meet such shortfall (the “Butra
Ordinary Shares”) (if, at such time, the delivery of such shares is permitted in accordance with applicable
law} or (y} (in lieu of delivery of such Exira Ordinary Shares) mske an election (a “Cash Alternative
Amount Election”) by notice to the Trustee and the Issuer, and the Issuer shall notify the ICES Holders of
ihe same, in accordance with Condition 17 to pay to the Issuer, (by a date not later than 10 dealing days
following the relevant Exchange Date) upon the exercise {if any) of Exchange Rights by any ICES Holder,
an amouni equal to the Cash Alternative Amount attribufable to the number of Extra Ordinary Shares to
which such ICES Holder would have been entitled in the absence of such Cash Alternative Amount
Election (“Cash-Settled Exira Ordinary Shares”). Each Cash Altemative Amount Election, once made,
shall be irrevocable, Although OTP reserves the right to elect 1o deliver Extra Ordinary Shares in such
circumstances {if at such time the delivery of such shares is permitted in accordance with applicable law), it is
its current intention to exercise the Cash Alternative Amount Election in all such circumsiances.

Subject as provided in the Subordinated Swap Agreement and as descrived below, the Issuer has
agreed in the Subordinated Swap Agreement to pay and/or deliver to OTP all cash sums or other assets
{other than Ordinary Shares) actually received by it which are derived from the Ordinary Shares held by or
for it as part of the Secured Property and (to the extent received from the Stock Borrewer in accordance
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with the tesms of the Securities Lending Agreement) derived from any Ordinary Shares borrowsd by the
Stock Borrower pursuant to the Securities Lending Agreement (“Otdinacy Share Property”).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Subordinated Swap Apreement provides that no Ordinary Share
Property shail be paid and/or delivered, as appropriate, by the Issuer to OTP as aforesaid antil OTP has
either (x) delivered to the Issuer the relevant Extra Ordinary Shares which are required to be delivered (if
any) as a result of the event or circumstances which have given rise to the receipt by the Issuer of such
Ordinary Share Property or (¥) made a Cash Alternative Amount Election in lieu of such delivery.

B> the extent that any Ordinary Share Property (other than Ordinary Shases) is to be paid and/or
delivered by the Issuer to OTP as described in the foregoing provisions of this Condition 2(c), the Trust
Deed and Security Deposit Agreement provide for such Ordinary Share Property to be released from the
Secured Property and to be delivered to, or to the order of, OTP {foliowing satisfaction of the conditions
reguired therefor as described above). Furthermore, to the extent that any Extra Ordinary Shares are
delivered by OTP to, or to the order of, the Issuer as described in the foregoing provisions of this
Condition 2(c), the Trust Desd and the Security Deposit Agreement provide that such additional Ordinary
Shares shall be added to the Secured Property upon such delivery.

The Issuer has agreed to pay to OTE, en the Closing Date, the excess of the funds received upon
settlement of the ICES over the aggregate cost of the Ordinary Shares delivered to the Issuer prior to the
Closing Date.

The obligations of OTP under the Subordinated Swap Agreement constitute unconditional,
subordinated and unsecured obligations of OTP. In the event of the liguidation (felszdmolds) of OTP in
accordance with Act XLIX of 1991 on Bankruptey, Liguidation and Voluntary Winding-up Proceedings,
the cbligations of OTP under the Subordinated Swap Agreement will rank (i} junior in right of payment to
the claims of holders of any present or future Senior Secutities, () pari passu with the claims of holders of
any present or future Parity Securities, and (i) senor to the claims of holders of any present or future
Junior Securities. Furthermore, the Issuer has under the Subordinated Swap Agreement unconditionally
and irrevocably waived any right of set-off, counterclaim, abatement or other similar remedy which it might
otherwise have, under the laws of any jurisdiction, in zespect of the obligations of OTP under the
Subordirated Swap Agreement.

Furthermore, the sole remedy available to the Issuer (or, following enforcement of the Secured
Property, to the Trustee or the ICES Holders, as the case may be) against OTP under the Subordinated
Swap Agreement for recovery of amounts owing will be proving or claiming for the same in any
proceedings commenced by OTP or a third party in. Hungary (and not elsewhere} for the dissolution and
lizuidatior: of OTE

{d) Change in Secured Property

Forthwith following any change in the composition of the Secured Property (other than the release of
any QOrdinaty Shares or cash from the Secured Property to facilitate the performance of the Issuer’s
obligations under the ICES, the Subordinated Swap Agreement, the Securities Lending Agreement and
the Trust Deed), the Issuer will procure that security interests in a form satisfactory to the Trustee are
created over any such property which is not already, to the satisfaction of the Trustes, secured by, or
pursuans to, the Security Documents.

(e) Failure to perform

To the extent that OTP fails to comply with any of its obligations under the Subordinated Swap

_ Agreement and/or the Stock Borrower faifs to comply with any of its obfigations under the Securities

Lending Agreement and/or the Guarantor fails to comply with any of its obligations under the ML

Guarantee, the Issuer will be unable to fuifil its payment obligations and/or obligations in respect of
Exchange Rights (as the case may be) pursuant to the ICES.

{f) Enforcement

The secarity over the Secured Property shalf becore enforceable (i} if payment in respect of the ICES
is not made when due and payable, (i) upon the occurrence of any Event of Default.

If the security over the Secured Property becomes enforceable, the Trusiee may at its diseretion and
shall if so requested in writing by ICES Holders holding at least one-quarter in principal amount of the
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ICES then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed)
{subject in each case to being indernified andfor secored to its satisfaction) enfarce the. security
constituted by the Security Documents, To do this, it may at its discretion take possession of and/or realise
the Ordinary Shares andfor take action against any person liable in respect of the Ordinary Shares, the
Subordinated Swap Agreement, the Agency Agreement, the Custody Agreement, the Securities Lending
Agreemnent and/or the Guarantee in accordamee with their terms, but without any liability as to the
consequences of such action and without having regard to the effect of such action on mdividual ICES
Holders and provided that the Trustee shall not be required to take any action that wonld involve any
personal liability or exposure without first being indemnified and/for secured to its satisfaction.

Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Trustee shall apply all moneys received by it under the Transaction
Documents in connection with the realisation or enforcement of the Secured Property on trust to apply
them as follows:

(8) first, in payment or satisfaction of the fees, costs, charges, expenses and liabilities incurred by the
Trustee or any receiver in preparing and performing the trusts constituted by the Trust Deed
(inchiding holding and enforcing the security constituted by the Security Deposit Agreement and
inclading any taxes required to be paid, the costs of realising any Secured Property and the
remuneration of the Trustee and any receiver appointed by it);

(ii) secondly, in or towards payment or discharge or satisfaction par passu of all amounts due and
obligations to the ICES Holders in respect of the ICES and pursusant to the Trust Deed; and

(ii§) thirdly, in payment of any balance to the Issuer itself.

() Shortfall

Upon realisation of, or enforcement with respect to, the Secured Property, the net proceeds (the “Net
Proceeds”) may be less than the claims of the Trustee and the ICES Holders.

i the Net Proceeds are not sufficient to meet all obligations which but for the effect of this provision
would then be due in respect of the ICES, then the obligations of the Issuer will be Hmited to such Net
Proceeds, and the other assets of the Issuer will not be available for payment of any Shortfall arising
therefrom.

The Issuer will not be obliged to make any further payment in excess of the Net Proceeds and
accordingly no debt shali be owed by the Fssner in respect of any Shortfall remaining after realisation of the
Secured Property and application of the proceeds in accordance with the Trust Deed. None of the Trustee,
any ICES Holder or any other person (nor any persor acting on bebalf of any of them) may take any
further action to recover such Shortfall. Failure to make ariy payment in respect of any Shortfall shalt in no
circumstances constitute an Event of Default under Condition 10.

In this Condition “Shorifall” means the difference between the amount of the Net Proceeds and the
amount which would but for this Condition 2(g} have been due under the ICES.
3 Definitioas

In these Conditions, unless otherwise provided:

“Additional Shares” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(c).

“Agency Agreement” has the meaning provided In the mtroductory section preceding Condition 1.

“Agent Bank” has the meaning provided in Condition 5¢h).

“authorised denominations” has the meaning provided in Conditior 1(a).

“business day” means, in relation to any place, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which
commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in that place.

“Calcnlation Agent” has the meaning provided in the introductory section preceding Conditios 1.
*Capital Distribution” means:

(2) any Non Cash Dividend (in which case the Capital Distribution shall be the Fair Market Value of
the relevant Spin-Off Securities or, as the case may be, the relevant property or assets); or
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(b) a Cash Dividend (the “Relevant Dividend”) paid in respect of any fiscal year (the “Relevant
Fiscal Year”) ar part thereof, to the extent that the sum of (i) the Fair Market Value of the Relevant
Dividend per Ordinary Share and {ii) the Fair Market Value per Ordinary Share of the aggregate
of any other Cash Dividend(s) paid in respect of the Relevant Fiscal Year or part thereof
{disregarding for such purpose any amount previously determined te be a Capital Distribution in
respect of the Relevant Fiscal Year or part thereof) exceeds the relevant amonnt per Ordinary
Share shown in the table below in respect of the Relevant Fiscal Year in question,

Reletant Fiscal Year Amount per Oxcéinary Share (HUF)
1 Jenuary 2006 to 31 December 2006 ............ 214,79

1 Javuary 2007 10 31 December 2007 ............ 250.13

1 January 2008 to 31 December 2008 ............ 278.04

1 January 2009 to 31 December 2009 ............ 332.56

1 January 2010 to 31 December 2010 ............ 349.19

1 January 2011 to 31 December 2011 . ........... 366.65

1 January 2012 to 31 December 2012 ... ... ..... 384.99

1 January 2013 to 31 December 2003 . ........... 404.23

1 January 2014 to 31 December 2014 .,.......... 42445

1 January 2015 to 33 Decemmber 2015 ... ... ... ... 445,67 -
1 Janvary 2016 to 31 Decernber 2016 ,......... .. 46795

“Cash Alternative Amount” means an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula and which shall be payable to an ICES Holder upon &n exercise of an Exchange
Right if any Cash Alternative Amount Election has been made in accordance with Condition 2(c) to the
extent such ICES Holder is entitled to Cash-Settled Extra Ordinary Shares upon exchange:

N
1
CAA=S><2§><PN><FXN

=l

where:

CAA = the Cash Alternative Amount;

s = the number of Cash-Settled Extra Ordinary Shares to which the refevant ICES Helder is
entitled npon exercise of the Exchange Right;

Py = the Volume Weighted Average Price of an Ordinary Share on the Nth dealing day of the
Cash Alternative Caleulation Period;

N = 5, being the number of dealing days in the Cash Alternative Calculation Period; and

FXy = the HUF/E daily fixing rate (expressed as € per 1 HUF) quoted at 11,06 a.m. (Centra

European Time) znd published on Bloomberg page NBHS, Reuters page HUFE or
Telerate page T39621 or any successor page by the Hungarian National Bank on the Nth
dealing day of the Cash Alternative Calculation Perfod (provided that if the Hungarian
Mational Bank does not quote such fixing zate for the Wth dealing day of the Cash
Alternative Caleulation Period, the spot buying rate of an independent bank of
international repute on such Nth dealing day shall be substituted therefor), ail as
determined by the Caleulation Agent.

“Cash Alternative Calculation Perfodt” means the period of five consecutive dealing days commencing
on the relevant Exchange Date (or the next dealing day if such date is not a dealing day),

“Cash Alternative Amount Election™ has the meaning provided in Condition 2(c).

“Cash Dividend” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(b)(iii).

“Cash-Settied Exira Ordinary Shares” has the meaning provided in Condition 2(c).
“Change of Control Exchange Price” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(b}(x}.
“Clearstream, Luxembourg” means Clearstream Bank, société anonyme.

“Closing Date” means 31 October 2006,

“Conditions” has the meaning provided in the introductory section preceding Condition 1.
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“Current Market Price”” means, in respect of an Ordinary Share at a particslar date, the arithmetic
average of the Volume Weighted Average Price of an Ordinazy Share for the five consecutive dealing days
ending on the dealing day immediately preceding such date; provided that if at any time during the said
five-dealing-day petiod the Volume Weighted Average Price shall have been based on a price ex-Dividend
(or ex- any other entitlement) and during some other part of that period the Volume Weighted Averape
Price shall have been based on a price cum-Dividend (or cum- any other entiflement), then:

(a) if the Ordinary Shares to be delivered do not rank for the Dividend {or entitlersent) in question,
the Volume Weighted Average Price on the dates on which the Ordinary Shares shafl have been
based on a price cum-Dividend {or cum-~ any other entitlement) shall for the purpose of this
definition be deemed to be the amount thereof reduced by an amount equal to the Fair Market
Value of any such Dividend or entitlement per Ordinary Share as at the date of first public
announcement of snch Dividend (or entitlement); or

(b} i the Ordinary Shares to be deliversd do rank for the Dividend {or entitlement} in question, the
Volume Weighted Average Price on the dates on which the Ordinary Shares shall have been
based on a price ex-Dividend (or ex-ary other entitlement) shall for the purpose of this definition
be deemed to be the amount thereof increased by an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of
any such Dividend or entitiement per Oxdinary Share as at the date of fixst public announcement
of such Dhvidend (or entitleraent),

and pravided further that, if on each of the said five dealing days the Volume Weighted Average Price shall
have been based on a price cum-Dividend {or cum- any other entitlement) in respect of a Dividend (or
other entitlement) which has been declared or announced but the Ordinary Shares to be delivered do not
rank for that Dividend (or other entitlement), the Volume Weighted Average Price on each of such dates
shall for the purposes of this definition be deemed to be the amount thereof reduced by an amount equal
to the Fair Market Value of any such Dividend or entitlement per Ordinary Share as at the date of the fiest
public announcement of such Dividend or entitlement,

and provided further that, if the Volume Weighted Average Price of an Ordinary Share is not available on
one or more of the said five dealing days, then the average of such Volume Weighted Average Prices which
are available in that five-dealing-day period shall be vsed (subject to a minimum of two such prices) and if
only one, or no, such Volume Weighted Average Price is aveilable in the relevant period, the Current
Market Frice shall be determined in good faith by an Independent Financial Adviser.

“Custodian” has the meaning provided in the introductory section preceding Condition 1.
“Castody Agreexaent” has the meaning provided in the introductory section preceding Condition 1.

“dealing day” means a day on which the Relevant Stock Exchange or other relevant stock exchange or
securities market is open for business, other than a day on which the Relevant Stock Exchange or other
refevant stock exchange or securities market is scheduled to or does close prior to its regular weekday
closing time.

“Delivery Date” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(c).

“Dividend” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(b)(iii},

“Dividend Parity Securities” means Parity Securities other than Tier 2 Securities.
“Enhanced Inferest Rate” has the meaning provided in Condition 7(c).

“equity share capital” means, in relation to 2 company, its issued share capital excluding any part of that
capital which, neither as regards dividends nor as regards capital, carries any right to pariicipate beyond a
specified amount in a distribution.

“Equivalent Amount” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(a).

“enre” or “€" means the single currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European
Economic and Monetary Union pursuant to the Treaty,

“Euro-zone” means the region comprising member states of the European Union that adopt or have
adopted the single currency in accordance with the Treaty,

“Event of Defauli” has the meaning provided in Condition 1.
“Exchange Date” has the meaning provided in Condition 6{h).
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“Exehange Notice” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(h).
“Exchange Period” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(a).
“Exchange Price” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(a).
“Exchange Right” kas the meaning provided in Condition 6(a).

“Exempt Newco Scheme” means a Newco Scheme where immediately after completion of the relevant
scheme of arrangement or analogous proceeding the ordinary shares of Newco are (z) admitted to listing
on the Budapest Stock Exchange or (b) admitted to listing on such other regalated, regularly operating,
recognised stock exchange or securities market as OTP or Newco may determine,

“Existing Tier 2 Securities” means the €125,000,000 Floating Rate Notes due 2015 issued on 4 March
2005 and the €300,000,000 5.27 per cent. Subordinated Notes due 2016 issued on 19 September 2006,

“Extra Ordinary Shares” has the meaning provided in Cendition 2(c).

“Fair Market Value” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(b)(ii).

“First Reset Date” means {subject as provided in Condition 7{(c)) 31 October 2015.
“Fixed Interest Rate” has the meaning given to it in Condition 3(c).

“Fixed Rate Interest Period” means the period from (and inckeding) the Closing Date to (but
excluding) the First Reset Date.

“Fixed Rate of Exchange” means €1.00 = HUF 263.50,
“Floating Interest Amounts” has the meaning given to it in Condition 5(¢).
“Floating Interest Rate” has the meaning given to it in Condition 5(d).

“Guarantor” means Merrill Iynch & Co., Inc. as guarantor under the ML Guarantee of the Stock
Borrower’s obligations under the Securities Lending Agreement.

“HUF” means Hungarian forints, the legal currency of Hungary.
“FCES” has the meaning provided in the introductory section preceding Condition 1.

“YCES Certificate” means the certificate evidencing registration of the relevant ICES Holder in the
Register as holder of the relevant ICES,

“ICES Holder” micans the person in whose name an ICES is registered in the Register.

“Independent Financial Adviser” means an investment bank of international repute appointed by the
Issuer (upon instruction from OTP) and approved in writing by the Trustes or, if OTP fails to provide the
required instructien and/or the Issuer fzils to make such appointment and such failure continnes for a
reasonable period (as determined by the Trustee) and the Trustee is indemnified and/or secured to its
satisfaction against the costs, fees and sxpenses of such adviser, appointed by the Trustee following
notification to the Issuer and OTP.

“Interest Determination Date” means, in refation to each Reset Date, the second TARGET Business
Day prior to sach Reset Date.

“Interest Payment Date” means (a) in respect of the period from the Closing Date to (and including)
the First Reset Date, 31 October in each year, starting on 31 October 2007 and (b) after the First Reset
Date, 31 January, 30 April, 31 July and 31 October in each year, starting on 31 January 2017 (in each case
subject as provided in Condition 7(c)), provided that if any Interest Payment Date after the First Reset
Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a TARGET Business Day, it shall be postponed to the next
day which is a TARGET Business Day, unless it would thereby fall in the next calendar month, in which
event it shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding TARGET Business Day.

“Interest Perjod” means the period beginning on (and including) the Closing Date and ending on {but
excluding) the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on (and including) an
Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Payment Date,

“Interest Rate” means the Fixed Interest Rate andfor the Floating Interest Rate and/for the Enhanced
Interest Rate, as the case may be.

“Issuer” has the meaning provided in the introductory section preceding Condition 1.
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“Junior Securities” means the Ordinary Shares, together with any other shares, securities or obiigations
ranking or expressed to rank junior to the obligations of OTP under the Subordinated Swap Apreement,
whether (a) issued directly by OTP or (b} issued by any Subsidiary of OTP or by any other entity {provided
that, in the case of (b) only, such shares, securities or obligations benefit from 2 guarantee or support
agreement from OTP ranking or expressed to rank junior to the obligations of OTP uader the
Subordinated Swap Agreement),

“KELER” means the Central Clearing House and Depositary Ltd., the central Hungarian depositary
and clearing system.

“Margin” means 3.0 per cent. per annum.
g p P

“MI. Guarantee” means the guarantee dated as of 1% October 2005 entered into by the Guarantor
pursiant o which the Guarantor has guaranteed the Stock Borrower's payment obligations under the
Securities Lending Agreement.

“Net Proceeds” has the meaning provided in Condition 2(g).

“Newco Scheme” means a scheme of arrangement or analogous proceeding which effects the
interposition of 2 limited liability company (*Newco”) between the Shareholders of OTP immediately prior
to the scheme of arrangement (the “Existing Sharehiolders™) an¢ OTE provided that only ordinary shares
of Newco are issued to Existing Shareholders immediately after such scheme of arrangement or analogous
proceeding becornes effective and further provided that immediately after the scheme of arrangement ot
aralogous proceeding becomes effective the only shareholders of Newco are the Existing Shareholders and
that all Subsidiaries of OTP immediately prior to the scheme of arrangement (other than Newco, if Neweo .
is then a Subsidiary of OTP) are Subsidiaries of OTP (or of Newco) immediately after the scheme of
arrangement.

“Non-Cash Dividend” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(b)(ii).
“Opticnal Redemption Date” has the meaning provided in Cendition 7(b).
“Optional Redemption Notice” has the meaning provided in Condition 7(b).
“Ordinary Share Property” has the meaning provided in Condition 2(c).

“Ordinary Shares” means fully paid ordinary shares of nomina! valze FIUF 100 each in the capital of
OTPE.

“OTP” means QTP Bank Ple.
“Parily Securities” means:
{a) Tier 1 Securities;

{p) for so long as they do not constitute Senjor Securities, Tier 2 Securilies (including the Existing
Tier 2 Securities); and

(c) any other secusities or other obligations not falling within (a} or (b) above and which are either
(i) issued directly by OTP (and ranking or expressed to rank pari passu with the obligations of
OTPF under the Subordinated Swap Agreement) or (i} issued by any Subsidiary of OTP or by any
other entify (provided that, in the cese of (i} only, such other securities benefit from 2 guarantee
or support agreement from OTP ranking or expressed to tank per! passu with the obligations of
OTP under the Subordinated Swap Agreement).

“Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agents” has the meaning provided in the introductory section
preceding Condition 1.

“Permitted Indebtedness™ has the meaning provided in Condition T1(a)(i(M).

“Principal Payiﬁg, Transfer and Exchange Agent” has the meaning provided in the introduetory section
preceding Condition 1.

“Proceedings” has the meaning provided in Condition 21(b),
“Record Date” has the meaning provided in Condition 8(c).
“Redemption Event” has the meaning provided n Condition 7(b).
“Redenomination Pate” has the meaning provided in Condition 19,
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“Reference Banks” means four major banks in the Euro—zone interbank market as selected by the
Agent Bank.

“Reference Date’” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(a).

“Register” has the meaning provided in Condition 4(2).

“Registrar” has the meaning provided in the infroducmry section preceding Condition 1.
“Regulation 8" has the meaning provided in Condition 6{h).

“Relevant Date” means, in respect of any ICES, whichever is the later of (a) the date on which payment
in respect of it first becomes due apd (b} if any amount of the money payable is imprapetly withheld or
refused the date on which payment in full of the amount cwtstanding is made or (if earlier) the date on
which notice is duly given to the ICES Holders in accortlance with Condition 17 that, upon further
presentation of the ICES, where tequired pursuant to these Conditions, being made, such payment will be
made, provided that such payment is in fact made as provided in these Conditions.

“Relevant Dividend" shall kave the meaning given to it in the definition of Capital Distsibution,
“Relevant Event” has the meaning provided in Condition &{b)(x).

“Relevant Event Notice” has the meaning provided in Condition 6{g).

“Relevant Event Period™ has the meaning provided in Cosdition 6(b)(x).

“Televant Stock Exchange™ means the Budapest Stock Exchange or if at the relevant time the Ordinary
Shares are not at that time quoted on the Budapest Stock Exchange, the principal stock exchange or
securities market on which the Ordinary Shares are ther listed or quoted or dealt in.

“Heset Date” means the First Reset Date and any Interest Payment Date thereafter.
“Retroactive Adjustment” has the meaning provided in Condition 5(c).

.“Retmactive Cash Amount™ has the meaning provided in Condition 6(c}.

“Secured Property” has the meaning provided in Condition 2(a).

“securities” includes, without limitation, Crdinary Shares and options, warrants or other dghts to
subscribe for or purchase or acquire Ordinary Shares,

“Securities Lending Agreement” means the Securities Lending Agreement dated as of 19 Qctober 2006
and entered into barween the Issuer and the Stock Borrower in respect of up to half of the Ordinary Shares
held by or for the Issuer from time to time in connection with the ICES.

“Becuritisation Law 2004” means the Luxembourg law of 22 March 2004 on securitisation {fef du
22 mars 2004 relative ¢ la titrisation).

“Security Deposit Agreement” means the security deposit agreement governed by Hungarian law dated
the Closing Date between the Issver and the Trustee.

“Security Docoments™ means the Trast Deed and the Security Deposit Agreement.
- “Senior Securities” means:

(a) alf claims of unsubordinated creditors {whether secured or unsecured, and including depositors)
admitted in the liquidation {felszdmolis) of OTR as set out in Section 57(1)(a} to (g) (inclusive)
of Act XLIX of 1991 on Bankrupicy, Liquidation and Voluntary Winding-up Proceedings;

(b) all claims of creditors of OTP in respect of liabilities that are, or are expressed to be,
subordinated, whether only in the event of a liquidation {felszdmolds) or otherwise, to the claims
of unsubordinated creditors of OTP (except the claims of holders of any present or future Junior
Securities or Parity Securities); and

(¢) the claims of holders of Tier 2 Securities if at such time Tier 2 Capital is permitted by then
applicable laws and regulations to rank sensor to all forms of Tier I Capital and the terms of such
Tier 2 Securities in fact so provide that they shall rank senfor to the Tier 1 Capital of OTE

“Shareholders” means the holders of Ordinary Shares.
“Shortfall” has the meaning provided in Condition 2(g).
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“$pecified Date” has the meaning provided in Condition 6(b)(vii) or 6(t}(viii), as applicable,
“Specified Share Day” has the meaning provided in Condition 6{b)(iii).

“Spin-Off”" has the meaning provided in Condition 6(b}(ii).

“Spin-Off Securities” has the meaning provided in Condition 6{b){iii).

“Stock Borrower” means Merrill Lynch International.

“Suberdinated Swap Agreement” means the swap agreement dated as of 1% October 2006 between the
Issuer and QTR

“Subsidiary” means, i relation to OTE, any entity which is a subsidiary of OTP within the meaning of
the Hungarian Act CXII of 1996 on credit institutions and financial undertakings or is a subsidiary of or
otherwise controlled by OTP within the meaning of any applicable accounting standard,

“Swap Interest Payments” means the payments due from OTP to the Issuer from time to time under
the Subordinated Swap Agreement corresponding to the amounts of interest due on the YCES from time
to time, and “Swap Interest Payment” shall be construed accordingly,

“TARGET Business Day” means a day on which the TARGET System is cperating.

“TARGET System” means the Trans European Real Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer
(TARGET) System.

“Fier 1 Capital” means core loan capital (elapvetd kdleséntdke), as defined in Point 7A (Core
Lozn Capital) of Amnex 5 to Act CXII of 1996 on Credit Instititions and Financial Enterprises, as
amended from time to time,

“Tier 1 Securities” means any securities or other obligations which are either (i) issued directly by GTP
or (i} issued by any Subsidiary of OTP or by any other entity {provided thal, in the case of (i) only, such
securities or other abligations benefit from a guarantee or support agreement from OTP) which in cach
case by their terms are capable of qualifying as Tier 1 Capital.

“Tier 2 Capital” means dated subsidiary loan capitat (“jdrulékds kbicsdntéke™™) and perpstual subsidiary
loan capital {“clarandelt kolcsontoke™) as defined in Point 8A and Point 10, respectively of Annex 5 to
Act CXIi of 1996 on Credit Institutions and Financial Enterprises, as 2mended from time to time.

“Tier Z Securities” means any securities or other obligations which are either (i) issued directly by OTP
ot {{i} isseed by any Subsidiary of OTP or by any other entity (provided that, in the case of (i%) only, such
other securities benefif from a guarantee or support agreement from OTP) which ia sach case by their
terms are capable of quelifying as Tier 2 Capita but not as Tier 1 Capital.

“Iransaction Docements” means the Security Documents, Agency Agrecment, Custody Agresment,
Subordinated Swap Agreement, the Securities Lending Agreement and the ML Guarantee.

“Treaty” means the Treaty establishing the European Communities (signed in Rome on 25 March
1957), as arnended.

“Trust Deed” has the meaning provided in the introductory section preceding Condition 1.
“Trustee” has the meaning provided In the introductory section preceding Condition 1.

“Volurne Weighted Average Price” means, in respect of an Ordinary Share or, as the case may be, a
Spin-Off Security on any dealing day, the order book volume-weighted average price of an Ordinary Share
or, 45 the case may be, a Spin-Off Security published by or derived (in the case of an Ordinary Share) from
the Relevant Stock Exchange or (in the case of a Spin-Off Security) from the principal stock exchange or
securities market on which such Spin-Off Securities are then tisted or quoted or dealt in, if any or, in any
such case, such other source as shall be determined in goed faith to be eppropriate by an Indepsndent
Financial Adviser on such dealing day, provided that;

{a} on any such dealing day where such price is not available or cannot otherwise be determined as
provided above, the Volume Weighted Average Price of an Ordinary Share or a Spin-Off
Security, as the case may be, in respect of such dealing day shall be the Voiume Weighted
Average Price, determined as provided above, on the immediately preceding dealing day on
which the same can be so determined or as the Independent Financial Adviser might otherwise
determine in good faith to be appropriate; and
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() (in relation to an Ordjnary Share and an Exchange Date only) # any Dividend or other
entitlement in respect of the Ordinary Shares is announced on or prior to the relevant Exchange
Date in circumstances where the record date or other due date for the establishment of
entitlernent in respect of such Dividend or other entitlement shall be on or after the relevant
Exchange Date and if on such dealing day the price determined as provided above is based on a
price ex-Dividend or ex-any ather entitlement, then such price shall be increased by an amount
equal to the Fair Market Value of any such Dividend or entitlement per Ordinary Share as at the
date of announcement of such entitlement or Dividend.

In making any calculation or determination of Current Market Price or Volume Weighted Average
Price, such adjustments (if any} shall be made as an Independent Financial Adviser determines jin good
faith to be appropriate to reflect any eonsolidation or sub-division of the Ordinary Shares or any issue of
Ordinary Shares by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves, or any like or similar event,

References to any provision of any statute shall be deemed also to refer to any statutory modification
or re-enactment thereof or any statutory instrument, order or regulation made thereunder or under such
modification or re-enactment.

References to any issue or offer or grant to Sharcholders “as a class” or “by way of rights” or Existing
Shareholders shall be taken to be references to an issue or offer or grant to all or substantially all
Shareholders or Existing Shareholders, as the case may be, other than Sharchoiders or Existing
Skareholders, as the case may be, to whom, by reason of the laws of any terrifory or requirements of any
recognised regulatory body or any other stock exchange or securities market in any territory or in
connection with fractional entitlements, it is determined not to make such issue or offer or grant.

For the purposes of Conditions 6 and 11 only, {a) references to the “issue” of Ordinary Shares shall
include the transfer and/or delivery of Ordinary Shares by OTP or any of its Subsidiaries, whether newly
issued and allotted or previously existing or held by or on behalf of OTP or any of its Subsidiaries, and
(b) Ordinary Shares held by or on behalf of OTP or any of its Subsidiaries {and which, in the case of
Condition 6(b){iv) and (vi), do not rank for the relevant right or other entitlement) shall not be considersd
as or treated as “in issue”,

. 4 Registration and Transfer of ICES
{a) Registration

The Issuer will cause a register (the “Register”) to be kept at the specified office of the Registrar
outside the United Kingdom on which will be entered the names and addresses of the {CES Holders and
the particulars of the TCES held by them and of all transfers, redemptions and exchanges of ICES. For so
long as any ICES remain outstanding, the Issuer will keep an up-to-date copy of the Register at its
registered office, and for the purposes thereof the Registrar has agreed pursuant to the Agency Agreement
to deliver a copy of the Register to the Issuer forthwith after any change is made thereto.

(b). Transfer

ICES may, subject to the lerms of the Agency Agreement and to Conditions 4(c) and 4(d), be
transferred in whole or in part in an authorised denomination by lodging the relevant ICES Certificate
(with the form of application for transfer in respect thereof duly executed and duly stamped whete
applicable) at the specified office of the Registrar or any Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agent.

No transfer of an ICES will be valid unless and until entered on the Register, An ICES may be
registered only in the name of, and transferred only to, a named person (or persoms, not exceeding four in
number).

The Registrar will within seven business days, in the place of the specified office of the Registrar, of
any duly made application for the tzansfer of an ICES, deliver a new ICES Certificate to the transferee
{and, in the case of a transfer of part only of an ICES, deliver ap ICES Certificate for the untransferred
balance to the transferor), at the specified office of the Registrar or, at the request of the transferee, or, as
the case may be, the transferor, the specified office of the Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agent in
Luxembourg, or (at the risk and, if mailed at the request of the transferee or, as the case may be, the
transferor otherwise than by ordinary mail, at the expense of the transferee or, as the case may be, the
transferor) mail the ICES Certificate by vninsured mail to such address as the transferee or, as the case
raay be, the transferor may request.
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(¢} Formalities Free af Charge

Such transfer will be effected without charge subject to (i) the persor: making such application for
transfer paying or procuting the payment of any taxes, duties and other govermmental charges in
connection therewith, (ii) the Registrar being satisfied with the documents of title and/or identity of the
person making the application and (fif) such reasonable regulations as the Issuer may from time to time
agree with the Registrar and the Trustee. ’

(d) Closed Periods

Neither the Issuer nor the Registrar will be required to register the transfer of any ICES (or part
thereof) (i} during the period of 15 days immediately prior to any date fixed for redemption of the ICES
pursuant to Condition 7{b); {if) in respect of which an Exchange Notice has been delivered in accordance
with Condition 6(h); or (jii) during the period of 15 days ending on {and including} any Record Date in
respect of any payment of interest on the ICES,

5 Interest and Non-payment of Interest
() Interest Rate and Interest Payment Dates

The ICES bear interest at the applicable Interest Rate from the Closing Date in accordance with the
provisions of this Condition 5.

Subject {o Condition 5(j), during the Fixed Rate Interest Period, interest shall be payable on the [CES
in arvear on the first Interest Payment Date and thereafter annually in arrear on each subsequent Interest
Payment Date in the Fixed Rate Interest Period. After the Fixed Rate Interest Period, interest shail
(subject as aforesaid) be payable on the ICES quarterly in arrear on each Interest Payment Diate after the
First Reset Date.

(b} Interest Accrual

Each ICES will cease to bear interest (§) where the Exchange Right shall have been exescised by an
ICES Holder, from the Interest Payment Date immediately preceding the relevant Exchange Date or, if
none, the Closing Date (subject as provided in Condition 6(j)) or (i) fom (and including) the date of
redemption or repayment thereof (if any) pursuant to Condition 7(b) or Condition 10 unless, upon due
presentation, payment and pexformance of all amounts and obligations due in respect of the ICES is not
propezly and duly made, in which event interest shall continue to acerue (both before and after judgment),
and shall be payable, as provided in these Conditions up to (but excluding) the Refevant Date,

Where it is necessary to compute an amount of interest in respect of any ICES during the Fixed Rate
Interest Period for a period which is less than a complete year, sach interest shall be caiculated on the basis
of the actua number of days in the peried from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or,
if none, the Closing Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payrment date divided by the actual number of
days in the period from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date {or, if none, the Closing
Date) to (but excluding) the next {or fizst) scheduled Interest Payment Date.

Interest shall accrue on the ICES in respect of ali Interest Periods commencing on or after the First
Reset Date (and any other period commencing on or after the First Resst Date in respect of which interest
may fall to be calculated} on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed in the relevant period divided
by 360,

{c) Fived Interest Rate

For the Fixed Rate Interest Period, subject to Condition 7{c), the ICES bear interest at the rate of
3.95 per cent. per annum (the “Fixed Interest Rate™),

(d) Floating Inferest Rate

From (and including) the First Reset Date, subject to Condition 7(c), the ICES will bear interest at a
floating rate of interest (the “Floating Interest Rate”). The Floating Interest Rate in respect of each
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Interest Period commencing on or after the First Resct Date witl, subject to Condition 7(c), be determined
by the Agent Bank on the basis of the following provisions:

(i) On each Interest Determination Date, the Agent Bank will determine the offered rate {expressed
as a rate per annum) for three-month euro deposits as at 11.00 a.m. {Central European time) on
such Interest Determination Date, as displayed on the display designated as page “248” on the
Telerate Monitor (or such other page or pages as may replace it for the purpose of displaying
such information). The Fioating Interest Rate for the Interest Period immediately succeeding the
Interest Determination Date shall be such offered rate as determined by the Agent Bank plus the
Margin.

(i) If such offered rate does not so appear, or if the relevant page is vnavailable, the Agent Bank
will, on such date, request the principal Euro-zone office of the Reference Banks to provide the
Agent Bank with its offered gquotation to leading banks in the Euro-zone inter bank market for
threc-month eurc deposits as at 11.00 aum, (Central European time) on the Interest
Determination Date in question. If at {east two of the Reference Banks provide the Agent Bank
with such offered quotations, the Floating Interest Rate for the Interest Petiod immediately
sueceeding the relevant Interest Determination Date shall be the rate determined by the Agent
Bank to be the arithmetic mean (rounded upwards if necessary to the nearest one hundred
thousandth of a percentage point (0.000005 per cent. being rounded upwards)) of such offered
quotations plus the Margin,

(iii) If on any Interest Deterrnination Date to which the provislons of sub-patagraph (i} above apply,
one only or nons of the Refersnce Banks provides the Agent Bank with swch a quotatior, the
Floating Interest Rate for the Interest Period immediately succeeding such Interest
Determination Date shall be the rate which the Agent Bank determines to be the aggregate of
the Margin and the arithmetic mean (rounded npwards, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred
thousandth of a percentage point (0.000003 per cent. being rounded upwards)) of the euro
lending rates which leading banks in the Euro-zone selected by the Agent Bank are quoting, on
the relevant Interest Determination Date, to leading Buropean banks for a period of three
months, except that, if the banks so selected by the Agent Bank are not quoting as mentioned
above, the Floating Interest Rate for such Interest Period shali be either (1) the Floating Interest
Rate in effect for the last preceding Interest Peziod to which one of the preceding sub-paragraphs
of this Condition 5{d} shall have applied or (2) if none, 4.95 per cent. per annum.

() Determination of Floating Interest Rate and Calculation of Floating Interest Aniounts

The Agent Bank will, as soon as practicable after 11.00 a.m. (Central Buropean time} on each Interest
Determination Date, determine the Floating Interest Rate in respect of the relevant Interest Period and
calculate the amount of interest payable in véspect of an ICES of each authorised denomination on the
Interest Payment Date for the relevant Interest Period {the “Floating Interest Amounts™} by applying,
subject to Condition: 7(c), the Floating Interest Rate for such Interest Period to the principal amount of an
ICES of each authorised denomination, multiplying such sum by the actual number of days in the Interest
Petiod concerned divided by 360 and, if necessary, rounding the resultant figure to the nearest €0.01
(€0.005 being rounded upwards).

() Publication of Floating Interest Rate and Floating Interest Amounts

The Issuer shall cause notice of the Floating Interest Rate determined in accordance with this
Condition 5 in respeet of each relevant Interest Period and of the Floating Interest Amounts and the
relevant Interest Payment Date to be given to the Trustee, the Paying, Transfer and Fxchange Agents and,
in accordance with Condition 17, the ICES Holders, in each case as soon as practicable after its
deternination but in any event not later than the fourth busiiess day thereafter. The Issuer shalj canse
notice of the same to be given to any stock exchange or other refevant authority on which the ICES are for
the time being listed or admitted to trading as soon as practicable after its determination but in any event
not later than the first day of the relevant Interest Peried. As used in this Condition 5(f), “business day”
means 2 day (not being & Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which banks are open for business in
Lendon.

The Floating Interest Amounts, the Floating Interest Rate and the Interest Payment Date so notified
may subsequently be amended (or appropriate aiternative arrangements made by way of adjustment)
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without notice in the event of any extension or shortening of the relevant Interest Period or in the event of
a manifest exror.

(g) Determination or Caleulation by Trustee

The Trustee {or an agent appointed by it) shall, if the Agent Bank does not at any relevant time for
any reason determine the Floating Interest Rate on the ICES in accordance with this Condition 5,
determine the Floating Interest Rate in respect of the relevant Interest Period at such rate as, in its
absolute discretion (having such regard as it shall think fit to the procedures deseribed in this Condition 53,
it shali deem fair and reasonable in all the circumstances and such determination shall be deemed to be a
determination thereof by the Agent Bank,

(h) Agerit Bank

To the extent that any ICES remain outstanding after the First Reset Date (and have not been
previously purchased and cancelled, exchanged or redeemed as provided herein}, the Issuer will appoint
and maintain z leading investment, merchant or commercial bank in London (the “Agent Bank"} to
perform the duties expressed to be carried out by the Agent Bank pursuant to these Conditions.

The Issuer may, with the prior written approval of the Trustee, from time to time replace any such
Agent Bank with another leading investment, merchant or commercial bank in Londen. If the Agent Bank
is unzble or unwilling to continue to act as the Agent Bank or (without prejudice to Condition 5(g) above)
fails duly to determine the Floating Interest Rate in sespect of any Interest Period as provided in
Condition 5(d), the Issuer shall forthwith appoint another icading investment, merchant or commercial
bank in London approved in writing by the Trustee to act as such in its place, The Agent Bank (cnee
appointed) may not resign its duties or be removed without a successor having been appointed as
aforasaid,

(i} Determinations of Agent Bank or Trustee Binding

In making, obtaining, expressing or giving any notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates,
caleulations, quotations and decisions for the purposes of this Condition 5, the Agent Bank and the Trustee
(or its agent) shall act in goed faith and in 2 commercially reasonable manner. Any such notifications,
opinions, determinations, certificates, caleulations, quotations and decisions so made shall (in the absence
of wilfal default, bad faith or manifest or proven exror} be binding on the Issuer, OTP the Agent Bank, the
Trustee, the FPaying, Transfer and Fxchange Agents and all ICES Holders and (in the absence as aforesaid)
no liability to the ICES Holders, the Issuer or OTP shall attach to the Agent Bank or the Trustée in
connection with the exercise or non-exercise by them of any of their powers, duties and discretions.

() Non-payment of Interest

Interest will not be payable on the ICES on an Interest Payment Date if and to the extent that OTP
has given notice to the ssuer pursuant fo the provisions of the Subordinated Swap Agreement that it will
not make payment of the Swap Interest Payment due immediately prior to sach Interest Payment Date.
Forthwith upon receiving any such notice from OTP pursuant to the provisions of the Subordinated Swap
Agreement, the Issuer will notify the Trustee and the ICES Holders thereof in accordance with
Condition 17,

Notwithstanding any other provision in these Conditions, a valid election by OTP under the
Subordinated Swap Agreement not to make payment of any such amount otherwise due under that
agreement shall not constitute 3 defanit for any purpose (including, without limitation, Condition 104)) cn
the part of OTE

OTP has undertaken to the Issuer in the Subordinated Swap Agreement that if and to the extent that
any notice has been given by it to the Issuer as referred to above, OTP will not (2} declare or pay any
distribution or dividend or make any other payment on, and will procure that no distribution or dividend or
other payment is declared, paid or made on, any Junior Securities or Dividend Parity Securities, oz (b) (if
atherwise permitied) redeem, purchase, cancel, reduce or otherwise acquire any Jurior Securities or
Dividend Parity Securities, in each case ualess or until the inferest due and payable on the JCBS on a
subsequent Interest Payment Date (oz, if this provision appliés after the First Reset Date, the interest due
and payable on the ICES on any four subsequent consecutive Interest Payment Dates) has been paid in full
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(or an armount equal to the same has been duly set aside or provided for in full for the benefit of the Issuer
and the ICES Holders and in a manner satisfactory to the Trustee).

Payments of interest on the ICES will be non-cumulative and, to the extent that any such payment is
not paid as described above, neither the ICES Holders nor the Trustee will have any claim in respect of the
amount of interest which would otherwise have been due on the relevant Interest Payment Date under
these Conditions.

Notwithstanding any other provision in these Conditions or the Trust Deed, the non-payroent (by
virtue of this Condition 3() only) of any payment of interest otherwise scheduled to be paid pursuant to
these Conditiops shail not comstitute a default for any purpose (inch:ding, without Limitation,
Condition 10(a)) on the part of the Issuer,

6 Exchange of ICES into Ordinary Shares
{a} Exchange Period and Exchange Price

Each ICES shall entitle the relevant ICES Holder (such entitlement, an “Exchange Right™) to
exchange such ICES for Ordinary Shares, credited as fully pald, and, if applicable, the appropriate Cash
Alternative Amount, subject to and as provided in these Conditions.

Subject {0 any Cash Alternative Amount Election(s} having been made, the number of Ordinary
Shares to be delivered on exercise of an Exchange Right shall be determined by dividing the principal
amount of the relevant ICES {translated into Hungarian forints at the Fixed Rate of Exchange) by the
exchange price (the “Exchange Price”) in effect on the relevant Exchange Date.

The initfal Exchange Price is HUF 9,346 per Ordinary Share. The Exchange Price is subject to
adjustment in the circamstances described in Condition 6(b).

An JCES Holder may exercise the Exchange Right in respect of an ICES by delivering the relevant
ICES Cegificate to the specified office of any Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agent in accordance with
Condition 6(h) whereupon the Issuer shail () deliver, or procure the delivery of, to the ICES Holder,
Ordinary Shares credited 25 paid up in ful} and (ii) {to the extent that a Cash Alternative Amaunt Election
has been made) pay, or procure the payment, to the ICES Holder of the appropriate Cash Alternative
Amount, afl as provided iz this Condition 6.

Subject to, and upan compliance with, the provisions of these Conditions, the Exchange Right in
respect of an ICES may be exercised, at the option of the relevant ICES Holder, at any time (subject to any
applicable fiscal or other faws or regulations and as hereinafter provided) from 31 October 2011 to the
close of business (in the place where the relevant ICES Certificate i delivered for exchange) on
17 October 2016 o, if the ICES shall have bsen called for redemption pursuant to Condition 7(b() or (ii)
prior ta 31 Qctober 20186, then up to the close of business (in the place aforesaid) on the 14th day before
the date fixed for redemption thereof, unless there shall be default in making payment in respect of such
ICES on such date fixed for redemption, in which event the period within which the Exchange Right may
be exercised shall extend up to the close of business (in the place aforesaid) on the date on which the full
amount of such payment becomes available for payment and notice of such availabiiity has been daly given
in aceordance with Coadition 17; provided that, in each case, if the final such date for the exercise of
Exchange Rights is not a business day in the place aforesaid, thea the period within which the Exchangs
Right may be exercised by ICES Holders shall end on the immediately preceding business day in the place
aforesaid. Fxchange Rights may also be exercised during any Relevant Event Period, notwithstanding that
such Relevant Fvent Period may commence prior to 31 October 2011, and may continue to be exercised
during any Relevant Event Period and (with effect from 31 October 2011 as provided above) thereafter if
and to the extent that the ICES are not redeemed following the oceurrence of a Relevant Event,

Exchange Rights may not be exercised following the giving of notice by the Trusice pursuant to
Conditien 10,
An Exchange Right may not be exercised by an ICES Holder in circumstances whete the refevant

Exchange Date would fall during the period commencing on the Record Date in respect of any payment of
interest on the ICES and ending on the relevant Interest Payment Date (both days inclusive),

The period within which an Exchange Right reay be exercised by an ICES Holder (including during
any Relevant Event Feriod) is referred to as the “Exchange Period™.
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Exchange Rights may only be exetcised in respect of an authorised denomination. Where Exchange
Rights are exercised in respect of part only of the ICES represeated by an ICES Certificate, the old ICES
Certificate shall be cancelied and a new ICES Certificate for the balance thereof shall be issued in Leu
thereof without charge but upon payment by the ICES Holder of any taxes, duties and other governmental
charges payable in connection therewith and the Registrar wilf within seven business days, in the place of
the specified office of the Regisirar, following the relevant Exchange Date deliver such new ICES
Certificate to the ICES Holder at the specified office of the Registrar or (at the risk and, if mailed al the
request of the ICES Hoider otherwise than by ordinary mail, at the expense of the ICES Holder) mail the
new [CES Certificate by vninsured mail to such address as the ICES Holder may request,

Fractions of QOrdinary Shares will not be delivered on exercise of Exchenge Rights or pursuent to
Condition 6{c) 2nd no cash payment or adjustment will be made in lieu thereof. However, if the Bxchange
Right in respect of more than one JCES is exercised at any one time such that Ordinary Shares fo be
delivered on exchange or pursuant to Condition 6(¢) are to be registered in the same name, the number of
such Ordinary Shares to be delivered in respect thersof shall be calculated on the basis of the aggregate
principal amount of such 1CES being so exchanged and rounded down to the nearest whole number of
Crdinary Shares.

1 the record date or other due date for the establishment of the relevant entitlerment for the payment
of any Dividend or other distribution or rights on or in respect of Ordinary Shares falls on or after the
Exchange Date (or, in the case of Additional Shares, after the date the relevent Retroactive Adjustment
takes effect or the date of issue of Ordinary Shares if the adjustment results from the issue of Ordinary
Shares (each suck date, the “Reference Date”)) but before the date from which the JCES Hoider is treated
as entitled to all rights and entitlements to such Ordinary Shares (oz, as the case may be, such Additional
Shares), with the effect that the relevant ICES Holder is not entitled {0 such Dividend, other disttibution
or rights, the Issuer shall (in the case of Dividends, other distributions or rights payable in cash) pay, or
procure the payment to the exchanging ICES Helder in liew of such Dividend, other distribution of rights,
an amount equal thereto (the “Equivalent Amount™) converted into evro (if expressed in a cirrency other
than euro) at such rate of exchange as may be determined in good faith by an Independent Financiat
Adviser to be the spot rate prevailing at the cose. of business on the relevant Exchange Date (or, if
appropriate, the relevant Reference Date) (or, if no such rate is evailable on that date, the equivalent rate
on the immediately preceding date on which such rate is availabie). The Issuer will pay the Equivalent
Amount, or procure that it is paid, to the relevant ICES Holder not later than the third TARGET Business
Day following the making of the relevant Dividend, other distribution or rights by euro cheque drawn on,
or by transfer to, a euro account maintained with, a city in which banks have access to the TARGET
System in accordance with instructions given by the relevant ICES Holder in the relevant Exchange Notice,

{b) Adjustment of Exchange Price

Upon the happening of any of the events described below, the Exchange Price shall be adjusted as
follows:

(i} X and whenever there shall be an alleration to the nominal value of the Ordinary Shares as a
result of consolidation or subdivision, the Exchange Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the
Exchange Price in force immediately prior to such alteration by the following fraction:

A

B
whare:
- A is the nominal value of one Ordinary Share immediately after such alteration; and
B is the nominal value of one Ordinary Share immediately before such alteration.
Such adjustment shall become effective on the date the alteration takes effect,

(i) If and whenever OTP shall issue any Ordinary Shares credited as fully paid to the Shareholders
by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves (including any share premium account or capital
redemption reserve) other than {1} where any such Ozginary Shares issued instead of the whole
or part of a Dividend i’ cash which the Shareholders would or could otherwise have received or
(2) where the Shareholders may elect to receive a Dividend in cash in lieu of such Ordinary
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Shares, the Exchange Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Exchange Price in foree
immediately prior to such issue by the following fraction:

A

B
where:

A is the aggregate nominal amount of the issued Ordinary Shares immediately before such issue;
and

B isthe aggregéte fominal amount of the issued Ordinary Shares immediately after such issue,
Such adjustment shall become effective on the date of issue of such Ordinary Shares,

(i#)y If and whenever OTP shall pay or make any Capital Distribution to the Sharcholders, the
Bxchange Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Exchange Price in force immediately prior to
such Capital Distribution by the following fraction:

A-B
A

where:

A B the Current Market Price of one Ordinary Share on the dealing day immediately preceding the
date of the first public announcement of the Relevant Dividend or, in the case of a parchase of
Ordinary Shares or any receipts or certificates representing Ordinary Shares by or on behalf of
QTP or any Subsidiary of OTE, on which such Ordinary Shares, receipts or certificates are
purchased or, in the case of any other Non-Cash Dividend is the Current Market Price of an
Ordinary Share on the dealing day immediately preceding the first date on which the Ordinary
Shares are traded ex-the relevant Nen-Cash Dividend; and

B is the portion of the Fair Market Value (as defined below} of the Capital Distribution attributable
1o one Ordinary Share, with such portion being determined by dividing the Fair Market Value of
the aggregate Capital Distribution by the number of Ordinary Shares entitled to receive the
relevant Capital Distribution (or, in the case of a purchase of Ordinary Shares or any receipts or
certificates representing Ordinary Shares by or on behalf of OTP or any Subsidiacy of OTE by the
number of Ordinary Shares in issue immediately prior to such purchase).

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date on which the relevant Dividend is paid or made
or, in the case of a purchase of Ordinary Shares or any receipts or certificates representing Ordinary
Shares, o the date such purchase is made or, in any such case if later, the first date upon which the Fair
Market Value of the relevant Mon-Cash Dividend is capable of being determined as provided herein.

For the purposes of these Conditions (including the definition of Capital Distribution), the Fair
Market Value of a Dividend shall (subject as provided in paragraph (a) of the definition of “Dividend” and
in the definition of “Fair Market Value”) be determined as at the date of the first public anncuncement of
the relevant Dividend. In making any such calculation, such adjustments (i any) shall be made as an
Independent Financial Adviser may determine in good faith to be appropriate to reflect (i) any
consolidation or sub~division of any Ordinary Shares or the issue of Ordinary Shares by way of
capitalisation of profits or reserves (or any like or similar event) or any change in the number of Ordinary
Shares ip issue in relation to the financial year in question, or (ii) any change in the fiscal year of OTE.

“Cash Dividend” means (i} any Dividend which is to be paid or made in cash (in whatever currency), but
other than any Dividend in cash falling within paragraph (b} of the definition of “Spin-Off” and (i) any
Dividend which is a Cash Dividend pursuant to paragraph (a) of the definition of “Dividend”, and, for the
avoidance of doubt, a Dividend falling within paragraph {c) or {d} of the definition of “Dividend” shall be
treated as being a Non-Cash Dividend.

“Dividend” means any dividend or distribution (for the avoidance of doubt, calculated on a gross
basis) to Sharsholders (including a Spin-Off) whether of cash, assets or other property, and whenever paid
or made and however described (and for these purposes a distribution of assets inchudes without Lireitation
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an fssue of Ordinary Shares or other securities credited as fuily or partly paid up by way of capitalisation of
profils or reserves) provided that:

(a) where a Dividend in cash is announced which is to be, or may at the election of a Shareholder or
Shareholders be, satisfied by the issue or delivery of Ordinary Shares or other property or assets,
Jor where a capitalisation of profits or resesves is announced which is to be, or may at the election
of a Shareholder or Shareholdets be, satisfied by the payment of a Dividend in cash, then for the
purposes of this definition the Dividend in guestion shall be treated as a Cash Dividend of the
greater of (x} such cash amount and (¥) the Fair Market Value (on the date of the first public
announcement of such Dividend ot capitalisation {as the case may be) o, if later, the date on
which the number of Ordinary Shares {or amount of property or assets, as the case may be) which
may be issued or delivered is determined), of such Ordinary Skares or other properfy or assets;

(b} any issue of Ordinary Shares falling within Condition 6(b)(i) above shall be disregarded;

(¢) a purchase or redemption: or buy back of share capital of OTP by or on behalf of OTP or any
Subsidiary of OTP shall not constitute a Dividend unless, in the case of purchases or buy backs of
Ordinary Shases by or on behalf of OTP or any of its Subsidiaries, the weighted average price per
Ordinary Share (before expenses) on any day (a “Specified Share Day”) on which such purchases
or buy backs are effected (translated, if ot in Hungerian forints, intc Hungarian forints at the
spot rate ruling at the close of business on such day as determined in good faith by an
Independent Financial Adviser (or if no such raie is available on that date, the equivalent rate on
the immediately preceding date on which such rate is available)) exceeds by more than five per
cent. the average of the closing prices of the Ordinary Skares on the Relevant Stock Exchange (as
published by or derived from the Relevant Stock Exchange} on the five dealing days immediately
preceding the Specified Share Day or, where an announcement (excluding, for the avoidance of
doubt for these purposes, any general autherity for such purchases approved by a general
meeting of Shareholders of QTP or any notice convening such a meeting of Sharcholders) has
been made of the intention to purchase Ordinary Shares at some future date at a specified price,
on the five dealing days immediately preceding the date of such announcement, in which case
such purchase shall be deemed to constituie a Dividend to the extent that the aggregate price
paid {before expenses) in respect of such Ordinary Shares purchased by or oa bebalf of OTP or,
as the case may be, any of its Subsidiaries (transtated where appropriate into Hungarian forints as
provided above) exceeds the product of (i) 105 per cent. of the average closing price of the
Ordinary Shares determined as aforesaid and {ii} the number of Ordinary Shares so purchased;
and

(d) if OTP ot any of its Subsidiaries shall purchase any receipts or certificates representing Qrdinary
Shazes, the provisions of paragraph {c} shall be applied in respect thereof in such manner and
with such modifications {if any} as shall be determined in good faith by an Independent Financial
Adviser.

“Fair Market Value” means, with respect to any property on any date, the fair market value of that
property as determined in good faith by an Independent Financial Adviser, provided, that (I) the Fair
Market Vaiue of a Cash Dividend paid or to be paid shall be the amount of such Cash Dividend; (ii) the
Fair Market Value of any other cash amount shall be the amount of such cash; (iii} where Spin-OF
Securities, options, warrants or other rights are publicly traded in a market of adequate liguidity as
determinec in good faith by an Independent Financial Adviser, the Fair Markst Value (a) of such Spin-Off
Securities shall equal the arithmetic mean of the daily Volume Weighted Average Prices of such Spin-Off
Securities and (b} of such options, warrants or other rights shall equat the arithmetic mean of the daily
closing prices of such options, warrants or other rights, in the case of both {2) and (b} during the period of
five trading days on the relevant market commencing on such date (o, if fater, the first such trading day
such Spin-Off Securities options, warrants or other rights are publicly traded), or such shorter period as
such Spin-Off Securities, opticns, warrants or other rights are publicly traded; (iv) where Spin-Of
Securities, options, warrants or other rights are not publicly traded (as aforesaid), the Fair Market Value of
such Spin-Off Securities, opticns, warrants or other rights shall be determined in good faith by an
Independent Financial Adviser, on the basis of a commonly accepted market valuation method and taking
aceount of such factors as it considers appropriate, including the market price per Ordinary Shars, the
dividend yield of an Ordinary Share, the volatility of such market price, prevailing interest rates and the
terms of such Spin-Off Securities, options, warrants or other rights, including as to the expiry date and
exercise price (if any) thereof; and (¥) in the case of (i} converted into Hungarian forints (if declared or
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paid in a currency other than Hungarian forints} at the rate of exchange used to determine the amount
payable to Shareholders who were paid or are to be paid the Cash Dividend in Hungarian forints; 2nd, in
any other case, converted into Hungarian forints {if expressed in a cusrency other than Hungarian forints)
at such rate of exchange as may be determined in good faith by an Independent Financial Adviser, to be
the spot rate ruling at the close of business on that date {oz, if no such rate is available on that date, the
equivalent rate on the immediately preceding date on which such a rate is available),

“Nou-Cash Dividend” means any Dividend which is not 2 Cash Dividend, and shall include a Spin-Off,
the amount of such Non-Cash Dividend being the Fair Market Value of the relevant Spin-Off Sccurities or,
as the case may bs, the relevant property, assets or other consideration.

“Spin-GIf”’ means:
{a} a distribution of Spin-Off Securities by OTP to Shareholders as a class; or

(b) any issue, transfer or delivery of any property ot assets {including cash or shares or secutities of

or in or issued or aliotted by any entity) by any entity (other than OTP) to Shareholders as a class
or, in the case of or in connection with a Newco Scheme, Existing Sharsholders, as a class (but
excluding the issue and alloteent of shares by Newco to Existing Sharehoiders), pursuant in cack
case to any arrangements with OTP or any of its Subsidiaries.

“Spin-Off Securities” means equity share capital of an entity other than OTP or options, wartants or
other rights to subscribe for or purchase equity share capital of an entity other than OTE

(iv) If and whenever OTP shall issue Ordinary Shares to Shareholders as a class by way of tights, or

issue or grant to Shareholders as a class by way of rights, options, warrants or other rights to
subscribe for or purchase any Ordinary Shares, in each case at a prics per Ordinary Share which
is less than 95 per cent. of the Current Market Price per Ordinary Share on. the dealing day
immediately preceding the date of the first public announcement of the terms of the issue or
grant of such Ordinary Shares, options, warrants or other rights, the Exchange Price shafl be
adjusted by multiplying the Exchange Price in force immediately prior to such issue or grant by
the following fraction:

A+4+B
A+ C

wherer

A
B

c

is the number of Ordinary Shares in issue immediately before such announcement;

is the number of Ordinary Shares which the aggregate consideration {if any) receivable for the
Ordinary Shares issued by way of rights, or for options or warrants or other rights issued by way
of rights and for the total number of Ordinary Shares comprised therein, would purchase at such
Current Market Price per Ordinary Share (provided that, in the event that such aggrepate
consideration receivable is not determinable on such dealing day, B shali be calculated on the
first day on which such aggregate amount is so determinable, but by reference to the Current
Market Price per Ordinary Share on such dealing day); and

is the number of Ordinary Shares issued or, as the case may be, the maximum number of
Ordinary Shares which may be issued upon exercise of such options, warrants or rights.

Such adjustment shali become effective on the first date on which the Ordinary Shares are traded
ex-rights, ex-options or ex-warrants cn the Relevant Stock Exchange. .

(v} If and whenever OTP shall issue any securities (other than Ordinary Shares or optioas, watrants

or other rights to subscribe for or perchase or otherwise acquire any Ordimary Shares} to
Sharcholders as a class by way of rights or grant to Shareholders as a class by way of rights any
options, warrants or other rights to subscribe for or purchase or otherwise scquire any securities
{other than Ordinary Shares or options, warrants or other tights to subscribe for or purchase or
otherwise acquire Ordinary Shares}, the Exchange Price shall be adjusted by muitiplying the
Exchange Price in force immediately prior to such issue ar grant by the following fraction:

A-~-B

A
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wherer

A

B

is the Current Market Price of one Ordinary Share on the dealing day immediately preceding the
first date on which the terms of such issue or grant are publicly announced; and

is the Fair Market Value on the date of such announcement of the portion of the rights
attributable fo one Ordinary Share, .

Such adjustrent shall become effective on the first date on which the Ordinary Shares are traded
ex-rights, ex-options or ex-warrants on the Relevant Stock Exchange,

(vi) If and whensver OTF shall issug (otherwise tham as mentioned in Condition 6(b)(iv) above)

wholly for cash or for no consideration any Ordinary Shares {other than Ordinary Shares issued
on the exercise of any rights of conversion into, or exchange or subscription for or purchase of,
Ordinary Shares) or issue or grant (otherwise than as mentioned in Condition §(5)(iv} above)
wholly for cash or for no consideration any options, warrants or other rights to subscribe for or
purchase or otherwise acquire any Ordinary Shares (other than in respect of the ICES), in each
case at & price per Ordinary Share which is less than 95 per cent. of the Current Marke! Price per
Ordinary Share on the dealing day immediately preceding the date of the first public
announcement of the terms of such issue or grant, the Fxchange Price shall be adjusted by
multiplying the Bxchange Price in force immediately prior to such issue or grant by the following
fraction; '

A+ B
A+ C

where:

A

Is the number of Ordinary Shares in issue immediately before the issue of such Ordinary Shares
or the grant of such options, warrants or rights;

s the number of Ordinary Shares whick the aggregate consideration (if any} receivable for the
issue of such additional Ordinary Shares or, s the case may be, for the Ordinary Shares to be
issued or otherwise made available upon the exercise of any such options, warrants or rights,
would purchase at such Current Market Price per Ordinary Share; and

is the maximum number of Ordinary Shares to be issaed pursuant to such jssue of such additional
Ordinary Shares or, as the case may be, the maximum number of Qrdinary Shares which may be
issued vpon exercise of such options, warrants or rights.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date of issue of such additional Ordinary Shares or, as
the case may be, the grant of such options, warrants or rights.

(vif) If and whenever OTP or any Subsidiary of OTP or (at the direction or request of, or pursuant to

any arrangements with, OTP or any Subsidiary of OTP) any other compeny, person or entity
(otherwise than as mentioned in Conditions 6(b) (iv), 6(b){(v} or 6(b)(vi) above} shall issue wholly
for cash or for no consideration any securities (other than in respect of the ICES) which by their
terms of issue carry (directly or indirectly) rights of cenversion inte, or exchange or subscription
for, Ordinary Shares (or shall grant any such rights in respect of existing securities sa issued) or
securities which by their terms might be redesignated as Ordinary Shares, and the consideration
per Ordinary Share receivable upon conversion, exchange, subscription or redesignation is less
than 95 per cent. of the Curment Market Price per Ordinary Share on the dealing day last
preceding the date of the first public announcement of the torms of issue of such securities {or
the terms of such grant), the Exchange Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Exchange Price
in force immediately prior to such issue {or grant) by the following fraction:

A+B
A+ C

where:

A is the number of Ordinary Shares in issue immediately before such issue or grant (but where the

reievant securities carry rights of comversion into or rights of exchange or subscription for




Ordinary Shares which have been issued by OTP for the purposes of or in connection with such
issue, less the number of such Ordinary Shares so issued);

is the number of Ordinary Shares which the agpregate consideration (if any) receivable for the
Ordinary Shares to be issued or otherwise made available upon conversion or exchange or upon
exercise of the tight of subscription attached to such securities or, as the case may be, for the
Ordinary Shares o be issued or to arise from any such redesignation would purchase at such
Current Market Price per Ordinary Share; and

is the maximum number of Ordinary Shares to be issued or atherwise made available upon
conversion or exchange of such securities or upon the exercise of such right of subscription
attached thereto at the initial conversion, exchange or subscription price or rate or, as the case
may be, the maximum number of Ordinary Shares which may be issued or arise from any such
redesignation,

provided that if at the time of issue of the relevant securities or date of grant of such rights (as
used in this Condition 6(b){vii), the “Specified Date”) such number of Ordinary Shares is to be
determined by reference to the appiication of a formula or other variable feature or the
octurrence of any event at some subsequent time {which may be when such securities are
converted or exchanged or rights of subscription are exetcised or, as the case may be, such
securities are redesignated or at such other time as may be provided) then for the purposes of this
Condition §(b)(vii), “C” shall be determined by the application of such formula or variable
feature or as if the relevant event occurs or had occurred as at the Specified Date and as if such
conversion, exchange, subscription or, as the case may be, redesignation had taken place on the
Specified Date.

Such adjustrent shall become effective on the date of issue of such securities or, as the cese may be,
the grant of such rights.

(viii) If and whenever thete shall be any modification of the rights of conversion, exchange,

subscription attaching to any such securities (other than the ICES) as are mentioned in Condition
6(by(vit) above (other than in accordance with the terms (including terms as to adjustment)
applicable to such secrrities upon issue) so that following such modification the consideration per
Ordinary Share receivable has been reduced and is less than 95 per cent. of the Current Market
Price per Ordinary Share on the dealing day immediately preceding the date of the first public
announcement of the proposals for such modification, the Exchange Price shal! be adjusted by
multiplying the Exchange Price in force immediately prior to such modification by the following
fraction:

A+B
A+C
where:
A is the number of Ordinary Shares ir issue immediately before siuch modifieation {but where the

relevant securities carry rights of conversion into, or rights of exchange or subscription for,
Ordinary Shares which have been issited by OTP for the purposes of or in connection with such
issue, Iess the number of suck Ordinary Shares g0 issnad);

is the number of Ordinary Shares which the aggregate consideration {if any) receivable for the
Ordinary Shares to be issued or otherwise made available upon conversion or exchange or upon
exercise of the right of subscription attached to the securities so modified would purchase at such
Current Market Price per Ordinary Share or, if lower, the existing conversion, exchange or
subscription price of such securities; and

is the maxdimum pumber of Ordinery Shares which may be issued or othetwise made available
pon conversion or exchange of such securities or upon the exercise of such rights of subscription
attached thereto at the modified conversion, exchange or subscription price or rate but giving
credit in such manner as an Independent Financial Adviser shall in good faith consider
appropriate for any prévious adjustment under this or Condition &(b)(vii} above,

provided that if at the time of such modification (as wsed in this Coadition 6(b)(viii), the
“Specified Date”) such number of Ordizary Shares is to be determined by reference to the
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application of & formula or other variable feature or the occurrence of any event at some
subsequent time (which may be when such securities are converted or exchanged or rights of
subscription are exercised or at such other time as may be provided) then for the purposes of this
Condition 6(b)(viii}, “C™ shall be determined by the application of such formula or variable
feature or as if the relevant event occurs or had occurred as at the Specified Date and as if such
conversion, exchange or subscription had taken place on the Specified Date.

Such adjustment shall become effective on the date of modification of the rights of conversion,
exchange or subscription attaching to such securities,

(ix) If and whenever OTP or any Subsidiary of OTP or (at the direction or request of or pursuant to

any arrangements with OTP or any Subsidiary of OTF) any other company, person or entity shalt
offer any securities in connection with which offer Shareholders as a class are entitled to
participate in arvangements whereby such securities may be acquired by them (except where the
Exchange Price falls to be adjusted under Condition 6(b)(H), (i), (iv), (vi) or {vii) above (or
would fall to be so adjusted if the relevan? issue or grant was at less than 95 per ceat. of the
Current Market Price per Ordinary Share on the relevant dealing day)} or under Condition
6(b)(v) above) the Exchange Price shall be adjusted by multiplying the Hxchange Price in force
immediately before the making of such offer by the foliowing fraction: .

A-B

A

where:

A

B

is the Current Market Price of one Ordinary Share on the dealing day immediately preceding the
date on which the terms of such offer are first publicly announced; and .

Is the Fair Market Value on the date of such announcement of the portion of the relevant offer
agtributable fo one Ordinary Share.

Such adjustrnent shall become effective on the first date on which the Ordinary Shares are traded
ex-rights on the Relevant Stock Exchange.

(x) If:

{1) an offer is made to all (or as nearly as may be practicable all) Shareholders (or all {or as
neatly as may be practicable all} such Shareholders other than the offeror and/or any
associate (as defined in the Hungaran Act CXX of 2001 on the capital market) of the
offeror} to acquire all or & majority of the issued ordinary share capital of OTE or

(2) any person proposes a scheme with regard to such acquisition {other than an Exempt Newco
Scherae),

or an event occurs which has a like or simitar effect (2 “Relevant Bvent”), the Exchangs Price
{the “Change of Control Exchange Price™) shall be as set out below {but in each case adjusted, If
appropriate, proporticnately on each adjustment to the Exchange Price under Conditions 6(b){i)
to {ix} above and Condition: 6(b){xi) below), provided that the Change of Conirol Exchange Price
shall only apply to ICES in respect of which Fxchange Rights are duly exercised and the
Exchange Date falls within the period (the “Relevant Event Period”) commencing on the date
the Relevant Event occurs and ending on the date 60 calendar days foliowing the occurrence of
the Relevant Event or, if later, 60 calendar days foliowing the date on which the applicable
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Relevant Event Notice is given to ICES Holders by or on behalf of the Issuer as required by
Condition 6(g):

Change of
Control

Exchange
Price

Exchange Date _ HUR

On or before 31 October 2007, . 0.t i iinii i cne e i 7,307
Thereafter, bat on or before 31 October 2008 . ... ... ..o uun., 7,533
Thezeafter, but on or before 31 Octeber 2009 . ... ... .0 uvvn.. 7,760
Thereafter, but on or before 31 Qctober 2010 .................. 7,986
Thereafter, but on or before 31 October 2011 ........... .0y hss 8,213
Thereafter, but on ot before 31 October 2092 ... vvv et 8,439
Thereafter, but on or before 31 Octobez 2033 . ..o v onn s 8,666
Thereafter, but on or before 31 October 2014 ........coienss 8,892
Thereafter, but on or before 31 October 2015 ... ..o veee ... 9,119
Thereafter, but on or before 17 October 2016 . ... ..ovvn.. e 9,346

(xd) T£ the Tsstier {acting npon iostruction from OTP) determines that an adjustment should be made
to the Exchange Price as a result of one of more circumstances not referred to above in this
Condition 6(b) (even if the relevant circumstance is specifically exch:ded from the operation of
Cordition 6(b}{i) to (x) above), the Issuer shall, at its own expense and acting reasonably, request
an Independent Financial Adviser to determine in good faith as soon as practicable what
adjustment (if any) to the Bxchange Price is fair and reasonable to take account thersof and the
date on which such adjustment should take effect and npon such determination sach adjustment
(if arny) shafl be made and shall take effect in accordance with such determination, provided that
an adjustment shall only be made purssant to this Condition 8(b)(xi} if such Independent
Financial Adviser is so requested to maks such a determination not more than 21 days after the
date on which the relevant circumstance arises,

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, where the circumstances giving rise to any adjustment
pursnant to this Condition 6(b) have already resulted or will result in an adjustment to the Exchange Price
or whete the eircumstances giving rise to any adjustment arise by virtue of any other circumstances which
have already given or will give rise to an adjustment to the Exchange Price or where more than one event
which gives rise to an adjustment to the Exchange Price occurs within such a short period of time that, in
the opinion of the Issuer (acting upon instruction frora. OTP), a modification to the operation of the
adjustment provisions is required to give the intended result, such modification shall be made to the
operation of the adjust:ent provisions as may be determined in good faith by an Independent Financial
Adviser to be appropriats to give the intended result and provided further that, for the avoidance of doubt,
the delivery of Ordinary Shares pursuant to the exercise of Exchange Rights shall not result in an
adjustment to the Exchanpe Price.

For the purpose of any calculation of the consideration receivable or price pursuant to
Condition 6(b)(iv), (vi), (vii} and (vili}, the following provisions shall apply:

(a) the aggregate consideration receivable or price for Ordinary Shares issued for cash shall be the
amount of such cash;

(b) (x) the aggregate consideration receivable or price for Ordinary Shares to be issued or otherwise
made available upon the conversion or exchange of any securitias shall be deered to be the
consideration or price received or receivable for any such securities and (y) the aggregate
consideration receivable or price for Ordinary Shares to be issued or otherwise made available
upon the exercise of rights of subscription attached to any secutities or upon the exercise of any
options, warrants or rights shall be deemed to be that part (which may be the whole) of the
consideration or price received or receivable for such securities or, as the case may be, for such
options, warranis or rights which are attributed by OTP to such rights of subscription oz, as the
case may be, such options, warrants or rights or, if no part of such considezation ot price is so
attributed, the Fair Market Value of such rights of subscription or, as the case may be, such
oplions, warrants oy rights as at the date of the first public announcement of the terms of issue of
such securities or, as the case may be, such options, warrants or rights, plus in the case of each of
(%) and () above, the additional minimum consideration receivabie or price (if any) upon the
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conversion or exchange of such securities, or upon the exercise of such rights or subscription
attached thereto or, as the case may be, upon exerclse of such options, warrants or rights and-
{2) the consideration receivable or price per Ordinary Share upon the conversion or exchange of,
or upon the exercise of such rights of subseription attached to, such securities oz, as the case may
be, upon the exercise of such options, warrants or rights shall be the aggregate consideration or
price referred to in () or (v} above (as the case may be);

{c} if the consideration or price determined pursuant to () or {b) above {or any component thereof)
shall be in or expressed in a currency other than Hungarian forints it shall be converted into
Hunparian forints at such rate of exchange as may be determined in good faith by an
Independent Financial Adviser to be the spot rate ruling at the clase of business on the date of
the first public announcement of the terms of issue of such securities (or if no such rate is
available on that date, the equivalent rate on the immediately preceding date on which such rate
is available}; and

(d) in determining the consideration or price pursuant to the above, no deduction shall be made for
any commissions or fees (howsoever described) or any expenses paid or incurred for any
underwriting, placing or management of the issue of the relevant Ordinary Shares or securities or
otherwise In connection therawith,

(¢) Rerroactive Adjustments

I the Detivery Date in relation to the exchange of any TCES shall be after the record date for any such
issue, distribution, grant or offer (as the case may be) as is mentioned in Condition 6(b)), (i), (iv),
(v} and (%), or any such issue as Is mentioned in Condition 6(b)(vi) and (vii) which is made to the
Shareholders or any of them, but before the relevant adjustment becomes effective under Condition 6(k)
{such adjustment, a “Retroactive Adjustment”), the Issuer shall (conditional upan the relevant adjustment
hecoming effective} procure that there shall, subject as provided below, he delivered to the exchanging
ICES Holder, in accordance with the instructions contaimed in the Exchange Notice, such additional
number of Ordinary Shares (if any) (the “Additionsl Sheres™) as, together with the Ordinary Shares
delivered or to be delivered on exchange of the relevant ICES (together with any fraction of an Crdinary
Share not so issued and also for this purpose, any Cash-Seitled Extra Ordinary Shares), Is equal to the
number of Ordinary Shares (and any Cash-Settfed Extra Ordinary Shares) which would have been
Tequired to be delivered on exchange of such ICES (or, in he case of any Cash-Settled Extra Ordinary
Shares, in respect of which the relevant Cash Alternative Amount would be required to be paid) i the
relevant adjustment {mose particularly referred to in the said provisions of Condition 6(b)) to the
Exchange Price had in fact been made and become effective immediately prior to the relevant Exchange
Date,

Notwithstanding the above, in circumstances where upon exchange of any ICES the relevant Holder is
entitied to receive a Cash Alternative Amount, in lieu of delivery of any Additional Shares to whick such
Holder may be entitied in the circumstances described abave, the Issuer shall make & payment on the
TARGET Business Day on or immediately following the date on which it would, absent this provision,
have been required to deliver the Additional Shares in euro (the “Retroactive Cash Amount”) calculated
as set out in the definition of Cash Alternative Amount, save that references to such definition to
Cash-Settled Extra Ordinary Shares shall be deemed to be to such number of Additional Shares as
aforesaid,

As used above, “Delivery Date” means, in relation to Ordinary Shares to be delivered or exchanged,
the date on which the retevant Ordinary Shares are credited to an account at KELER or Clearstream,
Luxembourg {or any successor lcensed clearance and settlement facility applicable to the Ordinary
Shares) and from which the relevant holder is entitled in its own name to the rights attaching to such
Ordinary Shares.

{d) Decision of an Independent Financial Adviser

It any doubt shall arise as to the appropriate adjustment to the Exchange Price, and following
consultation between the Issuer {acting wpon instruction from OTP) and an Independent Financial
Adviser, a written opinion of such Independent Financial Adviser in respect of such adjustment to the
Exchange Frice shall be conclusive and binding on all concerned, save in the case of manifest or proven
error.
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(e} Employees" Share Schemes

No adjustment will be made to the Exchange Price where Ordinary Shares or other securities
(including rights, warrants and options) are issued, offered, exercised, allotted, appropriated, modified or
granted to, or for the benefit of, employees or former employees (including directors holding or formerly
holding executive office or the personal service company of any such person) or their spouses or relatives,
in each case, of OTP or any of its Subsidiaries or any associated company or to trustees to be held for the
benefit of any such person, in any such case pursuant to any employees’ share or option scheme duly
established in accordance with Hungarian law and approved by the Sharehoiders of OTE

() Rounding Down and Notice of Adjusiment to the Exchange Price

On any adjustment, the resaitant Exchange Price, if not an integral multiple of HUF 0.01, shalt be
reunded down to the nearest whole multiple of HUF 0.01. No adjustment shall be made to the Exchange
Price where such adjustment {rounded down if applicable) would be less than ome per cent. of the
Exchange Price then in effect. Any adjustment not required to be made, andfor afy amount by which the
Hxchange Price has been rounded down, shall be carried forward and taken fto account jn any sebsequent
adjustment, and such subsequent adjustment shall be made on the basis that the adjustment not required
to be made had been made at the relevant time,

Notice of any adjustments to the Exchange Price shall be given to ICES Holders in accordance with
Condition 17 promptly after the determination thereof. ’

(g} Relevant Event

OTP has undertaken to the Issuer in the Subordinated Swap Agrecment that, following the
oceurrence of 2 Relevant Event, it will give notice thereof to the Issuer within seven calendar days
Tollowing the first day on which OTP becomes so aware, OTP has also undertaken in the Subordinated
Swap Agreement that it will provide ail information to the Issuer as shall be réquired by the Issuer for the
purposes of it delivering a duly completed Relevant Event Notice as requited by this Condition 6(3).

The Issuer sheli, immediately following receipt by it of notice from OTP of the cceurrence of a
Relevant Event, give notice thereof to the Trustee and the JCES Holders in accordance with Condition 17
(2 "Relevant Event Notice"). Such notice shall contain a statement informing ICES Helders of their
entitlement to exercise their Bxchange Rights as provided in these Conditions. The Relevant Event Notice
shall also specify: -

{i) all information material to ICES Holders concerning the Relevant Event;

- (i} the Exchange Price immediately prior to the occurrence of the Relevant Bvent and the Change of
Control Exchange Price applicable pursvant to Condition 6(b)(x) during the Relevant Event
Period;

(iii} the closing price of the Ordinary Shares as derjved from the Relevant Stock Exchange as at the
latest practicable date prior to the publication of such notice;

(iv) the last day of the Relevant Event Period; and
(v} such other information relating to the Relevant Event as the Trustee may require.

The Trustee shall not be required to take any steps to ascertain whether a Relevant Event or any event
which could lead to a Relevant Event has cccurred or may ocour,

OTP may also, by notics given to the Issuer in accordance with the Subordinated Swap Agreement
{such notice to be given no lafer than 30 days following the oceurrence of a Relevant Event), elect to
terminate the Subordinated Swap Agreement following the occurrence of a Relevant Bvent. If OTP so
elects, the ICES will be redeemed in accordance with Condition 7(b) and the Subordinated Swap
Agreement will terminate on the date of such redemption.

(k) Procedure for Exchange

An Exchange Right may be exercised by an ICES Holder duting the Exchange Pesiod by delivering
the refevant ICES Certificate to the specified office of any Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agent, during its
usual business hours, accompanied by 2 duly completed and signed notice of exchange (an “Exchange
Notice") in the form (for the time being current) obtainable from any Paying, Transfer and Exchange
Agent, Exchange Rights shall be exercised subject in each case to any applicable fiscal or other laws or
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reguiations applicable in the jurisdiction in which the specified office of the Paying, Transfer and Exchange
Agent to whom the relevant Exchange Notice is delivered is located. H such delivery is made after the end
of normal business hours or on a day which Is not a business day in the place of the specified office of the
relevant Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agent, such delivery shall be deemed for all purposes of these
Conditions to have been made on the next following such business day.

An ICES Holder exsrcising' Exchange Rights will also be required to certify in the refevant Exchange
Notice that such exchange is being made ouiside the United States (as such term is defined in Regulation S
{“Reguiation §”) under the United States Securities Act of 1933} and in accordance with Regulation S.

An Exchange Right may be exercised only in respect of an authorised denomination. An Exchange
Notice, once delivered, shall be irrevocable.

The exchange date in respect of an ICES (the “Exchange Date”) shall be the Budapest business day
immediately following the date of such delivery and, if applicable, the making of any payment to be made
as provided below.

An ICES Holder exercising an Exchange Right must pay any taxes and capital, stamp, issue and
registration duties arising on exchange (other than any taxes or capital duties or stamp duties payable in
Hungary or Luxembourg in respect of the delivery of any Ordinary Shares on such exchange (including any
Additional Shares), which shall be paid by the Issuer) and such ICES Holder must pay ail, if any, taxes
arising by reference to any disposal or deemed disposal of an ICES or inferest therein in connection with
such exchange.

Ordinary Shares to be delivered on exercise of Exchange Rights will be released from the Secured
Property and delivered in uncertificated form through either the securities trading system known as
KELER or Clearsiream, Luxembourg (or any successor licensed ciearance and settlement facitity
applicable to the Ordinary Shares), and each ICES Holder will be required to specify in the relevant
Exchange Notice which of KELER or Clearstream, Luzembourg shall apply for these purposes. The
Ordinary Shares to be delivered through KELER or Clearstream, Luxembourg (as the case may be) will be
delivered to the accovnt specified by the relevant ICES Holder exercising such Bxchange Right in the
Exchange Netice by a date not later than 10 dealing days after the relevant Exchange Date.

(i} Ordinary Shares

(®) Ordinary Shares defivered upon ¢xchange of ICES will be fully paid and non-assessable and
will in all respects rank pari pussu with the fully paid Ordinary Shares in issue on the relevant
Exchange Date or, in the case of Additional Shares, on the relevant Reference Date (except
i any such ¢ase for any right excluded by mandatory provisions of applicable {aw), except
that the Ordinary Shares or, as the case may be, the Additional Shares so delivered will not
rank for any rights, distributions or paymenis the record date or other due date for the
establishment of entitlement for which falis prior the relevant Exchange Date or, as the case
may be, the relevant Reference Date,

(ii} Save as provided in Condition 6(j), no payment or adjustment shall be made on the exercise
of an Exchange Right for any interest which otherwise would have accrued on the relevant
ICES since the last Interest Payment Date preceding the Exchange Date relating to such
ICES (or, if such Exchenge Date falls before the first Interest Payment Date, since the
Closing Date).

(i) Interest on Exchange

If any notice requiring the redemption of any ICES is given pursuant to Condition 7(b) on or after the -
fifteenth day prior to a record date in respect of any Dividend or distribution payable in respect of the
Ordinary Shares, whick: record date has oceurred since the last Interest Payment Date (or in the case of the
first Interest Period, since the Closing Date) {whether such potice is given before, on or afier such record
date) and where such notice specifies 2 date for redemption falling on or prior to the date which is 21 days
after the Interest Payment Date next following such record date, mterest shall accrue on ICES in respect of
which Exchange Rights shall have been exercised and in respect of which the Exchange Date falls after
such record date and on or prior to the Interest Payment Date next following such record date in respect of
such Dividend or distribution, in each case from and including the preceding Interest Payment Date to but
excluding sach Exchange Date. The Issuer shall pay any such interest or procure that any such interest is
paid by not later than 14 days after the relevant Exchange Date by euro cheque drawn on, or by transfer to,
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a euro account maintained with, a bank in a city jo which banks have access to the TARGET system in
accordance with instructions given by the relevant ICES Holder in the relevant Exchange Notice,

(k} Cash Alternative Amount

The Issuer shall pay any Cash Alternative Amount or procure that any such amount is paid by a date
niot later than 10 desling days after the relevant Exchange Date by euro cheque drawn on, or by transfer to,
a eure account maintained with a bank in a city in which banks have access to the TARGET System in
accordance with the instructions given by the relevant ICES Holder in the relevant Bxchange Notice,

(1) No duty io Monitor

The Trustee shall not be under any duty to monitor whether any event or circumstance has happened
or exists which may require an adjustment ta be made to the Exchange Price, and will not be responsible to
the ICES Holders for any [oss arising from any failure by it to do so.

7 Redemption and Purchase
(a) No Fixed Redemption Date

The ICES are perpetual securities i respect of which there is no scheduled maturity date, Unless
purchased and cancelled or exchanged as provided herein, and without prejudice to the provisions of
Condition 10, the ICES will only become repayable in the circumstances set out in Condition 7(b).

{b} Redemption at the Option of the Issuer

Unless previonsly purchased and cancelled or exchanged as provided herein, the ICES will be
redesmed only in the following circumstances:

(i) if OTP exercises its option to terminate the Subordinated Swap Agreement at any time prior to
the First Resst Date following the ocourrence of a Redemption Event (as defined below);

(i) if OTP exercises its aption to terminate the Subordinated Swap Agreement at any time prior to
the First Reset Date or on any Interest Payrnent Date thereafter following the occurrence of a
Relevant Bvent; or

(iiiy i OTP exercises its option to terminate the Subordinated Swap Agreement (such option being in
OTP’s absolute discretion) on the First Reset Date or on any Interest Payment Date thereafter,

Frovided that it has received the required notice under the Subordinated Swap Agreement, the Issuer
will, immediately following receipt by it of such notice, itself give not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’
notice (an “Optional Redemption Notice”} of such redemption to the Trustee and the ICES Holders in
accordance with Condition 17. In such case, the ICES will be redeersed (in whole and not in part only) on
the date (the “Optional Redemption Date) specified in the Optional Redemption Netice, which shall be
the same date on which the Subordinated Swap Agrecment is to be terminated as described above, at their
principal amount together with interest accrued up to but excluding the relevant Optional Redernption
Date. Notwithstending any other provision of these Conditions, the Optional Redemption Date shall, in
the case of any redemption pursuant to sub-paragraph (i) above, fall no earlier than the first day after the
end of the corresponding Relevant Event Period.

For the purposes of this Condition 7(b), “Redemption Event” means that Exchange Rights shall have
been exercised andfor purchases (and corresponding cancellations) effected in respect of 83 per cent, or
more in principal amount of the ICES originally issued.

{c) Enhanced Interest Rate

1f a Relevant Event occurs and OTP does not, within 30 days of such Relevant Event, exercise its
option to terminate the Subordinated Swap Agresment as described in Condition 7(b}(ii} {and as a result
thereof the Issuer does not deliver an Optional Redemption Notice in respect of the ICES), the following
shall apply:

(@ (if the Interest Rate prevailing on the last day of the corresponding Relevant Bvent Period is the
Fixed Interest Rate) the Fixed Interest Rate will be replaced by the Enhanced Interest Rate with
effect from the 31 January, 30 April, 31 July or 31 October next folfowing the end of the Relevant
Event Period {which date shalt also be deemed to bethe First Reset Date for the purposes of
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these Conditions) and interest shall be payable (sebject to Condition 5(3)) quarterly in arrear
thereafier; or

(ii} (if the Interest Rate prevailing on the last day of the corresponding Relevant Fvent Period is the
Floating Interest Rate) the Floating Interest Rate will be replaced by the Enhanced Interest Rate
with effect from the Interest Payment Date next following the end of the Relevant Event Period.

For the purposes of these Conditions, “Enhanced Interest Rate” means a floating rate of interest
equal to the Floating Interest Rate (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Margin) plus an additional
margin of 0.5 per cent. per annum. The Enhanced Interest Rate will be determined by the Agent Bank on
the basis of the provisions set out in Condition 5(d), which, together with the remaining provisions of
Conditior 5 applicable to the Floating Interest Rate, will apply mutatis mutandis to the Enhanced Interest
Rate.

{d) Opticnal Redemption Netice

Any Gptional Redemption Notice shall be irrevocable, Any such niotice shall specify (i) the Optionai
Redemption Date, (i) the Exchange Price, the aggregate principal amount of the JCES outstanding and
the closing price of the Ordinary Shares &s derived from the Relevant Stock Exchange, in each case as at
the latest practicable date prior to the publication of the Optional Redemption Notice and (iif) if the
Optional Redemption Notice is given pricr to the First Reset Date, the last day on which Exchange Rights
may be exercised by ICES Holders.

(e} Purchase

Subject to the requirements (if any) of any stock exchange on which the ICES may be lsted at the
relevant time, OTE, any Subsidiary of OFP or {in the circumstances set out in Condition 7(f) only) the
Issuer may at any time purchase ICES in the open market or otherwise at any price. Any purchase by
tender shall be made available to all ICES Holders alike. ICES so purchased by OTF, any Subsidiary of
OTP or the Issuer shall not, for the purposes of Conditions 10, 14 and 15, be deemed to be outstanding.

(f} Carncellation

All ICES which are redeemed or in respect of which Exchange Rights are exercised will be cancelied
and may not be reissued or resold, Subject to the Subordinated Swap Agreement, and to the Issuer
satisfying the Trustee that it has made arrangements for the reduction of an equivalent proportion of the
Secured Property, including, without fimitation, a reduction in the nominal amount of its obligations under
the Subordinated Swap Agreement, ICES purchased by OTP or any of OTP’s Subsidiaries may be
acquired by the Issuer pursuant to the Subordinated Swap Agreement, and if 5o acqaired shall promptly be
surrendered to any Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agent for cancellation and may not be held, refssued or
rg-s0ld.

8 Payments
{a) Principal

Payment of the principal in respect of the ICES and accrued interest payabls on a redemption of the
ICES other than on 2n Interest Payment Date will be mades to the persons shown in the Register at the
close of business on the Record Date and subject to, in the case of any payment of principal, the surrender
of the ICES Certificate at the specified office of the Registrar or of any. of the Paying, Transfer and
Exchange Agents.

{b) Interest and other Amounts

(i) Payments of interest due on an Interest Payment Date will be made to the persons shown in
the Register at close of business on the Record Date.

(iiy Payments of all amounts other than as provided in Condition 8¢a) and ()(1) will be made as
provided in these Conditions.
{¢) Record Date

“Record Date” means the seventh business day, in the place of the specified office of the Registrar,
before the due date for the relevant payment,
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(d} Paymenits

Each payment in respect of the ICES pursuant to Condition 8(a) and (b){i) will be made by euro
cheque drawn on a branch of a bank i a city in which banks have access to the TARGET System mailed to
the relevant ICES Holder at his address appearing in the Register. However, upon application by the
relevant ICES Holder to the specified office of the Registrar or any Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agent
not Jess than 15 days before the due date for any payment in respect of an 1CES, such payment may be
made by transfer to a euro sccount maintained by the payee with a bank in such a city,

Where payment is to be made by cheque, the cheque will be mailed, on the business day preceding the
due date for payment or, in the case of payments referred to in Condition 8(a), if [ater, on the business day
on which the relevant 1CES Certificate is surrendered as specified in Condition 8a) {at the risk 2nd, if
mailed at the request of the relevant ICES Holder otherwise than by ordinary mail, expense of the ICES
Bolder).

{e) Payments subject to fiscal laws

All paymeats in respect of the ICES are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws and
regulations. No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the ICES Holders in respect of such

payments.

() Delay in payment

ICES Holders will not be entitled 1o any interest or other payment for any delay after the due date in
receiving the amount due (i) as a result of the due date not being a business day, (i) if the ICES Holder is
late in surrendering the relevant ICES Centificate or (iii) if a cheque mailed in accordance with this
Condition arrives after the date for payment.

() Business Days

Unless otherwise stated in this Condition, “business day” means any day (other than a Saturday or
Sunday) whick is 2 TARGET Business Day and, in the case of presentation or surrender of an ICES
Certificate, which s a day on which banks and foreign exchange markeis are open for business in the place
of the specified office of the Registrar or relevant Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agent to whom the
relevant ICES Certificate is presented or surrendered.

() Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agents, etc.

The initial Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agents and Registrar and their initial specified offices are
listed below. The Issuer reserves the right under the Agency Agreement at any tite, with the prior written
approval of the Trustee (which approval shall not be urreasonably withheld or delayed), to vary or
terminate the appointment of any Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agent or the Registrar and appoint
additional or other Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agents, provided that it will (i) maintzin a Principal
Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agent, (ii) maintain Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agents having specified
offices in at least two major European cities including, so long as the ICES are listed on the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange and the rules of that Stock Exchange so require, Luxembourg, (jii) maintain a Paying,
Transfer and Exchange Agent with 3 specified office in a Buropean Union member state that will ot be
obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to any law implementing Ewropean Council Directive
2003/48/EC or any other Directive implernenting the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council mesting of
26-27 November 2009, (iv) (to the extent required by Condition 5(4) only) appoint end maintain an Agent
Bapk, (v) maintain a Custodian, {vi) maintain a Registrar with a specified office outside the United
Kingdom and {vii) maintain a Calculation Agent. Notice of any change in the Paying, Transfer and
Exchange Agents, Registrar, Agent Bank (if any), Calculation Agent or the Custodian or their respective
specified offices will promptly be given to the ECES Halders in accordance with Condition 17.

(i) Fractions

When making payments to ICES Holders, if the relevant payment is not of an amount which is a
whole multiple of the smalfest unit of the relevant currency in which such payment is to be made, such
payment will be rounded down to the nearest unit.

53



9 Taxation

All payments by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the ICES shall be made without withholding
or deduction for any faxation uniess such withholding or deduction is required by law. In that event, the
relevant payment will be made subject to such withholding or deduction and the Issuer will not be required
to pay any additional or further amounts in respect of such withholding or deduction,

10 Events of Default

The Trustee at its discretion may, and if so requested in writing by ICES Holders hoiding at least
ene-quarter In principal amount of the ICES then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary
Resolution of the ICES Holders shall, (subject in each case to bemg indemnified and/or secured 1o its
satisfaction) give rotice to the Issuer that the ICES are, and they shall accerdingly thereby immediately
become, due and repayable at their principal amount together with accrued interest if any of the following
events {each an “Event of Default™) shall have occurred:

{ay if default is made for a period of 15 days or more in the payment of any sum: due in respect of the
ICES or any of them;

failure by the Issuer to deliver or procurs the delivery of the required number of Ordinary Shares
following the exercise of any Exchange Rights and such failure is not remedied within seven days;

O
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(e} if the Issuer fails to perform or observe any of its other obligations under the ICES or the Trust
Deed and (except where the Trustes shall have certified to the Issuer in writing that it considers
such failure to be incapable of remedy in which case mo such notice or continuation as is
hereinafter mentioned will be required) such failure continues for the period of 14 days next
following the service by the Trustee of notice on the Issuer requiring the same to be remedied;

(d) any order shall be made by any competent court or any resofution passed for the bankruptcy
(faillite) stay of payments (sursis de paiement), controlled management (gestion contriled)
maratorium, liguidation, winding-up or dissolution of the Issuer or the liguidation of the
compartment {compartiment) of the Issuer within which the ICES are issued, save for the
purposes of amalgamation, merger, consolidation, reorganisation or other similar arrangement
on terms previously approved in writing by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution;

{e} any action, condition or thing (including the obtaining or effecting of any necessary consent,
approval, authorisation, exemption, fifing, lcence, order, recording or registration) at any time
required to be taken, fulfilled or done in order (i} to enable the Issuer lawfully to enter into,
exercise rights and perform and comply with obligations under the ICES and the Transaction
Documents, (i) to ensure that those obligations are legally binding and enforceable and (i) to
make the ICES and Transaction Documents admissible in evidence in the cowts of England,
Luxembourg or Hungary, is not taken, fulfilled or done;

(f) faiture by the Stock Borrower to deliver or procure the delivery of any Ordinary Shares or any
ather sums or assets to the Issuer to the extent required to do s¢ in accordance with the terms of
the Securities Lending Agreement or (as the case may be) failure by the Guarantor to make
payment under the ML Guarantee, and in each case such fajlure is not remedied within seven
days, or the Securities Lending Agreement js terminated for any reason;

(g) if any order is made by any competent court or resolution passed for the winding up, Equidation
or dissolution of OTF, save for the purposes of reorganisation on terms previously approved by an
Extraordinary Resolution;

(h) # (A)proceedings are initiated against OTF under any applicable liquidation, insolvency or ather
similar laws, or an application is made {or docnments filed with a court) for the appointment of
an administrator or other siroilar official, or an administrator or other similar official is
appointed, in relaticn to OTP or, as the case may be, in relation to the whole or {in the opinion of
the Trustee) a substantial part of the undestaking or assets of OTF, or an encumbrancer takes
possession of the whole or (in the opinion of the Trostee) a substantial part of the undertaking or
assets of OTF, or a disiress, execution, attachment, sequestration or other process is levied,
enforced wpon, sued ot or put in force against the whole or (in the opinion of the Trustee) a
substantial part of the undertaking er assets of OTP and (B) in any case {other than the
appointment of an administrator) is not discharged within 45 days or (C) OTP becomes subject to
any special supervisory measures of the Hungarian Financiai Supervisory Authority pursaant to
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Section 15%{1) or 163 of Act CXII of 1996 on credit institutions and financial enterprises (1996,
évi CXIL thrvény a hitelintézetekrdl és pénziigyi villalkozdsokrdl);

if OTP initiates or conseats to jedicial proceedings relating to itself under any applicable
liquidation, insolvency or other simiiar faws (including the obtaining of 2 moratorivm) or makes a
conveyance or assignment for the benefit of, or enters into any composition or other arrangersent
with, its creditors generally {or any class of its creditors); or

if default js made by OTP or the Issuer for a period of five days or more in the payment,
performance or observance of any obligation it has ander the Subordinated Swap Agreement or
the Subordinated Swap Agreement is terminated for any reason.

Prospective investors in the ICES are advised thay, notwithstanding the Events of Default provided in
Condition 18 in respect of the ICES, OTP’s obligations to the Issuer under the Subordingted Swap Agreement
(o which, among other things, the Issuer will depend to service its obligations in respect of the ICES) are
subordinated to the extent described therein and, in particular, the Issuer's remedies against OTP under the
Subordinated Swap Agreement are limited to the extent described therein. See Condition 2 and “Security for the
TCES” for further details.

11 Undertakings of the Issuer and OTP
(a) Undertakings of the Issuer .
(i) The Issuer will, save with the approval of an Extracrdinary Resolution or with the prior written

approval of the Trustee where, in the opinion of the Trustee, it is not materially prejudicial to the
interests of the ICES Holders to give such approval:

(A) {for so long as any Bxchange Right remains exercisable) defiver or procuze that there are
delivered Ordinary Shares on exercise of Exchange Rights in accordance with these
Conditions; and .

(B} {for the period from the Closing Date unti} the end of the Exchange Period) in the event of a

) Newco Scheme, take (or shali procure that there is taken) al necessary action to ensure that
(to the satisfaction of the Trustee) immediately upon completion of the scheme of
arrangement, at its option, either {a) Newco is substituted as party to the Subordinated Swap
Agreement in place of OTP or Newco becomes a guarantor under the Subordinated Swap
Agreement and, in either case, that such other adjustments are made to these Conditions
and the Trust Deed to ensure that the ICES may be exchanged for ordinary shares of Newco
mutatis mutandis in accordance with and subject to these Conditions and the Trust Deed; or
(b) such amendments are made to these Conditions and the Trugt Deed as are necessary, in
the opinion of the Trustee, to ensure that the ICES may be exchanged for ordinary shares in
Newco mutatis mutandis in accordance with and subject to these Conditions and the Trust
Deed.

(if) So fong as any of the ICES remains outstanding, save with the approval of an Extraordinary

Resolution or with the prior written approval of the Trustee where, in the opinion of the Trustes,
it is not materially prejudicial to the interests of the ICES Holdets to give such approval, and
subject as provided in, or contemplated by, any of the Transaction Documents, the Issver will not
in relation to or within the compartment of the Issuer within which the ICES are issued:

(A} engage in any business other than (x) acquiring and holding the Secured Property, entering
into the Transaction Documents, eatering into related agreements and transactions and
performing any act incidental to or necessary in connection with any of the foregoing and
(y) incuring any other Permitted Indebtedness and creating or incurring further obligations
relating to the same;

dispose of any Sectred Property or any interest therein, or create any mortgage, charge or
other secarity or right of recousse n respect thereof in favour of any person other than the
security referred to in Condition 2 and other than in connection with any other Permitted
Indebtedness;

(B

o

~ (C) cause or permit any Transaction Docurnent to be amended, terminated or discharged (other

than as contemplated by the Trust Deed and the Congitions} or amend, supplement or
otherwise modify its constitutional documents;
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(D) release any party to any Trarsaction Document from any obligations exdsting therennder;

(E} without prejudice to its rights pursuant to Conditions 7(b), 7(e) or 7{f}, purchase any ICES
in the open market or otherwise;

(F) have any subsidiaries or employees;

(G} consent to any variation of, or exercise any powers or consent or waiver pursuant to, the
terms of any Transaction Document or any other related transactions;

{H) consolidate or merge with any other person cr convey or transfer its properties or assets
substantially as an entirety to any person (other than as contemplated by the Trust Deed and
the Conditions};

(I) consofidate or merge the compartment within which the ICES are issued with any other
compartment of the Issuer or convey or transfer the properties or assets of the compartment
within which the ICES are issued to another compariment of the Issuer;

(I issue any shares (other than such shares as are in issue at 19 October 2006) or make any
distribution to its shareholders;

(K} open or have any interest in any account with a bank or financial institution unfess {(x) such
account or the Issuer’s intezest in it {s simultaneously charged in favour of the Trustee so as
to forrn part of such Secuzed Property, (¥) such account relates to the issue of other
Permitted Indebtedness or (2} such account is opened in connection with the administration
and management of the Issucr and only moneys necessary for that purpese ars credited te it;

(L} declare, pay or make any dividend or other distribution in respect of its shares;

(M) incur any other indebtedness for borrowed meneys, other than issuing noies, bonds, income
ceriificates or debentures (and creating or incarring further oblipations relating to the same),
provided that such other notes, bonds, income certificates or debentures (w) are lssued
cutside of the compartment within which the ICES are issued and in another compartment
of the Issuer; (x) are not secured on the Sscured Property, the assets on which any other
obligations of the Issuer are secured or the Issuer’s share capital; (y) are issued or created on
terms and eonditions substantially in the form of Conditions 2(g) and 15 and (z) are issued
on fetmos that they are subject to the Securitisation Law 2004 (any issues of notes, bonds,
income certificates or debentures issued in compliance with this sub-paragraph (M) being
referred to in these Conditions as "Permitted Indebtedness™); or

{N) purchase, own, lease or otherwise acquire any real property (including office premises or like
facilities),

In giving any consent to the foregoing, the Trustee may require the Issuer to make such modifications
or additions to the provisiens of any of the Transaction Documents or may impose sech other conditions or
requirements as the Trustee may deern expedient (in its absolute discretion} in the interests of the ICES
Holders,

{b) Undertakings of OTP

OTP has undertaken in the Subordinated Swap Agreement that, for the peried from the Closing Date
until the end of the Exchange Period and save with the approval of an Extracrdinary Resolution or with
the prior written approvat of the Trustee where, in the opinion of the Trustee, it is not materially
prejudicial to the interests of the ICES Holders to give such approval, it will:

(i} not, other than in connection with a Newco Scheme, issue or pay up any securities, in either case
by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves, other than:

{A) by the jssue of fully paid Ordinary Shares to Sharckolders and other holders of shares in the
capital of OTP which by their terzns entitle the holders thereof to receive Ordinary Shares or
other shares or securities on a capitalisation of profits or reserves; or

(B) by the issue of Ordinary Shares paid up in foll (in accordance with applicable law} and issued
wholly, ignoring fractionat entitlements, in lieu of the whole or part of a cash dividend; or

(C) by the issue of fully paid equity share capital (other than Ordinary Shares) to the holders of
equity share capital of the same class and other holders of shares in the capital of OTP which
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by their terms entitle the holders thereof to receive equity share capital (other than Ordinary
Shares); or

(D) by the issue of any equity share capital to, or for the benefit of, any employee or former
employee, director or executive holding or formerly holding exeentive office whether of OTP
or any of its Subsidiaries or any assoclated corpany or to trustees or norainees to be held for
the benefit of any such person, in any such case pursuant to an employee, director or
executive share or option scheme whether for alt employees, directors, or executives or any
one or more of them,

unless, in any such case, the same constituzes a Dividend or otherwise gives rise (or would, but for the
provisions of Condition 6(f) relating o the carry forward of adjustments, give rise) to an adjustment to
the Exchange Price; or

(i)

(i)

()

®

not modify the rights attaching to the Ordinary Shares with respect to voting, dividends or
liguication nor issue any other class of equity shere capital carrying any rights which are more
favourable than the rights attaching to the Ordinary Shares but so that nothing in this Condition
11(b)(ii} shall prevent:

{A) any consolidation, reclassification or subdivision of the Ordinary Shares; or

(B) any modification of such rights which is not, in the determination of an Independent
Financial Adviser acting in good faith, materially prejudicial to the interests of the ICES
Holders; or

{C} any issue of equity share capital where the issue of suck equity share capital results, or
would, but for the provisions of Condition 6(f) relating to the carry forward of adjustments
or the fact that the consideration per Ordinary Share receivable therefor is at least 95 per
cent. of the Current Market Price per Ordinary Share, otherwise result, in an adjustment to
the Exchange Price; or

(D) any issue of equity share capital or modification of rights attaching to the Ordinary Shares
where prior thereto the Issuer (acting upon instruction from OTP) shall have instructed an
Independent Financial Adviser to determine what (if any) adjustments should be made to
the Exchange Price as being falr and reasonable to take account thereof and snch
independent Financial Adviser shall have determined either that no adjustment is required
or that &n adjustment resuiting in an increase in the Exchange Price is requived and, if so, the
new Exchange Price as a result thereof and the basis upon which such adjustment is to be
made and, in any such case, the date on which the adjustment shall take effect (and so that
the adjustment shall be made and shall take effect accordingly);

procure that no secarities {whether issued by OTP or any Subsidiary of OTP or procured by OTP
or any Subsidiary of OTP to be issued or issued by any other person pursizant to any arrangement
with OTP or any Subsidiary of OTP) issued without rights to convert into, or exchange or
subscribe for, Ordinary Shares shall subsequently be granted such rights exercisable at s
consideration per Ordinary Share which is less than 95 per cent. of the Current Market Price per
Ordinary Share at the close of business on the last dealing day preceding the date of the first
public announcement of the proposed inclusion of sich rights unless the same gives rise (or
would, but for the provisions of Condition 6(f} refating to the carry forward of adjustments, give
rise) to an adjustment to the Exchange Price and that at no time shall there be in issve Ordinary
Shares of differing nominal values, save where such Ordinary Shares have the same sconomic
rights;

not make any issue, grant or distribution or any other action taken if the effect thereof would be
that, on the exercise of Exchange Rights, Ordinary Shares could not, under any applicatle law
then in effect, be legally delivered as fully paid;

not reduce its issued share capital, or any uncalled Habifity in respect thereof, or any
pon-distributable reserves, except:

{A) pursuant to the terms of issue of the relevant share capital; or

(B) by means of a purchase or redemption of share capital of OTP to the extent permitted by
applicable law; or

(C) by way of transfer to reserves as permitted under applicable law; or
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{D} where the reduction is permitted by applicable law and an Independent Financial Adviser,
acting in good faith, has determined that the interests of the ICES Holders will not be
materially prejudiced by such reduction; or

{E) where the reduction is permitted by applicable Jaw and results in {or would, but for the
provisions of Condition 6(f) relating to the cary forward of adjustments, result in} an
adjustment to the Exchange Price; or

{F) pursvant to a Newco Schems,

provided that, without prefudice to the other provisions of these Conditions, OTP may exercise such
tights as it may from time to time enjoy pursuant to applicable law to purchase its Ordinary Shares
and any depositary or other receipts or certificates representing Ordinary Shares without the consent
of ICES Holders;

(vi} if an offer is made to alf {or as nearly as may be practicable all) Sharcholders (or all (or as nearly

(vii)

(vid)

(i

e

as may be practicable alt) such Sharsholders other than the offeror and/or any associate (as
defined in the Hungarian Act CXX of 2001 on the capital market} of the offeror) to acquire all or
a majority of the issued ordinary share capital of OTE, or if any person proposes a scheme with
regard to such acquisition (other than an Exempt Newco Scheme}, give notice of such offer or
scheme to the ICES Hoiders at the same time as any notice thereof is sent to OTP’s Shareholders
(or as soon as practicable thereafter) that details concerning such offer or scheme may be
cbtained from the specified offices of the Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agents and, where such
an offer or scheme has been recommended by the Board of Directors of OTE, or where such an
offer has become or been declared unconditional in all respects, use all reasonable endeavours to
procure that a like offer or schems is extended to the holders of any Ordinery Shares issued
during the period of the offer or scheme arising out of the exercise of the Exchange Rights by the
ICES Holders and/or to the ICES Holders;

procure that it shall not become domiciled or resident in or subject generally to the taxing
authority of any jurisdiction (cther than Hungary) unless OTP would not thereafter be required
pursuant to then current laws and regulations to withhold or deduct for or on account of sny
present or fature taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed
or levied by or on behalf of such jurisdiction oz any political subdivision thereof or therein having
power to tax in respect of any payment on or in respect of the Subordinated Swap Agreement or
the ICES;

in the event of a Newco Scheme, OTP shall take (or shall procure that there is faken) all
necessary action to ensure that (to the satisfaction of the Trustee) immediately upon completion
of the scheme of arrangement, at its option, efther (2} Newco is substituted as party to the
Subordinated Swap Agreement in place of OTP or Neweo becomes a guarantor under the
Subordinated Swap Agreement and, in either case, that such other adjustments are made to these
Conditions and the Trust Deed to ensure that the ICES may be exchanged for ordinary shares of
Newco mutatis mutandis in accordance with and subject to these Conditions and the Trust Deed;
or (b) sach amendments are made to these Conditions and the Trust Deed as are necessaty, in
the opinion of the Trustee, to ensare that the ICES may be exchanged for crdinary shares in
Newco mutatis ruitandis in accordance with and subject to these Conditions and the Trust Deed;

procure that no resolution is recommended by the Directors of QTP or is otherwise put to any
general meeting of the Shareholders which proposes or recommends the payment of 2 Dividend
in any month other than June in any year;

(x) not issue any Tiez 1 Seeurities which rank ar are expressed to rank senior to the obligations of

OTP under the Subordinated Swap Agreement; and

(%) deliver to the Issuer such financial information and certifications as the Issuer may be required to

deliver to the Trustee in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed.

12 Preseription

Claims against the Issuer for payment in respect of the ICES shall be prescribed and become void

unless made withia 10 years (in the case of principal) or five years {in the case of interest) from the
appropriate Relevant Date in respect of such payment and thereafier any principal, interest or other sums
payable in respect of such ICES shall be forfeited and revert to the Issuer,
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Claims in respect of any other amounts payable In respect of the ICES shall become void vriless made
within 10 years following the due date for payment thereof.

13 Replacement of ICES Certificates

If any ICES Certificate is lost, stolen, mutilated, defzced or destroyed, it may be replaced at the
specified office of the Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agent in Luxembourg for the time being subject to'
all applicable laws and stock exchange requirements, upon payment by the claimant of the expenses
incurred in connection with such replacement and on sach terms as to evidence and indemnity as the
Issuer may require. Mutilated or defaced JCES Certificates must be surrendered before replacemnents will
be issued.

14 Meetings of ICES Holders, Modification and Waiver, Substitution
(a) Meetings of ICES Holders

The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of ICES Holders to consider matters
effecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution of a modification of any of
these Conditions or any provisions of the Trust Deed or agy other Transaction Documents. Such a meeting
may be convened by the Essuer or the Trustee and shall be convened by the Issver if requested in writing by
ICES Holders holding not less than 10 per cent. in principat amount of the 1CES for the time being
outstanding. The quorum for any meeting convened to consider an Extraordinary Resolution will be one or
more persons holding or representing a clear majority in principal amount of the ICES for the time being
outstanding, or at any adjourned mesting one or more petsons being or representing ICES Holders
whatever the principal amount of the ICES so held or represented, unless the business of such meeting
includes consideration of proposals, infer afia, (i) to modify the dates on which interest is payable in respect
of the ICES, (if) to reduce or cancel the principal amount, or interest on, the ICES, {ili) to reduce the
Interest Rate or to vary the method or basis of calculating the Floating Interest Rate or the Enhanced
Interest Rate with the resuit that the Floating Interest Rate or the Enhanced Interest Rate (as the case
may be) is teduced, (v} to increase the Exchange Price other than in accordance with these Conditions,
{v} to change the currency of any payment in respect of the ICES, (vi) to modify or vary the Exchange
Rights in respect of the ICES, (vii) to modify the provisions concerning the quorum required at any
meeting of ICES Holders or the majority required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution, {viii} to modify the
provisions of the Trust Deed concerning this exception, (ix} to modify Condition 2 or the termis of any of
the Security created by the Security Documents or (x) any provision corresponding to paragraphs (i) to
(ix} above under the other Transaction Documents, in which case the necessary quorum will be one or
mose persons holding or representing not less than three-quarters, or at any adjourned mesting not less
than one-quarter, in principal amount of the ICES for the time being outstanding. Any Extracrdinary
Resolution duly passed shall be binding on ICES Holders (whether or not they were present at the meeting
at which such resolution was passed).

(b) Madification and Waiver

The Trustee may agree, without the consent of the ICES Holders, to (i) any modification of any of the
provisiens of the ICES or any of the Transaction Documents (or any amendments thereto) which in the
Truste’s opinien is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to cotrect a manifest error or any
mistake or exror which is proved to the Trustee's satisfaction to be such or to comply with mandatory
provisions of law, and (i} any other modification to the ICES or any of the Transaction Documents (or any
amendments thereto) (except as mentioned in the Trust Deed), and any waiver or authorisation of any
breach or proposed breach, of any of the provisions of the ICES or any of the Transaction Documents {or
any amendments thereto) which is, in the opinion of the Trustes, not materially prejudicial to the interests
of the ICES Holders. Any such modification, authorisation or waiver shall be binding on the ICES Holders
and, if the Trustee so requires, such modification shall be natified to the ICES Holders promptly ia
accordance with Condition 17.

(2} Substitution

The Trust Deed containg provisions permitting the Trustee, without the consent of the ICES Holders,
to agree with the Issuer to the substitution in place of the Issuer {or of any previous substitute under this
Condition) as the principal debtor under the ICES and the Trust Deed and as party to the other
Transaction Documents of the Issuer’s successor in business subject to {a) the ICES being secured, to the
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satisfaction of the Trustee, on the Secured Property on terms corresponding mutatis mutandis to those
described in Condition 2 and {b) the ICES continuing to be exchangeable into Ordinary Shares as provided
in these Conditions mutatis mutandis as provided in these Conditions, with such amendments as the
Trustee shall consider appropriste, provided that in each such case (z) the Trustee is satisfied that the
interests of the ICES Holders will not be materially prejudiced by the substitution, and (y} certain other
conditions set out in the Trust Deed are complied with, In the case of such a substitution the Trustee may
agree, without the consent of the ICES Holders, to a change of the law governing the ICES and/or the
Trust Deed provided that such change would not in the opinion of the Trustee be materially prejudicial to
the interests of the ICES Holders. Any such substitution shall be binding on the ICES Holders and shail be
. motified promptly to the ICES Holders in accordance with Condition 37. '

(d} Entitlernent of the Trustee

in conmection with the exercise of its functions (including but not limited to those referred to in this
Condition) the Trustee shall have regard to the interests of the ICES Holders as = class and, ir particular
but without limjtation, shall not have regard to the consequences (including, without limitation, any tax
consequences) of the exercise of its trusts, powers or discretions for individual JCES Holders resuiting
from their being for any purpose domiciled or resident in, or otherwise connected with, or subject to the
jurisdiction of, any particular territory, and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shzli any ICES
Holder be entitled to claim, from the Issuer or any other persen any indemnification or payment in respect
of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual ICES Holders.

15 Enforcement and Limited Recourse

The Trustee may at any time, at its discretion: and without notice, take such proceedings againsi the
Tssuer as it may think fit to enforce the provisions of the Trust Deed, the JCES and the Security Documents
but it shall not be bound {0 take any such proceedings or any other action in relation to the Trust Deed or
the ICES unless (i) it shall have been so directed by an Extracrdinary Resolution of the ICES Holders or
so requested in writing by ICES Holders holding at least one-quarter in principal amount of the ICES then
outstanding, and (ii) it shall have been indemnified and/or secured to its satisfaction. No TCES Holder
shall be entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer unless the Trustee, having become bound so to
praceed, fails so to do within a reasonable period and the faflure is continuing,

The Trustee and the ICES Holders shall have recourse only to the Secured Property in the
compartment within which the ICES are issued and the Trustee having realised the same and distributed
the Net Proceeds in accordance with Conditien 2 and the Trust Deed, none of the Trustee or the ICES
Holders or anyone acting on bebalf of any of them shall be entitled to take any farther staps against the
Issuer (including against the compartment within which the ICES are issued and any othet compartment(s)
created by the Issuer from time to time) to recover any further sum and no debt shall be owed by the Isseer
(including by the compartment within which the ICES are issued or by any other compartment(s) created
by the Issuer from time to time) in respect of such sum, In particular, none of the Trustee or the ICES
Holders shall be entitled fo institate, or join with any other person in bringing, instituting or joining,
insalvency proceedings (whether court based or otherwise) in relation to the Issuer or to seek the
liquidation of any compartment of the Issuer and none of thern shall have any claim in respect of any sum
arising in respect of any assets secured for the benefit of any other obligations of the Issuer or otherwise
contained in any other compariment of the Issuer.

16 Indemnification of the Trustee

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee, for its relief from
responsibility including for the exercise of any voting rights in respect of the Ordinary Shares and for the
validity, sufficiency and enforceability {which the Trustee has not investigated) of the security ereated over
the Secured Property. The Trustse is entitled to enter into business transactions with the Issuer and/or
OTP and any entity related to the Issuer andior OTP without accounting for any profit, The Trustee may
rely without lisbility to ICES Holders on a report, confirmation, certificate or information obtained from
any lawyer, values, surveyor, banker, accountant, financial adviser or investment bank, whether or not
addressed to it and whether their liability in relation thereto js limited (by its terms or by any engagement
letter relating thereto entered into by the Trustee or in any other manner) by reference fo a monetary cap,
methodology or otherwise. The Trustee shall be obliged to accept and be entitled to rely on any such
repert, confirmation or certificate where the Tssuer procures delivery of the same pursuant to its obligation
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to do so under a Condition hereof and such report, confirmation or certificate shall be binding on the
Issuer, the Trustee and the ICES Holders in the absence of manifest error.

The Trustee is exerapted from liability with respect to any loss or theft or reduction in value of the
Secured Property, from any obligation to insure or to procure the i msur:ng of the Secured Property and
from any claim arising from the fact that the Ordinary Shares will be held in safe custody by the Custodian,
The Trustes is not responsible for monitoring or supervising the performance by any other pesson of its
obligations to the lssuer and may assume these are being performed unfess it shali have actnal knowledge
to the contrary.

The Trust Deed provides that i acting as Trustes under this Trust Deed the Trustee shall not assume
any duty or responsibility to the Issuer, OTE the Stock Borrower, the Guarantor, the Costodian, the
Registrar, the Agent Bank (if any), the Caiculation Agent or any of the Paying, Transfer and Exchange
Agents and shall have regard solely to the interests of the holders of the JCES.

17 Notices

All notices regarding the ICES will be valid if sent to the address of the relevant ICES Holder as
specified in the Register. The Issuer shall also ensure that (i) for so long as the ICES are listed on the
- Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the Fuxembourg Stock Bxchange so requires, notices will be published
on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange {(being www.bourse.Ju as at the Closing Date), in a daily
* newspaper with general circufation in Luxembourg (which is expected to be 4'Wort} or in such other
. manner as the Luxembourg Stock Exchange may then permit), andfor (i) if the ICES are for the time
being listed and/or admitted to trading on any additional or other stock exchange or refevant autharity,
notices will be published in a manner which complies with the rules and regulations thereof, Any such
notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such notice. If publication as provided above is
not practicable, notice will be given in such other manner, and shali be deemed to have been given on such
date, as the Trustee may approve.

18 Further Issues

Without prefudice to its ability to create and issue Pernitted Indebtedness in compartments other
than the compartment within which the ICES are issued in the manner desctibed in Condition
12{a)(ii}{M), the Issuer may also create and issue further income certificates (either having the same terms
and conditions in all respects as the outstanding ICES or in all respacts except for the first payment of
interest on them) so that such further issue shall be consolidated and form a single series with the
outstanding 1CES. Any such further income certificates shall only form a sinple issue with the ICES (unless
‘otherwise approved by an Extraordinary Resolution) if the Issuer provides additional asssts as security for
sach further income certificates which are fungible with, and have the same proportionate comeposition as,
those forming part of the Secored Property for the ICES and in the same proportion that the nominal
amount of such new income certificates bears to the ICES and the Issuer enters into, oz has the benefit of,
additional or supplémental fransaction documents exteading the terms of any existing Transaction
Documents to the new income ¢sttificates on terms no less favourable than such existing documents and
agreements. Any new incorne certificates forming a single series with the ICES shall be constituted and
secored by a deed supplemental to the Trust Deed, such further security shall be added to the Secured
Property so that the new income certificates and the existing ICES shall be secured by the same Secured
Property and references in these Conditions to “ICES”, “Security” and “Secured Property” shall be
construed accordingly. The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening a single meeting of the holders of
the ICES and the holders of income certificates of other specified series in certain circumstances where the
Trustee so decides.

19 Redenemination

The Issver may, without the consent of the [CES Holders, on giving at least 30 days’ notice to the
ICES Holders in accordance with Condition 17, the Trustee and the Paying, Transfer and Exchange
Agents, designate a date (the “Redenominatien Date”} falling on or after the date on which Hungary
commences participation in the third stage of Economic and Monetary Union pursuant to the Treaty.

With effect from the Redenomination Date, notwithstanding any other provision of these Conditions:

(a) {i) the Exchange Price and the Change of Control Exchange Prices set out in Condition
6(b)(x} shall be denominated in euro and shall be determined by translating the Exchange Price
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and all relevant Change of Control Exchange Prices (as the case may be) in effect immediately
prior to the Redenomination Date (in each case expressed i Hungarian forints) into euro at the
Fixed Rate of Exchange and (i) the words “(translated inte Hungarian forints at the Fixed Rate
of Exchange)” shall be deleted from the second paragraph of Condition 6(a); and

(b} if the price of the Ordinary Shares en the Relevant Stock Exchange is quoted in euro {whether or
not it is also guoted in Hungarian ferints), the Current Market Price and the closing price of the
Ordinary Shares shall instead be determined for the purposes of these Conditions by reference to
such eurc-denominated price.

Notwithstanding the pravisions of Cendition 19(a), if the Issuer {acting upon instruction from OTP)
detormines, with the agreement of the Trustee, that the then prevailing market practice in respect of the
redenomination into evro of the exchange price of internationally offered exchangeable debt securities is
different from that specified in Condition 15(a), the relevant provisions shall be deemed t0 be amended so
as to comply with such market practice and the Issuer shall promptly notify the 1CES Holders in
accordance with Condition 17, the stock exchange (if any) on which the ICES may then be listed and the
Paying, ‘Transfer and Exchange Agents of such desmed amendments.

20 Contracts {Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the ICES under the Contraces
(Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999,

21 Governing Law and Jurisdiction
(@) Gaverning Law

The Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and the ICES are governed by, and shall be construed in
accordance with, English law,

The Subordinated Swap Agreement (except as stated below) is aiso governed by, and shall be
construed in accordance with, English law, save for certain provisions thereof concerning the subordination
of OTP’s obligations thereunder, which are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with,
Hungarian law. . :

The Guaranise is governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New
York, :

The Security Deposit Agreement and the Custody Agreement are governed by Hungarian law.

fb) Jurisdiction

The courts of England are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in
cornection with the Trust Deed or the ICES and accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising out of
or in connection with the Trust Deed or the ICES (“Proceedings™) may be brought in such courts. The
Issuer has in the Trust Deed irrevocably submitted to the jurisdiction of such courts and has waived any
objection to Procecidings i such coits whether on the ground of venie or on' the ground that the
Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum, This submission is made for the benefit of the
Trustee and each of the ICES Holders and shall not Lmit the right of any of them to take Proceedings in
any other court of competent jurisdiction nor shall the taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions
preclude the taking of Procesdings in any other jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not),

(¢} Agent for Se;»z'ce of Process

The Issuer has irrevocably appointed Structured Finance Management Ltd. at 35 Great St, Helen’s
London BEC3A 6AP as its agent in England to receive serviee of process in any Proceedings in England.
Nothing herein or in the Trust Deed shall affect the right to serve process in any other manner permitted
by law.

{d) Luxembourg Companies Law 1915

The provisions of articles 86 to 94-8 of the Luxembourg iaw dated 10 August 1915 on commercial
companies, as amended, will not apply in respect of the ICES.
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SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE ICES WHILE N GLOBAL FORM

The ICES will upon issue be represented by a Global ICES in registered form, deposited with, and
registered in the name of a nominee for, a common depositary of Ruaroclear and Clearstream,
Buxembourg. Interests in the Global ICES wilt be exchangeable for definitive ICES in registered form only
in the limited cireumstances described below.

. The Global ICES contains provisions which apply to the ICES while they are in global form, some of
which modify the effect of the terms and conditions of the ICES set out i the Conditions appearing
elsewhere in this Prospectus, The following is a summary of certain of those yrovisions. Capitalised terms
used in this section and not otherwise defined have the meanings given to them in the Conditions.

1 Exchange

The Global ICES will be exchangeable (free of charge to the holder of the Global ICES and the ICES
Holders) in whole, but not in past, for the definitive ICES described below I, but only if, (i) the Global
ICES is held on behalf of Euroclear andfor Clearstream, Luxembourg and either such clearing system is
closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days or more {other than by reason of holidays, statutory
or otherwise} or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so and no
alternative clearing system satisfactory to the Trustee is available or (i) the Isuer would suffer a material
disadvantage in respect of the ICES which would not be suffered were the ICES in definitive form and a
certificate to such effect signed by two Ditectors of the Issuer is delivered to the Trustee. Thereupon {in
the case of (i)} the holder of the Globat ICES may g:ve notice te the 'Ihtstee, the Principal Paying, Transfer
apd.Exshaoggpent casmf &k&l} ek jve notice to the

!F:%ﬂ?ﬂz ~Ping Paying, | angr and;t 3 -Elolders, of n:’s mtennon to
exchange he Global ICES for definifive cdrtificates o respect of (CES Camﬁcates") on Of afiér the
Definitive Exchange Date {is defined bélow) specifi: ted in; ti}e nouce g

On or after the Definitive Exchange lfare theil,ssuer will dfﬂl{(?l‘, i)r pmt:ulre thﬁ c.‘l-:g],wer_\,K of an]aqual
aggregate principal amoint ofduly executad and authcnncated daf:nmve CEItLﬂCiifﬁS in sefistered form,
printed in accordance with any-applicable iégal and stock gxchange reguirements and in, o ubst'antlaﬂy in,
the form set out in the Thust Deed.-Such definitive JCES will be regiveéred in the jgame of the
accountholders at Euroclear and Clearssrearn I.uxembourg whn prewously had ICES crechted to their
accounts.

) "Defmltwe Exchange Dhate” meaps 2 day } fallm 5ot Jess th n&ﬁﬁ days afier that oh whlch the nonc&
reqmrmg exchange is ‘giveri and on which banks Ard spen for bhstness in the city in Wwhich the speqﬁed ‘
office of the Regpstrar is located dnd, except in the-tasg pf exchgngq purguam to (I) aboy m the' cities in
wh]ph Eumclear ancl Clearstream, Luxembourg are 1nc&ted T \ .

2 Exchange Rights

Exchange nghts in respect of ICES represented b}r the Global ICES are excrcssable by presentatlon
of, or by procuring the presentation of, the ‘Global ICES to or to the order of the Prmcupal Paying, Transfer
and Exchange Agent for notation of exerclse of the Exchange Rights together with one or mors duly
completed Bxchange Notices (in a form agreed between the holder of the Global ICES and the
accountholders {and whick may be n electronic form) and otherwise in acwordance with the rules and
procedures of the relevant clearing system) and an appropriate entty wil be made in the Register
muaintained in respect of the ICES. Delivery of such an Exchange Notice will constitute confirmation by the
beneficial owner of the ICES to be exchanged that the information and the representations in the
Exchange Notice are true and accurate cn the date of delivery.

3 Notices

$o long as the ICES are represented by the Global ICES and the Global ICES is held on behalf of a
clearing systern, notices to holders of the FCES may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to that
clearing gystem for communication by it to entitled accountholders in substitution for notification as
required by the Conditions. However, the Issuer shall also ensure that () for se long as the ICES are listed
on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the Luxembourg Stock Exchange so requires, notices will be
published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (being wwwhbourseu as at the Closing
Date), in a daily newspaper with general circulation in Luxembourg {which isexpected to be d'Honrt) or in
such other manner as the Luxembourg Stock Exchange may then permit), andfor (i) if the TCES are for
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the time being listed and/or admitted to trading on any additional or other stock exchange or relevant
autharity, notices will be published in a manner which complies with the rules and regulations thereof.

4 Prescription

Claims against the lssuer in respect of principal and interest on the ICES while the ICES are
represented by the Global ICES will becoms prescribed after a period of 10 years {in the case of principal}
and five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date (as defined in the Conditions).

§ Purchase and Cancellation

Cancellation of any ICES required by the Conditions to be cancelled following its purchase will be
effected by endorsement by or on behaif of the Principal Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agent of the
reduction in the principal amount of the Global ICES and by an appropriate entry made in the Register
maintained in zespect of the ICES for which the Global ICES may be exchanged.

6 Meetings

Ab any meeting of ICES Holdees, the holder of the Global ICES will be treated as having one vote in
respect of each €1,000 in principal amount of ICES,

T Trustee’s Powers

In considering the interests of ICES Holders whife the Global ICES is held on bekalf of a clearing
system, the Trustee may, to the extent it considers it appropriate to do so in the circumstances, have regard
to any information provided to it by such clearing systesn or its operator or a participant i such system as
to the identity (either individually or by category) of its accountholders with entitlements to the Global
ICES (or an Interest in respect thereof) and may consider such interests as if such accountholders were the
holders of the ICES.

8 Alternative Clearing System

References fo “Euroclear” andfor “Clearstream, Luxembourg” shall be deemed to include such
additional or other clearing system on which the ICES are for the time being traded and which shall have
been approved by the Trustee,
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SECURITY FOR THE ICES

The Issuer’s abzhty to make payments of interest and principal on, and to sa:nsfy the Exchange Rxghts
attaching to, and otherwise fulfil its obligations in relation to, the ICES will be dependent upon the
satisfaction of obligations owed 10 the Issuer by OTP under the Subordinated Swap Agreement and by
Merrilt Eynch International under the Secuities Lending Agreement (the latter also being guarantsed by
Merrill Lynch. & Co., Inc. pursuant'to the ML Guarantee) The "Trustee will, i the Tryst Deed and the
Hungarian law Secunty Deposit Agreement, take security over these agreéements and the othér Transaction -
Decaments and the Ordinary Shares refesred to below for the benefit of the ICES Holdess. The TCES will
be perpetuat obligations of the, Issuer'secured on a limited recourse basis over certain assets of the Issuer
as more fully described herein. If the net proceeds of the enforcement of such security in the compartizent
of the Issuer within which the ICES are issued are not sufficient to meet all obligations then due in respect
of the ICES, the obligations of the Issuer will be limited to sich net proceeds and any other assets of the
Jssuer (including any assets in other compartments created by the Issuer from time to time, as well as any
assets held by the Issuer outside of its compattments) will not be available to meet any shortfall. The Issuer
will not be obliged to make any further payment in excess of such net proceeds and no debt shall be owed
by the Issuer in respect of such shortfall.

The Ordinary Shares

As described more fully befow, the Secured Property includes 14,500,000 Ordinary Shares sold by
OTP to the Issuer pursuant to the Subordinated Swap Agreement, comprising share capital of the Bank
with a nowinal value of HUF 100 per Ordinary Share. For a full description of the Ordinary Shares,
including a description of the rights attaching to them, see “Description of the Shares of the Bank”
included elsewhere in this Prospectus.

Ordinary Shares held from time to fime by or for the Issuer are held on behalf of the Issuer in an
account with OTP as the Custodian in KELER pursuant to the Custody Agreement and are subject io the
security arrangements set out in the Security Documents, The security arrangements include 2 Hungarian
law security deposit (dvadék) over the Ordinary Shares held by or for the Issver from time to time as
described above. The security deposit is intended to create a proprietary interest in all of the rights, titie
and interest in the Ordinary Shares in favour of the Trustee to secure the Issuer’s obligations under the
ICES.

Up to 50 per cent. of the Ordinary Shares sold to the Issuer by OTP pursuant to the provisions of the
Subordinated Swap Agreement may be {ent to the Stock Borrower pursuant to the provisions of the
Securities Lending Agreement. See “~—The Securities Lending Agresment” below.

Prospective investors in the ICES are advised that the directors of the Issuer may exercise any of the voting
rights attaching to the Ordinary Shares, to the extent that such QOrdinary Shares have not been lent to the Stock
Borrower pursuant to the Securities Lending Agreement and if the directors determine that such exercise would
be i the best interests of the Issuer. Furthermore, fo the extent that Ordinary Shares have been lent to the Stock
Borrower pursuant to the Securities Lending Agreement, the voting rights in respect thereof will also be
transferved to the Stock Borrower or (as the case may be) to other parties to whom the Stock Borrower lends the
Ordinary Shares. It is possible that in exercising such rights the Issuer, the Stock Borrower or such other parties
(as the case may be) may not act in accordance with the best interests of the ICES Folders. Prospective
investors in the ICES are also advised that OTP has entered into arrangemenss with the shareholders of the
Issuer by which OTP may provide written instructions o the shavehiolders of the Issuer 1o appoint certain
persons as directors of the Issuer, thet would, if appointed by the shareholders, constitute a mejority of the board
of directors of the Issuer. See “The Issuer—Directors”.

The Subordinated Swap Agreement

OTP has agreed in the Subordinated Swap Agreement:

(i} to pay the Swap Interest Payments to the Issuer to enable the lssuer ta make payments of
amounts ef Interest due o the JCES; : :

(ii) {to the extent that the ICES are to be redéemed pursuant t6 Condxtzon 7(b) and OTF so elects)
to purchase the Ordinary Shares then held by the Issuer (and which the Issuer is enmled to have
re-delivered pursuant to the Seeurities Lending Agreement),
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(iii} to pay such additional amounts as will enable the Issuer to pay to the ICES Holders all amounts
of principal and acerued interest due on the ICES in connection with such redemption;

{iv) to pay an amount corresponding to any Cash Alternative Amount dve upon the exchange of any
ICES; and

(v) to pay such additional amounts as wili enable the Issuer to pay such taxes, capital duties or stzmp
duties as are payable by the Issuer pursuant to Condition 6(h) in connection with any exercise of
Exchange Rights by an ICES Holder.

OTP has also agreed in the Subordinated Swap Agreement that, if after the Closing Dats there is any
downward adjustment to the Exchange Price in accordance with Condition 6(b) or {c} 2nd as a result
thereof the number of Ordinary Shares held by or for the Issuer (when aggregated with the number of
Ordinary Shares which the Essuer has lent to the Stock Borrower at such time under the Securities Lending
Agreement and the number of Ordinary Shares in respect of which OTP has previcusly made a Cash
Alternative Amount Election (as defined below)) is less than the number of Ordinary Shares into which all
of the ICES then outstanding could be exchanged (assumning for this purpose only that no Cash Alternative
Amcunt Elections have been made) at the then prevailing Exchange Price (which shall mean, during any
Relevant Event Feriod, the relevant Change of Control Exchange Price)} (ignoring for this purpose whether
or not In fact the ICES could be exchanged at such time in accordance with Condition 6(a)), OTP shall, on
such date determined pursuant to the Subordinated Swap Agreement, elect either to (x) deliver lo the
Issuer such additional number of Ordinary Shares as is required to meet such shortfall (the “Eaxtra
Ordinary Shares™) (if, at such time, the delivery of such shares is permitted in accordance with applicable
law) or (y) (in lieu of delivery of such Bxtra Ordinary Shares) make an election (a “Cash Alternative
Amount Election”} by notice to the Trustes and the ICES Holders in accordance with Condition 17 to pay
to the Issuer, (by a date not later than 1% dealing days following the relevant Exchange Date) wpon the
exercise {if any) of Exchange Rights by any ICES Holder, an amount equal to the Cash Aliernative
Amount attributable to the number of Extra Qrdinary Shares to which such ICES Holder would have been
entitled in the absence of such Cash Altemnative Amount Election (“Cash-Settled Extra Ordinary Shares”).
Although OTP reserves the right to elect to deliver Fxtra Ordinary Shares in such circumstances (if, at such time -
the delivery of such shares is permitted in accordance with applicable low), it is its current Intention to exercise
the Cash Alternative Amount Election in all such circumstances.

Subject as provided in the Subordinated Swap Agreement and as described below, the Issuer has
agreed in the Subordinated Swap Agreement to pay and/or deliver to OTP all cash sums or other assets
(other than Ordinary Shares) actually received by it which are derived from the Ordinary Shares held by or
for it as part of the Secured Property and (to the extent received from the Stock Borrower in accordance
with the terms of the Securities Lending Agreement} derived from any Ordinary Shares borrowed by the
Stock Borrower pursuant fo the Securities Lending Agresment (“Ordinary Share Property’”).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Subordinated Swap Agreement provides that no Ordinary Share
FProperty shall be paid and/or delivered, as appropriate, by the Issuer to OTP as aforeseid until OTP has
efther (x) delivered to the Issuer the relevant Extra Ordinary Shares which are required to be delivered (if
any) a5 & result of the event or circumstances which have given rise to the receipt by the Issuer of such
Ordinary Share Property or {y) made a Cash Alternative Amomnt Election in lieu of such delivery.

To the extent that any Ordinary Share Property (other than Ordinary Shares) is o be paid and/or
delivered by the Issuer to OTP as described above, the Trust Deed and Security Deposit Agreement
provide for such Ordinary Share Property to be released from the Secured Property and to be dejivered to,
or to the order of, OTP (following satisfaction of the conditions required therefor as described above).
Furthermore, to the extent that any Extra Ordinary Shares are delivered by OTP to, or to the order of, the
Issuer as described above, the Trust Deed and the Security Deposit Agreement provide that such
additional Otdinary Shares shall be added to the Secured Property upon such delivery,

The Issuer has agreed to pay to OTF, on the Closing Date, the excess of the funds received upon
settlement of the ICES over the aggregate cost of the Ordinary Shares delivered to the Issuer prior to the
Closing Date,

The cbiligations of OTP under the Subordinated Swap Agreement constitute unconditional,
suberdinated and unsecured obligations of OTE In the event of the Hquidation (felszdmolds) of OTP in
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accordance with Act XLIX of 1991 on Bankruptcy, Liquidation and Voluntary Winding-up Proceedings,
the obligations of OTP under the Subordinated Swap Agreement will rank:

(i) junior in right of paymen: to the claims of holders of any present or future Senior Sccurities,
(i) pari passu with the claims of holders of any present or future Parity Securities, and
(iii) senior to the claims of holders of any present or fature Junior Securities.

Furthermore, the Issuer has under the Subordinated Swap Agreement unconditionafly and frrevocably
waived apy right of set-off, counterclaim, abatement or other similar remedy which it might otherwise
have, under the laws of any jurisdiction, in respect of the obligations of OTP under the Subordinated Swap
Agreement.

Furthermore, the sole remedy available to the Issuer (or, following eaforcement of the Secured
Property, to the Trustee or the ICES Holders, as the case may be) against OTP under the Subordinated
Swap Agreement for recovery of amounts owing will be proving or claiming for the same in any
proceedings commenced by OTP or a third party in Hungary (and not elsewhere) for the dissolution and
liguidation of GTR.

The Securities Lending Agreement

The Issuer and the Stock Borrower have entered into the Securities Eending Agreement, governed by
English law, pursuant to which the Stock Borrower may from time to time borrow up to 7,250,000 Ordinary
Shares held by or for the Issuer as part of the Secured Property (such maxiteum number of shares to be
amended accordingly solely fo take account of alferations (if any) to the nerminal value of the Ordinary
Shares as a result of consolidation or subdivision or any events described in Condition £({b}) and the Issuer
shalf have the right at any time on five Business Days’ (as defined in the Securities Lending Agreement}
nétice 1o reguire re-delivery of Ordinary Shares, provided that the Esiier shail only be entitled to reqaire
re-delivery of Ordinary Shares as aforesaid if necessary to satisfy:

(i) the exercise of Exchange Rights by ICES Holders; and/or

{ii) the Issuer's obligations to OTP under the Subordinated Swap Agreement if OTP <xercises its
option to purchase the Ordinary Shares if the ICES are to be redeemed pursuant o Condmon
10
If the Stock Borrower borrows Ordindry Shares as aforesa:d the Trust Deed and the Security Deposit
Agreement contain provisions enabling the relevant number of Ordinary Shares so borrowed to be
refeased from the Secured Property and to be delivered to, or to the order of, the Stock Borrower in
accordance with the terms of the Securitigs' Leoding Agreement. Any Ordinary Shares delivered to the
Issuer by the Stock Borrower from time 10 time pursuant to its re»dehvezy obligations under the Securities
Lending Agreement shall become part of the Secured Property in accordance with the. tarms of the Tmst
Deed and the Security Deposit Agreement.

Under the terms of the Securities Lending Ag:eement, where dividends are paid on Ordinary Shares
which have been borrowed by the Stock Borrower from the Issuer, the Stock Borrower has agreed to pay
to the Issuer a sum equal to that which the Issuer would have been entitled to receive had such Ordinary
Shares not been loaned by the Issuer and had been retained by the Issuer.

The Stock Bosrower's obligations to the Issuer under the Securities Lending Agreement have been
guaranteed by the Guarantor pursuant to the Guarantee.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The gross proceeds of the offering will be €514,274,000. The Issuer has agreed to pay a combined
management and underwriting commission and selling concession to the Manager and, at the scle
discretion of OTF, an incentive fee may also be payable to the Manager in connection with the issue of
the ICES, The net proceeds are payable to OTP by or on behalf of the Issuer pursuant to the terms of the
Subordinated Swap Agreement and related transactions entered into by (among others) OTP and
the Issuer in connecticn with the issue of the ICES and the sale of 14,500,000 Ordinary Shares by OTP to
the Issuer as described in this Prospectus.

The net procesds payable to OTP as described above are expected to be used by it to fund in part its
acquisitions of the Russian Investsberbank Group (z 96.4 per cent. stake) and Raiffeisenbank Ukraine (a
100.0 per cent. stake}. Subject to market conditions, OTP expects to finance the remalning consideration
requived for these acquisitions by issuing non-ditutive, perpetual suberdinated debt in the near term, OTP
intends to focus its attention on the consolidation of the acquired assets throughout the remainder of 2006,
See further “The Bank-~Recent Developments”,
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THE ISSUER

General

The Issuer was incorporated in Luxembourg on 1 February 2006 as a securitisation vehicte in the form
of a société ancnyme under the Luxembourg law of 10 August 1915 on commercial companies, as amended
{the “Law”), and the Luxembourg law of 22 March 2004 on securitisation (the “Securitisation Law") (with
the name Opus Secuxities S.A, and registration number RCS Luxembourg B-114001). The registered office
of the Issuer is at 7, Val Sainte-Croix, L-1371 Luxembourg, telephone number +352 22 1190.

The authorised share capital of the Issuer is €31,000, divided into 31 ordinaty shares of €1,000 each,
all of which have been issued. All of the issued shares are fully-paid and are beneficially owned by
Structured Finance Management Offshore Lirsited as share trustee (the “Share Ttustee") under the terms
of declarations of trust (together, the “Declaration of Trust”) executed by the shareholders of the Issuer on
1 February 2006 and 22 March 2006, and under which the Share Trustee holds thetm on trust for charitable
purposes. The Share Trustee has no beneficial interest in and derives no benefit (other than its fees for
acting as Share Trustee) from its holding of the shares of the Issuer. The Issuer has no subsidiaries.

The Issuer is a special purpose vehicle set up as a securitisation vehicle and established for the
pirpose of issuing the ICES and other securities solely within different compartments {compartiments) of
the Issuer. The eorporate purposes of the Issuer are those of a Luxembourg securitisation company under
the Securitisation Law and are described in the Articles of Incorporation of .the Issuer, The corporate
object of the Issuer, as set out in Clause 3 of its Articles of Incorporation, is the entering into and
performance of any securitisation transactions as permitted vnder the Securitisation Law, Including,
-among other things, the acquisition and assumption, by any means, directly or through anather vehicle, of
risks linked to claims, other assets, moveable or immoveable, tangible or intangible, receivables or
Iiabilities of third parties or pertaining to all or part of the activities carried out by third parties by issuing
securities the value or retarn of which is dependent upon such risks as defined in the Securitisation Law.

The Issner may in particular: acquire by way of subscription, purchase, exchange or in any other
manger any assets, hold and dispose of any assets in any manner and/or assume risks relating to any assets;
exercise all rights whatsoever attached to these assets and risks; give guarantees and/or grant security
interests over its assets o the extent permsitted by the Securitisation Law; rmake deposits at banks or with
other depositaries; (within compartrents only) raise funds, issue bonds, notes and other debt securities, in
order to carry out its activities within the framework of its corporate cbject; and transfer any of its assets
against due consideration.

The Issuer may carry out any transactions, whether cornmercial or financial, which are directly or
indirectly connected with its corporate object (excluding any banking activity), and engage i any lawful act
or activity and exercise any powers permitted for securitisation vehicles undér the Securitisation Law, that,
in either case, are incidental to, and necessary or convenient for, the accomplishment of its corporate
object; provided that these transactions/activities are not otherwise prohibited by any agreements to which
the Issuer may then be a pagty, The Articles of Incorporation of the Issuer may be amended in accordance
with the Law. ' ) :

The TIsseer has (i) no assets at the date of this Prospectus other than its paid-up share capital of
€31,000 and any fees received in connection with the issuance of the ICES and entry into of the
Transaction Documents, and (if) no liabifities at the date of this Prospectus (including no loan capital
(issued or unissued), ro term loans, no other borrowings or indebtedness in the nature of borrowing and
no contingent liabilities or guarantees), other than, int the case of both (i) and (if), those arising vnder
those of the Transaction Documents to which it is a party. In addition, the Issuer has not ¢reated any
mortgages or charges at the date of this Prospectus, '

The Issuer’s Articles of Incorporation are filed with the Luxembourg Register of Commerce and
Companies and will {together with any amendments thereto) be published in the Luxembourg official
gazette, They are also available for inspection as set out under “General Information-~Documents for

display”.

Business

The Issuer has not previously carried on any business ot activities other than those incidental ta its
incorporztion and those in connection with the issue of the ICES and the entry into of those of the
Transaction Docarments to which it is a party, The Issuer will also agree in the Trust Deed that it will not, in
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relation ta or within the compartment of the [ssuer within which the ICES are issued, so fong as any of the
ICES remains outstanding, without the prior written approval of the Trustee or as approved by an
Extracrdinary Resolution: of the ICES Holders (among other things):

(1) engage in any business other than {x) acquiring and holding the Secured Property, entering into
the Transaction Documents, entering info velated agreements and transactions and performing
any act incidental te or necessary in connection with any of the foregoing and (y) incurring any
other Permitted Indebtedness and ereating or incurring further obligations relating to the same;

(it} dispose of any Secured Property or any interest therein or create any mortgage, charge or seourity
or Tight of recourse in respect thereof in favour of any person other than as referred to in
Condition 2 and other than in connection with any other Permitted Indebtedness;

(ifi) cause or permit apy Transaction Document to be amended, terminated or discharged (other than
as contemplated by the Trust Deed and the Conditions) or to amend, supplement or otherwise
modily its constitetional documents;

(iv) release any party to any Trensaction Documment from any obligations existing thereunder;

(v) without prejudice to its rights pursnant to Conditfons 7(8), 7(e) or 7(f), purchase any ICES in the
open market or otherwise;

(v} have any subsidiaries or employees;

{¥ii) consent fo any variation of, or exercise any powers or consent or waiver pursuant to, the terms of
any Transaction Document or any other related tramsactions;

(viii) consolidste or merge with any other person or convey or transfer its properties or assets
substantially as an entirety to any person (other than as contemplated by the Trust Deed and the

Conditions);

(ix) consolidate or merge the compartment within which the ICES are issued with amy other
compartment of the Issuer ar convey or fransfer the properties or assets of the compartment
within which the ¥CES are issued to another compartment of the Issuer;

(x) issue any shares {other than such shares as are in issue at 19 October 2006) or make any
distribution to its sharehoiders;

{xi) open or have any interest in any account with a bank or finencial institution unless (¥) such
account or the Issuer's interest in it is simultaneously charged in favour of the Trustee so as to
form part of such Secured Property, (y) such account relates to the issue of other Permitted
Indebtedness or (z} such account is opened in comnection with the administration and
management of the Issuer and only moneys necessary for that purpose are credited to it;

{xfi) declare, pay or make any dividend or other distribution in respect of its shares;
(xiif) incur any other indebtedness for borrowed moneys, other than Permitted Indebtedness; or

(xiv} purchase, own, lease or otherwise soquire any real property (including office premises or like
Tacilities).

The Issuer will not have any assets other than its paid-up share capital, the Secured Properly in
connection with the [CES, any assets held by it in connection with any subsequent issues by it of any
Permitted Indebtedness and any fees as may be received by it from time to time in connection with the
foregoing. The ICES are limited recourse obligations of the Issuer alone and not of the Share Trustee or
the Trustee. Furthermore, they are not obligations of, or guaranieed in any way by, OTE, Merrill Lynch
Intemnational, Merdill Lynch & Co., Ine. or any other party.

Any Ordinary Shares held from time to time by the Issuer, to the extent that the same have not boen
lent to the Stock Borrower under the Securities Lending Agreement, will be held in an account of, and in
the name of, OTP Bank Ple., as Custodian on behalf of the Issuer, subject to the security granted by the
Issuer pursuant to the Security Deposit Agreement,

Save in respect of the foes generated in connmection with the ICES, any related profits and the
proceeds of any deposits and investments made from such fees or from amounts representing the Issuer’s
issued and paid-up share capital, the Issuer does not expect to accumulate any surpiuses, Fees payable by
the Tssuer to its Administrators (as defined below), the Trustee, the Custodian and other Agents in
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connection with the issue of and continued maintenance of the ICES will be paid by OTP and none of the
Trustee, the Custodian, the Registrar or the Paying, Transfer and Fachange Agents may have recourse to
assets of the Issuer. Additionally, the Custodian, the Registrar, the Paying, Transfer and Fxchange Agents
and the Caleulation Agent have agreed that the payments of outstanding fees (if any) shall be limited to
amounts available, following application in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed, to discharge such
tiabilities. :

Prospective investors In the ICES are advised that the directors of the Issuer may exercise any of the voting
rights atteching to the Ordinary Shares, to the extent that such Ordinary Shares have rot been lent to the Stock
Borrower pursuant to the Securities Lending Agreement and if the directors determine that such exercise would
be in the best interests of the Issuer. Furthermore, to the extent that Ordinary Shares have been lent to the Stock
Borrower pursuant 1o the Securities Lending Agreement, the voting rights in respect thereof will also be
transferred to the Stock Borrower or (as the case may be) to other parties to whom the Stock Borrower lends the
Ordinary Shares. It is possible that in exercising such rights the Issuer, the Stock Borrower or such other parties
{as the case may be) may not act in accordance with the best interests of the ICES Holders. T connection
therewith, see “—Directors” below for a description of OTP’s ability to control the board of directors of the
Issuer

Directors .
The directors of the Igsuer and their respective business addresses and other principal activities are:

Name Business Address Principal Activities

Alexis Kamarowsky . .. /o Structured Finance Management  Managieg Director, Interconsult S.A.
(Laxernbourg) S.A., and director of Structured Finance
7, Val Sainte-Croix, L-1371 Management (Luxembourg) S.A.
Luxembourg

Péter Bravn ........ cfo OTP Bank Ple. Director, OTP Bank Ple.

Nidor utca 18,
1051 Budapest

Hungary
Zoltén Dencs ....... " ¢fo OTP Bank Pic. Deputy Managing Director, Legal,
Nidor utca 6. Bank OTP Ple.
1051 Budapest
Hunpary

Pursuant to arrangements entered into between the shareholders of the Issuer and OTP prior to the
date of this Prospectus, OTP is entitled to provide instructions to the shareholders of the Issuer to appoint
certain persons as directors of the board that would, if appointed, constitute a majority of the board of
directors of the Issuer, Save as disclosed above, there are no potential conflicts of interest between any
duties to the Issuer of the directors of the Issuer and their private interests and/or other duties.

Interconsult S.A. (“Interconsult”) is the corporate service provider and domiciliation agent (together,
the “Administrator”) of the Issuer. The Administrator’s duties include the provision of certain
management, administrative, accounting and related services. The appointment of the Administrator may
be terminated, and the Administrator may retire, upon 60 days’ notice subject to the appoiniment of an
alternative corporate service provider andfor domiciliation agent on similar terms to those of the existing
such party. Interconsult is incorporated in Luxembourg and its registered office is at 7 Val Sainte-Croix,
L-1371 Luzembourg.

Financial Statements

Since its date of incorporation, save as provided herein, the Issuer has not cornmenced operations and
0o financial statements of the Issuer have been prepared or published as at the date of this Prospectus. The
Issuer shall in accordance with Luxembourg law publish audited financial statersents on an anngat basis,
The financial vear of the Issuer is the calendar year.

The independent auditors of the Issuer are Deloitte S.A. {Réviseur d’Bntreprises), with their
registered office 2t 560, rue de Neudorf, L-2220 Luxembourg, who are qualified to praetise in
Luxembourg. Any future published financial statements prepared by the Issuer (which will, in each case, be
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in respect of the period ending on 31 December} will be available from the registered office of the lssner
and as described under “General Information—Documents for display” included elsewhere in this
Prospectus, The first financial statements to be prepared and published by the Tssuer will be in respect of
the period from #ts incorporation (being 1 February 2006) to 31 December 2006.

Capitatisation and Indebtedness Table

The foliowing table sets out the unaudited capitalisation and indebtedness of the Issuer as at the date
of this Prospectus, adjusted to take into account the issue of the ICES:

Share Capital —..E
Subseribed capital (31 crdinary shares of €5,000 each) ... .......... 31,000
Indebtedness. ..., .. 0 i e -
The ICES™ . ............. R R T 514,274,000

514,305,000

Note:
{1) Secured in the manner described in Condition 2(b) of the ICES and in the Trust Deed,
Save as described above, as at the date of this Prospectus, the Issuer has no other loan capital,

borrowings, indebtedness or contingent labilities, nor has the Issuer created any mortgages or charges nor
has it given any guarantees.

Since the date of incerporation of the Issuer, the Issuer has not traded, no profits or losses have been
made or incurred and no dividends have been paid.
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CAPITALISATION OF THE BANK

The following table shows the non-consclidated and consolidated audited capitafisation of the Bznk as
at 31 December 2005 extracted from the Bank's audited non-consolidated and consolidated (as the case
may be) financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2005

31 December 2005 31 December 2045
{in HUF billion) {in HUF biliion)
{IFRS, non-consolidated)  (IFRS, consotidated)

Short-term liabilities . . .. ... ovvvev s 2,6852 3,691.5
Long-term liabilities .. ........ovou0ss 434.4 576.8
Total liabilities .. ... iv i, 3,119.6 4,668.4
Share Capital .. ...viurinvi e 28.0 28.0
Retained Barnings and Reserves ., ...... 486.% 5726
Treasury Shares .. ..o invanny (40.8) (53.6)
- Minority Interest .., ............ s 0.5
Total shareholders’ equity .. ........... 4733 5475
Total Capitalisation ................. HUF 3,592.9 HUF 5,215.9

13



THE BANK

The legal name of OTP Bank Ple. (the “Bank” or “OTP”) is Orszdgos Takarékpénztir &s
Kereskedelmi Bank Nyilvinosan Mikddd Részvénytdrsasig. The Bank afsc operates under the
commercizi name of OTP Bank Nyrt,, which translates into English as OTP Bank Ple, The Bank has its
registered office at Nador utca 16, 1051 Budapest, Hungary, telephone number: +36 1 208 4351. The
Bank was registered with the Metropolitan Court of Budapest on 28 November 1991 as a company lmited
by shares (részvénytarsasdg) under registration number Cg 01-10-041585, ‘The Bank was founded for an
indefinite peried. The Bank operates under Hungarian law, in particular Act CXil of 1996 on credit
imstimtions and financial enterprises and Act CXX of 2001 on the capital markets.

The Bank is a universal credit institution (i.e. carrying out both financial services and investment
services activities) and Is also the principal member of the OTP Group of companies (the “Group” or the
“OTP” Group).

The National Savings Bank, the predecessor of the Bank, was established in 1949 as a nationwids,
state-owned banking entity providing current and savings account services and loans, In the ensuing years,
the Bank’s activities and the scope of its anthority were gradually widened to include housing loans and,
later, the managemest of retail foreign enrrency accounts and foreign exchange services as well as banking
services for Hungarian municipal governments.

Since 1989, the Bank has operated as 2 multi-functional commercial bank, providing deposit account
services and loans, not only to retail customers and municipal governments, but also to businesses throngh
its commercial loan and depesit account services, as well as other banking services such as interbank and
export-import transactions,

In 1990, the Bauk was coaverted from a state corporation into a company with limited Hability with
HUF 23 billion share capital and with the Hungarian government malntaining 100 per cent. ownership.
Subsequently, non-banking activities were separated from the Bank, along with their supporting
organisational umniis,

The Bank’s privatisation began in 1992 with the conversion of shares representing 3 per cent. of the
registered capital of the Bank into dividend preference shares and the sale of those shares to retail
investors in Hungary. At the beginning of 1994, another block of shares representing 20 per cent. of the
registered capital of the Bank, was sofd to retail investors through the issue of compensation rotes. In
April 1994, the Ministry of Finance increased the share capital of the Bank by HUF 3 billion so that the
total share capital of the Bank became HUF 28 billion. During 1994 and 1995, shares representing 22 per
cant, of the registered capital of the Bank were transferred to social security funds and local municipalities,
which meant that the government’s direct holding of the Bank decreased to 58.43 per cent. In 1995, the
Hungarian Privatisation and State Holding Company sold a block of shares representing 33.43 per cent. of
the Bank’s total share capital to international institutional investors through a private placement to the
Hungarian public by way of 2 public offering and to the Bank's managoment and employees through an
employee share option plan (ESOP). It thus reduced the Hungarian State's shareholding to 25 per cent,
plus one share of the total share capital of the Bank. Following the sale, the shares were listed on the
Budapest Stock Exchange and the global depositary receipts (GDRs} then issued were listed on the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and were quoted on SEAQ International, In 1997, the Bank issued a singte
voting preference share of HUF 1,007 face value (2 “golden share”) to the Hungarian State and, following
a secondary offering in Cetober 1997 to international institutional and domestic retail investors, the state’s
ownesship in the Bank decreased to one geiden share, In 1998, the Hungarian Government took over the
assets of sochal security funds (such assets inctuding shares in the Bank) and instructed the Hungarian
Privatisation and State Holding Company to sell the shares, In Qctober 1999, the Hungarian Privatisation
and State Holding Company sold the shareholding the government had received in 1998, This shareholding
comprised 3,946,562 OTP shares and represented 14.7 per cent, of the registered capital, The shares were
sold to domestic and international institutions 2s well as to domestic retail investors. As a result, the state’s
ownership in the Bank again decreased to one golden share,

Following the initial public offering in 1995, the Bank acted to consolidate its market position and to
increase profitability through the mmplementation of measures designed to increase efficiency, These
inelnded streamlining operations and headcount, improving product offering and pricing and focusing on
customer relations and satisfaction. The Bank has not only maintained a leading position in the Hungarian
banking market, bat has redefined itself as a full service financial and related services group.
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The main subsidiaries of the Bank inclede OTP-Garancia Insurance Ltd.,, OTP Real Estate Ltd,, OTP
Faktoring Lid., OTP Building Society Ltd., HIF Ltd., Merkantl Bank Ltd. and Merkant]l Car Ltd., as well
as OTP Fund Management Ltd,, O'TP Mortgage Bank Ltd., OTP Banka Slovensko, IDSK Bank (Bulgaria),
OTP Banka Hrvatska, OTP Bank Romania, Niska Banka.

Recent Developrmenis

In 2002, the Bank started to supplement organic growth with acquisitions, particularly within the
Eastern European region. Initially, the Bank acquired Slovakia’s IRB Bank it 2002, which was followed by
the acquisition of Bulgaria's DSK Bank in 2003; Romania’s RoBank in 2004 and Croatia’s Nova batka in
2005, and Niska Banka in Serbfa in Masch 2006, The Bank has three ongoing acquisitions in progress,
(1) the purchase of Raiffeisenbank Ukraine, (if) the purchase of a 96.4 per cent. share package in the
Russian Investsberbank Group (approved by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation on 19 October
2005) and (iii) the purchase of Crnogorska komercijalna banka AD in Montenegro.

(1) Raiffeisenbank Ukraine

According to the extraordinary announcement of the Bank dated 1 June 2006, QTP have agreed
to acquire Raiffeisenbank Ukraine. Representing the buyer OTP, Chairman and CEQ Dr, Séndor
Csinyl and Deputy CEQ Laszld Wolf, and representing the sellers Raiffeisen Internationat
Bank-Holding AG and Raiffeisen Zentratbank Ostetreich AG, Dr. Herbest Stepic, CEO of Raiffeisen
International and Jeffrey Miltikan, CIS Managing Director of Raiffeisen Intemnational signad the sale
and puschase agreement for the acquisition of a 100 per cent. stake in Raiffsisenbank Ukraine
(RBUA), the 100 per cent, subsidiary of Raiffeisen International Bank-Holding AG. In accordance
with the document signed in Vienna, OTP will pay a purchase price of EUR 650 million for the bank.
The purchase price is based on RBUA's current and potential value, and on the favourable growth
potential of the Ukrainian banking market.

Kyiv-based RBUA was founded on 2 March 1998 as the subsidiary of Raiffeisen International
Bank-Holding AG, which is majority-owned by Raiffeisen Zentralbank Osterreich AG. Based on its
end-2005 total assets of €1.2 bilHon, RBUA has a market share of 3.6 per cent. and is Ukraine’s
seventh lergest bank. The bank had shareholders’ equity capital of €139 million and pre-tax profit of
€39.7 million at the end of last year.

The bank had around 1,900 large corporate and 3,600 SME clients as of end 2005. Its market
share was 3.6 per cent. and 4.0 per cent. in corporate depaosits and corporate loans, respectively, while
the bank’s corporate loans totalled €690 million. RBUA's retail deposits totalled €173 million: at the
end of last year, implying a market share of 1.6 per ceat. Its retail loans totalted €302 million, implying
an over 5 per cent. market share. The bank, which has some 1,700 employees, serves its clients via 42
branches and 17 representative offices as per end of April 2006.

The closing of the transaction and the transfer of the purchase price wilt happen in possession: of
the necessary governmental approvals, expectedly in the autumn of 2006. After closing, OTP will focus
on the integration and transformation of the bank, and will start to coordinate the IT systems and
develop the products and services.

Foliowing the acquisition of Raiffeisenbank Ukraine, OTP wants to strengthen further its
positions via acquisitions, besides orpanic growth in Ukraine, where 166 banks operate according to
the most recent data of the MNational Bank of Ukraine, At the end of last year Ukraine’s banking
sector’s ageregated total assets/GDP ratio was around 50 per cent., which allows a significant growth
potential, OFP's aim in Ukraine—with Ukraine rated Ba3 with stable outlook by Moody's—is to
provide full range of financial services to both retail and corporate clients. In order to achieve this,
OTP plans to build a banking group, just like in other countries where it is present,

(i) Investsberbank Group

Representatives of the private individuals and Jegal entities selling a 96.4 per cent. share package
of the Investsberbank Group and Dr. Sipndor Csinyi, Chairman—Chief Executive Officer and Liszié
Wolf, deputy CEQ, representing the buyer OTF, signed the sals and purchase agreement in Mescow,
the capital of the Russian Federation, The share sale and purchase agreement, signed on 3 July 2005,
contains the price, as well as all important terms and conditions and guarantees of the transaction.
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OTP is expected to transfer to the sellers S0 per cent. of the USD 477 million (€ 373 million}
purchase price of the 96.4 per cent. share package of the Investsberbank Group, headquartered in
Moscow, in possession of the required Russian and Hungarian reguiatory approvals at the clesing of
the transaction, in the avtumn of 2006, while 10 per cent. will be deposited for a term of one year to
cover any guarantee claims,

The project tock several months to complete and a detailed analysis and due diligence had been
concucted befors the transaction with the participation of OTP’s acquisition team, advisors of the
credit institution, PriceWaterhouseCoopers as the auditor, and representatives of Baker&McKenzie
law office as legal counsel,

The Investsberbank Group consists of three banks: Investsberbank, seated n Moscow,
Promfinservicebank, seated in  Novorossiysk, acquired by Investsberbank in 2008, and
Omskpromstroibank, seated in Omsk, acquired in 2004. The logal merger process of the two acquired
banks into Investsberbank was completed on 4 August 2006.

With its € 979.5 million balance sheet total, the Investsberbank Group is among the first 50 banks
in the Russian matket comprising over 1,200 participants, Its shareholders’ equity is € 101.5 million,
and it closed the 2003 business year with € 9.1 miilion in profit before tazation.

* The activities of the privately owned universal banking group cover approximately 80 per cent. of
the territory of Russia, In 2005, the € 614.6 million loan portfalio increased by nearly 86 per cent.
compared to the previous year, and the € 727.4 million deposit portfolio also shows a strong growth
dynamics.

OTP considers the purchase price to be reasonable, reflecting the current market value of the
Investsberbank Group and the potential business value based on the intensive growth outlook of the
economy of the Russian Federation.

(1il) Crmogoxska komercijalna banka AD

A sale and purchase agreement for the 100 per cent. share package of Crnogorska komercijalna
banka AL} was signed in Podgorica, the capital of Montenegro on 29 August 2006 by the
tepresentatives of the companies seiling the credit institution and Chairman-CEQ Dr. Séndor Csdnyi
and Deputy CEO Liszld Wolf on behalf of the OTP as buyer.

In addition to the purchase price, the document sets out all the essential conditions ang
guzrantees of the deal.

The € 105 million purchase price for the 100 per cent, share package of Cenogorska komercijalna
banka AD will be paid upon the final closing of the deal scheduled for end-2006,

The deal was preceded by comprehensive in-depth analyses and due diligence spanning several
months, and involving the OTP's acquisition working group as well as consultants, including Deloitte
Touche Tematsy as financial advisor and the representatives of Berecz&Andrékd Linklaters Law
Office as legal counseliors. The sellers were advised by KPMG on the financial side and Weil,
Gotshal&Manges Law Finn as legal advisers.

Craogorska komercijalna banka AD was founded by 28 small and medium-sized companies as
greenfield investreent in 1997, The balance sheet total of the credit institution as at end-2005
amounted to € 303.3 million, translating into a 44 per cent. market share. The bank, with an original
foeus or the SME sector, provides a wide spectrum of services for both corporate and retail customers
and is, unequivecally, a dominant market player in ali business lines.

The bank’s equity, which has been increasing steadily, stood at € 18,3 million at end-2005,
€3.025 millicn was posted in after-tax profit in the 2005 fiscal year, which represented 34.6 per cent,
growth. The € 161.2 million customer loan portfolio increased by 87.4 per cent. in 2805 on 2 year
earlier. An even more robust, 141.5 per cent. rise was experienced in its € 248.1 million enstomer
deposit portiolio. Crnogorska komercijalna banka AD services its approximately 150 thousand
customers through a network of 33 vnits and via electronic channels.

Although the market leader Mentenegrian bank is headquartered in Podgorica, approximately
25 per cent. of its loans and deposits are linked to the coastal region, which is of key importance, given
that an increasingly dynamic tourism industry has come to play an important role in the country’s
cCONOMmY.
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In OTP’s opinion, the purchase price is realistic, teasonable, value-proportionate and reflects
both the current market value of Crmogorskz komercijalna banka and the potential business value
based on the anticipated development of Montenegro’s economy,

Further to the above three ongoing scquisitions, the Bank submitted a binding bid for 69.9 per
cent. of shares in CEC, Romania on 17 July 2006 and at the date of this Prospectus the Bank is in the
final round of the bidding.

In addition, on 15 September 2006 OTP aisc submitted 2 binding bid for the acquisition of a
100 per cent. share package of Croatiz-based Diners Club Adriatic d.d. {DCA). DCA, founded in
1992, has licences via its subsidiaries in the CEE region where QTP Group has a presence, DCAs
-market share in the Croatian credit card market currently approaches 3G per cent,, while the number
of cards issued by the company is near 440,000.

The Bank intends to foeus its attention on the consolidation of the acquired assets throughout the
remainder of 2006,

STRATEGY

The Group’s business strategy focuses on the maximisation of sharcholder value through the
development of the most efficient, retail-focused universal bank iz Central and Eastern Europe, The
objective of the Group is to achieve an owstanding financial performance comparable to that of Eutopean
banks,

The Group endeavouwrs to offer customised, constantly improving services to its customers through
innovation and strengthening its services.

In order 1o create value, it is essential to rationalise operational processes and to improve the
operational and cost efficiency of the members of the Group. Synergistic effects within the subsidiaries can
be achieved by harmenised developments and integration of severa! activities within the Hungarian and
the international groups.

Highly quatified staff are indispensable in order to achieve the Bank’s and the Group’s objectives,
Therefore the creation and containment of a well-prepared sales-oriented and loyal administrative
workdorce is of ontstanding importance in the Bank’s strategy, as is the creation of personalised careers in
order io retain talepted professionals.

Some of the main financiat targets of the Group are to:

* retain its position as the market leader in Hungary and Bulgaria and imprave its position in other
countries;

* achieve above 25 per cent. return on average equity (ROAE) each year; and

+ reduce cost/income ratio below 50-53 per cent,

BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE GROUP’'S ACTIVITIES AND RESULTS

Financial Highlights (consolidated, in accordance with IFRS) for the financial years ended
31 December 2004 and 31 December 2005,

Profit and Loss Account (in HUF mn} 2004 2085 Chenge %
Net JBterest MO0 . . oo v s e et eite e e 260,889 297,225 139
Net inferest income after provision. ..., .....ovvevinnnn. vaa e 244841 269,183 0.9
Non-interest incOme . ......vvenr e e i i 161,769 216,497 338
Total incorne {withnet fees). ... v v ettt i is i, 402,070 493,792 22.8
Pt COBE . ottt it e e e e 229,998 273,673 19.0
Profitbefore tax . ...t i i 156,024 192077 231
Profit after taX ...t ir i e e 131,518 158274 20.3
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Balance Sheet * (in HUF bn) 2004 . 2085 Change %

L T 4,162.4 53,2159 53
Loang and advances to CUSIOMIETS . . v o v vt vt ee e v enenie i cne s 2,586.1 3,297.2 21.5
Retail loans ... ovovet i i i e 1,5474 19658 270
Corporate Loans . .. ..ottt e it e i e 9206 1,1954 298
Municlpal Joans ... ... s 1181 136.0 152
Interbank loans and advances ............... .o oo, - 2862 4388 533
Deposits from CUSIOmers ... . ..o ve e ey e 29022 34282 181
Retall deposits o oo vt i ettt ee e e e ey 2,155.8 12,5629 189
Corporate deposits ., . o v e e e 54908 6622 204
Municipal deposits ...t i i e e 1965 2031 34
Tssued SECHTIHES .o\ ve i et e i e 3172 5435 713
Total receivables . . .. . o e e 2,586.1 32972 275
Performming 10805, . ... u v i e ey 2,284.7 2,876.5 259
Qualified loans . . ... e e e e e 301.4 A2 39.6
Non-performing loans (INPLs) .. ..o iicis i iinaan 90.7 119.1 313
Provisions for possible loan 108868 .. ..o i sl e 793 105.9 335
Shareholders’ equity . ... .t e, 433.7 5415 6.2
m 2004 2005 Chenge %
Costfincome 1atio, % .. oo v o re i e 512 554 1.8
Return on average equify (ROAE), % ..o vvviin v viannss 353 323 3.0
Retun on average assets (ROAA), %. .. oovvvi i vvnnnn 3.45 3.38 0o
Capital adequacy ratio* {unconsolidated, HAR}, % ... ......... 132 16.6 (0.6)
Undiluted Earnings per Share . ... ..ovvvvi v HUF 501 HUF 603 BUFI102
Diluted Barnings per Share ............ e HUF 49% HUF 5% HUF 100
Market Stsave ** 2004 2005

Heuseholds” deposits, % ... ..o i 8 354 34.7

Households’ loans, % .0 i i i i i in i i ia i cee e enes 40.1 377

Corporate deposits, % .. ... i i i e 135 114

Corporate loans, % ... .ot e e 123 7

Municipal deposits, % .. ... . oo i e e 66,2 634

Municipal Ioans, %5 .. ... o o e e s 52,0 527

*  as at December 31
** a5 at December 31, market share of the Hungarian members of OTP Group

In 2005 the volume of the Group’s customer loans and customer deposits grew, the Group's income
increased, its operating efficiency improved, and the Bank’s after-tax profit increased- despite an
unfavourable change in taxation.

The Group's financial performance in 2005

For the year ended 31 Deceraber 2003, the Group's consolidated after-tax profit based on IFRS was
HUF 158.3 billion, up by 20.3 per cent. compared to the previous year and 19.2 per cent. more than the
Bank’s unconsclidated pre-tax profit for the same period. In 2005, the Bank’s consolidated return on
average assets (RCAA) and its consolidated return on average equity (ROAE) was 3.38 per cent. and
32.3 per cent,, respectively, (in 2004: 3.45 per cent, and 35.3 per cent.).

As at 31 December 2005, the Bank's consolidated balance sheet total was HUF 5,215.9 billion, based
on IFRS, up by 25.3 per cent. or HUF 1,053.5 billion from a year easlier, and exceeding the Bank's
unconsolidated batance sheet total of the same period by 45.2 per cent.

As at 31 December 2005, the aggregate balance sheet total of those members of the Group that
conduct banking activities (the Bank, Merkantil Bank, OTP Building Society Ltd. and OTP Mortgage
Bark) represented 24.1 per cent. of the balance sheet total of the entire Hungarian credit institution sector
{i.e. based on the Annual Report, and Statistical Annexes, 2005, published by the Hungarian Financial
Supsrvisory Autherity, and audited 2005 reports of the Bank).
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The Bank was the largest contributor to the consolidated balance sheet totat and profits for the year
ended 31 December 2005. Its income grew 22,8 per cent. compared to the prior year. The Bank also
retained its position as the most profitable bank in Hungery in absoclute terms {based on the Annual
Report and Statistical Annexes, 2005, published by the Huogarian Financial Supesvisory Authority, and
audited 2005 reports of the Bank). For the year to 31 December 2005 its aftet-tax earnings accounted for
43 per cent. of the Hungarian banking sector's aggregate total after-tax profit (based on the Annual
Report, and Statistical Annexes, 2005 published by the Hungarian Financial Supervisory Authority, and
audited 2005 reports of the Bank) and in terms of ROA and ROE, it ranked as the leading bank in
Hungary.

Of its Hungarian subsidiaries, OTP Garancia Insurance achieved the following results in 2005; its
gross premium income grew by 36 per cent. and its after-tax profit by 97 per cent. The Merkantil Group
increased its loan portfolio by more than 33 per cent. despite a stagnating vehicle sales market, and the
aggregate total affer-tax profit of Merkantil Group members grew by more than 67 per cent. in 2005. The
net asset value of investment funds managed by OTP Fund Management grew by close to 50 per cent.
compared to year-end 2004, and its after-tax profit was 39 per cent. more than in the period to
31 December 2004. The assets and number of investors in OTP Funds increased considerably, and OTP
Funds’ share of household deposits exceeded 20 per cent. at the end of 2005,

The international subsidiaries also achieved considerable growth, In 2005 DSK Bank's foan pertfolio
grew by 41 per cent., its deposit portfolio by 31 per cent., and its after-tax profit by more than 38 per cent.
The number of debit cards issued exceeded 900,000, and DSK Bank’s sales network and electronic services
were strengthened,

The loan postfolio of the Slovakian OBS grew by 41 per cent,, its deposit portfolio by 8.5 per cent.,
and its after-tax profit was almost three times as high as in 2604,

The Bank’s Romanian subsidiary, OTP Bank Roreania ("OBR"), launched jts retail services aad
expanded its branch network by the addition of 13 new branches. By year-end 2005 the number of OBR
branches kad grown from 14 at the end of 2004 0 27.

In 2005 the Bank purchased the Croatian Nova banka, which now operates under the name OTP
banka Hrvatska (“OBH"). As of 31 December 2003, the consolidated balance sheet total of OBH stood at
HUF 258.2 billion and the Bank’s share of the Croatian market was 3.4 per cent. In 2005 the Bank
launched an acquisition bid for the Serbian NiSka banka and completed the acquisition in March 2006.

Number of customers, sales network and headcount at the Group

As at Pecember 2005 the Bank and its foreign subsidiaries had approximately 9.7 mitlior customers in
five countries in the region. As of 31 December 2005 the Bank had approximately 4.8 mitlion customers,
consjsting of approximately 4.6 miltion retail customers, 196,000 micro and small businesses, more than
15,000 medium-sized companies and large corporations, and approximately 2,400 maunicipal customers.
"The total number of customers of the Group's foreign subsidiaries was in excess of 4.9 million, more than
4.6 million of whom were retail customers. Among the international subsidiaries, DSK Bank had more
than 4.2 million customers as at 31 December 2005.

At a regional level, the Bank operates 960 branches, 2,221 ATMs, 27,976 POS terminals, as well as
customer cali centres, mobile banking and mternet banking services, business terminals and an agency sales
network, In Hungary, ic addition to the Bank’s 408 branch network—through which the Bank also sells
products of the Group’s Hungarian members—OTP Garancia Insurance has a network consisting of 192
ugits, The Bank's international subsidiaries offer services to their customers through a total of 352
branches, 721 ATMs, and 2,443 POS terminals.

As at 31 December 2005, the Group empioyed 17,977 people, which is 1,004 more than in the same
period Jast year. The principal reason for this growth in headcount was the acquisition of the Croatian
snbsidiary, However, the acquired banks are undergoing rationalisation and consolidation which is
expected to result in a reduced headcount, nevertheless, the {aunch of new divisions in Romania and the
establishment of financial groups at the other foreign subsidiaries will result in headcount growth.
Approximately one-third of the Group’s employees work outside Hungary, while close to two-thirds work
for the Hungarian members of the Group, of whom 7,899 are emploved by the Bank,
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The Bank’s principal markels

The Bank is a universal bank with strong retail focus. Since the mid-1990s, it has gradually developed
a fully-fledged financial servicing group around its core banking business, its subsidiaries include an
insurance company, fand management, car financing, factoring, leasing, building scciety and morigage
bank operaticns. The Bank has got a wide network of branches {408) having a nationwide presence,
operating a large number of ATMs.

The Group is a strong participant in the Hangarian banking sector, representing 25,8 per cent. of total
assets, 20,7 per cent, of total loans and 25.1 per cent, of total deposits. Within the refail segments its
market position i$ even more significant corpprising 35.9 per cent. of retail loans, 46.4 per cent. of housing
loans and 34.7 per cent. of retail deposits. While its mainstream revenue generation is connected to the
retail activity (housing loans, consumer loans, site and term deposits), the Bank is the main partner of
around 70 per cent. of the local authorities (its market share in municipality loans was nearly $3 per cent.,
and 63.3 per cent, in deposits, respectively). Also, the Bank is one of the major players of the corporate
sector,

Within the Group, the Bank is the major contributor both in terms of total assets {69 per cent.} and
net earnings (68,7 per cent,),

In 2002 the Bank started its regional acquisition drive, and until the date hereof, it has acquired banks
in Slovakia, Bulgaria, Croatia, Romania, the Ukraine and Russia.

Main developments in the Bank in 2005

During 2005 the Bank continued to implement large-scale capital projects aimed at strengthening its
compstitivencss, rationalising and streamlining operations, cutting costs and improving the quality of
services, The Bank also followed up on the many initiatives that had been started in 2004.

Work on the framework of the START Project, intended to promote sales and improve branch
processes has continued with demonstrable results. Customer satisfaction surveys conducted by GFK
Hungdria Market Research Institate confirm that the guality of customer service has improved and waiting
times have been shortened. The Bank's experts continue to improve the system in response to ongoing
feedback.

The Baok continued its Basel If project and commenced its [FRS project, Since October 2004 the
Bank has completed the majority of tasks required under its Basel II Implementation Project for its launch
irs 2007 and for approval by the Hungarian Financial Supervisory Authority, The objective of the IFRS
project is to establish and introduce conselidated IFRS accounting and controlling procedures as weli as a
settlement system.

In addition, the Bank has implemented systems that make the provision of mandatory data by the
Bank considerably simpler. The Mandatory Report Preparation Systern (MRPS) enables the Bank to
produce reports for the supervisory authority autorzatically using uniform procedures, Activities that had
previously been performed manually have become automated. Manual data input is supported by a
contrelled interface, and general ledger reconciliation has been expanded with the result that employee
time has been freed for other tasks.

In 2003 the Interest system that had been used for handiing securities was replaced by the CLAVIS
system.

In 2005 the Bank continued to improve its electronic banking systems and a number of additional
features were added to the system (e.g. credit card bank statements can be downloaded retrosctively), In
connection with this, the MiddleWare and Base24 systems, providing support for the sales channels and
card systems, were also improved.

Bank card systems were also enhanced: the operational system supporting ATMs was upgraded and its
functionality increased. The new developments ensure consistent availability of the services offered by
ATMs,

I order to develop and improve the efficiency of its agency sales network, the Bank launched the
Partner Project in 2005. The first phase of this project involved identifying the areas to be improved
(capacity utilisation, product offering, customer relations, and the system of staff incentivisation, training
and sepport). The implementatien phase was commenced in the autumn of 2005, and the first campaigns
were launched with an expanded selection of products.
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In addition, improvements have been made to several of the Bank’s IT systerns, These systems and the
connections they provide enable the Bank 1o be prepared to respond to market challenges both in terms of
information and infrastructure.

Main developments fo the Bank in the first haif of 2006®

Consolidated earnings before tax reached HUF 111.1 billien, HUF 18.6 billion higher than in the base
period 2005 (an increase of 20.2 per cent), after tax profit grew by HUF 16.5 billion {an increase of
21.6 per cent.) amounting to HUF 92.9 billion. Interest revenues increased by 8.1 per cent. and were
HUF 246.6 bilfion, while interest expenditures grew by 19.1 per cent. and reached HUF 102.1 biltion, Net
interest income only slightly exceeded the base period (an increase of 1.5 per cent.), however the swap
adjusted dynamism was significantly higher (13.5 per cent) given the negative resuft of net swap
(HUF 12,6 billion).

Provistons for loan losses amounted to HUF 9.3 billion, 28 per cent. less than a year ago. Non-interest
type revenues grew (an increase of 41.2 per cent) and were close to HUF 136 billion, the growth of
non-interest expenditures was mote moderate (20.1 per cert.} at HUF 160 biliion. Within total revenues of
HUF 280 billion, the share of non-interest type revenues grew to 48,5 per cent. against 40.4 per cent. in the
base period.

) The strong growth of the loan portfolio was accompanied by a moderate weakening of the loan book
quality: the portion of qualified loans grew from 12.4 per cent. to 13.7 per cent., within that the ratio of
non-performing loans picked wp more significantly reaching 4.2 per cent. versus 3.3 per cent. a year ago,
The cost of risk on the other hand dropped to 53 basis points (2005 1H: 0.93 per cent.) The cost to income
ratio increased slightly by 0.5 per cent. reaching 54.8 per cent., The return-on-assets was 3.39 per cent. {-6
basis points), the return-on-squity was 32.5 per cent. (1.2 per cent.). Equity-per-share stood at HUF 359,
the diluted one was HUF 358, by HUF 68 and HUF 67 higher than a year ago.

As at 30 June 2006 the consolidated IFRS total assets of the Bank were HUF 5,735 biltion,
representing 2 HUF 1,042 billion or 22.2 per cent. growth over the same period a year earlier.
Consolidated IFRS total assets were 45 per cent. higher as at 30 June 2006 than the non-consolidated
figure. The balance sheet grew by HUF 290 billion or 5.3 per cent. during the second guatter of 2006.

On the liability side, customer liabilities were HUF 3.715 billion, 18.1 per cent. higher than a year
earlier. Customer deposits grew by HUF 197.2 billien or by 5.6 per cent. from the end of the fizst quarter.
Customer deposits represented 64.8 per ceat. of total liabilities (67 pet cent. as at 30 June 2005). Out of
total 20.8 per cent. of deposits came from corporate; 73.7 per cent. from retail and 5.4 per cent. from
municipality sector customers.

The Bank’s consolidated shareholders’ equity on 30 June 2006 was HUF 5087 billion,
HUF 122.4 billior: or 25.7 per cent. higher than the consolidated shareholders’ equity as at 30 June 2005,
and 24.9 per cent. higher than the unconsofidated shareholdess’ equity. Duting the second quarter of 2006
the consolidated shareholders’ equity increased by HUF 59.7 billion. The shareholders’ equity represented
10.4 per cent. of total assets. Book value per share (BVPS) amounted to HUF 2.287 as at 30 June 2006,
Gains made in the Bank’s profit and loss account which are due to foreign exchange operations have been
on the whole offset by losses on interest zate swaps.

Balance sheet events after the first half of 2006

*+ On 3 July 2006 the Bank announced the purchase of Investsberbank, Russia. The price for 96.4 per
cent. of shares was USD 477 million {EUR 373 mittion). Structural changes in the management of
Investsberbank are currently planned.

* On 5 July 2006 the Bank purchased the remaining 25 per cent. of shares in SCD Group, thus
becoming the owner of 00 per cent. of shares in OTP-SCD Leasing Ple. The company is prorinent
in the Huagarian housing leasing market.

* Asanext step in its Serbian acquisition, the Bank purchased 76 per cent. of shares in Kulska banka.
The price was EUR 118.6 miilion.

* On 17 July 2004 the Bank submitted a binding bid for £9.9 per cent. of shares in CEC, Romania.

(1} The data provided in this section are based on the non-audited 2006 Second Quarter Stock Exchange
Report of the Bank.
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* Based on the notification received on 27 July 2006, Julius Baer Investment Management LLC (New
York} acquired ownership of shares above 5 per cent,; their current holding is 5.57 per cent,

+ On 29 August 2006 the Bank announced the purchase of 100 per cent. share package of Crnogorska
koemercijalna banka AD.

* Pursvant to the extracrdinary announcement of Kafijat Kereskedelmi és Consulting K#. (registered
seat: 1023 Budapest, Felhévizi u, 24., Hungary) dated 15 September 206, the companies owned by
Mir. Megdet Rahimkulov and his close relatives acquired 5.294 per cent. of indirect influence in the
Bank through stock exchange transactions,

See also “—Recent Developments” for additional infermation,

Trend information

In 2005 decreasing inflation created further room for the National Bank of Hungary (NBH) to cut
rates, In total, NBH lowered rates by 350 basis points in the first nine months of the year, which caused
significant pressure on margins. Because of its mix of products the Bank has been able to offset this with
higher loan voiumes mederating the drop in net interest margins.

In the financial services market, the Bank does not expect that any trends ar events will have a
significant effect on the Bank’s performance or the development of market segments,

For 2006 the Bank anticipates a flat interest rate environment, however intensifying competition will
put pressure on interest rate margins, The NBM (Net Interest Margin) Is expected to drop by
‘approximately 48-50 basis points. However, loan volumae is expected to grow, especially in the case of retail
products. Nat interest income, and net fees and commission earnings are expected to offsel the negative
impact of declining interest rate margins,

In July 2006, the Hungarian Parliament approved an “ansterity package” in order to restore fiscal
equilibrium within Hungary. One-off tax measures, as well as the indirect effects thereof, may put pressurc
on the Bank’s business through lower volumes and result in lower levels of earnings than would otherwise
have been the case. The announced acquisitions in the Ukraine, Russia and Serbia will also influence the
Bank’s mid-term sirategic goals. In 2006 the net impact of the developments detaied in this paragraph are
expected to be neutral and the management believes that the Bank will achieve its original carning tarpets
of HUF 185 billior. In 2007 the consolidated profit after tax may move upwards as a result of incorporating
the profit and less accounts of the newly-acquired banks, despite of the negative impact of fiscat tightening,

Share price in 2005

The increase in the price of the Bank shares in the past years has been greater than that of the share
prices of many eastern and western European banks. In 2005 the price of the Bank’s shares increased by
25,1 per cent. to HUF 6,967 at year-cad, while the BUX, the share index of the Budapest Stock Exchange,
increased by 41 per cent, in the same period. The market value of the Bank’s shares had risen to
HUF 1,950 biltion or EUR 7.7 billion by the end of December 2005, Up until the autumn of 2005, the
Bank's share price outperformed the benchmark indices; however, in the autumn—primarily due to
investors’ assessment of the emerging economics and of Hungarian macroecenomic performance in
particular—the share price underperformed its benchmarks (BUX Index and Bloomberg European Bank
index). In 2005 the price of the Bank's shares had grown by a factor of almost 61 {in forint terms) since the
initial iisting In August 1995,
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OTP Share Price Information 2003-2005

The foltowing table sets out the (i) high, (if) low, (iii} average and (iv) period end share price data for
the shares of OFP for the years ending 31 December 2003, 2004 and 2005:

Year High Low  Average Perlod End
2003 . i e e e 2,945 2,134 2428 2,675
2004 Lo e e e e e 5665 2,675 4,160 5,570
2005 L e . 8,630 5,590 8983 6,967

Source: Bloomberg

OTP Share Price Information Jannary 2006-September 2006

The following table sets ot the {j) high, (if) low, (iii) average and {jv) period end share price data for
the shares of OTP for the period from 1 January 2006 to 30 September 2006; ’

Month (2006) MEIE}L ._If.‘f.., Average  Perind End
1+, P 679 7,000 7414 1158
FEbTUATY v v v ettt e b e e e a s 8,294 7,008 7,657 7,956
March...... P 8,020 7465 7695 7555
8 N 8,258 7365 1792 8,100
MY o e e 8323 6,811 7662 6,811
JUDE o oot e e 7,060 5,190 5,931 6,270
LT 6,780 5,900 6,293 6,351
AUBISE . o 6,380 5960 6223 6,250
September ... ... e e i 7,065 6,201 6,638 6,780

The closing price of the OTP shares on the Budapest Stock Exchange on 24 October 2006 was
HUF 7,125,

Scurce: Bloomberg
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MANAGEMENT

Beard of Directors

Under Hungarian law, the Board of Directors is responsible for the day-to-day management of the
Bank. The Board of Directors reports to the shareholders on the Bank's management, financial position
and business policy. According to the Bank's By-Laws, the Board of Directors (the Board) may not consist
of less ¢han five nor more than 11 members, The Board of Directors is elected for & term of five years and
‘the members may be re-elected. Each member of the Board of Directors has a single vote at Board
meetings, In the event of a voting fie, the vote of the Chaimmaan is decisive. The business address for
members of the Board of Directors of the Bank is Nédor utca 16, 1051 Budapest, Hungary. Members of
the Board of Directors are as follows:

Dr. Sdndor Csdayl has served as Chaizmar and Chief Executive Officer of the Bank since 1992 and is
responsible for the strategy and overzll operations of the Bank. Dz. Cs4nyi has held senior positions in the
banking sector, including Head of Department at Husngarian Credit Bank Ltd, from 1986 until 1989, and
Deputy Chief Executive Officer at K&H Bank from 1989 untif 1992. He previously worked in the Revenue
Directorate and the Secretariat of the Hungarian Ministry of Finance and as Head of Division at the
Hungarian Ministry of Agriculture and Food Industry. He is a financial economist, a certified price analyst
and a chartered accountant, He is a member of the Board of Directors of Europay, MOL and also memtber
of the presidency of the Hungarian Banking Assoclation.

Dr. Zoltdn Spéder has been a member of the Board singe 1951, has served as Vice Chairman of the
Board since 1995, and as Chief Financial Officer and Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Bank since
1996. From 1987 to 1996, hie was employed at the Financial Research Institute as research fellow in
banking and corporate finance. Between 1991 and 1992, Dr, Spéder was adviser to the Minister of Finance.
Dr. Spéder has a PhD and MSc from the Budapest University of Econormics,

Mr. Mihidly Baumstark has been a member of the Bank's Board since April 1999 and has been
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Csdnyi Vinery Ltd, since 1999, M, Baumstark holds degrees in
agricultural engineering and agricultural economy, Mr. Baumstark was employed between 1978 and 1989
at the Ministry of Agricuitore and Food, his last position being Deputy Head of the Accounting
Department.

Dx. Tibor Bird has been a member of the Board since May 1992, and is currently Head of Department at
the College of Econemics in Budapest, where he has taught since 1982. Dr. Bir has a degres in economics
from the Budapest University of Economics and was Head of the Financial Department of Tatabénya City
Council from 1978 to 1982. Dr. Biré is a registered auditor and a member of the Council of Experts of the
Hungarian Chamber of Auditors.

Mr. Péter Braun was a Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Head of the IT and Logistics Division from
1993 until 2001, and he has been a member of the Board since 1997 Mr, Braun earmed a degree in
elecirical engineering at the Budapest University of Technology, Between 1954 and 1989, Mr. Braun was
employed at the Research Institwte for Electrical Energy, his last position being Head of Department,
Thereafter, Mr, Braun was the Managing Director of K&H Bank, working In its Computer and
Information Centre, Mr, Braun is alsc 2 member of the Board of Directors of Giro Ltd,

Dr. Istvin Kocsis has been 2 member of the Board since 1997. Dr. Kocsis is a graduate of the Budapest
Technical University and, between 1991 and 1993, worked at the Ministry of Industry and Trade as Head of
Department and later as Deputy Undersecretary of the Hungarian State. He served as Deputy Chief
Executive Officer, and subsequently acting Chief Executive Officer, at the Privatisation Agency (APV Rt.)
from 1993 until 1996, at which time he regained the position of Deputy Chief Executive Officer, Dr. Kocsis
was Head of Division at RWE Energie AG, General Director at EMASZ Rt. and CEO of Paks Nuclear
Power Plant. Since 2005, he has been CEO of Hungarian Power Comparies Ltd. (MVM RL,).

Mr Csaba Lantos has been a member of the Board since 2001, He has served as Deputy Chief
Exgcutive Officer of the Bark since 2000. He was cmployed at Budapest Bank as a bond dealer from 1986.
Subsequently, he was Head of Securities Trading at Creditanstalt Securities Ltd, until 1994 and the Deputy
CEO until 1997, At the same time he served as a managing director of Creditanstalt Securities Investment
Fund Management Ltd. Between 1997 and 2000, he was CEO and Chairman of the Board of CA 1B
Securities. He has been a member of the Council of the Budapest Stock Exchange since 1950 and
Chairman of the Board of Central Clearing House and Depository Ltd, (KELER) since 1993,
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Dr. Sandor Pintér has been a member of the Board of Directors since April 2006, He was member of the
Supervisory Board of the Bank from 2003 until April 2006. Dr. Pintér has a degree from the Potice Officer
Training College and gained a law degree from Eétvés Lordnd University (ELTE) in 1986. From 1979, he
worked for the Home Office. In December 1996, he retired s police superintendent. From 1998 umtil
2002, he served as Home Secretary of the Hungarian Republic. He previously served as a member of the
Board of Directors of the Bank between 1997 and 1998,

br. Antal Pongracz has been a member of the Board sisce 2002. He has served as Managing Director
and later as Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Bank since 2001. From 1569 he worked as an analyst,
from 1976 he was employed at the Ministry of Finance, where he was the principal officer of several
departments. Thereafter, he was deputy Chairman of the State Youth and Sport Office. From 1988 until
1990, he served as Deputy CEO of the Bank. He was CEO and later Chairman and CEO of European
Commercial Bank Ltd. until 1994, Subsequently, he was Chairman of Szerencsejdték Rt. and thersafter
CEO of Hunparian Airlines Ltd, Dr. Pongrdcz has a PhD and MSc from the Budapest University of
Economics.

Dr. Liszlé Utassy has been a member of the Board since 2001, He has served as Chairman and CEO of
OTF Garancia Insurance Ltd. since 1996, From 1978 to 1995, he was employed at State Insurance
Company and AB-AEGON Insutance Cnmpany Dr, Utassy has a law degree from Ebtvos Lorind
University (ELTE) Budapest and 2lso a degree in economics from the Budapest University of Economics.

Dr. Jézsef Vords has been a member of the Board since 1992. Curreatly, Dr. Vérds is the General
Deputy Rector at the University of Pécs, whete he has taught since 1984. Dr. VirGs acquired a degree in
economics from the Budapest University of Economics in 1974 and holds a PhD and DSc from the
Hungarian Academy of Sciences, gained in 1984 and 1993, respectively. Dr. Yor5s was Dean of the Faculty
of Business and Economics at the Janus Pannonius University from 1990 to 1993 and AMP a? the Harvard
Business Schoo! in 1993,

Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board is responsible for monitoring the managerial and administrative affairs of the
Bank and for ensuring that the Bank complies with Hungarian law and its own constitutive documents. It
reviews all important repotts submitted at the Genezal Meeting, proposals by the Board of Directors, the
financial statements and recommendations concerning the distribution of profits, the report of the
independent auditors, and prepares a written report for the General Meeting. All of the Supervisory Board
members are elected by a sirple majority vote at the General Meeting, though one-third are nominated by
the Workets’ Council from the employees (and the shareholders are required to elect such nominees).
According to the Bank’s By-Laws, the Supervisory Board may not have Jess than three nor more than nine
members. Under the Credit Institutions Act, a bank’s supervisory board may not have more than nine
membets.

Members of the Supervisory Board are as follows:

Mz Tibor Tolnay is the Chairman of the Supervisory Board and has been a member of the Supervisory
Board since 1992, Mr, Tolray is currently Chief Executive Officer of Magyar Epiték Ltd., a position he has
held since 1972, Mr, Tolnay earned a degree in architecture from the Budapest Umversﬁy of "Fechnology
and a degree in economics from the Budapest University of Economics.

Dr. Gabor Nagy has been a member of the Supervisery Board since 1993, Dr. Nagy is a registered
auditor with a degree from the Budapest University of Economics. ¥rom 1974 to 1977, he worked at the
Taostitute for Further Education at the Ministry of Finance of Hungary. Since 1977, Dt, Nagy has worked in
a variety of positions in the accounting division of the Hungarian Ministry of Finance and is currently Head
of the Accounting Division.

Br. Gabor Horvath is a member of the Supervisory Board. Dr. Horvéth has a law degree from Bbtvis
Lorand University (ELTE}. From 1983 to 1986, Dr. Horvith worked for the Hungarian State Development
Bank. From 1986 to 1990, he worked for a legal co-operative office. Since 1990, Dr. Horvath has worked as
a private, independent lawyer, and is clients include the Hungarian Ministry of Finance, the Hungarian
State Institute for Researck and the Budapest Municipality.

Mr. Antal Kovics has been a member of the Supervisory Board since 2004, Mr. Kovies has a degree
from Budapest University of Economics. He started his professional career at K& H Bank, where he was a
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Branch Director from 1993 to 1995, From 1993, he was employed by the Bank as County Director and
from 1998 he became the Regional Director of the South Transdanubian Region.

Ms. KEira Vécsei is a member of the Supervisory Board and Is the Deputy Managing Director of the
Bank's Northern Hungary Region, Ms, Vécsei joined the bank in 1970 and has held a variety of senior
positions, including Deputy Head of the Accounting end Controlling Depariment and Chief Accountant,
She received a degree in economics from the Budapest University of Economics.

Senior Management

The Chairman and CEOQ, Dr, Séndor Csényi, and the six Deputy CEOs manage the Bank’s course of
business on a day-to-day basis. The Deputy CECs are:

Dr. Zoltdn Spéder .........,... Strategic and Financial Division

Csaba Lantos . oo vvr v vevnunns Retail Banking Division

Dr, Istvin Gresa. ., ............ Credit Approval and Risk Management Division
Akos Takdts .......ooerrn.nn. IT and Logisties Division

Dr, Antal Pongrez. . ...l Staff Division

Lészlg Wolf .................. Commercial Banking Division
Gézalenk............. ...\, Presidential Adviser

Dr. Istvin Gresa has served as Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Credit Approval and Risk
Manegement Division of the Bank since March 2006. Dr. Gresa earned a degree at the College of Finance
and Accountancy in 1974 and he acquired a degree in cconornics at the Budapest University of Economic
Sciences m 1980, He was awarded a doctorate degree at the Budapest University of Fconomic Sciences in
1883, Prom 1989 to 1993 he was employed at the Budapest Bank as 2 branch manager in Zalaegerszeg, He
has been employed at the Bank since 1993, first as county managing directer, and since 1998 as senjor
managing director of the Bank’s West Transdanubian Eegion.

Mr. Akos Takits has been nominated as Deputy Chisf Exscutive Officer of the IT and Logistics
Division of the Bank with the effect of 1 October 2006 his nomination was approved by the Hungarian
Financial Supervisory Authority on 19 October 2006, Mr. Takéts acquired a BSc degree in 1982 and an
MSe degree in 1685 in Horticuliure Engineering at Horticulture and Food Industry University in
Budapest. From 1985 to 1987 he was Associate Lecturer at the Horticulture and Food Industry University.
From 1887 to 1989 he was employed as Programmer at the Bank From 1989 he was the Head of IT at
Investbank Etd. for 4 years. From 1993 to 1995 he served as Deputy Head of Department, at the Bark, IT
Development Directorate, and from 1995 to 2006 as Managing Director of the Directorate, From October
2006 he serves as deputy CEOQ and CIO at OTE

M, Liszto Wolf has served as Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Commercial Banking Division of-

the Bank since 1994, M. Wolf acquired a degree in economics from the Budapest University of Economic
Sciences in 1983. From 1983 he was employed at the National Bank of Hungary, International Banking
Division for eight years. From 1991 to 1993 he was the Chief Treasurer of BNP-KH-Dresdner Bank in
Budapest. From April 1693 he served as Managing Director of the Treasury of the Bank.

Mr, Géza Lenk was a member of the Board from 2001 until 28 April 2006, He has served as Deputy
CEO of OTP since 2001, from March 2008 as adviser fo the chairman, prior to that, having responsibility
for managing the Bank’s Credit Approval and Risk Management Division. Previously he worked at the
National Bank of Hungary, and was CEQ of the General Enterprise Bank until 1988. After that he served
as Chairman & CEO of K&H Bank until 1995, From 1896 Mr. Lenk was the Vice Chairman and Deputy
CEO of Trigon Bank in Vienpa. From 1998 to 2000 he was the head of the MKB Leasing and Finance
group, and Chairman and CEO of the company Reorg Rt Mr. Lenk is a graduate of the Budapest
University of Economics and the International Banker’s School in London,

The business address for the members of the Supervisory Board and Senior Management is Nidor
utca 16., 1051 Budapest, Hungary,
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Conflicts of interest
There are no actual or potential conflicts of interest between the private interests or duties of the
members of the Board, the Supervisory Board or Serior Management of the Bank and their duties to the
Bank.
Management share ownership
As at 30 June 2006*

Now of

Type Name Posltion shares held
Board of Directors ....,. Dr. Sandor Csényi Chairman and CEQ 4,945
Boasd of Directors .. .. .. Dr. Zoltdn Spéder Deputy Chairman and Deputy CEQ 388,400
Board of Directors ...... Mr, Mihaly Baumstark  Member 90,000
Board of Ditectors .. . ... Dr. Tibor Biré Member 58,000
Board of Directors ...... Mr, Péter Bravn Member 631,905
Board of Directors ...... Dr. Istvdn Kocsis Member 83,500 .
Board of Directozs ...... Mr. Csaba Lantos Member, Deputy CEQ 284,116
Dr. Séndor Pintér Member 25,350
Board of Directors ...... Dr. Antal Pongrécz Member, Deputy CEO 240,000
Board of Directors ...... Dr. Lasz16 Utassy Member 70,000
Board of Directors ... ... Dr. Jézsel Voris Member 130,000
7 Supervisory Board .. ..... Mr. Tibor Tolnay Chairman 120,580
Supervisory Board . ... ... Dr. Gébor Horvith Member 30,000
Supervisory Board . .. .. .., Mr. Antal Kovics Member 70,000
Supervisory Board .. .. ... Dr. Gébor Nagy Member 130,000
Supervisory Board .. .. ... Ms. Klara Vécsei Member 11,000
Senior Management. . . .. . Dr. Istvin Gresa Deputy CEG 63,600
Senfor Management. .. ... Mr. Gyula Pap** Deputy CEO 372,820
Senior Management, .. ... Mr. Liszld Wolf CEO 817,640
Deputy _
Seﬁior Management. ... .. Mr. Géza Lenk Deputy CEQ 162,600
Totak. . cveenn e 3,813,856

*  Figures based on the 2006 Second Quarter Stock Exchange Report of OTP Bank Ple.
** Mz Gyela Pap resigned with the effect from 1 October 2006.

Notes:

(1) Number of OTP shares owned by Dr. Csdnyi directly or indirectly: 2,806,945

(2) Number of OTP shares owned by Mr. Spéder directly or indirectly: 1,768,400
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE AND EMPLOYEES
Organisational Structure

The Bank’s operations are divided bstween the Bank’s headquarters in Budapest and the Bank's
branches throughout Hungary. The main banking activities of the Bank are carried out at the branches.
~The functions of the headquarters in Budapest include, among other things, the overall management of the
business, the monitoring of the performance and activities of the branches, the development of new
preducts and supporting the branches in their customer relations efforts.

The Bank has recently been restructured to streamline its operations. As a result, the Bank currently
consists of two core operational divisions and thres functional divisions, sach headed by a Deputy Chief
Executive Officer. The core operational divisions are the Retail Banking Division and the Commercial
Banking Division. The Retail Banking Division is responsible for retail services such as savings and current
account services and consumer loans. The Commersial Banking Division is responsible for the corporate,
municipal, international, securities and freasury and structured finance businesses. The principal
non-operational divisions of the Bank are the Credit Approval and Risk Management Division, the
Strategic and Financial Division and the Information Techrology and Logistics Division. '

The chart below sets out the Bank's organisational and responsibility structure:

TENEAAL MEETIHG
OTP Bank Ple./ July 1, 2006
I
o gaie]
[ 1 1
Fstall ki Coamercls] e k '
i Banidng Civksion. M%&n Fransr Shimon Tan Glision.
] |
Rsig Bar Tuaase, and o ‘Bushaas Pricy -
— | e ] omme R o
N Cred gk Conrol Ganpiasor
=] == = = ==
H
. - 3 Credit Appval Gy, Prangr tsrmal A
el TR H ow | SRR o
- ; " -
_I Beors Buira ' S — | ‘_Ib“mwi —-iﬂ"mm%'l _| aasvay J
[pnere : -
e | Mleme | Howe] H wes ]
_| ﬂlﬂbﬂﬂ | _’ hgumll":m !
.
Employees

The table below shows the total number of employees as at 31 December, of the year represented.

2000 2081 2002 2003 2004 2605

Total number of employees ......... e 8137 8293 8,770 7980 71777 7,999

The Bank has enjoyed relatively low staff turnover, due to its strong labour market position. 3t
operates training programmes focused on developing the competencies needed for the given position.
These are targeted at new employees, specialists and management respectively,

As a result of changes in the Hungarian pension system, ar increasing number of employess are now
required to pay 8 per cent. of their gross salary into the Private Pemsion Fund. The fund, which was
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established by the Bank, began operating in 1998. The Bank roakes a further contribution of 2 per cent, to
this fund in respect of its own employees, In addition, in 1995 the Bank established a voluntary private
pension fund. The total employees’ contribution amounts to 12 per cent. of gross salary, of which 10 per
cent. is paid by the Bank and 2 per cent. by the employee. At present, most employses are members of the
fund.

The Bank has also established a health fund, which has been operating since May 2002. Currently, the
monthly ¢ontribution of employees to the health fund is FIUF 7,700 (approximately EUR 31), of which 78
per cent. is paid by the Bank.

Furthermore, in 1995 an independent employee trade union was founded, which set up the Alliance of
Financial Employees Trade Unions,
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MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

The following table sets out the shareholding structure of the Bank as at 30 June 20086,

The Bank is not aware of any arrangements the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in

a change in centrol.

3¢ June 2006

Description of owner* Ow:ae!ﬁ)hip Qus?:':z"l.:g of

Domestic institutionfcompany . . ..., ... oo i e 123% 34,361,467
Foreign institution/ComPany .. ..o ov vy i 72.6% 203,190,739
Domestic individual . . .. ...t e 3.5% 9,698,344
Foreign individual L ... o0 e e s 1.0% 2,678,584
Employees, semior OffICers ... .v vt it 2.3% 6,532,546
Treasury shaves . ..... H et e 6.5% 18,199,408
Government held OWABT .. ... v it arre it ta i aenenas 0.4% 1,138,913
Tnternational Development Institutions . . ... oo v inun i ir i 1.3% 4,200,000
TOTAL . i e e e it e e T 1000% 280,000,001

*  Figures based on the 2006 Secend Quarter Stock Bxchange Report of OTP Bank Ple,
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THE GROUP
The Bank is at the head of the Group, which consists of 49 cther companies.

ACTIVITIES OF THE HUNGARIAN OTP GROUP MEMBERS®
RETAIL BANKING SERVICES
Busic retail services

The Bank is one of Hungary’s best known banks. During the process of consolidation that has taken
piace in the banking market in the past few years, The Bank has maintained its position in the retail
segment through developing its produet range and focusing on customer service. In order to achieve this,
the Bank has been using the Transaction Database and the CRM system, bath of whick have been
imptemented in the last year, to retain customers and develop products suited to their needs. Several other
projects were launched and successfully completed in 2005 to improve customer service,

Account management, ch Is, banking #r

At the end of 2005, the Bank had 4.8 million retail costomers, 2.9 miltion of whom had forint current
accounts.

The Bank has sought to simplify account management for its customers through the use of technology.
The number of customers using the Bank’s efectronic channels increased substantially in 2005, Some
727,000 customers made calls to the tetephone help desk (33.8 per cent. market share), over 533,000
customers used the mobile phone based services (47.6 per cent. market share), while 370,000 customers
used internet banking {51.4 per cent. market share). This represents a 24 per cent. and 33 per cent.
increase in the mumber of telephone banking and internet banking customers respectively, while the
number of mobile banking service users grew by 112 per cent. The number of text messages sent (e.g.
mobile sipnature, control, interactive text message) grew by 53 per ceat, the number of interet
transactions by 62 per cent., the number of mobile phone contracts by 108 per cent., and the number of
Electronic Account packapes by 47 per cent.

In 2005 improvements were made to the Bank’s electronic delivery channels, Thess improvements
offered increased practicality and convenience for customers, For example, customers received help in
storing certain frequently occurring data and in issuing multiple direct debit orders and within internat
based services, application and download options have been enhanced, and securities management
functions are being made mors widely available,

The Bank is developing and improving the efficiency of its agency sales network, In order to achieve
this, it Jaunched the Partner Project, under which a new sales suppoert and incentive system was introduced,
the IT support system was further improved, and the number of agents was increased by the end of the
year to 725, The project includes a sales competition to encourage agents to achieve the targeted volumes.
The key products sold by the agents were housing and mortgage-backed loans. In the last months of the
year, personal loans and credit cards were added to the selection of products offered within the Partner
systern, In December 2005 more than 40 per cent. of the contracted housing loan volume was sold by
agents.

The renovation and modernisation of the branch network continued in 2003, Quality of customer
service has improved and waiting times have been shortened. Within the Infrastructure and Network
Optimisation Project, 21 branches had been opened by 31 December 2005,

Bank cards

At year-end 2005, the number of cards issued by the Bank stoed at 3,820,000, 2 4.9 per cent. increase
over the previous year’s figure (3,641,000).

At year-end 2005, the number of forint based deposit and credit cerds issued in the retail division was
elose to 3,700,000, representing a rise of 4,7 per cent. compared to the 3,500,000 cards at yeat-end 2004.
Within this, the number of classic debit cards issued to current account holders was 2,784,000, and the
number of Multipoint charge cards was 500,000, while the number of cards linked to “B-Hitel” and
“O Hitel” overdraft facilities, currently in the process of being phased out, was down to 105,000 at

(2} According to Hungarian Accounting Standards
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year-end 2005, The number of classic credit cards, {a product that had been launched in the final months
of 2003), was close to 134,000 at year-end 2005, In 2005 the Bank further expanded its credit card portfolio,
and had sold 52,000 AMEX credit cards by the end of the year. The number of foreign currency based
cards issued by the Bank increased by 16.3 per cent, over the year, to more than 10,000,

By year-end 20035, the number of ATMs operated by the Bank had increased to 1,500, from 1,400 in
the previous year. In 2005 the number of transactions carried out using ATMs owned by the Bank was
76.1 million, while the total volume of these transactions was HUF 2,188 billion, The number of ATM
transactions carried out using cards issued by the Bank was 70.5 million, with a total volume of
HUE 1,978 billion. Compared to the previous year, the average vatue of transactions on the acceptor side
increased from HUF 27,000 to 28,700 and income grew by 30.6 per cent.

As at 31 December 2005, the number of POS terminals was 235,478, representing an increase of 3,801
compared to the previous year, The Bank operated 3,439 of these terminals at its own branches, 17,104 at
commercial outlets and 4,935 at post offices. The number of POS terminals af commercial outlets grew by
24.4 per cent. In 2005, the umber of transactions made wsing the Bank’s own POS petwork was 63 million,
with a volume of HUF 527 billion, which represents a 21 per cent. rise in the number of transactions and in
turnover. On the issuer side, the pumber of transactions and temnever increased by 17.2 per cent, and
18.3 per cent. respectively compared to 2004. The 50 million fransactions carried out by the Bank’s
customers resulted in a tumover of HUF 375 billion.

Deposits, invesiments

At year-end 2005 the Group managed more than one third of total household deposits in Hungary
(347 per cent.). Based on the combined balance sheet total of financial institutions, at year-end 2005 the
Bank had a market share of 34.5 per cent. in household forint deposits and 36.0 per cent. in foreign-
currency deposits, Within the group, household deposit products are offered by the Bank, Merkantil Bank
and OTP Building Society.

Retail deposits

By yearend 2005, the volame of retail deposits managed by the Benk had reached
HUF 1,870.2 billion, representing & 7.6 per cent. increase over the previous year’s figure.

Within retail deposits, forint deposits increased by 7.0 per cent, or HUF 1061 bidkon, to
HUF 1,612.1 billion in 2005, The proportion of retail current account deposits—a key product ling-—within
forint deposits was 77.5 per cent. (in 2004: 73,1 per cent.). Following a 3.8 per cent, falt over the year, the
total balance of passbook deposits amounted to HUF 326.9 biflion a5 at 31 December 2005, representing a
20.3 per cent, share within forint deposits. The volume of foreign currency deposits grew by 11.4 per cent,,
or HUF 26.3 billion, to HUF 258 billion, accounting for 13.8 per cent. of retail deposits as at year-end 2005
(in 2004: 13.3 per cent.), In 2005 the previous decline in the volume of foreign currency deposits came to
an end, and the volume of such deposits began to grow markedly, partly due to exchange rate changes,

OTP Building Society’s deposit portfolio increased by 32.5 per cent,, to HUF 78.38 billion, close to
85 per cent, of which came from retail depesits, During the course of the year, the Building Seciety
concluded over 106,000 contracts, with a fotal contract valoe of HUF 115.6 billion. By year-end 2005 OTP
Building Society had attained & 54.7 per cent. market share based on the number of valid contracts, a
48,7 per cent. market shars based on contract value, and an estimated 49.3 per cent. market shage based on
deposit volume in the twoplayer building society market.

Tnvestment fiends, securities

Through OFP Fund Management, the Group is oae of the leading service providers in the fund
management market. As at 31 December 2003, the Group's market share of the securities fund market in
Hungary was 38.3 per cent,

in 2005 the domestic investment market was characterised by a decline in bond yields, a soaring stock
market, and & massive increase in mutual fund investments, especially in bond and real estate funds, The
trend of declining yields at the beginning of the year was reversed in the last quarter of the yeer, which
resulted in the flow of significant investment towards non-securities savings. The Bank, in line with the
overall frend in the market—and despite the negative factors that came into play at year-end—closed a
record year in securities trading.
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The net asset value of the Bank’s managed funds amounted to HUF 580.4 billion at the end of 2005, a
48.4 per cent. increase compared to the year-end 2004 figure. Within this total, the net asset value of the
Optima Fund stood at HUF 411.9 billion at year-end, which represents a growth of 29.5 per cent. The
assets of the Maxima, Paletta, UBS Fund of Funds, Quality Equity Fund and Fantdzia Derivative Share
Fund also grew, while the assets of the Euro and Dollar Funds decreased over the course of 2005,

In 2005 the Bank farther expanded its selection of products in the market. In addition to morigage
bonds with maturities of one and three years, the Bank launched 2 bullet payment bond with 2 10-year
maturity, and launched three new domestic (OTP) and five new foreign (UBS) investment funds for
Private Banking customers.

The market value of the investment postfolio managed by the Bank exceeded HUF 1,846 billion 2 at
year-end 2005, which represents an increase of more than 21 per cent. Despite the negative tendencies at
the end of the year, the retail securities portfolio managed by the Bank grew by 19 per cent. As a result, the
Bark managed to maintain its market leading position in this segment of the market, with a market share
of over 30 per cent.

Pension and health insurance fund services

Within the Group, funds are managed by OTP Fund Management, while administration and member
recruitment in connection with the funds are performed by OTP Funds Servicing and Copsulting,

OTF Funds play a leading role in the funds market both in terms of their assets and their membesship
count. By year-end 2005 the OTP Funds’ assets stcod at HUF 397.8 billion and their membership
increased by 121 per cent. to 1,017,800. The Group’s market share of household deposits was over
20 per cent.

In the course of 2003, the assets of OTP Voluntary Pension Fond grew by 19.6 per cent. from
HUF 64.8 billion, to HUF 77.5 billion, and the number of its members stood at 226,000, a 21.7 per cent.
increase over the prior year’s figure. The assets of OTP Private Pension Fund grew by 41.8 per cent. to
HUF 317.3 billion, avd its membership numbets increased from 712,000 to 723,000, The assets of OTP
Health Insurance Fund stood at HUF 3 billion, and its membership.count was more than 68,000,

Life and non-life insurance

Thke Group offers & wide selection of life and bank insurance as well as non-life insurance services to
its customers via OTP Garancia Insurance Ltd,, and through the branch and agency network of the
insurance company and the Bank, OTP Garancia Insurance is the largest Hungarian bank insurance
provider and the second largest market participant in teras of its fife insurance premium revenues,

OTP: Garancia lasurance Ltd. achieved premijum revenue of HUF 75.8 billion in 2005, which was
36.3 per cent.,, or HUF 20 billion, rgore than in the previous year. Iis market share of tota! insurance
premium revenue increased from 9.3 per cent. in the previous year to 11 per cent. More than 40 per cent.
of the premium revenue was generated by sales within the Bank network.

Premium revenues from the life and bank insurance business were HUF 44.6 biltion, which gave the
company a 14.8 per tent. share of the life insurance market (compared to 11 per cent, in 2604). Of kife
insurance revenues, preminm revenue from one-off premium payment life insurance policies grew by
124.3 pex cent. or HUF 15.8 billion, while revenues from regular premium lifs insurance policies grew by
14.9 per cent. By the end of the year the volume of household deposits in life insurance premium reserves
was close to HUF 115 billion. Revenues of the non-life insurance division were HUF 31.2 billion in 2005,
which represents an increase of 7.8 per cent.

Retail loans

At the end of December 2005, the'volume of retail loans made by the bank was HUF 460.1 billion,
239 per cent. higher than at year-end 2004, which can be attributed to a five-fold increase in the volume of
foreign currency loans, In March 2005, the majority of disbursed forint based housing loans, foreign
currency based housing and mortgage loans were transferred to OTP Mortgage Bank. Close to half of the
approximately 34,000 loans that were transferred to OTP Mortgage Bank were foreign currency-based,
The Group® had a market share of 37.7 per cent. in household loans at the end of 2005.

(3) OTP Bank, Merkanti! Bank, OTP Mortgage Bank and OTP Building Society
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Housing loans

The decrease in demand for forint based housing loans and a predominant demand for foreign
currency based housing loans that started in 2004 continued in 2005 both nationwide and in respect of the
Bank,

By year-end 2005, the volume of housing loans in the Bank’s balance sheet had increased by 23.3 per
cent., to HUF 21,1 billion, Close to half of all disbursed housing loans were foreign currency based. In
2005 the portfolio of housing loans transferred to OTP Mortgage Bank exceeded HUF 146 billion as a
result of which OTP Mortgege Bank's housing loan portfolio grew by 9.3 per cent, to FIUT 842.2 bitlion by
year-end 2005, The loan portfolio of OTP Building Society—due to the increasing popularity of foreign
currency based ioans offered under favourable conditions—decreased by HUF 1.7 billien to
HUF 6.2 billicn. As of 31 December 2005, the total market share held by the Group—including the loans
provided by OTP Mortgage Bank and OTP Building Sociefy—stood at 46.4 per cent. The group’s market
share in foreign currency based housing loans grew by close to 16 per cent. (from 6.9 per cent. to 22,6 per
cent.) in the year to 31 December 2005,

During 2005, the Bank phased out low volume products and introduced several new products in
responss to market demands and to utiliss the opportunities created by changes in the syster of subsidies
(2.z. Fészekraké, or First Horee loan, low instalment facilities, debt repayment loan, preferential home
{oan package in connection with home sales by municipalities and ministries, and a foreign currency based
loan combined with 1ife insurance or building society depesit), In 2305 the Berk increased the number of
its branches offering housing loans from 186 to 273, so that by the end of the year there were 723 agents
selling the Bank's housing loans. The activities of agents and employees offering loan products are
supported by the CRM sales support system and through training. At the end of 2005 the Bank, together
with the SCD Group, the Hungarian real estate investroent company, established OTP-SCD Leasing
Co. Ltd., which launched a no-down payment home leasing facility, and Annuity Ltd., which introduced a
real estate-based annuity product in the market in 2006,

Consumer loans

The Group offezs consumer loans via the Bank, Merkantil Bank and Merkantit Car. The Bank offers
primarily current account fype, credit card, durable goods loans, and persenal and morigage-backed loans,
while the other two companies offer vehicle financing loans.

in 2005 the volume of consumer loans extended by the Bank increased by 24.4 per cemt, o
HUF 249.9 billion. Together with 1he foreign cutrency based mortgage loans that were transferred to OTP
Mortgage Bank, the volume stood at HUF 237.0 billlon as of 31 Decembear 2005, The Group's market
share of household consumer and other loans grew from 23,2 per cent, to 24.4 per cent,

The portfolio of persenal loans grew, by 67.2 per cent. in 2005, to reach HUF 123.3 billion by the end
of the year, gradually replacing the “B-” and “C-Hitel” overdraft facilities, the volurme of which fabf by
51.8 per cent. to HUF 24.5 hillion,

By 31 December 2005 the volume of the re-launched “A-Hiwel” overdraft facility on rotail enrrent
accounts had increased by 44.4 per cent., to HUF 43.6 billion. Owing to high forint interest rates, the
voleme of forint besed mortgage-backed loans decreased by 45.2 per cent. against the previous year, to
HUF 11.5 biltion at year-snd 2005, However, the volume of foreign currency based mortgage loans
increased five-fold in the course of the year, to reach HUF 16.1 billion by year-end,

AMEX Blue, which was Iaunched by the Bank in 2005 and which has proved very popular among
CUStomErs, was & majoT reason that the volume of loan placements in connection with credit cards grew
raore than two and a helf times compared to the previous year, to reach HUF 12.3 billion by 31 December
2005, The volume of durable goods Joans (consumer credit) increased by 23.3 per cent., to HUF 8.8 billion,

In 2005, the Merkantil Group strengthened its position in the vehicle financing market despite fierce
competition and decreasing vehicle sales. Its estimated market share on the basis of financed new cars is
20 per cent. At the end of 2005 Merkantil Bank's retail consumer loan portfolio stood at HUF 95.4 billion,
and Merkantil Car's retail loan placement portfolio was HUF 94.0 billion.

Private banking services

The Group's private banking propesition to affluent customers was supplemented further in terms of
its content in 2005, The Bank offers advisory services—investment advice, tax advice, travel arrangements,
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art and real estate advice—as well as ‘prestige’ benefits, such as a gold bank card and VIP lounge at
Ferihegy airport, to its private banking customers. Since the middle of 2005, the Bank’s Private Banking
ctstomers—as an opportunity available to them alone—have also been able to apply for an American
Express exclusive Gold debit card.

In addition to the wide variety of domestic investment products available, the gumber of investment
opportunities abroad also increased considerably in 2085, partly through the faunch in Hungary of five
foreign tnvestment funds offered by UBS Asset Management, and through the offering of foreign equities
and index-tracking funds {ETF) avaitable via the Xetra stock exchange system.

Advisors assess customers' investment behaviour on the besis of individually corapiled model
portfolios, which they update with monthly tactical and quarterly portfolic reviews in order to be able to
make their investment decisions on the basis of customised, up-to-date and detailed investment advice.

Private Banking customers are offered information on the products and services available o them on
a separate private banking website and can alsc access the latest capital market information, which is
prepared by the Bank’s Analysis Centre through the web-site,

The number of private banking contracts was close to 11,000 by year-end 2005, Assets under
management grew, by HUF 84.5 billion, to reach HUF 326.3 billion on 31 December 2005, representing a
“35 per cent. gain in a year, Within the Private Banking portfolio, the portfolio managed in the context of
the ‘“VIP’ private banking service increased by 63 per cent,, to reach HUF 46.4 billion in 2005,
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COMMERCIAL BANKING SERVICES
Corporate services
Corporate account management, banking transactions

In addition to the corporate products and services offered by the Bank, Merkantil Bank offers
corporate account management, and OTP Building Society and OTP Fund Management also offer deposit
taking and investment fund sales to corporate customers. The total share of the Group® of the deposit
portfolio of the credit institution sector in Hungary was 11.4 per cent. at year-ond 2005,

As of 31 December 2003, the corporate deposit portfolio of the Group stood at HUF 459.5 billion, a
9.1 per cent. increase over the previous year, Of the deposit total, 0 per cent, was made up of the deposits
of incorporated business entities, which represented an increase of 10.4 per cent, over the course of one
year. The forint deposits of incorporated business entities grew by 9.8 per cent, to reach HUF 246.9 billion,
while their foreign currency deposits i 2005 grew by 13.6 per cent, to HUF 29.5 billion. The volume of
deposits held by smali enterprises and individual entrepreneurs grew by 3.3 per cent. to HUF 64,7 billion,
of which the share of forint deposits was 97 per cent.

In 2005, the handling of the corporate customer segment was divided into two groups, micro and small
businesses on the one hand, and medium sized and large businesses on the other hand to enable the Bank
to provide a more tailored response to customer needs, As a part of this reorganisation, the Bank created
an MSE (micro and small enterprises) department within its retail division. Since September 2005, the
Bank has extended the services offered to micro and small businesses and increased their availability, The
deposit portfolio of MSE customers stood at HUF 2155 billion as of 31 December 2005, and the {oral
number of MSE customers was close to 200,000,

Bank cards, electronic services

At year-end 2005, the number of corporate credit cards issued by the Bank was approximately 115,000,
representing an increase of 11.9 per cent, The great majority of these (nearly 87,000) were domestic
corporate and business cards. The number of Széchenyl Cards excesded 8,000 by vear-end 2005.

Of the various electronic services available to customers that have bank cards, the OTPDirekt
telephone and mobile phone service continue to be the most popular, with 31,000 and 28,000 corporate
users respectively at the end of 2005, The number of corporate customers that use internet banking
services also grew considerably and was close to 48,000 by the end of 2005,

Corporate loans

The Bank and its subsidiaries—the Merkantil Group and OFP Building Society (in the case of
domestic financing)—offer a wide sefection of lean products to their corporate customers, As at
31 December 2005, the Group had a share of 11.7 pex cent. of the credit institution sector’s corporate loan
portfolio,

The corporate loan portfolio grew by HUF 69.7 billion, to HUF 876 billion, at 31 December 2005,

In the same period, the loan portfolio of incorporated business entities grew by 12.4 per cent,, to
HUF 65784 billion, while the foreign currency loans of this customer group rose by 22,5 per cent,, to
HUF 328.0 billion. The portfolio of small-enterprise loans increased by 11.2 per cent., to HUF 27.2 billion.
Loans taken up by individual entrepreneirs grew by 6.0 per cent., to HUF 14,8 billion,

At the end of 2005, the largest single portion of the loan portfolio, 26.0 per cent., consisted of lozns
extended to the real estate and business services sector, A further 15 per cent, was extended to electricity,
gas, heat and water supply companies, 15 per cent, to enterprises engaged in frade, 13 per cent. to
manufacturing entities, and 11 per cent. to transport, warehousing, postal and telecorpmunications
companies, The agricultural sector accounted for 4 per cent, of the {otal loan porifolio,

Over the year to 31 December 2005, loans to enterprises in the real estate and business services sector
increased most, by HUF 8.9 billion, although there was also a HUF 14,1 billien growth in the volume of
ioans to the trading sector, and a HUF 13.4 billion increase in loans to the transport, warehousing, postal
and telecommunicaticns sector. However, the loan portfolio of sectors offering other services decreased by
33.1 per cent.

(4} The Bank, Merkantil Bank and OTP Building Society
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In 2005 the Bank continued to develop and enhance its commercial banking services, It made the
pre-financing conditions for EU tenders more flexible, and made cross border cash-pool services available
to multinational companies. In the course of the year, the Bank introduced several loan products to aid
business development and to assist agricultural businesses.

The loan portfolio of the MSE segraent, which was created as a result of the division in corporate
customer managsment, was approximately HUF 33 billion as of 31 December 2005.

Leasing

The Group provides its leasing services through the Merkantil Group. The aggregate portfolio of
capital-goods [easing stood at HUF 7.7 billion, while the zatio of the long-term capital-goods leasing
portfolio was HUF 350 million at the end of 2005,

The closing portfolio of dealer financing at the end of 2005 stood at HUF 18.0 billion and 4.5 per cent,
of the loan portfolio was foreign currency based.

The Group is represented in the property leasing market by Merkantil Property Leasing Co, Ltd. As
of 31 December 2003, the balance sheet total of Merkantil Property Leasing was HUF 9.5 billion, while its
property leasing pertfolio had grown by HUF 3.4 billion compared to 2004, Cver half of the property
feasing contract portfolio is listed in the books of project companies and if this is taken into account, a
further HUF 10.6 billien is added to the portfolio.

Profect finance

The project finance division’s total portfolio stood at HUF 193.8 billion on 31 December 2003, which
represented 2 10 per cent. increase compared to 2004. A major portion of the }oans went to financs real
estate projects (22.5 per cent.), the power generation sector (22.5 per cent.), and company acquisitions
(19.4 per cent.}.

The Bank concluded several transactions of significance in the course of 2005, such as the Palace of
Arts {a PPP project), Kerepesi Plaza, and the Graboplast (company acguisition) project. In addition to
domestic transactions, the Bank also participated in financing foreign projects, especially in Bulgaria {e.g.
Sunny Beach—a hotel) and in Slovakia {e.g, Enviral~a bio-ethanol plant).
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MUNICIPALITY SERVICES

At the end of 2005 more than 74 per cent, of the client base, 2,359 municipalities and their
istitutions, had the Bank managing their cash flow accounts, which represented a 4 per cent. decrease
compared to year-end 2004. The decrease is due to the fact that as a result of recent changes in statutory
regulations, municipalities can change their account managing bank in any month of the year, and, if they
wish to do so, they must—once & specified value threshold is reached—issue a competitive tender among
the financial institutions as part of a public procurement process.

At the end of 2005, the volume of deposits held by municipalities was HUF 151 billion, which was
3.4 per cent. lower than at the end of 2004, As a result of intense competition the Bank’s share of the
market dropped slightly, from 66,2 per cent. to 63.4 per cent. At the same time, the Baak’s portfolio of
municipality loans grew in the course of the year, by 34.3 per cent. to HUF 127 biltion, bringing its share of
this segment of the loans market to 52.7 per cent.

‘The division introduced 2 quality assurance system in 2005 and acguired ISO 9001: 2000 certification,

The number of municipalities and their institutfons using the Bank’s customer terminals rose
continuously over the year (from 4,581 in 2004 to 5,700 at the end of 2005), while the number of
mueicipality customers using the Mini Treasury system also grew.

TREASURY AND STRUCTURED FINANCING

The role of the Treasury within the Bank is twofold: firstly, to ensure operative and long-term fiquidity
and manage exchange rate and interest risks, and secondly, to operate as an independent profit centre in
its own right.

With regard te liguidity management, in 2005 the tendency of previous years continued. Similatly to
previous years, the Bank had surplas forint liquidity and 2 lack of foreign currency sources. Treasury
supplied approximately 51 per cent. of foreign currency sources available to the Bank by raising foreign
funds (syndicated and bilateral loans, foreign currency bond fssues and forint/foreign currency swap
transactions).

In February 2005 2 subordinated bond of EUR 125 million was issied and in June an EMTN bond
program with a total of EUR 1 billion was set up, which allows the Bank rapid access to the international
capital markets. In July 2005 the Bank issued bonds with a variable interest rate at a face value of
EUR 500 million, and in the fourth quarier, bonds with a face value of EUR 300 million under the
programame. In Augnst 2006 the Bank updated its EMTN programme and increased the programme
amount from EUR 1 billion to BUR 3 billion. The Bank issued fix rate subordinated notes with an
aggregate nominal amount of EUR 300 million on 19 September 2006 to finance the current acquisitions
of the Bank,

In 2005, in order to ensure an optimal supply of short and long-term foreign currency sources, a set of
unified regulations on group level foreign currency funding management and group member financing was
introduced. The new regulations are of key importance in terms of the liquidity management of the Bank
and the Group. The Bank, as a central bady that acquires funds, serves and finances the group members
under uniform conditions, which means savings for the group as a whole.

In 2045, among primary traders, the Bank, according to the State Debt Management Agency's
assessment based on trading figures, came in second after ING Bank in the overall evaluation. The Bank
came first in the most important categery (government bong sales). In 2005 the Bank’s foreign currency
trading was sufficient for it to take over the number one spot on the turnover list among Hungarian banks
according to statistics provided by the Natfonal Bank of Hungary (MNB), the first time this has been
achieved in the Bani’s history.

In 2005 the average value of the Bank’s portfolio of securitiés held for investment was
HUF 267 billion, The portfolio of securities held for trading amounted to an average of HUF 30 billien.
The average portfolio of two-week fozint deposits placed with the MNB was HUF 265 billion,

In 2005 the Dank meintained its market leading position in the arez of structured financing in
Hungary, and strengthened its position as financier in the central and castern European region. As a
result, cooperation with the group’s international members has expanded. The 25 new transactions
executed in the course of the year represented a total volume of HUF 175 billion,
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In 2005 the Treasury installed 2 new internet based price quoting and transaction system. Through the
system customers have direct access to prices quoted by foreign currency traders, and can also conclude
transactions.

ACTIVITIES OF FOREIGN SUBSIDIARIESS

DSK Group

The DSK Group’s after-tax profit in 2005 was HUF 16.6 billion, which represents an increase of
38.2 per cent. compared to its resuit of 2004, Its ROAA as of the end of the year was 3.33 per cent. and its
ROAE was 26,3 per cent.

The DSK Group's balance sheet total on 31 December 2003 stood at more than HUF 583.4 biliion, or
42.1 per cent. higher than the year-end 2004 figure, and its equity at the end of 2005 was HUF 71.2 billion
{a growth of 30.6 per cent.). The DSK Group’s loan portfolio and deposits grew by 40.6 pet cent, and
30.5 per cent. respectively in 2005, with the loar portfolio totalling HUF 384.4 billion by the end of the
year, and deposits HUF 432.4 hillion,

In 2065, DSK Bank further increased jts share of the loans market (16.2 per cent.), and retained its
market leading position in the deposit market (14.8 per cent.). Based on its balance sheet total, DSK
Bank's market share was 13.6 per cent., making it the largest bank in the Bulgasian banking market,

DSK Bank rapidiy broadened its range of retail banking products in response to the demands of the
marketplace. In 2005 these included housing loans for non-residents, housing loans on semi-completed
homes, and freely uzable mortgage loans, “TSK-Direkt,” which was developed for retail customers, was
further improved, and, as a resulf, services based on the call centre, internet, and on text messages
improved, A service package was developed for MSE customers, and, In addition, the electronic banking
services offered to corporate customers and call centre services were expanded.

In addition to classic banking services, in 2005 DSK Bank began offering additional financial services
through its subsidiaries. In addition to its existing subsidiaries’®, new subsidiaries DSK Asset Management,
DSK Garancia Geperal, 2 general insurance services company, and DSK Leasing (offering vehicle
financing), began their operations.

DSK Asset Management received authorisation in August 2005 to establish investment funds and in
December it began offering the first two of its funds (DSX Standard Bond Fund and DSK Balanced
Investment Fund) through its brarch network.

In the course of 2005 the number of DSK Bank branches increased from 327 to 357, The number of
reteil bank cards issued by the bank exceeded 915,000 at the end of the year, which equates to an increase
of close to 324 per cent. compared to the end of 2004. The number of ATMs grew by 49 per cent., 10 523
and the number of POS terminals by more than two and a half times, to 1,208, The headeount at the DSK.
Group at the end of 2005 was 4,048, 480 fewer than at year-end 2004,

TP banka Hrvatska d.d,

On 10 Mareh 2003, the OTP Group acquired the Croatian Nova banks, which was renamed OTP
banka Hrvatska ("OBH”) in September 2005,

On 31 December 2005 the consolidated balance sheet total of OBH was HUF 208.2 billion,
representing a share of 3.4 per cent. of the Croatian market. By year-snd 2005, the gross loan portfolio had
increased to HUF 1505 bilfion, representing a market share of 3.1 per cent. The volume of customer
deposits at year-end was HUF 232.% billion, corresponding to a market share of 4.1 per cent.

By the end of 2005 OTP banka Hrvatska had more than 503,000 customers, and was managing 332,006
retail accounts and close to 22,000 corporate accounts on their behalf, The number of back cards issued in
2005 grew by 10.7 per-cent. to 338,000, Within this, the number of credit cards grew by close to 60 per cent,
during the year to some 22,000.

(5) According to IFRS

{6) POK DSK-Rodina, which manages two mandatory and one voluntary supplementary pension fund,
DSK Tours, which offers recreational and tourism services; DSK Trans Security, which offers security
services and valuables transportation; and DSK Garancia Life Insurance, which provides Lfe

insurance
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In 2005 the bank launched several new products in the Croatian market, such as internet banking
services for retail customers and the VISA classic credit card.

Iz 2005 the bank also expanded its sales network. By year-end the bank had 89 branches, 88 ATMs
and 748 POS terminals. The headcount of the group as of year-end 2005 was 1,005,

OTP Banka Slovensko, a.s,

The bank operates in Slovakia as OTP Banka Slovensko, a.s (“OBS”). OBS's balance sheet total stood
at HUF 262.9 billion at the end of 2005, which represents an increase of 22.3 per cent. compared to the
end of 2004, and this growth gave OBS a 2.8 per cent. share of the Slovak banking market. OBS’s equity
roge over the same period by 14.5 per cent., to HUF 17.1 billion. OBS's after-tax profit for 2005, based on
IFRS, was HUF 1,373 million, compared to the previous year’s profit of HUF 512 miltion. OBS's ROAA at
the end of 2005 was 0.57 per cent., its ROAR was 8.6 per cent., while its cost-to-income ratio, having
dropped by more than 19 per cent., improved to 78.7 per cent.

In 2005 OBS’s loan portfolio experienced substantial prowth both in terms of mortgage loans and
consumer loans. By the end of the year retail loans increased to HUF 43.9 biilion, an annual growth of
74.% per cent. As a result of considerable growth in corporate and municipal loans, in the conrse of 2005
the voleme of banking loans grew by 41.1 per ¢ent. to HUF 189.9 billion, which equated to a market share
of 53 per cent. at the end of the year, OBS's deposit portfolio increased by 85 per cent to
HUF 151.9 billion in 2003, and accounted for 3.2 per cent. of the deposit market as at 31 December 2003,

Duying the course of 2005 the number of the OBS’s customers inereased by over 2,500, to clese to
150,000, with retail customers accounting for more than 140,000 of this total.

The number of bank cards issued by OBS was close to 103,000 at the end of 2005, which represents a
growth of 4.2 per cent. compared to the end of 2004. This tota! was made up of more than 93,000 refail and
11,500 corporate bank cards. The bank’s ATMs numbered 110 at the end of the year, with the aumber of
transactions effected via these ATMs totalling some 1.8 million—15 per cent. more than in 2004. The
number of proprietary POS terminals at the end of 2005 was 487, and the volume of POS transactions
increased by 23 per cent. over the course of the year,

0BS5S opened five new branches duting the vear, bringing the total number of branches in its network
o 78 at the end of 2005. As of 31 December 2005 OBS’s headcount was 764, one person fewer than on
31 Decernber 2004

OTP Bank Remania S.A.

OTP Bank Romania’s (“OBR”) balance sheet total was more than HUF 55.2 billion at the end of
2003, 23.9 per cent, more than the figure at yoar-end 2004, At the end of 2005, OBR’s market share based
on its balance sheet total was .64 per cent., while its equity—owing mainly to a capital increase of
EUR. 33 million in September—was HUF 13.7 billion as at 31 December 2003 (a growth of 78.5 per cent.).

In 2005 the OBR’s loan portfolic grew by 50.3 per cent. and its deposit total decreased by 11.8 per
cent,, amounting to HUF 24.6 billion and HUF 23.3 billion respectively by year-end.

OBR closed the 2003 business year with a loss of HUF 2.1 billion.

In the fourth quarter of 2005 OBR launched its retail division, OBR branches now offer personal
loans, current account overdraft facilities, mortgage-backed consumer loans and housing foans.

The aumber of retail current accounts managed by OBR in 2003 grew from 36,300 to approximately
44,000 and the number of corporate accounts grew from 7,000 to nearly 8,000. In the fourth quarter of
2005 OBR opened 13 new branches and was operating a total of 27 branches by year-end, The headcount
at the end of 2005 was 475, which is 175 more than a year earlier.

In August 2006 OTP Group increased the registered capital of OBR by EUR 30 million. As result of
the capital increase, the ownership of the Bank in OBR increased to 99.99 per cent.
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MANAGEMENT'S ANALYSIS OF DEVELOPMENTS IN THE BANK’S
ASSET AND FINANCIAL POSITION?

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS OF OTP ACCORDING TO IFRS
Consolidated balance sheet

The balance sheet total of the group as at 31 December 2003 amounted to HUF 5,215.9 billion, which
was 25.3 per gent., or HUF 1,053.5 billion, higher than in the previous year, and exceeded the Bank's
non-coasolidated year-end 2005 batance sheet total by 452 per cent.

The Bank’s consolidated shareholders’ equity was HUF 547.5 billion. This represented an increase of
HUF 113.8 bilfion, or 26.2 per cent., over the previous year and was 15.7 per cent. higher than the Bank’s
equity. Bquity per shate (BVPS) was HUF 1,955 as at 31 December 2005.

The Bank’s consclidated balance sheet

Restated™

A1/12/2004  31712/2005 Change

HUF mn BUF mn HUF mn %
Cash, due from banks and balances with the NBH .. ..... 465,887 483,191 17,304 37
Placements with other banks, net of allowance for

placement J08885 .. u e s 286,200 438,768 152,568 533
Financial assets at fair value through statements of
QPETALIONS . oo uv i e e 70,580 48,054  (22,526) (319

Securities available-forsale .. ... ... . i, 295,835 409,945 114,110 386
Gross JoanS .. vvi it ii i i e e 2,585,110 3297218 71,108 275
Allowance for loan losses ... i (79,315) (105920) (26,605} 335
Loans, net of allowance for [oan losses. ., ., ........... 2,506,795 3,191,298 484,503 273
Accrued interest receivable ... ... ... . L ... 31,400 37,870 6,470 206
Equity investments . ... ... .. ... .t 9,388 12,357 2,968 316
Securities held-to-maturity .. ...... ... . el 247,259 289,803 42,544 172
Premises, equipment and intangible assets, net .. .. .. ..., 174,775 233,245 58470 335
CMher B85BLS o0 vttt i i e e e 74,239 71,371 (2.868) {(3.9)
TOTAL ASSETS . v i e i i i e i e 4,162,359 5215902 1,053,543 253
Due to banks and deposits from the NBH and other banks . 254,125 364,124 108,999 433
Deposits from COstOmMeErs . ... .y 0y v s e 2,902,198 3,428,193 526,003 181
Liabilities from issued securities. ..., ... 00 i ann 317,222 543,460 226,238 713
Accrued interest payable ..o oo o o oo 27,015 24,902 (2113) (7.8
Other labfities . ..o v v i ii v i i ia i 213,798 260,728 46,930  22.0
Subordinated bondsand loans .. ..v.ov i 14,324 47,023 32,698 2283
TOTAL LIABILAITIES .. ...t e e aiitee i 3,728,674 4,668430 939,756 252
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY .. ........covnnn. 433,685 547472 113,787 262

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY .. 4162350 5215502 1,053,543 253

(7) Due to rounding, in some cases the figures in the tables contained in the Management’s analysis
section may not precisely match the total of the component figuses and for the same reason, the
figures referring to the same subject in different tables may not be exactly the same.

{B) Effective from 1 January 2005, the Group adopted revised IAS 39 (“Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement”), IFRS 2 (“Share-based payment”) and IFRS 3 (“Business
cornbinations™). These revised standards implicated the restatement of year 2004, Revisions 0 a
number of other 1AS also took effect in the consolidated condensed financial statements of the
Group, but thosé revisions concemed matters of detailed application which have no significant effect
on amounts reported.

On the assets side, cash, due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary were 3.7 per
cent, higher than a year earlier. Placements with other banks, due in part to the Bank’s modified placement
structure, grew by 53,3 per cent. from the end of December 2004, amounting to HUF 438.8 billion as at 31
December 2005.
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss fell by 31.9 per cent. to HUF 48.1 billion over the
year. Within this, the size of the postfolio of sccurities held for trading was 43.5 per cent, or
HUF 293 billion lower than at year-end 2004,

The size of the portfolio of securities available-forsale incrcased by 386 per cent, or
HUF 114.1 billion, during the year,

Loans, net of allowance for loan losses, rose by 27.3 per cent,, i.e, from HUF 2,506.8 billion as at
31 December 2004 to HUF 3,191.3 billion.

As at 31 December 2005, of the consolidated gross eustomer loan pertfolio (HUF 3,297.2 biflion,
anmal change: +27.5 per cent.), the share of corporate loans was 363 per cent. (HUF 1,195.4 billion,
annwal change: +29.8 per cent.), that of retail loans 59.6 per cent. (HUF 1,965.8 billion, +27.0 per cent.),
and loans to municipalities 4.1 per cent. (HUF 136 bilifon, +15.2 per cent.). Within the retail loan
portfolio, housing and mortgage Ioans represented HUF 1,222.4 billion {+20.4 per cent.), and consvmer
loans HUF 7434 billion (+39.8 per cent.). The Bank’s foreign subsidiaries contribute¢ 23.2 per cent.
(HUF 7860 billion) to the aggregated loan portfolio as at 31 December 2005,

Besides the consolidation of OTF banka Hrvatska, a major role in the growth of the loan portfolio
during the 12 months to 31 December 2005 was played by the Bank {corporate loans before consolidation
+96.9 billion HUE, retail loans +89.8 billion HUF; total: HUF 201.6 billion); DSK (corporate loans
+19.8 billion HUF, consumer loans +62.3 billion HUF, mortgage loans +28.9 billion HUF; total
+111 billion HUF); the Mortgage Bank's loan portfolio {(+79 billion HUF); Merkantil Bank’s car
financing loans (+75.6 billion HUF) and OBS (corporate loans +34.2 billion HUE mortgage loans
+15.1 billicn HUF; total +55.4 billion HUP),

Consolidated gross loan pertfolio as at 31 December 2005 (HUF million)

Corporate  Mumicipal Retall Copsumer Housing Total
OTPBank Ple. .....,........ 902,696 131,107 463,867 253,717 210,150 1,497,670
OTP Factoring Ltd. . .,........ 3,218 — 10,454 1,676 8,779 13,673
OTP Building Society Ltd. .., ... - — 6,189 —_ 6,189 6,189
Merkantil Bank Ltd. .,........ 30,629 33 95,363 95,363 — 12625
Merkaptil Car Ltd. .,......... 9,609 48 93,973 93973 e 103,630
OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd. ...... —_ — 845,252 7,023 842,229 849,252
OTP Banka Slovensko, as....... 142,566 3,547 43,827 7,587 36,240 189,940
DSKGrowp ................ 82,668 216 301,552 225110 76,442 384,436
OTP Leasing, a8, - .ovv.nnn.. 10,366 395 8,917 8,917 —_ 19,678
OTP Bank Romania S.A........ 22,169 — 2,356 2,068 328 24,565
OT? banka Hrvatska group ..... 59,792 693 90,014 47914 42,040 150,499
Other subsidiaries* ........... 17,666 — — - — 17,606
Total..ovviui i 1,281,319 136,039 1,965,805 743,408 1,222,397 3,383,163
Conselidated ... ...o ..ol S LISSIA 136,039 1,065,805 743,408 1,222,357 3,297,218

*  OTP Garancia Insurance Ltd,, Bank Center No. L. Ltd,, HIF Ltd. and OTP Faktoring Slovensko, a.5.
teken together

The quality of the IFRS loan portiolio was good at the end of 2005: performing receivables
represeated 87.2 per cent, of the total volure, the share of the “to-be-monitored” category was 9.1 per
cent., and non-performing loans accounted for 3.6 per cent., with this latter figure having risen 0.1 of &
percentage point compared to the previous year. 18.2 per cent. of the consolidated gualified portfolio and
23.5 per cent, of the non-performing loans were recorded on the balance sheets of the Bank’s foreign
subsidiazies.
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Consolidated gross lean volume by gualiying categories

Restated 31/12/2004 3141242005 Chasge
HUFmn  shere% HUFmn  share% HUF mn k3 share %
Performing ........oovuu.n 2,284,688 883 2,876,541 872 591,853 259 (1.1)
Qualified ............0.... 301,423 11.7 420,677 128 119,254 39.6 11
To-be-monitored ......... 210,752 8.1 301,581 51 00,820 43,1 1.0
NPLS «v.vvnvinennnn, 90,671 3.5 119,696 36 28425 313 01
Below Average . ... ..... 25,381 1.0 27,527 0.8 2,246 8.8 0.1}
Doubtful ........o0as 15,493 08 27,802 0.8 8,309 42.6 0.1
Bad .....o0ovvvvinnnan 45,797 1.8 63,668 19 17,871 398 02
Tetal .. ... coinviinnnn 2,586,111 1006 3,297,218 100.0 711,107 27.5

IFRS consolidated provisions for loan and placement losses were HUF 105.9 billion, of which
HUF 1014 biilion related to the qualified portfolio, and which resulted in a provisioning coverage ratio of
24.1 per cent. Within this, HUF 89,6 billion was available to cover the HUF 119,1 billion in
non-performing loans, which meant a coverage ratio of 752 per cent.

Coverage of qualified customer loans

Restated
31/12/2004  31/12/2005 Chsnge %

Qualified volume (HUF mI) . .. .. ..ottt iiie e eaes 301,423 420,677 395
Provision FTUF D) o0 oo vt iie s e o et it vennnnans 79315 101,354 335
B 263 41 {22)
NPLs {HUF MN) o .u vttt e ci e iee et i eaeneaaaeana 60,671 119,096 313
Provision (HUF mn) ... ..o e e 89,613
COVETABE T o oot e v te vt ae e s it a e et ietcaectnasenn 75.2

The porifolic of securities held-to-maturity grew by 17.2 per cent. in 2005, amounting to
HUF 289.8 biltion as at 31 December 2005

On the ligbilities side, deposits from customers amounted to HUF 3,428.2 billion as of 31 December
2005, which was 18.1 per cent. more than a year earlier. 74.8 per cent. of customer deposits came from
retail customers, 19.3 per cent. from corporate, and 5.9 per cent. from rounicipal customers.

The growth in the deposit portfolio was primarily due to the increase in the corporate and retail
deposits of the parent bank and DSK, the deposits of OTP Building Society and the consolidation of OTP
banka Hrvatska, The contribution of the foreign subsidiaries to the aggregated deposit total increased from
17.2 per cent. to 24.6 per cent. in 2005,

Consolidated deposit volume—as at 31 December 2005 (HUF mn)

Corporate  Municipal Retall Total
OTE Bank P . v v veteee e ie i enanseennnns 474052 161,993 1,870,412 2,506,457
OTP Building Socdety Itd. ... vvviir i onnn s 4,100 3 74,718 78,825
Merkantif Bank Etd. .. ... co0 oo i o 1,848 — 2,743 4,591
Merkantil Car Ltd. ... ..o v et i i e 12 (] 85 97
OTP Banka Slovensko, 8. 5. ... vverennennnrnnnn, 7063 21,152 50,636 151,351
P L ) N 66,560 13,853 352,602 432,415
OTP Bank Romania 8.4, ... ..., intiir e 15,279 756 9,294 25329
OTP Faktoring Slovensko, as. . ... e 709 — — 709
OTP banka Hrvatska group .. ...y vonin 33,168 5,350 193,978 232,496
2 Y 666,791 203,111 2,562,869 3,432,771
Comsolidated .. ..o.unt it e 662,214 203,111 2,562,869 3,428,194

Compared to the end of December 2004, the depasit portfolio of the parent bank and of DSK grew
considerably. The Bank’s corporate deposit portfolio increased by HUF 42.1 billion and #ts retail deposit
total by HUF 131,8 biltion, while municipality deposits decreased by HUF 8.4 billion. At DSK, the increase
in the deposit portfolio was HUF 101.1 biflion, of which the growth in the retail portfolio accounted for
HUF 69.1 biilion.
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The portfolic of issued securities grew by 71.3 per cent. over the year, amounting to HUTF 543.5 billion
by year-end. Growth was attributable to the Bank's issuance of foreign cusrency based bonds in a total
nominal value of EUR 800 mmillion in the third and fourth quarters of 2005.

Consolidated results

The Bank’s censolidated after-tax profit for 2005 according to IFRS was HUF 158.3 biltion, which
exceeded that of 2004 by HUF 26.8 biilion, or by 203 per cent., and was HUF 25.4 biilion, or 19.1 per
cent., more than the Bank’s non-consolidated profit.

Consolidated Statement of Operations of the Bank

2004 2005 __ Changs
HUF e HUF mn  HUF mn o

Interest INCOME .. ottt e e e s 433,678 439024 25345 58
Interest BXPENSE - . .0 v viv it ciie et s 172,789 161,799 (10,990) (6:4)
NETINTERESTINCOME ............. .o, 260,889 297,225 36,336 13
Provision for loan and placement losses ... ... v, 16,048 28,042 11,994 747
NET INYEREST INCOME AFTER PROVISION FOR LOAN

AND PLACEMENT LOSSES . ..........covviiiniinns 244,841 269,183 24,342 9.9
Fees and COMMUSSIONS 4 v 00 v v et e e vt e e vnn v ans 91,625 118,884 27,259 208
Forsign exchange gains, net .. . ... . .o iy e, 1,250 3,879 2,628 2103
Gains and losses on securities, et ... ... ... ey 6,460 8,708 3242 501
Gains on real estate transactions, net . ......... ... 1818 96 (1,722} (%4.7)
Dividend income and gains and losses of assoclated companies . . 593 672 79 134
Insurance premilfns ... ... et e 49,337 69,793 20456 415
[0 77 g 2T T 10,680 13,465 2,785 261
Total Non-Interest Income . . . . .... ... o,y viunrnn.n 161,765 216,497 54,728 33.8
Fees and EXPENSES . o v vttt c e e 20,588 19,930 (658) {3.2)
Personnel 6Xpenses ., vt e e e e, 79,538 95,235 15607 197
Depreciation and amortisation .. ..., ..., 25150 21,897 (7,233} (24.9)
InSurance €XPenses . oottty i e e 40,264  5B468 18204 452
Other BXPemses . . ..o ovet ittt ettt 81,046 98,073 17,027 210
Total Non-Interest Expense .., .. ..., i vinnen 250,586 293,603 43,017 172
INCOME BEFORE INCOMETAXES ..............00vuns 156,024 182,077 36,053 23.1
IDCOME LARES o vttt i e i e e 24,506 33,803 9,297 379
INCOME AFTER INCOME TAXES . . ..........cooviunnn 131,518 138,274 26,756 203
Minotity fnterest . ... o e e e e, (12} 39) {27y 223.4
NETINCOME | .. .. i ittt iiie i cev. 131,506 158,335 26,7290 203

Consolidated net interest income in 2005 was HUF 297.2 billion, which represents an increase for the
year of 13.9 per cent., and exceeded the Bank’s non-consolidated net interest income by 76,2 per cent.

Provisions were 74.7 per cent. higher in 2005 than in the same period of the previous year, and
amounted to HUF 28.0 billion. The increase was significant at the parent bank, Merkantil Bank, OTP
Banka Slovensko and at OTP Bank Romania, and was also due to the inclusion of OTP Leasing, a.s. within
the consolidation circle, The rise in risk-related expenses is explained partly by the expansion in lending
and partly by the growp’s prudent provisioning policy. The ratio of provisioning to average gross loans was
0.95 per cent., compared to 0,69 per cent, in 2004,

The interest margin on the average balance sheet total (HUF 4,689.1 billion) as per end-of-period
data was £.34 per cent. in 2005, or 51 basis points lower than in 2004, The net interest margin (after
provisioning) was 5.74 per cent., compared o 6.42 per cent. a year earlier. The gross fnterest margin for
2005~-excluding the impact of swap deals on interest income—was 6.2 per cent., and the net interest
margin was 5.6 per cent., which, if we take info acccunt the net interest income from swap transactions
(HUF 6,384 miltion), were respectively 23 and 40 basis points lower than in 2004.

Non-interest ncome was in total 33.8 per cent, higher than in the previous year, and amounted to
HUF 216.5 billion. Fees and commissions received grew by 29.8 per cent., to HUF 1329 billion, This is
12.8 per ceni, below the non-consolidated fee and commission income figure, primarily due fo the
exclusion from the consolidation total of commissions from the Mortgage Bank (HUF 52.7 billien).
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Consolidated fee and commission expenses decreased by 3.2 per cent. over the year, Net fees and
commissions amounted to HUF 9% billion, which is an increase of 39.3 per cent. compared to 2004,

Net price gains on securities trading amovnted fo HUF 9.7 billion, tompared to HUF 6.5 billion in
2004, due to price gains realised on the securities portfolio and to the gains from the securities transactions
of OTP Garancia Insurance, Met foreign exchange gains amounted to HUF 3.9 billion, compared to
HUF 1.3 billion in 2004, due mainly to changes in the result of swap positions. Gaing oa real estate
transactions were HUF 96 million on a consolidated level, Insurance premium revepues amounted to
HUF 69.8 billion, which was 41.5 per cent. higher than in 2004. Compared to 2004, insurance expenses
grew by 45.2 per cent. The net insurance result grew by 24.8 per cent., to HUF 11.3 billion, relative to 2004,
Other non-interest income, amounting to HUF 13.5 billicn, was 26.1 per cent. higher than & year eazlier,

Non-interest expenses, amounting to HUF 293.6 billion, exceeded those of 2004 by 17.2 per cent,, and
the Bank’s non-consolidated figure by 88,6 per cent,

Consolidated personne! expenses were 10.7 per cent. higher than a year earlier. The increase in
personnel expenses already contains the impact of the IFRS 2 standard (HUF 7.5 billion). Depreciation
fell considerably relative to 2004, by HUF 7.3 billion. Other non-interest expenses grew by 21 per cent., to
HUF 98.1 billion. In 2003, non-corporate taxes represented an expense of HUF 27.7 billion, 77.1 per cent.
more than in 2004, Within this, the separate tax imposed on credit institutions and financial entexprises
(net mterest income tax) was also recognised among other expenses, in an amount of HUF 10.2 billion.
Without the separate credit institutiops tax, the increase in consolidated non-interest expenses was
13.1 per cent.

The Bank’s consolidated cost-to-income ratio in 2005 (according to a calculation method?® similar to
that used in Hungary) was 55,4 per cent., 178 basis points lower than a year earlier.

Consolidated return on average assets ("ROAAY) reached 3.38 per cent. in 2005 (in 2004: 3.45 per
cent.), while consolidated return on average equity (*ROAE") was 32.3 per cent., or 3.0 percentage points
lower than in the previous year. Real return on equity (“real ROAE”) was 28.7 per cent, in 2005. Basic
earnings per ordinary share (“basic EPS*) was HUF 603, which is HUF 102 higher than the 2004 figure,
white “diluted EPS” was HUF 599 in 2005 (in 2004: HUF 499).

(10) Calculation method: {pon-interest expenses—fee expenses) / (met interest income before
provisions + non-interest income — fee expenses)
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NON-CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS OF OTP ACCORDING TO IFRS
Non-consolidated balance sheet

The Bank’s balance sheet total as at 31 December 2005 was HUF 3,592,% billion; 17.6 per cent., or
HUF 5384 billion, higher than a year zarlier,

Non-Consolidated bakance sheet of the Bank

Restated
IViZ2004 3171272005 Change
HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %
Cash, due from banks and balances with the NBH.,.....,, 309,401 379,245 (20,152) (3.0)
Placements with other banks, net of allowance for placement
O85BS 1 o v v vy e e e ey 200,100 393,659 193,55¢ 967
Financial assets at fair value through statement of operations . 22,0159 34,054 11,995 544
Securities available-for-sale. . .. .. ... v iy 324,130 371,433 47303 146
Gross loams . . ...t i i i e s 1,296,051 1,497,670 201,619 156
Allowance for loan losses . ..o i e v e v ia s (19,810  {22,162) (2,352) 119
Loans, net of allowance for loan losses .. .o v v v v n v v 1,276,241 1,475,508 150,267 156
Accrued interest receivable, .. ... .. .. ..., ..., e 41,180 41,275 96 0.2
Investments in subsidiaries . . ..o v i i i i s 154,298 223,881 69,583 451
Securities hald-to-maturity .. .. ... . o e 507,503 521,797 14,294 2.8
Premises, equipment and intangible assets, net , . ......., 96,538 103,369 9,031 9.4
Other 85565 4 v v v u vt i it ettt e m e e 33,025 46,447 13422 406
TOTAL ASSETS ..ottt virr e iiianneeenn e, 3,054,475 3,592,873 538398 17.6
True o banks and deposits from the NEH and other banks . . 203,777 255,211 51434 252
Deposits fIom CUSIOMIETS .. o0 v v vt iie e e 2,340,924 2,506,437 165,533 71
Liabilities from issued seourities . oo oo v vinn vy 1,997 202,267 200,270 s
Accrued Imterest payable ... ... Lo il 9,414 5735 {34679 (3%.1)
Other liabilities . ..... .. N 94,087 102,881 7,894 8.3
Subordinated bondsand loans ... .. .. e, 14,324 47,023 32,699 2283
CTOTAL LIABIEYTIES .. .oii it iinnn s, 2,665,423 3,119,574 454151 170
TOTAL SHARFHOLDERS' EQUITY ..,....... ... . ... 389,052 473,299 84,247 217

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOELDERS’ EQUITY ... 3,054,475 3,392,873 538398 176

On the gysets side, cash, due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary were 5.5 per
cent, lower, while placements with other banks were 96.7 per cent., or HUF 193.6 billion, higher than a
year earlier. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss grew by 54.4 per cent., or HUF 12.4 billion,
of whick the growth in securities held for trading accounted for HUF 5.2 billion.

Within securities available-for-sale, which amounted to HUF 371.4 billion {annual increase of 14.6 per
cent,), the government bond pertfolic accounted for HUF 67.6 billion, that of mortgage bonds for
BUF 253.4 biltion, and that of other bonds for FTUF 42.6 billion, while the portfolio of Hurgarian discount
treasury bills was HUF 7.9 billion,

Gross loans were HUF 1,497.7 billion as at 31 December 2005, representing a growth of 15,8 per cent.
over the year. Provisions for loan losses rose by 11.9 per cent., to HUF 22.2 billion. The net portfolio of
loans and bills of exchange amounted to HUF 1,475.5 billion as at 31 December 2005, representing a
15.6 per cent. rise for the year as a whole.

Non-consolidated gross lean volure by business lines of the Bank

3az22004  3yIy200s . Change
HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn L4

COTPOTAIE « v vttt et ot e et ettt et e s 805,804 902,686 96,892 120
Muricipal .. ..., e e 116,175 131,107 14,932 129
Retadl . ... e 374,072 463,867 89,795 24.0
COmSUITIBY .t vt vt v e et a e 204,657 253,718 49,061 24.0
Housing ..o e e e 169,415 210,145 40,734 240
Total ... e i e s 1,296,051 1,497,670 201,619 156
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Within the gross loan potifolio, loans to businesses amounted to HUF 902.7 billion (representing an
annuat increase of 12 per cent.), muaicipal placements to HUF 131.1 biilion (an ennual increase of
12.9 per cent.), consumer oans to HUF 253.7 billien (an increase of 24.0 per cent.), and housing and
mortgage loans to HUF 210.2 billion {also an annual increase 24 per cent), Loans to businesses
represented 60,3 per cent. of the loan portfolio, retail loans 30.9 per cent., and loans to municipalities 8.8
per cent. :

Non-consolidated gross lean volume by qualifying categories

31/12/2004 31/12/2008 Change
HUF mn  share% HUFmn  shere % HUFwon Y share %
Performing .. .....cvounvnn 1,227,903 947 1,418,879 84,7 190,976 15.6 . (0.0)
Qualified ,............0.. 68,148 53 78,791 53 10,543 15.6 0.0
To be monitored . ...... .. 35,822 2.8 44,250 3.0 8,428 23.5 0.2
NPLS ... iiaes 32,326 25 34,541 2.3 2,215 6.9 0.2)
Below average ......... 14,401 11 13,160 0.9 (1,241y {8.6) 0.2)
Doubtful ............. 12,107 0.9 14,519 0.5 2,012 16.6 0.0
Bad ...v.eveainiians 5,818 0.4 7,262 0.5 1,445 24.8 0.0
Total .....oovevnvenen ve.w 1,296,051 1000 1,497,670 1000 201,619 15.6

The quality of the loan portfolio was good at the end of December 2005: performing receivables
represented 94.7 per cent. of the total volume, the same as in 2004. The “to be rnonitored” category
accountted for 3 per cent. of the total, and non-performing foans 2.3 per cent, The coverage ratio in respect
of the qualified portfolio was 28.1 per cent,, and for non-performing loans, 53.4 per cent.

Coverage of qualified customer loans

3171202004 311272085 Change %

Quaiified volume (HUF mB) . ..o ovv v ei e e 68,148 78,7191 15.6
Provision (HUF mn).....oovvvivieneyo I 19,810 22,162 11.9
COVEIBRE o v vt ottt e ii e st e tiaansnas s 29.1 281 0.9}
NPLS (HUF 10} © .t oeneeeinrveeaennnnes R 32,326 34,541 69
Provision (HUF mn) . o ..ooe i i 18,449
Coverage %o .o oo ve it c i e P, 534

The portfolio of securities held-to-maturity Tose by 2.8 per cent. in 2005, to HUF 5Z1.8 billion, of
which the portfolia of government bonds accounted for HUF 201.4 billion and the portfolio of morigage
bonds for HUF 289.8 biilion.

On the liabilities side, deposits from customers grew by 7.1 per cent. from 31 December 2004. The
share of deposits from customers in the Bank’s Habilities fell from 76.6 per cent. in 2004 o 69.8 per cent.
Of the deposits from customers, amounting to a totai of HUF 2,506.5 billior, 88.1 per cent. were forint
deposits. 74.6 per cent. of the deposit total (HUF 1,870.4 billion; an annual increase of 7.6 per cent.)
consisted of retait deposits, while corporate deposits represented 18.9 per cent. {a 9.8 per cent. increase)
and municipal deposits, 6.5 per cent. {a 5 per cent. fal).

Non-consolidated deposit volume of the Bank

32004 3ympoos  _ Change
HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn i

COTPOIEIE « « « e vttt e teeeesser e e e e e et eaenannas $81,921 474052 42131 9.8
MURIEPEL « c e et e v e e ey 170431 164,993  (8439) (5.0)
RETA -+« e s e et e e et L. LTIBSTZ 1,870,412 130841 76
S PP 2340024 2,506,457 165533 71

In the frameworX of the Bank’s foreign currency based bond program, due to the bonds of nominal
value EUR 500 million issued in the third quarter and of EUR 300 million issued in the fourth quarter, the
portfolio of own-issued securities within the Bank’s Habilities grew significantly, by over HUF 200 biltion,
and by the end of the year, accounted for 5.6 per cent. of all liabilities.
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The Bank’s ratio of gross loans to deposits was 59.8 per cent. by year-end, compared to 55.4 per cent,
cn 31 Drecember 2004,

The Bank's sharcholders’ equity was 21.7 per cenf higher than a year earlier, amounting to
HUF 473.3 billion, or 13.2 per cent. of the balence sheet total. The HUF 84,2 billion rise in the Bank’s
equity was chiefly due to a HUF 91,8 billion, or 3.1 per cent., increase in retained earnings and reserves,
without profit, 2 HUF 19.4 billion, or 17.1 per cent., increase in balaunce sheet profit and—as a reducing
itern—a HUF 26.9 billion, or 195.1 per cent,, increase in the book value of repurchased treasury shares.

Equity per share incressed by 21.7 per cent. to reach HUF 1,690.4 at the end of 2005,

Non-consolidated results

The Bank's pre-tax profit according to IFRS was HUF 155.8 billion in 2005, which exceeded the
previons year's result by HUF 23.4 bitlion, or 17.7 per cent. The incraase in profits was attributable to a
dynamic, 17 per cent. growth in income (including net commissions and agt interest income before
provisioning), an 11.2 per cent. increase in non-interest expenses net of commissions paid, which was
significantly less than the increase in nen-interest income, and to a HUF 7.8 billion rise in provisions,
Dividends received accounted for HUF 5.4 billion of the growth in income, The increase in pre-tax profits,
caleulated using tax conditions comparable fo those as of the base period (ie. excluding the
HUF 10.2 biltion expense increasing impact of the introduction in 2005 of the special tax impesed on credit
institutions and financial enterprises), was HUF 254 per cent.

In the context of an increase (from 14.3 per cent. to 14.7 per cent.) compared to 2004 in the actual
rate of tax (calculated together with the special credit institution tax), the Bank's after tax profit amounted
to HUF 132.8 billion, which was 17.1 per cent., or HUF 19.4 billion, higher than in the previous year.
(Without the special credit institution tax, the Bank’s after-tax profit would have increased by 26 per cent,,
to HUF 143 billion.) The Bank will—in line with its proclaimed dividend policy-—--pay out 40 per cent. of its
after-tax profit according o HAS (Hungarian accounting standards) as dividends to its shareholders, which
maeans that in 2006 it will pay dividends of HUF 197 per ordinary share of nominal value HUF 100, to its
owners.

Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share (EPS) were HUF 492 and HUF 488 respectively in 2005
{in 2004: HUF 420 and HUF 418),

The Bank’s return on average assets (ROAA) and return on average equity (ROAE) was 4 per cent,
and 30.8 per cent. in 2003 (in 2004: 3.92 per cent. and 34.1 per cent, respectively),
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Non-consolidated Statement of Operations of the Bank

Restated
2004 2008 Charge
HUFmn HUFmn HUF ma R
Interest InCOMIE .. vvvunnit i e s 290,935 281402 (93533) (3.3)
Interest BXPENSE .00 viu i 139,852 112,763 (27,080) {(19.4)
NET INTERESTINCOME ... ... iiniinninrnnniinnnnns 151,683 168,639 17,556 11.6
Provision for loan and placement 108585 ... v.uv v ... 8,628 16,435 7,807 905
NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER PROVISION FOR LOAN
AND PLACEMENT LOSSES .. .. ....00vvnvinnnnnnnnns 142,455 152,204 9,749 6.8
Fees and commissions . ... .ottt vrint iranaan, 113,29 136,264 22,865 203
Foreign exchange gains, net . ..., .. ... .vveirriiiinins. 914 1,603 689 754
Gains on securities, et .. ... . i e 1,081 3,103 2,022 1870
Losses on real estate transactions, net. ..ooovvvvuev .. (103) 28) 75 (72.8)
Dividend ineome . ... oo e 8,500 13,937 5437 640
Oher ficome ... ..ottt i i e 2,654 3,541 887 334
Non-Interest INCOIDE . ... ...ttt inr it neneisn 126345 158,420 32,075 254
. Fees and cOMMISSIONS ., . uvvr e e i s ia i ineinsnre. 0,692 13,840 4148 428
Personingl eXpenses ... .. uh e e e 54,342 62,437 8095 149
Depreciation and amortisation .. ..o i i vunan s 13,401 15244 1,843 138
Other expefises . . ..o i e s 39,006 63,301 4,295 7.3
‘Total Non-Interest Expenses ..., ...t iinnnininiironns 136441 154822 18381 13.5
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES ..........00000un.n. 132,359 155802 23443 117
TNCOME LAXES & v vttt i tetat it s tae st e rerennsnn 18,882 . 22,954 4072 216
NET INCOME AFTER INCOME TAXES . .o . oo cvvvvvnnnnns 113477 132,848 19371 171

‘The Bank’s net interest income grew by 11.6 per cent., fror HUF 151.1 billion to HUF 168.6 billion,
in 2005, as a result of a 3.3 per cent. increase in interest income and a 194 per cent. fall in interest
expenses.

Interest income from loans accounted for 52.4 per cent. of interest income in 2005, which represents
zn expansion of 7.6 per cent. over the year {6.9 per cent, without the gains on swap deals). Gains on swap
deats aceounted for HUF 0.9 billion of the HUF 147.4 billion in income,

Within interest income, income from placements with other banks (gainsflosses on swap deals
excluded) dropped by 14.4 per cent., due primarily to market rates of interest. Income from interest on
securities held-to-maturity fell by 26.2 per cent. compared to 2004, and amounted to HUF 39,3 billion in
2003, which represented 14 per cent. of total interest income.

Recorded among interest revenue from interbank placements and loans, as well as under interest
expense related to liabilities towards banks and interest expense towards customers, was the net
HUF 7.3 billion interest result from.swap transactions, which was HUF 8.5 biilion less than in 2004,

By far the bulk of interest expenses, 72.3 per cent., was accounted for by interest paid on custamer
deposits in 2005 {in 2004: 85.2 per cent.), which fell by 31.6 per cent,, to HUF 81.5 billion. The interest
paid on issued securities amounted to HUF 1.7 billion, with the HUF 1.5 bilfion increase being attributable
to the significant expansion: of the volume of securities issued.

At HUF 164 billion, provisions for expected loan and placement losses were 90.5 per cent. higher
thaa in 2004, The ratio of provisioning to the average gross loan portfolio was 1.18 per cent., compared to
0.72 per cent. in 2004.

In 2005, the Bank’s gross interest margin was 5.07 per cent., while the net interest margin (after
provisioning) was 4.58 per cent., respactively a 15 and 34 basis point decrease compared to 2004. Without
recognition of the interest resuit from swap deals, in 2005 the gross interest margin was 4.86 per cent.,
while the net interest margin was 4.36 per cent., with the former representing an 18 basis point increase,
and the latter a 2 basis point decrease compared to 2004.

Non-interest income grew by HUF 32.1 billion, or 25.4 per cent., to HUF 158.4 billion, 86 per cent. of
non-interest income, which amounted to HUF 136.3 billion (representing a growth of 20.3 per cent.) in
2005, came from fees and commissions received, Fees and commissions paid rose by 42.8 pet gent,, to
HUF 13.8 billion, and thus net fees and commissions were 18.2 per cent. higher than in 2004, amounting to
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HUF 1224 billion. Net price gains on securities were HUF 3.1 billion, compared to HUF 1.1 billion in
2004, while the net result of foreign exchange transactions was a profit of HUF 1.6 billion, compared to
HUF 0.9 billion in 2004, In 2003, the Bank received HUF 13.% billion in dividends from its subsidiaries,
compared to HUF 8.5 billion 2004. Other income grew by 33.4 per cent,, to HUF 3.5 billion, compared to
2004,

Non-interest expenses, amounting to HUF 154.8 billion, were 13.5 per cent. higher in tota than a year
earlier. Within this, personnel expenses grew by 14.9 per cent, to HUF 624 billien {of which
HUF 7.5 billion was attributable to the adoption of the IFRS 2 standard), while depreciation rose by
13,8 per cent. to HUF 15.2 billion. Other non-interest expenses, amounting to HUF 63.3 billion, were
7.3 per cent. higher than in 2004, Within this, the special tax imposed on credit institutions and financial
cnterprises was also recogniscd among other expenses, in an amount of HUF 10.2 billion. Without the
separate credit institutions and financial enterprises tax, the growth in non-interest expenses was 6 per
cent.

The Bank's cost-to-income ratio (according {o a caleulation method similar to the one used in
Hunpary) was 45 per cent. in 2005, which was 233 basis points lower than in 2004 {47.3 per ceat.). The
cost-to-income ratio calenlated withont the credit institutions tax was 41.8 per cent., or 557 basis points
lower than in the previous year.

Capitalisation, capital edequacy (according to HAR)

The Bank’s sharehelders’ equity grew from HUF 325 billion on 31 December 2004 to
HUF 407.¢ billion, or by 25.4 per cent.—significantly exceeding the rate of the growth of the balance sheet
total, Due to this, the ratio of shareholders” equity to the balance sheet total increased from 10.7 pet cent.
at the end of 2004 to 11.3 per cent.

Although the Bank’s solvency ratio declined somewhat, from 11.19 per cent. at the end of 2004 to
10.56 per cent. on 31 December 2005, it was well in excess of the 8 per cent. stipulated by the Act on Credit
Institutions and Financial Enterprises.

The fali in this ratio was caused by a growth in the Bank’s guarantes capital that lagged behind the
expansion in lending activity: compared with the previous year, rsk-weighted assets grew by 18.8 per cent.,
while the guarantee capital was 12,2 per cent. higher than at the end of the previous year,
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CALCULATION OF THE CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIO

31422004 3WIX2005  Change
HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

I Primzry capital elements . ....... ... eiuiiann 328,510 387,123 58613 178
A) subscribed capifal v ... e i i 28,000 28,000 — —
B} caplal feseIve. « v v v v vnvrrrrrarranaransn 52 52 — —
C) genesal TESEIVE ... ..., 51,807 65642 13835 267
D} general fiskzeserve ... .o aiiie i 18,120 21,534 3414 188
E} ProfUTeserve . .uvvvevenervecanennaninnn 177,401 202544 25,143 142
F) balancesheetprofit........... ... .. ..... 53,130 69,351 16,221 385
1L Deductible components of primary capital . ......., 51,950 79192 27242 524
A) capital subscribed not yet paid ..., . 0L, — —_ — —
B) intangibleassets ........ . Liiiiio 51,950 TIL2 27242 524
. Primary capital (L) o ovvivror it 276,560 307,931 31371 113
IV,  Secondarycapital ........ .. . .., 12,459 42,850 30,391 2439
Y. Guarantee capital before deductions (IIF + IV) ..., 289,01% 350,781 61,762 214

Vi  Book value of financial institutions, insurance
companies and investment services companies and

subordinated loans issued to them ..., 0.00uus 90,00¢ 128,810 38,711 43,0
VIl. Guarantee capital according to the rules of prudence

(V-VL) i s i s 198,920 221,873 23,051 116
VIHI, Capital requirement of limit breaches and sovereign

11 YU PN 5,902 5,362 (5400 (9.1
IX. Guarantee capital for calculating the capital adeguacy

211 T 2 O PN 193,018 216,609 23,591 122
X Risk weighted totab assets .., . ... .. .c.0ia.... 1,725,655 2,050,855 325200 188
X1, Capital adequacy ratio% . ..., .0 it 11.19 10.56

Of the various factors taken into account when calculating the numerator of the solvency ratie, the
iotal of the positive components of the primary capital mcreased by 17.8 per ¢ent. over the course of 2005,
while the total of the negative components of the primary capital increased by 52.4 per cent. As a result,
the Bank’s primary capital incteased by 11.3 per cent,, or by HUF 31.4 billion, jn 2005. The secondary
capital that can be taken into account in calculating the puarantee capital rose markedly, by nearly
three-and-a-half times its value a year earlier. On 31 December 2005 the guarantee capital before
deductions was HUF 350.8 billion, which exceeded the previous year’s fignre by 24.1 per cent. Of the
various deductible factors, the total of investments in financiat institutions, insurance companies and
investment companies grew by HUF 38.7 billion, or 43 per cent., while the amount of capital that needed
to be set aside for covering possible limit breaches, as per the Act on Credit Institutions and Financial
Enterprises, declined by HUF 0.5 billior, or 9.1 per cent., during 2004. The guarantee capital that may be
taken into account for the purpose of caiculating the solvency ratio stood at HUF 216.6 billion on
31 December 2005 {2 12.2 per cent. growth),

Of the increase in the volume of risk-weighted assets (the adjusted balance sheet total), 74.4 per cent.
is attributable to the change in the fisk-weighted value of balance sheet items and 25.6 per cent. to the
change in risk weighted off balance sheet items.

The risk weighted value of balance sheet items grew by 17.3 per cent. (HUF 241.9 billion} to reach
HUF 1,638.9 billion, while total assets grew by 18.1 per cent—as a result of the fact that, due to the
increase in the share of customer placements, there has been a slight shift in the structure of the asset
portfolio towards placements with a higher risk weighting. The risk weighted value of off-balance-sheet
iterns and contingent and future lizbilities, which is used for calculating the risk weighted balanee sheet
total, increased by HUF 83.3 billion, representing a 25.4 per cent. increase over the previous year. This
change is explained by the increase in contingent liabilities (primarily the existing Habilities arising from
the unused portion of eredit lines and from assumed guarantees).

RESULTS OF THE MAIN SUBSIDIARIES

Tn 2005 the activities of the Bank's subsidiaries were in 4ne with the Bank’s targets and with the
expectations of the owners. The combined balance sheet totals of the fully consolidated subsidiaries rose
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by 37.8 per cent., from HUF 2,006 billion to HUF 2,764 billion (of which the balance sheet tatal of OTP
banka Hrvatska, purchased in 2005, was HUF 298.2 billion).

The aggregate after-tax profit of the fully consolidated subsidiaries amounted to HUF 44 billion in
2005, which was HUF 5.7 billion, or 14.8 per cent., higher than in 2004,

Total assets and Profit after tax of the fully consolidated subsidiaries

Subsidiary

Merkantif Bank Ltd. .. ..............
Merkantil Car Lud. .. .. e
Merkantil Lease Led. |,
NIMO 2002, Ld, . . . ..
Merkantif Group . ... .. P
OTP Building Soclety Lid, ..., .. e

OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd.
OTP Banka Slovensko, &, .
DK Group ..,
OTP Bank Romanfa SA ... ... ...
OTP banka Hevatska dd. ... vv ey
OTP Garancia Insurznce Lid. . .
QTP Fund Managemenl Led, .
HFLd ......
OTP Real Estate Ltd
OTP Factoring Ltd.
OTP Factoring Asset Managemenz le
Bank Center No. 1. Ltd. . .........
OTP Fund Serviving and Consufting Ltd.
OTF Mérleg L1d, .
Inga Companies
Concordia Info Lted. . ........,. P
OTP Card Manufacturing Lid.
OTP Faktoring Slovensko, 8.5., . ., .. ...,
OTP Leasing, a.s. .

Subsidiaries tutal

Total assets

Profit after tax

31/12/2004  31/1272005
HUF un  HUF mn
58,939 136,658
135,399 1321
1,594 1,684
1,300 1,734
197232 253227
66,274 86,653
879,117 955,072
214,887 262,858
410,499 583,423
44,565 55,225
— 298,175
113,496 157,225
8.6Mm 11,519
12,340 14,369
18.23% 20,454
7826 13,700
1,565 1,452
7,885 8,253
1,967 2,245
1,352 —
1,122 10,738
3,196 3,610
823 803
— 3,692
— 22,680
2,005,986 2,764,380
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Change 064 2005 Chznge
HJFmn % HUFmn HU¥mn HUFms %
71748 1319 2,605 620 s 0.6
(22,278) (14.5) 916 3,638 272 2972
S0 57 275 87 {188} (68.4)
434 334 [ 7 i 167
35995 284 3,802 6,352 2550 671
202379 307 664 1,390 76 1093
76,855 88 18 5248 (7,933 (60.2)
47972 223 31z 1,373 861 1682
172,524 421 11993 16,572 457 382
10,660 238 50 (2,322)  (2172) -
- — — 2135 — -
|y 327 2,400 6,704 3,304 972
2918 339 2775 3,833 1,098 388
2,029 164 127 133 3 47
22346 121 8435 240 95 112
3874 493 589 564 (25  (4.2)
{105y (8.1 17 66 288.2
369 4.7 1ns 343 228 1983
7 142 95 167 2 T8
_ - (43) — —_ —
(386) (3.) 120 147 2725
414 130 7 0 13 B
(20) (2.9) 39 4 2 51
— — — 27 — —
- —_ — ) — —
58394 378 3B38 44,008 5688 148




MAIN INDICATORS OF MERKANTIL GROUP
Merkantil Group

2004 2005 Change %

ROAA % v oveessitar e e e et eee e eanees 212 282 070
ROAE 0. ot o e s ia i iiaaas 25.5 327 7.2
COSt/iRCOME TAHO T 1 .oy e eie e ivana e irabaeans 440 364 (7.6)

MAIN FINANCIAL DATA OF MERKANTIL GROUP

31/12/2004  31/1272005 Change
HUF mo HUF mn BUFmn %
GOS8 LOBDS . v v v v e ve s ettt e a s 172,525 229,655 57,13¢ 331
PLOVISIONS « 4 v v v v v e v eie et i it e e, (16,738) (15,268} (4,530) 422
Netloans .. oottt it it v et s it b 161,787 214387 52,600 325
Receivables due toleasing .. .. oo vv e e 16,072 16,262 190 t.2
DEPOSHES . vt e e s 5,495 4,688 807y (147
Tssued SECUTILIES v o vr v e e 35,072 35,016 {56y (0.2}
Liabilities to credit InSHINHONS « o 4o v vy v ves e irnnsn 129079 181,516 52,437 406
Shareholders’ equity ..o i e 16,018 22,833 6,815 425
Total BSSetS .\ oot viiii i ane e i 197232 253227 55985 284
Profit before taX ... v v vs e st et sty 4,782 8633 3,851 805
CProfitafter taX ... ...l 3,801 6352 2,551 671

Merkantil Group's aggregate balance sheet total as at 31 December 2005 was HUF 253.2 billion, up
by 28.4 per cent., or HUF 56.0 billion, on a year earlier. The group’s aggregated after-tax profit for
2005 amounted to HUF 6.4 billion, representing & 67.1 pet cent. rise frorn a year earlier.

Merkantil Group concluded close ta 63,060 new vehicle financing contracts in 2005, which was 3.9
pet cept,, or over 2,000 contracts, more than the pumber of new contracts concluded in 2004, Based
on the fotat number of contracts, the proportion of foreign currency loan facilities was 91 per cent,,
for forint denominated loans, 6.2 per cent,, for cars sold under financial lease contracts, 2.5 per
cent, and for permanent lease facilities, 0.3 per cent.

The aggregate (gross) loan portfolic was HUF 220.7 bilion as at 31 December 2005, which was
HUF 57.1 billion, or 33.1 per cent., higher than in the previous year.

In 2005, Merkantil Group achieved HUF 19 billion in et interest income, representing a 12.9 per
cent. xise compared to the previous year. Nom-interest income grew by 9.3 per cent., while
non-interest expenses were more than 20.9 per cent. Jower than iin 2004, Gross interest margin was
8.43 per cent. in 2005, .. 96 basis points tower than in 2004, The group's aggregated cost-to-income
ratio was 36.4 per cent. in 2005 (in 2004: 44.0 per cent.).
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MAIN INDICATORS OF MERKANTIL BANK LTD.
Merkantil Bank Ltd.

2004 2005 Change ®

ROAA G ittt et st ee e 4.15 2.68 (147
ROAE %5\ ot taeteennee s e e 227 194 (33)
Cost/Meome ratlo T . vt vt ianen e e e 46.9 439 (3.0}

MAIN FINANCIAL DATA OF MERKANTIL BANK LTD.

IN12006 311272085 Change
HUF mn RUF mn  HUF ma %o
[ L . S 50442 126,025 75,583 149.8
Retail ..o e e 34,231 95,363 61,132 1786
Corporate ... ..o v v e e 16,190 30,629 14,438 892
Municipal o ..o i e e e 21 33 12 571
T + oo (5378) (7,222) {1,844) 343
Netloams .o ovv i inirarenn P 45064 118,803 73,739 1636
DeposiS. . o e e e e P 4,664 4,591 {73 (1.6
Issued securities . .., ...ttt i e e 33,072 35,016 (55} (0.2)
Liabilities to credit Institetons. , .. ..o v 0y e i i in e e e n e 521 75,983 75,462 —
Sharsholders’ equity ... . ... .. e e 12,179 14,803 2,622 215
Subscribed capital . . . ... .. L L, 2,000 200 @ — —
BT 58,939 136,688 77,749 g}i
Profit before tax . ... o v i e e 2,950 2,834 (118 (3.9
Profit after fax . ... v iy e e, 2,605 2,620 15 0.6

* In 2005 Merkantii Bank's gross loan portfolic was close to two and a half times, or
HUF 756 billien, higher than that of the previous year, and its balance sheet fotal also grew
substantially, by 131.9 per cent, reaching HUF 136.7 billion as at 31 December. The dynamic
expansion of the portfolio was attributable in part to the fact that the bank took over the provision
of foreign currency vehicle financing loans from Merkantil Car during the year,

78. per cent. of the HUF 126.0 billion loan pertfolio was qualified as of the end of 2005, the bulk of
which (92 per cent.) had been placed in the “to be monitored” category, a¢ the bank automatically
includes foreign currency loans in this category. 6.5 per cent. of the gross portfolic consisted of
non-performing loans.

-

In addition to the interbank credit line provided by the parent bank, the volume of issued
securities—which amounted to HUF 350 billion at year-end 2005 and the bulk of which
(HUF 33.3 billion) were sold through the Bank's branch network—was also significant in the bank’s
Liabilities structure, In addition, the bank had deposit liabilities of HUF 4.6 billion, which was 1.6
per cent. fower thap at the end of the previous year.

-

No material change oceurred in the distribution of income from business activities in 2005, Interest
income and administration fees from vehicle financing continued to provide a decisive contribution
to the bank’s total interest and interest type income. The bank earned HUF 7.2 billion in interest
revenues in 2005, which was 11.4 per cent, higher than in the previous year, The gross interest rate
mazgin caleulated on the average asset portfolio was 7.4 per cent,

The bank’s provisions for loan and placement losses were HUF L9 billion in 2005, which was
HUF 1.5 billion higher than in 2604. The net interest margin after provisioning was 5.42 per cent.

The bank’s after-tax profit amounted to HUF 2.6 billion, which was HUF 15 million, or 0.6 per
cent,, higher than in the previous year,
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MAIN INDICATORS OF MERKANTIL CAR LTD.
Merkantil Car Ltd,

2804 205 Change %

ROAA %5 oo i e e ecteienaaays 081 293 212
ROAE B, vttt iie it i e s cnaiannseinnn, 542 965 423
Costincome ratio % .. .. oviii i 254 261 0.7
MAIN FINANCIAL DATA OF MERKANTIL CAR LTD.
311272004 31/12/2005 Change
HUF mn H¥ mn HUF mn %
GrosS IOANS vttt ir i e it i e s 122,083 103,630 (18453) {(15.1)
Retail ..o i it e 103,709 93,973 {9.736) (9.4)
L0511 18,119 9,609  {(8,510) (47.0)
Munitipal » .. ovu v 255 48 {207) (811}
Provisions .......viiniiini i e . (5360)  (80de).  (2,685) 501
Netomms . vttt it st e e e s 116722 95584 {21,138} (18.1)
Receivables due toleasing. .. ..o i, 15,250 15,132 (117)  (08)
Deposits «vivvvnvarniians e e e 831 97 (734) {88.3)
Liabilities to credit institutions ......... 0000 iiiianennn. 128,083 104,832 (23251) (18.2)
Shareholders’ equity ... . oo . it e s 1,950 5588 3,638 1866
Subscribed capital . . ... ... e 50 50 — -
Total BS8RtS . .. .. vt i e i 135398 113,121 (22,278) (16.5)
Profit before X . o oo ottt e s 1471 5,638 4,167 2833
Profitaftertax . .. ..... ... ... e I 9164 3,638 2,722 2973

Merkantil Car’s balence sheet totat was HUF 113.1 billion at the end of 2005, which was 16.5 per
cent, fower than that of the previous year. The decrease was attributable to the fact that Merkantil
Bank assumed the granting of foreign currency vehicle finaneing loans. The (gross) toan portiolio
was HUF 103.6 billion as at 31 December 2005, which was HUF 18.5 billion, or 15.1 per cent., lower

than in the previous year,

99.6 per cent. of the loan portfolio was qualified at year-end 2005, and this was comprised almost
exclusively (92 per cent.) of the “to be monitored” category, due to the fact that foreign currency
loans are autornatically included in this category.

Merkanti? Car earned HUF 11.6 billion in interest income in 2005, which was 9.8 per cent. higher
than in the pervious year. The gross interest rate margin caleulated on the average asset portfolio
was 9.35 per cent.

The Merkantil Car’s provisions for loan and placement losses were HUF 2.7 billion in 2005, which
was 2.1 per cent. lower than in 2004, Net interest margin after provisioning was 7.15 per cent. The
tatio of provisions to the average gross loan and leasing postfolio was 2.13 per ceat.

Merkantil Car's after-tax profit rose from HUF 916 milion to HUF 3,638 miftion in 2005, or close
to four times that of the previous year, Its return on average assets (ROAA) was 2.93 per cent., and
its return on average equity (ROAE) was 96.5 per cent.
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MAIN INDICATORS OF OTP BUILDING SOCIETY LTD.
OTP Building Seciety Lid.

2004 2005 Change %

ROAA % o ovieet e Liz 182 070
ROAE o ittt e e e 151 263 114
Costincome 1atio %, .o oot e e 652 447  (205)

MAIN FINANCIAL DATA OF QTP BUILDING SCCIETY LD,

31/12/2004  3V1/12/72005 Change

HUF = HUF mn  HUF ma %
oS - e e e 7928 6,180 (1,740} (2L.9)
DIepOSItS . 4 et e e e 59,492 78,825 19333 325
Shareholders’ equity ... iv i 4,671 5.822 1,151 246
Subseribed capital .. .. ... o 2,800 2,000 e —
Total assets . ... . e e 66,274 86,653 20,379 ._.?19..2
Profitbefore tax . ... e 783 1,819 4,036 1323
Profit after taX « .. e e 664 1,3%¢ 726 1093

* The balance sheet total of OTP Building Society, thanks to a dynsmic increase in its deposit
portfolic, rose by 30.7 per cent. in 2005,

+ The 32.5 per cent. growth in the deposit portfolio was due to 106,000 new contracts concluded in
2005 produced, as well as to an increase in contractual volumes,

The loan portfolic fell in 2005, as it had done in the previous year. Compared to the 2004 figure, the
portfolic decreased by nearly 22 per cent., which was attributable to a fall in the take-up of loans
resulting from changes to the favourable terms and conditions of subsidised loans.

OTP Building Society achieved a 54.7 per cent. market share of the building sodiety savings market
in terms of the aumber of valid (active) contraets and a 48,7 per cent. market share in terms of
contractual volumes.

The after-tax profit of OTP Building Society more than doubled compared to the previous year,
rising from HUF 664 million to HUF 1,390 million, the bulk of which was attributable to a 32.5 per
cent. rise in the deposit portfolic and to a reduction in costs.

* The company paid HUF 1,348 million in dividend on its after-tax profits in 2005 to its owner, OTE,

-
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MAIN INDICATORS OF OTP MORTGAGE BANK LTD.

OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd.
_Z_D_ili _?:[lﬁ_)i Change %
BOAA T v tvisiniiiee it e e tr e enra e 1057 (L14)
ROAE B, .\ttt ettt ttiaaienrtesnerecnres 413 10 (273
CostAncome T840 5. .o o vvie vt irianria s 222 293 6.9

MAIN FINANCIAL DATA OF OTP MORTGAGE BANK LTD.

31/122004  33712/2005 Changs

HUF mn HUF mn  HUF mn %
Gross J0A0S. .4 v v i e Vi0,265 849,252 78,987 103
Issued mortgage bonds ... ... . i oo i o 790,914 812,700 21,786 2.8
Sharcholders’ egquity .. cov i e e 37,859 36,939 (920 (24
Subseribed capital . ... .. . e 20,000 20,060 — —
TFOtA) BSSEES .+ v v v e e e e s 879,117 956,672 76955 8.8
Profit before tax . ..o ot e e 15,652 6,799 (8,853} (56.6)
Profitafter fa¥ ... ..o.0 it ii it aa e s 13,181 5,248  (7,933) (60.2)

.

The loan portfolio of OTP Mortgage Bank grew from HUF 7703 billion in 2004 to
HUF 849.3 billion 2005. This growth, which was less strong than in the year before, as well as
developments in the composition of the portfolio, reflects market trends. From March 2005, in
addition to forint denominated honsing loans, OTF Mortgage Bank also purchased foreign currency
housing and mortgage type loans. The loan portfolio assumed by OTE Mortgage Bank in 2005 was
HUF 146.3 billion, within which the share of foreign currency loans was approximately 4G per cent.

Fully performing loans accounted for 97.95 per cent, “to be monitored” loans 1.97 per cent, and
doubtful loans 0.08 per cent, of the loan portfolio at year-end 2005, Under 2 cooperation
agreement, OTP repurchased some HUF 4 billion in non-performing loan receivables from the
Mortgage Bank in 2005,

Along with the expansion of its Joan portfolio, the voifume of morigage bonds issued by the
Mortgage Bank also grew. As at 31 December 2005, the closing portfolio was HUF 812.7 billion. In
accordance with amendments to the law, a new domestic bond issvance program, one that is in line
with European regulations, has been developad, which enables the Mortgage Bank to distribute its
mortgage bonds not only in forint but also in euro and Swiss francs, in 2 quick and flexible manner
in line with its funding requirements related to receivables purchases.

Among the three mortgage banks in Hungary (OTE, FHB and HVE), OTP Mortgage Bank has a
market share of over 60 per cent. int terms of both the volume of mortgage bonds it has issued and
the housing loan portfolio.

OTP Mortgage Bank's pre~tax profit fell by 56.6 per cent,, to HUF 6.8 biflion, which was due
primarily to an increase (from HUF 26.1 billion in 2004 to HUF 52.8 billion in 2005) in fees and
commissions paid to the Bank.

Taking into account the fees paid to the Bank, the value contribution of OTP Mortgage Bank
exceeded HUF 59 billion.

117



MAIN INDICATORS OF OTP GARANCIA INSURANCE LTD.

OTP Garancia Insurance Ltd.

2004 2005 Change %

ROAA D ., i s rir et ineanes 312 486 1.74
ROAE 5. it it v rnier s inair s nnnnas 2712 317 105
“Costfincome ratio % ... s e 931 905 (2.6)

MAIN FINANCIAL DATA OF OTP GARANCIA INSURANCE LYD,

3122004 3112/2005 Change
HUF mn HUF mn  HUF mn T
Insarance technical reserves . ........... e e 98,680 131,116 32436 329
Shareholders’ equity .......... .. ... i 14272 21,336 7,064 493
Subscribed capital . ... i [ 7351 7351 — —
Total B58ELS .. v vt it e , 118496 157,225 38,729 __E’r_Z_Z
Gross MSUrance prémiling . ..vuvr iun e vnnn e r e 55,603 73,763 20,160 363
Life IMSUFAIEES . v oo vt s e s vnnn e 26672 44569 17897 671
Nen-life insurances ... ,.... e e 28,930 L1893 2,283 7.8
INSUZANCE GXPEMSES L o v v v v tv e b e 40,370 50,609 19329 479
Damages and InSUrance SeIvICES . v v v ve v e i v i ien e 25,917 27,263 1,346 5.2
Change in 7eSEI¥es .. ... vv s 14453 32436 17,983 1244
Profitbefore tax ... ... ... i e, 4,049 7,936 3,837 960
Profit afler tax . .ot e e s e e 3,400 5,704 3304 572

» OTP Garancia Insurance Lid. achieved premium revenue of HUF 75.8 billion in 20035, which was
36.3 per cent., or HUF 20,2 billion, higher than in the previous yeaz. Of total premium revenues, the
revenues of the life and bank assurance divisions amouated to HUF 44.6 billion, representing an
cutstanding 67.1 per cent. rise, while those of the non-life division were HUF 31.2 billion. Within
fife insurance premium revenue, the revenus from one-off premium-payment life insurance policies
grew dynamically, by 124.3 per cent., or HUF 15,8 billion, while revenue from regular payment
insurance policies grew by 14.9 per cent.

The company’s insurance expenses rose from HUF 40.4 billion to HUF 59,7 billion m 2003, Of the
insurance expense total, gross damage payments were HUF 27.3 billion. The change in net reserves
amounted to HUF 324 bitlion, which represents an over two-fold rise compared to the previous
year-end figure. Thus total insurance technical reserves stood, after a close to 33 per cent, growth,
at HUF 131.1 billion as at 31 December 2005.

* The company’s balance sheet total grew by 327 per cent. compared to the previous year, to
HUF 157.2 billion, and its sharcholders’ equity increased from the previous year’s HHUF 14.3 billion
to HUF 21.3 billion.

+ The company’s after-tax profit was close to twice that of the previous year, nising to
HUF 6.7 million, while retarn on average assets (ROAA) increased from 3.12 per cent. to 4.86 per
cent., and return on average equity (ROAE) rose from 27.2 per cent, to 37.7 per cent, The company
paid HUF 4.5 biilion in dividend on ifs after-tax profits in 2005 to the Bank.
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MAIN INDICATORS OF OTP FUND MANAGEMENT LTD.
OTP Fund Management Ltd.

2084 2005 Change %
ROAA Tb i vinnin st ianainsanrnstanaias 2728 3830 11.02
ROAE B v ii ittt it iiiaas ettt i caaananns 473 464 (¢.9)
Cost/income ratio % ... c..covviinenennrrrrarena, 202 212 1.0
MAIN FINANCIAL DATA OF OTP FUND MANAGEMENT LTD.
31/8212084 3171272605 Changs
HUF mn HUF mn HUF m=n %
Managed as3e1s ... e e 760,800 1,095,900 336,100 442
Managed assets in investment funds. . ... ... 0oL 391,000 580,400 189,400 484
Managed assets in pension funds . .. .o i il e 294,900 405,800 110,900 374
~from this OTP Pension Funds . .. ........ ... 000t 288,500 356,200 107,600 373
Other managed a8sets . .. .. vt in i i 75,000 110,700 35700 478
Shareholders’ equity ... ... v L i e e 6,352 10,256 3,904 615
Subseribed capital ... ... L o L 900G 900 —
Total @58618 .. ot i e e e 8,601 11,519 2918 3138
Profitbefore tax ... ..o v v v i i i e 3,300 4,631 1,331 403
Profit after tax . .. oo e e e e 2,775 3,853 1,078 3838

» Within the get asset value of the funds managed by OTP Fund Management, the net asset valug of
the Optima Fund stood at HUF 411.9 billion at year-end 2005, which represents a rise of 20.5 per
cent. The assets of the Maxima, Patetta, UBS Fand of Funds, Quality Equity Fund and Fantdzia
Structured Equity Fund also rose, while the assets held in the Buro and Dollar Funds fell over the

course of 2005,

+ At the end of 2005, the Fund Managet’s share of the securities funds market was 38.3 per cent.

(compared to 40.5 per cent. at the end of 2004).

* With respect to the pension fund market, the Fund Manager maintained its share of approximately

18-19 per cent. of total assets under managemént in 2005,

+ The company achieved an after-tax profit of HUF 3,853 million in 2005, which resulted in a return
o average assets {ROAA) of 38.3 per cent. and a 46.4 per cent, return on average equity {ROAE).
The company’s cost-to-income ratic was -21.2 per cent. in 2005. The Fund Manager paid
HUF 3.8 billion in dividends on its after-tax profits in 2005 to the Bank.
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MAIN INPICATORS OF DSK GROUP
DSK Group

2004 2005 Change %
ROAA T i e 327 333 0.08
ROAE 5. oot e i et e 240 263 23
Costincome ratio % . .. .. .o v 'ttt e e 500 452 {4.8)
MAIN FINANCIAL DATA OF DSK GROUP
31/12/2004  31/12/2005 Change
HUF mn HUF mn  HUF mn %
Gross IS . vv v e e 273,413 384436 111,023 406
Betadl oo ove v e 210,379 301,552 94,173 433
COtPORAtE L.t e e s 62,850 82,668 19,818 315
Municigal. ..o oo e 183 218 3217
Provisions. .. ... i e e 5,505y (10,902) (5397 980
Netloans. .. ..ooouieiiin it iiere s 267,908 373534 105626 354
Depasits & vt ite e e e 331,347 432415 101,088 30,5
Retall. oL e 282,500 352,002 69,102  24.4
COIPOratE ..ot it i i e s 41,805 66,560 24,755  59.2
Munjelpal . .. ... e 6,642 13,853 7,212 1086
Liabilities te credit instiutions ... .ovve et iininrnnren s 16,933 67,627 56,694 2994
Shareholders’ equity . ... ..o i e 54,563 71,243 16,680 . 30.6
Subseribed capital ... L 14,430 14,430 0 0.0
Total assets ... .o e e e 416,499 583423 172,924 423
Profitbeforetax. ... ... ... o, 13,359 19,601 6,242 46.7
Profitafter tax. .. ... ot e e e, 11,993 16,372 4,579 382

* The group's after-tax profit was HUF 16,6 billion in 2005, representing a 38,2 per cent. increase
over the 2004 figure, and thus ROAA and ROAE stood at 3.33 per cent, and 263 per cent.

respectively at year-end 2005,

+ DSX Bank’s balance sheet total on 31 December 2005 stood 2t more than HUF $83.4 billion, ar
42.1 per cent, higher than at year-end 2004, giving DSK Bank a matket share of 13.5 per cent, and
making it Bulgaria’s largest bank. The bank’s loans grew by 40.6 per cent,, further increasing the
bank’s market share (to 162 per cont.), and its deposits grew by 30.5 per cent., as & result of which
DSK maintzined its market leading position in this respect too (with a share of 14.8 per cent.).

* The group’s sharcholders’ equity was HUF 71.2 billion as at 2005, representing a 30.6 per cent. rise.

* In compliance with the stipulations of the Naticnal Bank of Bulgaria, the Bank’s solvenicy ratio was

12,21 per cent,, compared o 13,41 per cent. a year earlier.

+ DSK Group’s net interest income before provisioning rose by HUF 2.7 billion, amounting to close
to HUF 34.3 billion (+39.4 per cent. annnal increase), and thus net intersst margin was 6.9 per

cent, in 2005,

* Non-interest income, with revenues from net fees and commissions considered, fell by 9.9 per cent.,

despite the fact that income from net fees and commissions grew by 38.8 per cent, in 2005.

* The group’s cost-to-income ratio declined by close to 5 percentage points, to 45.2 per cent., inn 2003,
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MAIN INDICATORS OF OTP BANKA HRVATSKA DD,

OTP banka Hrvatska d.d,
2004 2005
ROAA Fbi ot e e et e it i et a e sia i st are e — 100
ROAE Db et ot iiiiie et e e e i e sttt enrras 30,6
CostANComE 2t % . . oot iii i s — 672

{1) Figures fot the period after acquisition of OTP banka Hrvatska (2-4Q 2005) and annuslized financial
indicators

MAIN FINANCIAL DATA OF OTP BANKA HRVATSEA D.D.

351122004 31/122005
HUF mn HUF mn

GIOSS JDADS « o vt v ettt a et e e e e - 150,499
T e 90,014
COIPOTAE . L L i ittt et it ie et i e s —_— 59,792
Munfeipal ..o e e e s —_ 693

DEPOSItS L.ttt it e _ 232,496
T — 193,978
L0 o — 33,168

T Municipal oL e — 5,350

Shareholders’ eQuIY » oo v s i e Cae — 30,571

Subscribed capital . .. .. L e e i a — 17,304

TFOAl BSSEES 4 . v o v e e e e e e - 208,175

Profit BEfOIE FAX . o v ittt e it st s r e e e - 3,117

Profit afleT L8 . .0 vttt ittt i e e s — 2,135

+ On March 10, 2005 OTP acquired the Croatian Nova banka 25 it was then known, which has been
operating as OTP banka Hrvatska (“OBH”} since Septernber 2005.

o As at 31 Decemnber 2005 OBH’s consolidated balance sheet total was HUF 298.2 billion, which gave
the Bank a share of the Croatian market of 3.4 per cent.

+ The Bank's gross loans amounted to FXUF 150.5 biltion at year-end 2005, which meant its market
share was 3.1 per cent. at the end of the year, Deposits from customers were HUF 232.5 billion at
year-end, corresponding to a market share of 4.1 per cent.

+ OBH's net interest income was HUF 7.4 billion in 2005. The group’s non-interest income reached
HUF 3.9 billion, while its non-interest expenses rose to HUF 7.9 billion. Its cost-to-income ratio
was 67.2 per cent. in 2005

+ In 2005 OBH contributed HUF 2.1 billion to the Group’s consolidated profits with its after-tax
profits that it achieved in Q2-Q4 of 2005 following the conclusion of the acquisition. The Bank’s
annualised ROAA was 1.00 per cent., and its ROAE 10.6 per cent,

» Trom its after-tax profits of 2005, OBH will pay the Bank HUF 3,563 million in dividends on its
stand-alone performance, which in 2005 differed substantially from OBH's group-level performance
due to the one-off result of intra-group real estate sales.
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MAIN INDICATORS OF OTP BANKA SLOVENSKO, A.S,

OTP Banka Siovensko, A.S

iﬂ_ﬂi 2005 Change %
ROAA T o i i i i st e 027 057 0.30
ROAE by st e it 35 86 5.1
Cost/ineome 1atio %o v v vnvrs i iaie it 975 187  (18.8)
MAIN FINANCIAL DATA OF OTP BANKA SLOVENSKO, A.S.
31/12/2004  31/12/2005 Change
RUF szn HUF mn  HUF mn %
Gross Ioans ..o oo i e 134,581 189,940 55359 411
Retail .. ... LN 25,214 43,827 18,613 738
[0 T 108,333 142,566 34,233 316
Munielpal Loy e e e e 1,033 3,547 2,514 2434
DEPOSIES s 4 v v v s e e e e 139,928 151,851 11,922 85
Retaill (...0vnvnnvnnnnnn, P 61,316 59,636 (1,680) (2.7)
COIPOTAE 4oty s ey et e e s e e 59,178 71,063 11,885 201
Municipal ., ... e e 19,434 21,152 1,718 8.8
Shareholders’ equity .. ... ... .. i e 14,954 17,128 2,174 i45
Subscribed capital . .. ... L e s e 11,831 11,831 ™ ©o)
Total @85eE5 ... ... i e e 214,887 262,858 47,971 223
Profit before taX . . o ou e i i e e 512 1,373 861 1681
Profitaftertax .. ... ... . e e 512 1,373 861 168.1

+ The balance sheet total of OBS was HUF 262.9 billion as at the end of 2005, which represents a 22.3
per cent. rise compared to year-end 2004, giving it a 2.8 per cent. share of the Slovak banking

market.

* In 2005, OBS’s credit portfolio ross by 41.1 per cent,, to HUF 189.% billion, representing a 5.3 per
cent, market share at year-gnd. Its deposit portfolio rose by 8.5 per ceat.,, to HUF 151,9 biliion, in

2005 and its market share was 3.2 per cent. as at 31 December 2005.

+ OBS's shareholders’ equity rose by 14.5 per cent., to HUF 17.1 billion, in the reporting period.

* OBS’s net interest income increased from HUF 4,954 rillion in 2004 to HUF 5,401 million in 2005.
OBS’s noa-interest income, compared with the previous year's figure, grew by over 130 per cent,, to
HUF 6.3 billion by the end of 2003, Non-interest expenses increased by 24,1 per cent. and
amounted to HUF 9.3 billion in 2005, OBS’s cost-to-income ratio, having dropped by 19 basis

points, improved to 78.7 per cent. in 2005,

¢ OBS’s after-tax profit for 2005 according to IFRS amountsd to HUF 1.4 billion, compared to HUF
512 million in the previous yezr. OBS’s ROAA was 0.57 per cent. at the end of 2605, and its ROAE

8.6 per cent.

* OBS will pay HUF 1,116 million in dividend on its aftertax profits in 2005 to the Bank.
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MAIN INDICATORS OF OTP BANK ROMANIA S.A.
OTP Bank Romania

MAIN FINANCIAL DATA OF OTP BANK ROMANIA 8.4,

GIOSS 08NS vttt e e e s
Retal e e e e
COMpOTatE . oot i e e e e e
Municipal .. ... e

PrOvISIONS . . oot e e

Net I0ans .. oo ar et e e e sy

DepOsHS. . Lo e e e
Retail o .o vuur i e e
COTPOTALE & o v e vt i ie i e et ey s
Municipal ... [

Liabilities to credit instittions, . ....oo ety

Shareholders’ equity . . ... ..o i e

Subseribed capital . .. ... e

Tofal 888elS . ... ... e e e i e

Profit BEfOre 18X o v v vu s e e e e ey
Profit after 1aX . v v vt it e e e e,

20042005 Change %
—  (425) e
- (198) —
.. 805 142.2 61.6
3122004 3141272005 Change
HUF mn HUF mn  HUF mn %
16,345 24,565 8220 503
258 2,396 2,138 8287
16,087 22,169 5082 378
(276)  (463) (187} 678
16,06% 24,102 8,033 500
28703 25329 (3374) (118
12,766 6294 (347 (27.2)
15939 15279 (660) (4.1)
— 756 756 —_
7,572 15482 7,910 104.5
7,692 13,731 5,039 783
5,104 12,577 7473 1454
44,565 55,225 10,660 239
B (2182) (2266)
50 (2122 (217 -

+ OTP Bank Romania’s balance sheet total exceeded HUF 55.2 billion as at 31 December 2005,
which exceeded the year-end 2004 figure by 23.9 per cent. OTP Bank Romanie’s market share
based on balance sheet total was 0.64 per cent. at year-ead 2005,

+ OTP Bank Romania’s shareholders’ equity—due mainly to a capital increase of EUR 30 million in
September 2005—amounted to HUF 137 billion (representing a 78.5 per cent. rise} as at

31 December 2005,

+ OTP Bank Romania’s net interest income (before provisioning) grew by 39.7 per cent., to
HUF 1.6 billion, while non-interest income (net fees and commissions included) rose by 1649 per

cent. to HUF 1.7 biflion.

+ OTP Back Remania closed the 2005 business year with a Joss of HUF 2.1 billion, suffered mainly as
a result of the high incidence of non-performing loans and the implementation of a branch network

expansion plan.
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ASSET-LIABILITY MANAGEMENT
Liquidity and market risk management

In 2005, the Group continued to implement a centralised market risk-rnanagement system (including
human resources, hardware and software}, as is generaly used internationally. The group-level regulation
on market risk management, approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank, specifies the minimum
methodological, limit setting and reporting requirernents that each group member must meet, It also
stipulates the maximum acceptable level of market risk exposure applicable to the group as a whole.

With the help of a computer system, the Bank monitors, in real time, the position of foreign and
domestic group members with the largest risk exposure. This means that dealing room liquidity and the
utilisation of limits related to market positions can be checked at any time during the day, and the
managers concerned receive an automatically generated report reparding any potential mit overruns. In
2005 the automated measurement of Group’s banking-book interest and medium-term Hquidity risk
exposure was commenced,

At the Bank, the supreme forum for asset liability and market risk management is the Asset-Liability
Comimittee. Every year the Committee reviews, at group and bank level, the measurement methods and
the established limits, the basis of which is the maximum acceptable level of Ioss. The Committee receives
a report each quarter on the liguidity, interest rate and market risk exposure of the Bank and the Group,
while the senior management of the Bank receives a copy each month,

OTP Group’s liquidity and market risk exposure

Pursuant to Government, Decree no, 244/2000., the capital requirement for trading beck positions,
counterparty risks and exchange rate risks must be consolidated in the case of OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd.,
OTP Building Society Ltd, Merkentit Bank Lté, OBS, DSK, OBR and OBH. As at end-2005, the
consolidated capital requirement was HUF 12.2 billfon, which was attributable mainly to foreign exchange
positions.

The exposure of the group members’ foreign exchange positions is restricted by the imposing of
individual and global open position (overnight and intraday) as well as loss limits, In 2005 group-level
average net exposure was HUF 35.7 billion,

In 2005 the Group’s liquidity declined as a resulf of the dynamic growth in lending activity. Due to the
substantial demand for foreign currency loans, the bulk of the group’s foreign currency placements are
fmanced by loans taken wp by OTP and the securities issued by it. The Mortgage Bank raises funds through
the issue of securities, which are purchased by institutional and retail investors,

In 2005 the interest rate exposure of the Group was essentially determined by the positions of the
Bank, OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd. and DKS Bank. Since the mortgage bonds issued by the Mortgage Bank
to fund its loans were purchased by the Bank, the funding source for the loans on the Mortgage Bank’s
books were in effect the Bank's customer deposits. On group level, the volume of liabilities that can be
repriced within one year or less exceeds that of assets that can be repriced within one year or less, Such &
position is beneficial to the Group in the event that market rates continve to decrease.

Developments in the Bank’s liquidity

The Banl’s liguidity policy: bearing profitability in mind, the Bank should be able to honour its
payment obligations when they fall due and execute the necessary tramsactions. In order to measure
liquidity risk exposure, the Bank checks the balance of the mandatory reserve account and the treasury
portfolio on a daily basis, and cash flow cight days in advance, It prepares a gap analysis in the form of a
maturity balance sheet and, based on the plans, determines the treasury’s placement possibilities and/or its
fund raising requirement. The business areas and executive officers concerned receive reports on risk
exposure and limit utilisation.

At the end of 2005, the value of the enmulative net base position in the five-year-or-less categories of
the Bank’s maturity balance sheet—compiled throngh a structuring performed on the basis of the
scheduled maturity date of deposits—showed a considerable positive balance, The long-term Heuidity
position was affected greatly by the fact that in 2005 the Bank, in order to finance foreign currency loans
and the subsidiaries of the Group, issued foreign currency bonds of 2 nominel value of EUR 800 million
and a maturity of five years and subordinated debenture bonds of a nominal vaiue of EUR 125 million and
a maturity of 13 years. The value of Joans taken up by the Bank or the capital market for purposes other
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than re-financing rose to EUR 1,396 million, 96.3 per cent, (EUR 1,344 milfion) of which had been drawn
down in euro or Swiss francs as of year-end 2005, The excess forint liquidity meant the Bank could also
raise EUR- and CHF-denominated funds in the form of FX swaps.

By the end of 2005, the volume of foreign curtency loans had grown by over 57 per cent. of the
year-end 2004 figure, The growth in foreign currency loans was attributable to the business activity of both
the Bank and its subsidiaries. A major part of the loans were extended by the Bark to its affiliates, mainly
for vehicle financing, The coverage of foreign currency loans by foreign currency deposits from customets
fell from 58 per cent, to 41 per cent, aver the year, and in the case of the suro, from 55 per cent. to 40 per
cent. In the wake of the foreign bank acquisitions, an increasingly large portion—iwo thirds—of assets are
denominated in foreign currency, In 2003, the value of foreign currency deposits from customers expressed
in euro tose by close te 10 per cent,, while their forint value, due to the 2.8 per cent, weakening of the
forint exchange rate, was 11 per cent. higher. In 2003, the growth in the share of suro-denominated
deposits within foreign currency deposits ceased, and then declined, from 63.6 per cent. previously to 61.6
per cent.

Applying stricter rules than the law, whick stipulates that 2 large deposit is one that exceads 15 per
cent, of the guarantee capital, the Bank deems any deposit in excess of HUF 2 billion as large. The
portfolio of the Bank’s cash, negotiable securities and short-term central bank and placements with other
banks is over 7.45 times higher than the aggregate portfolio of the individual farge deposits. Similarly to
the year-end 2004 proportion, the Bank’s cash securities held for trading and deposits held with the central
bank and other commercial banks accounted for 19 per cent. of the balance sheet total as at year-end 2005,

The Bank’s interest rate exposure

The Bank aims to contain all potential loss arising from an adverse shift in market rates and
manifesting itself in a fall in net iaterest income or the market value of the portfolic, within certain
specified limits. To this end, the Bank measures its interest rate exposure on a continrous basis and notifies
the management in the event of any limit overrun.

In 2005 the intra-year gap of the combined forint repricing balance of the banking and trading book
portfolic (i.e. the value of the receivables belonging to the given time category less the liabilities belonging
to the same time category) was, sirilatly to the previcus years, short, that is, it revealed a substantial excess
of liabilities. The Bank's interest rate exposure is largely determined by the fact that almost its entire
deposit portfolio is repriced within 3 months, partly since deposits are placed only for short periods and
partly because their interest rates are not fixed and are also not tied to money-market instruments, but
may, depending on market conditions, be repriced by the Bank entirely at its own discretion, and at the
same time, the portfolio of fixed-rated securities held for investment purposes exceeded HUF 600 biltion.
The share of the Bank long-maturty fixed-rated mortgage bonds within the Bank’s portfolio did not
change substantiaily, and therefore the average remaining period to maturity (duration) of the aggregate
portfolio of mortgage bonds fell by half 2 year, to 3.25 years, over the course of the year under teview. The
short-term discount securities issued by OTP Mortgage Bank expired, and were effectively renewed
through the subscription of newly issued short-term fixed rate mortgapge bonds,

The interest rate exposure of the foreign currency denominated portfolio is not material.

The Bank's exchatge rate exposere

The Asset Liability Comsmittes contains foreign exchange rate exposure through individual and global
net open position (overnight and intraday} as well as loss limits.

The Bank is present in both the domestic and foreign FX spot and derivatives markets. In 2005, the
average size of the Banlt’s net open position was HEUF 35.7 billion, which was due, almost in its entirety, fo
its foreign interests (in the reporting year QTP banka Hrvatska, formerly Nova banka, joined the grougp).
The average net open position held by the dealing room was HUF 3.7 billion,

In 2005, the forint weakened by 2 per cent. against the euro. The US dollar strengthened significantly
against the eurc, which—due to the relative stability of the HUF/EUR cross-rate-—strengthened the doliar
by 18 per cent. against the forint. The Bank made the most of the opportunities offered by the movements
in the market. The profit of the Arbitrage Division was HUF 1.2 billion in 2005.
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Capital requiremtent for the Bank’s market risk exposure

Since the second quarier of 2001, in conformity with Government Decree no. 244/2000, the Bank has
been preparing daily reports for the Supervisory Autherity on the capital requirement for the interest rate,
counterparty and foreign exchange rate risk, determined in accordance with the ‘standard method’, of the
Bank’s trading book positions. The average capital requirement was HUF 3.3 billion higher in 2005 than in
2004, and reached HUF 8.3, of which HUF 1.1 billion was allocated to position risk, HUF 0.3 billion to
counterparty risk and HUF 7 billion to exchange rate risk, It was exchange rate risk that rose the most, due
mainly to the increase in open foreign exchange positions caused by the acquisitions.

The Bank determines the capital requirement each day, also using the internal model (VaR). Average
(overall) capital requirement calgulated with the VaR model was HUF 5.5 billion in 2005. As from April 1,
2006, based on the approval of the Board of Directors and the Hungarian Supervisory Authority, the Bank
uses the internal model to calcaiate the capital requirement for its exchange rate risk.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Consolidated IFRS data
BALANCE SHEET (in HUF bn)

Cash, due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary. .........
Placemnents with other banks, net of allowance for placement losses. ............
Financial assets at fair value throngh statements of operations, .. ..............
Secarities availableforsale ... ... .. . e e e
Gross J0ans .. . i i e e e e

Retail o e e e e et e i

[0 A

-1
Allowance for 10an 105588 . ..o u ot it i s e e e
Net JOmNS L ooy et e i e e i e,
Equity MVBSIMents , . ...\ o it i i s e
Securities held-to-matirity, ., .. 0. e e e
Premises, equipment and intangible assets, Bet ... ... ih i iii e,
L0 T

Due to banks and deposits from the MNational Bank of Hungary and other banks . . .
Deposits from CUSIOMEIS . v v vttt it i e e e e
Retal i e e e
COIPOTALE . 4 vttt v ettt it it it e e e e s
LS 1L+
Liabilities from issued Securiies .. ... vuve i i e
Other liabilities ... oo 0o e e e e e
Subordinated bonds and loans .. ... ... .. i e e
TOTAL LIABILITIES ... .o i i i s e nanns

Net assets per share (NAV) ¥ L i
(HUF, diluted)
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As at 31 December

2004*

465.9
286.2
0.6
295.8
2,586.1
1,547.4
20,6
118.1
793

2405

4832
4388
481
4099
32972
1,965.8
1,195.4
1360
165.9
3,913
124
289.8
233.2
109.2
52159

3641
34282
2,562.9

662.2

203.1

543.5

285.6

47.0
4,668.4

5475

52159

1,862.8



PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT (in HUF bn)

For #he years ended

December
a0 20057
Net intereStinCOme . . ..\ it et e e e e 260.9 29732
Provision for Joan and placement JOSSES, . v v v oot vin e, 16.0 280
Net interest income after provision for loan and placement losses .. ... ..... 244.8 265.2
Fees and comMISSIONS MEOTHS. . ... ..ottt ottty iinnrrrr i 91.6 1189
Foreign exchange gains, N8t .. cviito it ittt e e 13 3.9
Gains and losses on securities, met . ........... . i i i e, 6.5 9.7
Gains on real estate (ransactions, A6t .. .. ...\ evtn vy, 1.8 0.1
Drividend income and gains and losses of associated companies. .......,., 0.5 0.7
Insurance PremiDms . . ... oL e e e 493 69.8
L L 107 135
Total Non-Interest InCOIMe . . v oo ruun i i iie e 1618 216.5
Fees and cOmMMISSIONS EXPETISE ... ov s en vty vt e e s 206 19.9
Persommel 8RPENSEs . ..ot e Ve 79.5 952
Depreciation and amorHsation . ... ... ...y e 28.2 219
INSUTANCE ERPEMSES .+ v\ vt ettt et e e ettt et et 40.3 58.5
L1 81,0 951
“Total Non-Interest Expense . ........ e e e, 250.6 293.6
Profitbefore tax .. ... .0 it e e it 156.0 192.1
Profit afler dax . .. . e e e 1315 158.2
Earnings per share (EPS) **
BaBE . v i e e e e HUF 501 HUF 603
DEd L . i e e e e HUF 499 HUF 599
KEY RATIOS
2004 2005*
Loantodepositratio% .. ........onv iy, e e e e e 654 706
Cosltfimcome ratho %. .. ... ... e e e 51 554
Capital adequacy ratio To* ™ .. .. e 1118 1036
ROAA b . e e 345 338
ROAE B, .o i n e 353 313
Dividend pershare % ... 0t e e e e 146 197
Per capita profit after tax (o HUF 1BR) ... 00 i it e et e e e rixi 8.8
*  Due to the changes of the accounting standards figures are not comparable with previous years' data.

** From Mareh 11, 2002 each ordinary share with a face value of HUF 1,000 was split into 10 ordinary

shares with 2 face vaiue of HUF 100 each,, For this NAV and EPS ratios of previous years
corrected,

*** The Bank non-consclidated, according to HAR.
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Non-consolidated TERS data
BALANCE SHEET {in HUF bn}

Cash, due from banis and balances with the National Bank of Hungary. . ... ... ..
Placements with other banks, net of allowance for placement losses. .. ..........
Financial assets at fair value through statements of operations. .. .....vuvenvr..
Securities available-for-sale ... ... o i e s e
GrossJOBIS « oo v v vu s e e e s e

2 DN

COMPOTALE o v vy v v v vt v r i m s e e

Mundeipal L. e e e s
Allowance for loan 105565 . .. ..o e i e e e
Tk LOANS 4 o ot e et e e e e e e e
Equity IveSIments .. ... ... it
Securities helduto-maturity . .o .o iie e e e
Premises, equipment and intangible assets, DBt oo v v i i i i s
OREL AS5BES « v v v v v vt vt ey PR
TOTAL ASSETS........ et b e e

Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank of Hungary and other banks . ..
Deposits from CuStOMEIS .+ . v v et vt e e i e

Retail .. oo e e e e

L8 oo -

Munielpal .. ... e e
Liabilities from issued securities ...... ... ... i i e
Other labiliIes ... 0.t s
Subordinated bonds and loans . . ... ...
TOTAL LIABILITIES ... et iie e itrra s airrcnne i arnernanne
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY ... iivr it ciricnna cvannvnnas
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY . ..............ootns

Net assets per share (NAV)™ ™ L .o i i i i i v
(HUE diluted)
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As at 31 December

2004+

399.4
200.1
221
3241
1,296.1
374.1
805.8
1162

(19.8)

1,276.2
154.3
507.5

9.5
74,2
3,054.5

203.8
2,340.9

2005

3792
057
34.1
3714
1,497.7
463.9
002.7
1311
(22.2)
1,4755
239
3218
1038
8.7
3,592.9

2552
2,506.5
1,870.4
474.1
162.0
202.3
108.6
475
31196
413.3
3,592.9

1,690.4



PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT {in HUF bn)

For the years
cirded
31 Pecember

2004%
Net interest iNCOME .. .o u oty s are i e i e an s 1511
Provision for loan and placement 108565 . . . . vuvu i e 8.6
Net interest income after provision for loan and placement losses. . ..., ...y, 142.5
Fees and commissions iDCOME » v v v vt v e et cie et ana ey ey 1133
Foreign exchange gains, 6t .. oo .0 e 09
Gains and losses on secuTities, DEL. . . . ., ... it i e e 11
Gains on reaf estate transactions, DEt. .., .oy r et o v e -G,1
Dividend income and gains and losses of associated companies . . ............... 83
InSUTANCE PIEMIUIDS + 4 v vy v e v i e i, S 27
Total NOn-IRIerest INCOME « o ot v te v it o et ettt e e er e e aans 126.3
Fees and commissions expense .. ....... e 9.7
Porsonme]l BXpBRSES .4 4 v e e i e ey 54.3
Depreciation and amortisation ., .. ..o i e e i34
INSUTANCE XPEMSES - o o v o vt et et it i e e s 56.0
Total Non-Interest EXPENSE .. ..ot iin i i et e aans 136.4
Profitbefore tax .. .. .. ... . it i s e i e e, 1324
Profit after (aX ... e e e 1135
Earnings per share (EPS) **
Base (HUE) ..o i i s it i e e i e 420
Diluted (HUF} ..t i vt e s te e e et 418
KEY RATIOS
- 2004%
Loanto deposit ratio %o, .o oot i e e e e e e e 554
CostAneome Tatio To. .. . .ottt i e e e e s 47.3
Capital aequacy 1ati0 o ™™ L. ... i e e 11.19
ROAA T\ vt veearr s e rr s v atr et e etre e e 392
ROAE o ..ottt e e e e e 341
PER CAPITA PROFITAFTER TAX N HUF MN}. .. .. ..ot iiie i e ens 146

2003*

168.6
164
1522
136.3
1.6
31
0.0
13.9
335
158.4
13.8
62.4
15.2
63.3
154.8
155.8
132.8

492
488

20685%

56,8
45.0
10.56
4.00
30.8

197

*  Due to the changes of the accounting standards figures are not comparable with previous years' data

**  From March 11, 2002 sach ordinary share with a face value of HUF 1,000 was split into 10 ordinary
shares with a face value of HUF 100 each, for this NAV and EPS ratios of previous years were

corrected,
*** The Bank non-consolidated, according to HAR
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Consolidated IFRS
BALANCE SHEET (in HUF m/n)

As at 30 June

2005 2006

Cash, due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary. . ... 469,349 480,341
Placements with other banks, net of allowance for possible placement losses . 289,117 456,567
Financial assets at fair vatue through profitand loss .. ................. 57,391 67,002
Securities held-for-trading . . ... ... i e e 45,472 56,191
Fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments . .......,....... 11,919 10,801
Securities available-for-sale .. ..o i i e e 382,620 403,586
Loans, net of allowance for possible loan 108885 ... ... oo vuni i iuns 2,889,124 3,575,435
Accrued interest Teceivable . ... ... e i 20,218 39,502
Investments ip subsidiaties . ... ... .. . i 10,747 5,123
Becurities held-to-matuIity . o oo oo urr et e 238,925 289,535
Premises, equipment and intangible assets, net ... .. ... ... ... .., 224,313 266,365
Oher AS3E18 . . o oo e e e e 102,188 147,717
O AL AS B S . .. ittt i i e s it i e (4,692,992) (5,735,263)
Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank of Hungary and other

2 < 406,884 449,774
Deposits from CUSLOIIEIS « v v v vt vt e v e ee e te s ea s e i eirrsnnsns 3,145,585 3,715,398
Liabilities from issued securities . ...... e e e e, 325,706 569,222
Accrued interest payable . .. ...l i e, e 33,490 32,377
Other liabilities ..o v vt i e it i e e 256,745 318,360
Subordinated bonds and [oans . . .. ... oL i e e 47,267 51,383
TOTAL LIABILITIES . ... .. i it i ittt eer s 4,216,677 5,136,514
SHARE CAPTTAL L 1ottt e sttt e s e anans 28,000 28,000
RETAINED EARNINGS AND RESERVES .. ..., i iiininnas 479,143 620,514
Retained earnings and reserves without easmingg. ... .o oo 402,740 536,518
RESEIVES L vttt ittt b i e e e et e, 387,939 524,217
Faijr value adjustment of securities available-for-sale and of derivative

financial instruments recognised directly through equity ... ..ov.ovevu. 7,515 1,433
Fair value adjustment of share based payments. .. ... oovuvvinnnenoun.. 7,286 10,868
Retained eamings . . oo v v vt i it ittt i i et e aa e 76,403 92,995
TREASURY SHARES . . o0 et itieiiteteatieeeeiaasteeenannns (GLI4)  (59,739)
MINORITY INTEREST ..ottt iiit e tiianninnaeiaianaennnns 876 974
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY . ... ...ttt iieie e eaeenn 476,315 398,749
_TOTAL LIABHLITIES AND SHAREBOLDERS EQUITY ... .....ocvvnen 4,602,992 5,735,263
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Consolidated IFRS
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT {in HUF m/n)

LOADS «nvr i TR
interest INCOME WItHOUL SWRD .t o .4 o vttt et ettt e er e e e
Pesults O SWRDS o0 i e e e e ey
Placements with other banks .. ... oot st e s
interest income Without SWap., .. ..o e e
B e <
Due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary.........
Securities held-for-trading . .. ... . . L e e
Securities available-for-sale .. ... ... e e
Securities beld-to-maturity. .. ..o e e

Total Interest INCOME | .o\ it it i r e e
Due to banks and depesits from the ......... e i
Nationai Bank of Hungary and other banks interest expenses without swap . .
108388 OF SWAPS « 1 ot v i e i e e e ey
Deposits from cUStOmers . o .. vt it e i i e e e
interest expenses without swap . ... ... i i,
105865 OF SWAPS . .. vttt i e e e e
Liabilities from issued securities ... ... ... o i iin i e
Subordinated bonds and loans ... ... N
Other ENTEEPIENBNTS « . .ttt v v et ettt ae e

Total Interest BXPENSE ..ottt i
NETINTERESTINCOME .. ... ittt siiin i ciaie ey
Provision for possible loan fosses . ... ... .. .0 i i
Provision for possible placement losses. .. ... .. ii e i
Provision for possible Joan and placement losses. . ................,..,

NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER PROVISION FOR POSSIBLE LOAN

AND PLACEMENT LOSSES . ... .. it eieiiieien e e
Fees and cOmmISSIONS . . ..o vt e i e e e e
Foreign exchange gains and 105565, PEt. v v v v vnsne e e e ey nareennn.,
Galns and losses On SeCurities, Net. ., .o o iy v i e s

Dividend income and gains and losses of assccmted COMpanies .......,...
InSurance Premiums (... u ot e e i e
L

Total Non-Interest InCome ... oot n e ve i e niiienenonn,
Fees and commissions . ... vu i en i e
Personnel €Xpenses . .o u e e e
Depreciation and amortization ........ ... 0 i
TRSUTANCE EXPEASES & + v 4 u v v et e e e e s
L1 P

Total Nen-Interest EXPENSE .. o0 v vt eeervee e ie e et s ann,
INCOME BEFOREINCOMETAXES .., ........coovviiiennnn..

MINOGLY IMEETESE. . . . o o e e e et i s e
NETINCOME .. e e et et e e
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For the six months

ending 30 June

2005 2406
164,698 179,696
164,502 178,515
194 181
21,431 31,014
6,522 6,951
14,909 24,063
16,932 13,653
1,358 1,103
12,912 12,670
w562 6082
228,093 246,588
15,430 41,330
4,368 5462
11,062 35,868
57,133 45,893
57,099 45,0625
34 968
12,381 13,817
759 951
S S o4
85,733 102,135
142,360 144,433
12,893 9,289
33 [
12,926 9,289
129,434 135,164
54,746 69,309
(1,221) 19,060
3,260 435
441 688
645 508
32,481 31,844
— 397 8148
96,331 135,992
8,527 14351
42,996 49,125
10,313 12,925
27,806 26,534
43,650 54,33
133,292 160,038
92,473 111,118
16,042 18,197
76,431 92,921
(28 75
76,403 92,056



MERRILL LXNCH & CO., INC.

Pursuant to a guarantee dated 19 October 2006 entered into by Merill Lynck & Co., Inc., {“ML"), ML
has guaranteed (the "ML Guaramtee”), in favour of the Issuer Merrill Lynch International’s payment
obligations under the Securities Lending Agreement. The Issuer’s rights under the ML Guarantee form part of
the Secured Property in respect of the ICES. See Condition 2(b} and “Security for the ICES” for further details,

MI, was incorpordted under the laws of the State of Delaware, U.S.A,, on 27 March 1973 with file
rumber §790151. The principal executive office of ML is located at 4 World Financiat Center, New York,
New York 10080, Urited States of America, with telephone number +1 212 449 1000. ML’s registered
office in the State of Delaware is ¢/o The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation Trust Center,
120% Orange Strect, Wilmington, Delaware 19801, United States of America.

ML is a holding company that, through its subsidiaries and affiliates, provides broker-dealer,
investment banking, financing, wealth managerent, advisory, insurance, lending and related products and
services on a global basis. ML provides these products and services to a wide array of clients, including
individual investors, small and large businesses, public companies, financial institutions, governments and
government agencies.

The principal market on which ML's equity securities are traded is the New York Stock Bxchange.
ML'’s equity securities are also listed on the Chicago Stock Exchange, Pacific Bxchange, London Stock
Exchange and Tokyo Stock Exchange. Ml has debt securities listed on the following markets: the
Frankfurt Stock Exchange, Helsinki Stock Exchange, London Stock Exchange, Luxembourg Stock
Exchange, Euronext Paris, Bérse Stuttgart and SWX Swiss Exchange.

ML’s principal subsidiaties include Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Merrill
Lynch International (being the counterparty to the Securities Lending Agreement), Merrill Lynch
Government Secarities, Inc., Merrill Iynch Capital Services, Ine., Merrili Lynch Bank USA, Mexrili Lynch
Bank & Trust Co., Merrill Lynch International Bank Limited, Merrill Lynch Mostgage Capital Inc., Merrill
Lynch Japan Securities Co., Ltd,, Merrill Lynch Life tnsurance Company, ML Life Insurance Cornpany of
New York, Merrill Lynch Derivative Products AG and ML IBK Positicns, Inc. ML owns just under hatf of
BiackRock, Inc. one of the world’s largest publicly traded investment management companies with
approgimately 1JS$1 trillion in assets under management.

The services which ML and its principal subsidiares provide include the following:
+ Securities brokerage, trading and underwriting;

* Investment banking, strategic advisory services (including mergers and acquisitions) and other
corporate finance activities;

Wealth management preducts and services, including financial, retirement and generational
planning;

Qrigination, brokerage, deater and refated activities in swaps, options, forwards, exchange-traded
futures, other derivatives, commodities and foreign exchange products;

Securities clearance, settlement financing serviess and prime brokerage;

Private equity and other principal investing activities;

-

Proprietary trading of securities, derivatives and loans;

Banking, trust and lending services, including deposit taking, consumer and commercial lending,
including mortgage }oans, and refated services;

Insuramce and annuities sales and annuity underwriting services; and

.

Research across the foliowing disciplines: global equity strategy and economics, global fixed income
and equity-linked research, global fundamental equity research and global wealth management
Strategy.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE SHARES OF THE BANK

The following is a summary of ceriain information conceming the shares of the Bank and certain
provisions of the By-Laws of the Bank and of Hungarian law in gffect as at the date of this Prospectus. The
Jollowing information should be read in conjunction with and is qualified in its entivety by the By-Laws of the
Bant, the Engiish language rranslation of which It incorporated by reference in this Prmpec!m and can be
obtained as deicribed under "Documents Incorporated by Reference” above.

Type and class of the shares of the Bank

The registered share capital of the Bank is equal to HUF 28,000,001,000, divided into 280,000,000
ordinary shares with a nominal vaiue of HUF 100 each (“Ordinary Shares™) and one golden share. The
golden share is owned by the Hungarian State.

Legislation under which the shares of the Bank have been created

The shares of the Bank were created in accordance with the provisions of the Act CXLIV of 1997 (the
“Companies Act™), the Banking Act and Act CXX of 2001 (the “Capital Markets Act™).

Form of the shares of the Bank

All of the shares of the Bank are in registered, dematerialised form, validly issued and fully paid up
with perpetual duration, The dematerialissd security is an aggregate of slectronic information ersated,
recerded, transmitted and registered in an electronic format, identifiably coniazining all material
information relating to the shares, as defined in the Capital Markets Act and in other specific fegislation.
The shares are reprasented by a single global share certificate issued by the Bank and deposited by it in the
Central Clearing House and Common Depository (Budapest) Rt, (“KELER™), the central Hungarian
depositary and clearing system, Interests in the shares are credited by KELER to the securities accounts of
the holders thereof,

In addition, records relating to the Bank's Shares are kept at the seat of the Bank (1051 Budapest,
Nédor u. 16, Hungary).

Currenicy of the shares of the Bank
The shares of the Bank are dencminated in Hungarian forints (HUF).

Description of the rights attaching te the shares of the Bank
Dividend rights

Holders of the shares of the Bank are entitled to dividends, to the extent deciared by the General
Meeting, in proportion to their shareholding.

Payment of dividends will be made within 60 days of the adopticn by the General Meeting of the
resolution approving payment of the dividend. The date of this resolution shall precede the record date of
the dividend payment by at least 20 business days. No dividend wilf be payable unless the shareholder
claims the dividend payment within five years of the date when the payment of dividends originally became
due.

No payment will be made if ownershlp of the shares is in breack of the provisicns of the Banking Act,
which shall be determined by the Bank prior o paying dividends. In addition, no payment will be made to a
shareholtder who is not registered in the Share Register of the Bank. With regard to the Bank’s shares
listed on the Budapest Stock Exchange, the Bank will also require ownership identification from KELER
or the relevant custodian prior to the first payment of dividends. If the Bank fails to pay a dividend within
eight days from the receipt of a claim for such payment, the shareholder will be entitled to interest on such
overdue payment. There ate ne special provisions in respect of payments of dividends to non-resident
shareholders.

The dividend payable is caleulated according to the Hungarian Accounting Aet {Act C of 2000) and
the Bank’s dividend policy. According to such policy, the dividend to be declared {as determined by the
Bank’s Board of Directors based on the results of the Bank each year) shall be adjusted to take account of
the dividend payable in respect of any shares which are considered “own shares” (treasury shares), as
evidenced in the share register, on the record date in respect of any dividend declared in respect of the
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preceding financial year. The Bank’s Board of Directors shall propose to the General Meeting payment of
such increased dividend which includes the dividend payable on the Bank’s own shares,

Voting rights

At the General Meeting the quorum is subject to the representation of the owner of the golden share
{currently the Hungarian State), and the approval of a resolution at a General Meeting is subject to the
owner of the gelden share voting in favour in the following cases: (i) decisions relating to any capital
increase (except for capital increases within the authority of the Board of Directors); {ii) alteration of the
rights attached to specific series of shares, or transformation of certain categories or classes of shares:
(iii} a decision on merging into another company, demerging or texminating the company limited by shares
without a fegal successor, or whether to transform the Bank into another corporate form; (iv) the election
or removal of the member of the Board of Directors and the member of the Supervisory Board
representing the owner of the golden share; and (v) except as defined in-the Companies Act, decisions on
the acquisition of equity shares, as well as on the approval of a public offer received for the purchase of
equity shares. These additional voting rights only remain attached to the golden share while such share is
awned by the Hungarian State. Save as provided in this paragraph, the owner of the golden share doss not
have any rights as a result of such ownesship in respect of the Bank which are material in the context of the
jssue and offering of the ICES.

Voting rights exercised directly or, as construed by the Banking Act, indirectly by foreign shareholders,
may not exceed 50 per cent. of the total voting rights tepresented by the shares carrying voting rights at a
- General Meeting. Voting rights exercised directly or indirectly by any individual shareholder may not
. exceed 25 per ceat. (or if another shareholder holds not less than 10 per cent. of the voting rights, the
voting rights exercisable by any one shareholder may not exceed 33 per cent.) of the tofal voting rights
represented by the shares carrying voting tights at a General Meeting.

Other righis
Other than the rights described above, there are no additional rights attached to the Ordinary Shares.

Listing of the Ordinary Shares
The Ordinacy Shares were admitted to Hsting on the Budapest Stock Exchange in 1595, In addition,

global depositary receipts (“GDRs”) traded offshore but representing Ordinary Shares are listed on the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange (in the ratio of one GDR: two Ordinary Shares),

Restrictions on the free transferability of the Ordinary Shares

- The Bank’s Deed of Foundation does not include any special transfer restrictions on the Ordinary
Shares. Hunparian law, however, in certain instances restricts the ttansfer of shares of Hunparjan
companies. Whenever title to the Ordinary Shares as dematerialised securities is conveyed, it must be
effected through the crediting and debiting of securities accounts. Furthermore, ownership rights attached
to the Ordinary Shares can only be exercised following the registration of the new owner into the Share
Register of the Bank.

Mandatory takeover bids, squeeze-out and sell-ont rules

Any acquisition of an interest in the Bank exceeding 33 per cent. will be subject to a public purchase
offer approved in advance by the HFSA. If there is no shareholder, other than the shareholder intending to
acguire an intersst in the Bank, who holds (either directly or indirectly) more than 10 per cent. of the
veting rights, the purchase offer must be made in respect of any acquisition of an interest in the Bank in
excess of 25 per cent.

The person (the “Bidder”) acquiring an interest in excess of 33 per cent. (or, as the case may be,
25 per cent.} is obliged to make a public purchase offer in respect of ali shares outstanding, The main rules
of such public purchase offer are the following:

* An authorised investment service provider (an “Offer Manager™) must bs commissioned to manage
the public purchase offer process.

* An offer document must be prepared containing, among other things, the terms and conditions of
the public purchase offer. The Bidder must present & report detailing its business activities

135




(““Business Report™) and a strategic plan concerning the potential acguisition of an interest in the
Banl (“Strategic Plan”}. The Offer Manager and the Bidder must sign a responsibility declaration
to the effect that the information in the Business Report is true and accurate and the Business
Report does not omit any substantial information necessary or desirable for the evaluation of the
Bidder and the public purchase offer and they are jointly and severally Hable for all losses caused by
misleading information or information not disclosed in the Business Report.

The offer price per share shall not be less than the price caleulated in accordance with the
provisions of the Capital Markets Act.

‘The Bidder must submit the offer document to the HFSA for approval, to the Board of Directors of
the Bank for notification, and shall simultaneously initiate its publication.

The acceptance period of the offer shall be at jeast 30 days, but no longer than 45 days. The offer
document, together with the annexes such as the Business Report and the Strategic Plan, must be
made available to sharehalders for inspection during the entire acceptance period.

Untit the 15th day prior to the closing day of the acceptance period, any third party may make a
counter offer. The rules of the public purchase offer will appiy equally to any counter offer. The
price offered in the counter offer must be at least 5 per cent, higher than the previous offer price. A
further counter offer may be made excesding the original counter offer If the price offered by such
new counter offer is af least 5 per cent. higher than the offer price in the previous counter offer,

.

-

If & counter offer is submitted, the previous offer or previous counter offer, and the acceptances in
respect of such prior offer, automatically lapse.

In case of a public purchase offer, the Bidder must puzrchase all shares offered, unless the interest to
be acquired by the Bidder in the Bank would be less than 50 per cent. pursuant to the declarations
of acceptance, and the purchase offer contains a clanse of rescission for this case,

Prior to January 2006, the Capital Markets Act also included provisions under which if, after the
public purchase offer is completed, the Bidder holds more than 90 per cent. of the voting rights, and
it has paid the purchase price to the shareholders, the Bidder has an option to purchase the
remaining shares of the Bank within 30 days of the publication of the announcement in relation to
the sesult of the offer,

Furthermore, previous provisions included that if, afier the public purchase offer is completed, a
shareholder had acquired mere than 90 per cent, of the voting rights, it is obliged to purchase the
outstanding shares at the request of the holder of those shares if such request is made within 3¢ days
of the publication of the 2nnouncement in relation to the result of the offer. The price of those shares
must be the highest of (3) the offer price; or (i) the equity per share. The zbove provisions were
deleted from the currently effective legislation, but new takeover rules will only be applicable as of
May 2006, Plans are, however, being considered to reinsert the deleted provisions through an
amendment of the Capital Markets Act for the interim period of time.

If the interest is acquired other than in accordance with the Bank's By-Laws and Hungarian law,
shareholders” rights in the Bank canmot be exercised. The HFSA is entitled to suspend both ownership
rights and sharehclders' rights if a person fails to meet such requirements. If a person does not make a
public purchase offer although obiiged to do so, it must selt all of the shares acquired in contravention of
the public purchase offer rules within 60 days of (I} the acquisition of the shares or (i) the date of the
HFS8AS resolution notifying such person about the public purchase offer. Furthermore, the HESA also has
the power to fine investors and companies acting in violation of the public purchase offer rules described
above,

Sharzholders’ rights in the Banlk on the basis of shares which are not affected by the selling obligation
may be exercised only after the sale of the shares subject to such obligation.
Takeover bids

‘There has been no public takeover bid during the last and the current financlal year in respect of the
Ordinary Shares.

136



Impact on the Bank of the sale of Ordinary Shares and the potential dilution of its current
shareholders

The saie of the Qrdinary Shares by the Bank to the Issuet on or before the Closing Date pursuant to
the provisions of the Subordinated Swap Agreement will not result in the dilution of the Bank’s current
shareholders. However, dilution will accur if and to the extent of any exercise of Fxchange Rights on the
ICES and Ordinary Shares are delivered to ICES Hoiders in connection therewith (sxcept to the extent
that a Relevant Event occurs, no such exchange is possible before 31 October 2011).

Dividends per Ordinary Share

The following table provides details in respect of the dividends paid per Ordinary Share for the
periods indicated:

Dividend per Ordinary Share
Paynent Datet! HUF

12 0une 2002 L. u e e 27.30
151 U ' e
12 June 2004 L e e 64.16
B3 Tune 2008 L e e 156,50
12June 2006 & .ot e e e s e e 210,69
Notes:

(1) Dividends paid on the dates stated in the table above were payable in respect of the preceding
financial year.

{2) OTP did not pay a dividend in 2003, in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2002.
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THE HUNGARIAN BANKING SYSTEM

Structure

The Republic of Hungary has one of the most developed financial systerns among Central and Eastern
European countries, Under Act CXII of 1996 on credit institutions and financial enterprises {the “Credit
Institations Act” ), banks, specialised credit institutions or co-operative credit institutions may act as credit
institutions. As the Republic of Hungary has a *universal banking system”, in addition to providing
financial and banking services, Hungarian credit institutions are aliowed to carry out investment services.
The provision of investment services by credit institwtions is regulated by Act CXX of 2001 on the capital
markets (the “Capital Maskets Act”), Among the three types of credit institutions only banks are entitied
to provide the full range of banking and investment services.

EU membership

Thie Republic of Hungary became a member of the European Union (the “EU™) on 1 May 2004,
Membership of the EU has resulted in the Republic of Hungary adopting and implementing varions EU
directives, Changes have therefore been made to Hungarian banidng Jaw and accounting rules in order to
harmonise them with EU directives, EU accession has greatly enhanced the international integration of
the domestic money market and has strengthened the close relationship between credit institutions and
thelr foreign parent banks, the mujority of Hungarian banks being ownad by forsign credit institutions,

Legal and institutional environment and supervision

The legal framework of the present banking system is based on the Credit Institutions Act and the
Capital Markets Act and deerees of the Minister of Finance and the government of the Repubfic of
Hungary (the “Covernment”). Regulation of the Hungarian banking system is generally in line with the
relevant EXJ banking standards.

The Credit Institutions Act contains the regulatory framework for most of the essential regulations in
respect of financial undertakings and credit institutions. Banks are classified as credit institations. The
Credit Institutions Act imposes various requirements, restrictions and regulations on credit institutions,
including, inter alia, reporting and liquidity requirements, restrictions on Investments, limits on exposure,
regulations regarding internal controls and internal audits, deposit guarantees, money laundering, capital
adequacy Tequirements and customer protection,

Since 1991, the Republic of Hungary's banking system has been subject to a regulatory and
supervisory framewerk based on the principles and guidelines of the Bank for International Settlements
(HBIS”)'

Supervision of the Hungarion banking system

Since 1 April 2600, supervision of the banking sector has been cartied out by the Hungarian Financial
Supervisory Authority (the “HIFSA™), which is the successor of the Hungarian Banking and Capital Market
Supervisory Authority, the State Insurance Supervisory Authority and the State Pension Fund Supervisory
Authority. The HFSAs establishment, status and activity are regulated by Act CXXIV of 1999 on the
Hungarian Financial Supervisory Authority,

The HFSA s an administrative agency of the Government and bas national jurisdiction. It Is headed
by a council consisting of up to five members and it is managed by the director. The chaimman of the
council is elected by the Hungarian Parliament and the director and deputy directors are appointed by the
Prime Minister of the Republic of Hungary. The chairman of the council reports directly to the Minister of
Finance.

The HESAs wide ranging powers under the Credit Institutions Act and the Capital Markets Act
include the licensing and supervision of the operation of credit institutions. Supervision of bankiag
activities in the Republic of Hungary has strengthened as the banking system has developed. Bank
supervisory responsibilities have largely been transferred to the HFSA, with the National Bank of Hungary
(“NBH”) retaining a more Emited supervisory role (manly related to the circulation of currency).

As of 1 January 2006, the supervisory role of the HFSA has been harmonised with the relevant
EU Directives on insider dealing and market manipulation.
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The role of the NBH

Act TVTIT 0f 2001 on the National Bank of Hungary tegulates the NBH and its current position in the
systera of Eurapean Central Banks.

Although the NBH has no legat obligation to support Hungary's credit institutions, it may serve as a
lender of last resort to a‘credit institution if the credit jastitution faces temporary liquidity difficulsies.
However, the NBH is not permitted to grant any financial aid to the Government. Any loans granted by
the NBH in its capacity as lender of last resort to Hungary's credit institutions qualify as general unsecured
obligations of the credit institutions conceraed.

The NBH reviews reports filed by banks and maintains a publicly available database on the Hungarian
banking system. Furthermore, it continnously evaluates the status and publishes information regarding the
financial position and condition of Hungarian credit institutions and of the Republic of Hungary itself, The
NBH also monitors compliance of credit institutions with the provisions of the Credit Institutions Act and
the decrees issued by the governor of the NBH.

The European Central Bank and the NBH

The Republic of Hungary expects to become a member of, and to participate in, the Economic and
Monetaty Union (“EMU™} by 2010, at which point the value of the Hungarian forint against the eura wil]
be irrevocably fixed, aithough certain financial analysts have expressed their doubts coneerning the ahove
date. Prior to foining the EMU, the Republic of Hungary will accede to the ERM-TT system.

The Republic of Hungary is presently at the second stage of monetary integration, therefore, it still
retains the discretion to set its own monetdry policy. Nevertheless, pussuant to the treaty of Maastricht, it is
bound to foilow a strategy of convergence. The governor of the NBH is a rmember of the Goveming
Council of the European Central Bank.

The role of the HESA

A credit institution must obtain a licence from the HFSA before it Is allowed, among other things, to
become established, commence operations, establish a representative office or a subsidiary abroad, elect its .
managerent, acquire shares of a nop-resident entity representing a qualifying holding or terminate its
operations.

The HFSA monitors compliance with the Credit Institutions Act and Capital Markets Act and other
relevant legislation and regulations applicable to Hungarian banks and other financial mstitutions,

The HFSA is entitled to impose various sanctions or: credit institutions, including issuing warnings of
. non-compliance, withdrawing of licences, instituting liquidation proceedings and imposing fines on credit
institutions and their managers.
Hungarian banking regulations and regulatory provisions regarding the lieensing and supervision of
Hungarian branches of credit institutions registered in another member state of the European Econonic
-Area are in accordance with the relevant EU Directives.

Banking regulations
Main features

The Credit Institutions Act and the Capital Markets Act set out the regulatory framework for the
Hungarian banking system. Specific rules not regulated in detail under these Acts are set out in

Government decrees or decrees issued by the Minister of Finance. The HFSA does not have the power ta
issue regulatory decrees, or any other legatly binding regulation.

Capital adeguacy

According to the Credit Institutions Act and in line with European regulations, banks mugt have a
registered capital of at least HUF 2 billion (approximately EUR 8§ million). The amount of a credit
institution’s equity may not be less than the minjmum amount of its registered capital. If the amount of a
credit institution’s equity falls below the registered capital, the HFSA will give the credit institution a
maxmum of 18 months to bring its equity to the required level.
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In order to maintain solvency and its ability to satisfy its liabilities, a credit institution must at all times
have own funds equal to the amount of the risk of the financial and nvestment activities it performs, and
its own funds may not be less in any event than the minimurs amount of its registered capital.

Trading book

In order to ascertain a credit institution’s capital requirements, a trading book must be kept {c tecord
the investment instruments in the trading portfolic that are exposed to the market risks fundamentally
connected with investrnent and financial services and the risks undertaken in connection with these.

General reserves

A credit institution mast create general reserves from its after-tax profits prior to paying dividends or
sharing respectively to offset the losses incurred during its activities, A credit institution must place 10 per
cent. of its annual after-tax profits into the general reserve. (Upon request, a credit institution may be
exempted by HFSA from the obligation to create general reserves if its solvency ratio is above 12 per cent,
and it has no negalive profit reserves.)

Solvency ratio

Pursuant to its authority under the Credit Institutions Act, the Minister of Finance has issved Decree
No, 23/2003 (X.3.) on the calculation of the solvency ratio on a consolidated basis (the “Decree”), The
Credit Institutions Act and the Decree adopts the standards of the BIS, whick prescribes that the ratio of a
bank’s own funds and sach bank’s risk-weighted assets (on- and off-balance sheet items) may not be less
than 8 per cent, In addition, the Minister of Finance has issued decrees requiring credit institutions to
ereate provisions based both on the quality of their assets (which includes loans, investments and
off-halance sheet items) and on certain foreign country risks present in their assets.

Owan funds

The own funds of a credit institution consist of core, ancillary and supplementary capital {in
accordance with the BIS standards),

As of 1 January 2606, core capital has been supplemented by 2 new component called core loan
capital (alapvetd kdleséntoke) (Tier 1), A loan is considered as core loan capital if it satisfies all of the
following requirements: (i) it is actually available and immediately accessible to the vser credit institution
without any legal dispute or senifority requirement and is shown in the balance sheet of the user credit
institution; (i) the agreement providing the foan includes the lender's agreement that the toan provided by
it may be used for settling the credit institution’s debts and the lender’s claim must be in the last place
immediately preceding the claim of the shareholders; (ifi) the term of the loan {including debt securities) is
indefinite and may only be terminated with the approval of the HFSA; (iv) repayment of the principal is
nat possible prior to the termination date stipulated in the agresment, except if so approved by the HFSA;
{¥) the loan agreement or the agreement for the sale of the securitiss does not contain any clause that
would increase the interest and other payment obligations, except for the case of floating rate interest as 2
resuit of the increase of the reference rate; (vi} interest or any other payment uader the loan (except
repayment of principal) may only be made from the credit institution’s after tax profits, as specified in the
credit institution’s annual report for the respective business year and completed with the credit institution’s
available retained eamings, subsequent to the credit institution’s recording of its general reserves but
preceding the payment of any dividends; (vif} if in the respective year it is not possible to make any inferest
or any other payments pursuant to the rules set out in (vi} above, the lender may not claim such unpaid
amount in the foliowing years; (viii) if the credit institution does not fulfif any of its payment obligations
under the loan agreement, the lender may not initiate the credit institution’s Hquidation for this reason;
and (ix) the lender of the loan does not have any set-off rights against the borrower in connection with the
loan.

As of 1 January 206, a new component has been incorporated into the ancillary capital elements by
the amendment of the Credit Institutions Act. This new component is called ancillary loan capital
(farulékos kdlcsdnidke) {Upper Tier 2).

A loan is considered as anciltary loan capital if it satisfies the following Tequirements; (a) it fulfils all
the requirements set forth for core loan capital with the exception of point {vii) 25 set out above; and (b) if,
pursuant to point (vi) above, in any financial year any interest or other payments cannot be made, the




lender may only claim in the following years this overdue and unpaid amount if the payment is possible in
accordance with point (vi) above. The lender cannot claim any default interest in respect of this overdue
and unpaid amount.

Subordinated loan capital (afdrendeit kélesdntoke) (Lower Tier 2) also gualifies as part of the ancillary
capital of credit institutions, A loan is only considered as subordinated loan capital if it satisfies all of the
following requirements: (i) it is actually evailable and immediately accessible to the user credit institution
without any legal dispute or seniority requirement aad is shown in the balance sheet of the user credit
institution; {ii) the agreement for providing the subordinated ican capital includes the tender’s agreement
that the loan provided by it may be used for settling the credit institution’s debts and the lender’s claim
raust be in the last place irmmediately preceding the claim of the sharekolders; {ifi) the originat tertn of the
Toan (inclading debt securities) exceeds five years and it may only be repaid after a minimum of five years
or, if the loan is for an indefinite term, it may only be repaid on a date stipulated in the agresment, which
must be at least five years after the termination of the agreement, unless the HIFSA authorises an earlier
tepayment; {iv) the loan agreement or the agreement for the sale of the securities does ot contain any
clause that would increase the interest and other payment obligations, except for the case of floating rate
interest as a result of the increase of the reference rate; (v) unless it is authorised by HFSA, no repayment
of principai may be made prior to the original maturity date or the notice period stipulated in the
agresment; and (vi) the lender does not have any set-off rights against the borrower in connection with the
subordinated foan capitat,

Risk provisions

Pursuant to its authority ender the Credit Institutions Act, the Minister of Finance issued Decree
No. 14/2001 (X11.9.) on asset-ranking of credit institutions. Pursaant to this decree, portfolio risk provisions
are caleulated by ranking the assets of a credit institution into the following catepoties: standard, watch,
substandard, doubtful and bad. Assets are placed in the categories based on the performance of the asset
and the financial condition of the debtor. Provisions are made based on the agset category as follows: 0 per
cent. for standard assets, 0 per cent, to 10 per cent. for watch assets, 11 per cent. to 30 per cent, for
substandard assets, 31 per cent, to 70 per cent, for doubtfu} assets and 71 per cent. to 100 per cent, for bad
assets.

The value of any collateral held against an asset may be offset against the need to make provisions.
The decree requiring provisions does not provide guidelines on the extent to which collateral may be used
for this purpose. Individual banks, in co-operation with their auditors, are required to create their own
guidelines.

Country risk provisions are determined by using a table that sets out the amount of provision
required, based on the nationalities of the debtors in a credit institution’s portfolio. Decree No. 16/2001
(1119} of the Minister of Finance also provides absohute limits on the proportion of a credit institution’s
total assets that may be held in respect of a particular country.

[n 2001, the Republic of Hungary harmonised its guidelines on capital adequacy requirements for
investment firms and credit institutions with Council Directive 93/6/EEC.

Limitations or tronsections

The Credit Institutions Act also contains limits on large exposures and the exposures related to
acquisition of ownership, as well as real estate and other sorts of investment restrictions.

Deposit Insurance Fund

Hungarian law requires that any bank that accepts deposits must jon the mandatory Deposit
Insurance Fund (Orszdgos Betétbiztosiasi Alap). Simultaneously upon submitting an zpplication for
authorisation to engage in deposit-taking activities, the credit institutien must also send a declaration on
joining the deposit insurance funs and attach a copy of such declaration to the application for authosisation
to perform business activities. If a credit institution fails to make its due payments to the fund, it may lose
its licence to conduct deposit-taking business in the Republic of Hungaty.

Payraents made by the deposit insurance fund to restore guaranteed deposits are met by contributions
from each member credit institution. The deposit insurance fund pays compensation to persons entitled to
benefit from principal and interest on frozen deposits up to a maximum amount of HUF 4 million
{approximately EUR 24,000) per person and per credit institution,
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Recent amendments to the Credit Institutions Act modified the role of the Deposit Insurance Fund,
The amendment has abolished its function to help credi? institutions 1o overcome a financial crisis, This
task is transferred to the strategic investors of a credit institation. However, the Deposit Insurance Fund
remains to fulfil its pay-box function by collecting contributions from its members and providing
compensation for account holders. Further, certain tasks regarding the supervision of the due payment of
the membership contributions from the credit institutions has been taken over by the HFSA,

Further recert developmenes in the Hungarian banking regulation

As of 1 January 2606, Hungary has implemented Commission Directive 2003/6/EC on insider dealing
and market manipalation and Commission Directive 2004/72/EC implementing directive 2003/6/EC as
regards accepted market practices, the definition of insider information in relatien to derivatives and
commodities, the drawing up of lists of insiders, the notification of manager’s transactions and the
notification of suspicious {ransactions.

In the framework of the harmonisaticn of the financial regulatory system, the Credit Institutions Act
was amended by new rules regarding the Hungarian central credit information system, As a result, the new
rules aim to broaden the rights of individuals to receive information from the database on their registered
data and to seek legal redress in case of incorrectly or unlawfully registered personal data.

The amendment to the regulation on the Hungarian central credit information system has enfarged
the scope of persens that are subject to registration therewith, in this way enhancing the safety of
investment credit and securities lending activities and financial stability,

On the basis of the recommendations of the European Central Bank, the current financial laws
amendment have separated the central depositary and the clearing house functions of KELER Zrt, (the
Hungarian central depositary znd clearing house). Fucther, z new task is also undertaken by KELER Zrt.,
namely that it will also act as Central Ceunter Party (CCP) in respect of those transactions which it clears.

Financial Overview of the Hungarian Bonking Sector®™®

‘Banking Assets

The Hungarian banking sector achieved a significant growth in 2005. As a result of the growth of
foreign currency lending, the growth rate of the consolidated total assets of the sector even exceeded the
previous year's solid performance. At the end of 2005, the consolidated total assets of the sector were
almost 18 per cent. above the preceding year's level

Main assets of the banking sector (HUF billion)

Description Deoc 2063 Dec 2084 Dec 2005
TOLAl H85ES | . o v i u e e e e 12,860.7 149119 17,565.9
HUE 885818 .o oot r et a et ey e e s 8703.8 99078 10,8258
B as5ts ottt e e e e e 4,156.9 50041  6,740.1
Of that: cash and COrrent acCOUNMS . vttt ie ey i nnn s 452.2 T25.8 696,9
SO HES o et e e e e e e 2,155.0  2,0899 21850
Central bank and interbank deposits , ..., ... .00 veie. .. 1,286.8 16139 2,179.4
Of that: central bank deposits . ., ., .. ovovt v irreneyeennnn. 423.9 5410 1,290.7
L T 8,124.9 94826 11,3691
Of that; corporate loams (et} .. ... ..., iy e 39558 45135 51402
retail loans et} . ... o e 19702 2,5584 33182

A5 a result of the upswing of foreign currency lending, almost oné-third of the households’ bank loans
and almost half of the businesses’ loans were denominated in foreign currencies at the end of 2003,
compared to the figures of less than 4 per cent. and 41 per cent. respectively at the end of 2003, A
constantly growing part of the sector’s assets, foreign currency denominated foans formed almost 40 per
cent, of fotal assets at the end of 2005, Borrowers are mainly exposed to the foreign exchange and
interest-rate Tisks that are part of foreign currency borrowing, In response, the HFSA wamed retail
customers of these potential risks by a series of consumer protection measures ang of the importance of a

{11) The figures about the banking sector are based on the “Flash Report on the Development of the
Financial Sector in 2005” by the Hungarian Financial Supervisory Authority,
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prudent approach of berrowing after gathering adequate information through press conferences, the
HEFSA's website or a credit caleulator.
Banking Liabilities

At more than 43 per cent. per year, the extraordinary growth of foreign liabilities made the expansion

" of such activities possible. Already, more than one-fifth of the sector’s liabilities are from abroad, The
growth rate of foreign currency labilities was almost three times more than in the preceding year.

Main liabilities of the banking sector (HUF billion)

Deseription Dic 26063 Dec 2064 Dac 2005
Total Habilities ... ... .. e e 12,8607 14,9119 17,5659
HUF Habiliies .o o ov o i o it i siiene i ciiennaann, 92689 10,8158 12,8155
EX Habilities ..o . i e i e e 3,591.8 40961 55505
of that Foreign liabilities . ..., ...t i ittt s 22774 28477 4,0007
Domesticdeposits . ... i e e 6,729.1 74068 R,230.5
Domestic interbank funds and credlts ....................... 9596 11,2345 11113
Domestic securities liabilities in domestic hands . .. .. ........... 1,368 1,i368 1,165.5
of that Mortgage Bonds .. ..ot i e 9220 1,0060 11,0209
OWR GaPHAL L 4o v it e e s e e e e L0711 1,2623  1,5253

The increasing weight of foreign liabilities inevitably results in the diminishing of the role of domestic
liabilities. The weight of domestic customer deposits, interbank deposits and securities also decreased,

Profitability of the Banking Sector

The dynamic growth of the sector was coupted with the 20.4 per cent. increase in pre-tax profits. The
consolidated pre-tax profits of the sector reached HUF 387.6 billion. Only two small banks did not share in
the generally high level of profitability that characterised the sector -their aggregate loss amounted to
HUF 433 milfion.

Key profit ifems of the banking sector (FHIUF billion)

Description 2003 2004 2008
Toterest MCOME . . .o o vttt e e e e 10497 14389 13881
Interest expenditure . ... ... . L e e i 597.1  B8R3  7AdT
Profit from Inferest . ..o e e e e 4526 5496 6234
Profit from other than interest ... ... iiai i e aia, 1455 1901 2270
of that Commission iNCOME & . v vv vt rviin ey iancunruans PP 168.8  181.0 2078
Dividends ....... P 21.7 191 16.8
Profit from FX trade and exchange gain .. ... vi i iiineniinnan 548 890 350
Income from other than dnterest .. .. v iiieer v v iinns (99.8y  (99.0) (366}
of that Net toss of value and provision creation, . .. ... .ivvueiiiony (83.7) (8L3) (69.9)
OVEEHBADS & ottt it it e e e a et 3897 4179 4653
Extraerdinery profit ... i i 37 0.2 2.5
Pre-tax profit .. ... o it i e e e, 2122 3220 3876
After tax profit .. .. ... e et e ey 1744 2751 3196

Despite declining interest rates, banks maintained their profitability, which was significant compared
to international standards. Exceeding last year’s figure, the average return on assets (ROA) lagged 2 per
cent. and while the return on equity (ROE) remained slightly behind the 2004 value, it was still high
(22.67 per cent.),

The maintenance of interest margin, the improvement of operating efficiency, the relative reduction
of the expenditures on net loss of value and the gverall inerease of non-interest revenue contributed to the
continued improvement of profitability,

Despite the significant decrease of the central bank base rate, the sector managed to keep the level of
interest margin. Together with the declining interest rate trend, interest received and interest paid on assets
fell almost by the same percentage point compared to the previous year—by 1.64 and 1.60 percentage
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points, thus, the interest margin (the difference between the two) did not decrease much—it dropped from
3,94 per cent. in 2004 to 3,89 per cent.,

Quality of the Banking Portfolio

While classifiable items on the balance sheet grew by 15.7 per cent, {an increase of HUF 1,871 billion)
and off-balance sheet iterns increased by almaost 32 per cent. {an increase of HUF 2,777 billion) compared
to the end of the preceding year, the gualified portfolio’s share in the balance sheet grew by only 10 per
cent, Moreover, the qualified portfolio has decreased among the off-balance sheet items by close 1o 24 per
cent. Therefore, the overail gnality of the balance sheet and off-balance sheet items improved.

Cowmposition of the bank sector’s toal classifialle poertfolio (per cent.}

Performing Watch Hsted Qualified

Deg Dec Der Dag Dec Dec Dec Dec  Dee
Descripion 2003, ;64 2008 303 2004 2005 2003 2004 2005
Total balance sheet items .. ...... 8070 9257 8B40 626 457 888 305 285 271
Credit institntions” placements . ... 9847 8975 9212 1200 022 783 033 003 005
Corporate loans .. .o v v vvvn v as 8522 8876 8308 1114 733 1357 3.64 391 3.35
Houschold loans . ............. 9494 9442 9231 264 37 518 242 241 231
Foreign placements ............ 8276 8115 7613 1426 1592 2021 297 293 3.66
Off-balancs sheet items total . . . . ., 9754 9775 9591 215 161 372 032 0462 037

Total chassifiable .............. 9389 9479 9185 434 331 651 177 190 164

At the same time, it is worth noting that the proportion of the watch listed portfolio has almost
doubled since the end of the preceding year. In the case of the off-balance sheet items, it approached
¢ per cent., while in the case of off-balance sheet items, it reached 3.7 per cent. at the end of 2005, In
particular, a few major banks have a rise of corporate loans in the waich listed portfolio. This rise may on
the one hand be a reflection of the banks' conservatism and the development of risk management
techniques as a resnlt of Base! II, but on the other hand, it may also be attributed to the financial
difficulties of large companies.

Capital Adequacy

The sector’s overall capital adequacy remaived satisfactory. The balance sheet profit generated in
2005 favoured the regulatory capital required to cover the risks. Even if the absence of audits means the
improvernent in regalatory capital for most of the banks this improvement is not reflected in the
preliminary year-end solvency ratios yet, instead it wilt be reflected in the actual audited figures. The
2005 year-cnd consolidated regulatory capital of the sector includes only positive audited balance sheet
resuits for four banks, thus, the consolidated solvency ratio of the sector was 10.96 per cent. at the end of
2005. As the activities increased, the solvency ratio fell slightly compared to the end of 2004,

The bank sector’s solvency ratio (per cent.)

Dec 2003 Dee 2004 Dec 2004 Dec 2005
All bank’s  Six ban¥'s Al banks’  Four banks'

audited andited audited audited

Deseription Tesulis resuits resulty Tesults
Regulatory capital partly excluding positive balance shest

profits in case of not audited figures {billion HUF) ,... 10182 11142 12352 12393
Regulatory capital calculated with balance sheet profit

{billion HUF) {not audited figures are estimates) . ,... 16182 1180.8 12352 13433
Risk weighted total assets (billion HUF) ............, 83080 96385 96456  11303.4
Solvercy indicator with reguiatory capital partly excluding

positive balance sheet profits (%) - ................ 12.26 11.56 12.81 1096

Seivency ratio with regulatory capital calculated with
balance sheet profit (billion HUF) (not avdited fgures
Are SSHMmAtes) . ..y e e e e 12,26 12.25 12.81 11.88
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TAXATION
Luxembourg

Prospective purchasers of the ICES are advised to consult their own tax advisers as to the consequences of
a purchase of the ICES under the tax laws of the country of which they are residents, including, but not limited
fo, the consequences of the receipt of interest and the sale of the ICES, The following is a general description of
eertain tax laws relating io the ICES as in effect and as applied by the relevant tax authorities on the date hereof
and does not purport to be a comprehensive discussion of the tax treatment of the ICES.

Luxembourg tax position of the Issuer

The Issuer is subject to the tax regime applicable in Luxembourg for securitisation vehicles as
implemented by the Securitisation Eaw.

Should the capital of the Issuer be increased, it wouid benefit from an exemption from Luxembourg
proportional capital duty and would only be subject to & fixed capital duty of EUR 1.25,

The Issuer is subject to Luxembourg income tax at the ordinaty corporate income tax rate (currently
20.63 per cent.). Its taxable basis may however be reduced to nit or close to nil by way of deduction of
interest paid to the YCES Holders and other deductible expenses {including dividends, if any, paid or
payable to its shareholders).

The Issuer is exernpt from Luxembourg net wealth tax,

The Issuer will, in principle, benefit from the double tax treaties coneluded by Luxembourg as a
Luxembourg resident company. It should however be verified when invoking a tax treaty whether the other
contracting state takes the same position under its interpretation of that tax treaty.

Luxembourg tax position of the ICES Holders

An ICES Holder will not become resident, or be deemed to be resident, in Luxembourg by reason
only of the holding of the ICES, or the execution, performance, delivery, exchange and/or enforcement of
the ICES.

Withholding tax on interest

Under Luxembourg tax law currently in effect, and with the possible exception of interest paid to
individual ICES Holders, there is no Luwembourg withholding tax on payments of interest (including
accrued but unpaid interest). There is also no Luxembourg withholding tax, with the possible exception of
payments made to individual ICES Holders, upon repayment of principal in the case of reimbursement,
redemption, repurchase or exchange of the ICES.

Luxembourg non-resident individuals

Under the Luxembourg laws dated 21 June 2005 implementing the Savings Directive and severai
agreements concluded between Luxembourg and certajn dependent territories of the European Union, a
Luxembourg based paying agent (within the meaning of the Savings Directive} has been required since
1 July 2005 to withhold tax on interest and other similar income paid by it to (or under certain
circumstances, to the benefit of) an individual resident in another Member State, uniess the beneficiary of
the interest payments elects for an exchange of information, The same regime applies to payments to
individuals zesident in certain BU dependent territories,

The withholding tax rate is initially 15 per cent., increasing steadily to 20 per cent. and to 35 per cent,
The withholding tax system will only apply during a transitional period, the ending of which depends on the
conclusion of certain agreements relating to information exchange with certain third countries. See also
“Risk Factors Relating to the Suitability of the YCES~-EU Savings Directive”.

Liuxembourg resident individuals

A 10 per cent. withholding tax has been introduced, as from 1 January 2006, on interest payments
made by Luxembourg paying agents {as defined in the Savings Directive) to Luxembourg individual
residents. Only interest accrued after 1 July 2005 falls within the scope of the withbolding tax, This
withholding tax represents the final tax liability for Luxembourg individua? resident taxpayers,
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Taxation of Luxembourg non-residents

ICES Holders who are non-residents of Luxembourg and who have neither a permanent
establishment nor 2 fixed base of business in Luxembourg with which the holding of the ICES is connected
are not Liable to any Luxembourg income tax, whether they receive payments of principal or interest
(fncluding accried but unpaid interest), payments received upon the redemption of the ICES, or realise
capital gains on the sale or the exchange of any ICES.

Taxation of Luxembourg residents—General

Corporate ICES Holders who are residents of Luxerabourg, or non-resident ICES Holders who have
a permanent establishment in Luxembourg with which the holding of the ICES is connected, must, for
income tax purposes, include any interest received in their taxable income, They will not be liable for any
Luxembourg income tax on repayment of principal,

The 10 per cent. Luxembourg withholding tax (see “—Withholding tax on interest—Luxembourg
resident individuals” above) represents the final tax Hability for Luxembeurg individual resident taxpayers,

Luxembourg resident individuals

Luxembourg resident individual ICES Holders are not subjsct to taxation on capital gains upon the
disposal of the ICES, unless the disposal of the ICES precedes the acguisition of the ICES or the {CES are
disposed of within six months of the date of their acquisition, Upon redempticn or exchange of the ICES,
individual Luxembourg resident ICES Holders must however include the portion of the redemption or
exchange price corresponding to acerued but unpaid interest in their taxable income,

Luaxembourg resident companies

Luxembourg resident companies {socidtgs de capitaux) that hold ICES, or foreign entities of the same
type which have a permanent gstablishment in Luxembourg with which the holding of the ICES is
connected, must include in their taxable income the difference between the sale, exchange or redemption
price {including accrued but unpaid interest) and the lowar of the cost or book value of the ICES sold,
redeemed or exchanged, ’

Luxembourg resident companies benefiting from a special fax regime

ICES Holders who are holding companies subject to the Luxembourg law of 31 July 1920 or
undertakings for coflective investment subject to the Luxembourg law of 30 March 1988 or the
Luxembourg law of 20 December 2002 are tax exempt entities in Luxembourg, and are thus not subject to
any Luxermbourg tax (including corporate income tax, municipal business tax and net wealth tax) other
than the subscription tax caloulated on their share capital or net asset value,

Net Wealth Tax

Luxembourg net wealth tax will not be levied on an ICES Holder, unless (i) such ICES Helder is a
Luxembourg corporate resident or (ii} the ICES are attributable to an enterprise or part thereof which is
carried on in Luxembourg through a permanent establishment in Luxermbourg of the ICES Holder.

Net wealth tax has been abolished as from the year 2006 for individual ICES Holders.

Other Taxes

There is no Luxembourg registration tax, stamp duty or any other similar tax or duty payable in
Luxembourg by ICES Holders as a consequence of the issue of the ICES, nor will any of these taxes b
payzble as a consequence of a subsequent transfer, redemption or exchange of the FCES,

There is no Luxembourg value added tax (“VAT™) payable in tespect of payments in consideration for
the issue of the ICES or in respect of the paymert of intersst or ptincipal under the ICES or the transfer of
the ICES. Luxembourg VAT will, however, be payable in respect of fees charged for certain services
rendzred to the Issuer if (for Lrxembourg VAT purposes) such services are rendered or are deemed to be
rendered in Luxembourg, and an exemption from Luxembourg VAT does not apply with respect to sach
services. Under Luxembourg VAT law, fees for management services rendered to Luxembourg
securitisation companies are exempt from Luxembourg VAT
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No Luxembourg gift, estate or izheritance taxes are levied on the transfer of the ICES upon the death
of an ICES Holder in cases where the deceased was not a resident of Luxembourg for inheritance tax
purposes,

Hungary

. The following is a general discussion of certain Hungarian tax consequences (i) the receipt of interest and
the sale of the JCES by the ICES Holder and (1i) of the acquisition and ownership of the Ordinary Shares by
holders of Ordinary Shares (each such holder of Ordinary Shares referred to in this section as a “Shareholder”}
resident owside Flungary, It does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all tax considerations and, in
particular, does not consider any specific facts or circumstances that may apply to a particular ICES Holder or
Shareholder This summary is bosed on the laws of Hungary currently in force and as applied on the date of this
Prospectus, which are subject to change, possibly with revroactive effect.

Prospective ICES Holders and Shareholders are advised to consult their own tax advisers as to the tax
consequences of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of the 1CES and the Ordinary Shares, including
the effect of any state or local taxes, under the tax laws of Hungary and each country of which they are
tesidents,

Taxation of foreign resident ICES Holders on the receipt of interest and sale of ICES

As neither the recipients of the interest and sale proceeds, nor the lssuer is resident in Hungary, and
the Issuer wilt not have a permanent establishment in Hungary which the payment of the interest and sale
proceeds could be attributable to, the payment of interest to the ICES Holders and the receipt of the sale
procseds by the FCES Holders will not trigger any Hungarian tax implications as long as the holding of the
ICES by the ICES Holders is not attributable to a Hungarian permanent establishment of the ICES
Holders. ’

Taxation of foreign resident Shareholders other than individuals
Dividends

Foreign resident Shareholders other than individuals are exempt from Hungarian withholding tax on
dividends received in respect of the Ordinary Shares.

Capital gains

Provided that the shareholding is not attributable to @ Hongarian permanent establishment of the
Shareholder, any capital gains realised by 2 foreign resident Shareholder on the disposition of any
Ordinary Shares are not subject to tax in Hungary.

Transfer tax

‘The sale or other disposition of Ordinary Shares, as well as the purchase or receipt of Ordinary
Shares, are not subject to transfer taxes or stamp duties in Hungary.

Taxation of individual foreipn resident Shareholders
Dividends

Dividends distributed to foreign resident Shareholders that are individuals are taxable in Hungary by
withholding personal income tax. As long as the Ordinary Shares are listed on the Budapest Stock
Exchange or any other acknowledged (regulated) exchange of the BEuropean Union, the tax is withheld at a
rate of 10 per cent. on the amount of the dividend payable per Ordinary Share.

To the extent that dividends are paid to Sharcholdess who are entitled to the benefit of double tax
treaty entered into by Hungary, the amount of tax dus on the distribution of dividends may not exceed the
applicable rate prescribed for dividends in the relevant double tax treaty.

Capital gains )
Capital gains reatised by an individual foreign resident Shareholder on the disposition of any Ordinary
Shares are not subject to tax in Hungary.

Transfer tax
The sale or other disposition of Ordinary Shares, as well as the purchase or receipt of Ordinary
Shares, are not subject to transfer taxes or stamp duties in Hungary.

EU Directive on the Thxation of Savings Income

The EU has adopted a directive regarding the taxation of savings income, The directive requires
Member States to provide to the tax anthorities of other Member States details of payments of interest and
other simjlar income paid by a person to an individual in another Member State, except that Austria,
Belgium and Luxembourg will instead impose & withholding system for a transitional period unless during
such period they elect otherwise. A number of third countries and territories including Switzerland have
adopled similar measures to the EU directive.
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

Mezrifl Lynch International has pursuant to a Subscription Agreement dated as of 19 October 2006,
agreed with the Issuer and OTE, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, to subscribe the 1CES and
the Issuer kas agreed to issue such ICES to Merrill Lynch International on such basis.

The Issuer has agreed to pay to Merrill Lynch International a -combined management and
underwriting commission and selling concession and, at the sole discretion of OTP an incentive fee may
also be payable to Mexrill Lyach International. In addition, the Issuer has agread to reimburse Merrill
Lynch International for certain of its expenses in conmection with the issue of the ICES, The Subscription
Agreement entitles Merrill Lyneh International to termsinate it in certain circumstances prior to payment
being made to the Issuer.

OTP has agreed in the Subscription Agreement that, from 19 October 2006 to the date falling 50 days
after the Closing Date (both dates inclusive}, it has not and will not, and has procured and will procurs hat
no member of the Group has or will, without the prior written consent of Merrill Lynch International,
() directly or indirectly, issue, offer, pledge, sell, contract to issue or sell, issue or seil any option or
contract to purchase, purchase any optien or contract fo fssue or sell, grant any option, right or warrant to
purchase or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any Ordinary Shares or any securities
convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for Ordirary Shares or {if) enter into any swap or any other
agreement or any transaction that transfers, in whele or in part, divectly or indirectly, any of the economic
consequences of ownership of Ordinary Shares, whether any such swap or transaction described in i) or
(ii) above is to be settled by delivery of Ordinary Shares or other securities, in cash or otherwise. The
foregoing sentence shall not apply to (a) the issue of the ICES or the performance by OTP of its
obligations under the contracts entered into by it in connection therewith, () any transactions which have
already been publicly announced or any transaction relating to shares conducted privately between OTP
and a counter paty, (c) the exercise of any existing options in respect of Ordinary Shares or {d) parsvant
to the grant of options under any directors' or employees' share scheme. For the purposes of the sbove,
“Ordinary Shares” shall include participation certificates and any depositary or other receipt, instrument,
rights cr entitlement representing Ordinary Shares.

Bungary

The ICES may only be offered in the Republic of Hungary in compliance with the provisiens of Act
No. CXX 2001 on the capital markets {HCMA") and other laws and regulations governing the offer and
sale of securities in the Republic of Hungary, The ICES are not registered or otherwise autharised for
public offer under the HCMA. Accordingly, this Prospectus or any other marketing materials relating to
the ICES have not been approved and will not be filed for approval by the Hungarian Financial
Supervisory Authority (Pénziigyl Szervezetek Allami Feliigyelete). The recipients of this Prospectus and other
matketing materials in respect of the ICES kave been individually selected and identified before the offer
being made and are targeted exclusively on the basis of a private placement, Accordingly, the ICES may
net be, and are not being, offered or advertised publicly or offered similarly under the HCMA. This
Prospectus or any other marketing materials relating to the ICES may not be disclosed to any other
persons than the recipients to whom they are personally addressed.

Unifed States

- The ICES and the Ordinary Shares to be delivered upon exchange of the TCES have not been and will
not be registered under the Securities Act and, subject to certain exceptions, may not be offered or sold
within the United States. The ICES are being offered 2nd sold outside the United States in reliance on
Regulation S,

In addition, until 49 days after the commencement of the offering of the ICES, an offer or sale of the
ICES or the Ordinaty Shares to be delivered upon exchange of the ICES within the United States by any
dealer (whether or not participating in the offering) may violate the registration requirements of the
Securities Act,

United Kingdom
The Manager has represented, warranted and agreed that:

L. it has only communicated or caused to be cornmunicated and will only communicate or cause to
be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the
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rueaning of section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 {the "FSMA”)) received by
it in connection with the issue or sale of any ICES or Ordinary Shares in circumstancas in which
section 21(1) of the FSMA does niot apply to the Issuer or O'TP; and ;

2. it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to
anything done by it in relation to the ICES andfor the Ordinary Shares in, from or otherwise
involving the United Kingdom,

Italy

The offering of the ICES has not been registered with the Commissione Nazionale per la Societd ¢ I
Borsa (“CONSOB”) (the Italian securities and exchange commission) pursuant to the Italian securities
legislation and, accordingly the Manager has represented and agreed that it has not offered, sold or
distributed any ICES nor distributed any copies of this document relating to the ICES, and will not offer,
sell or distribitte the ICES nor distribute any copies of this document or any other document relating to the
ICES in the Republic of Italy {“Italy”) in a public solicitation {soilecitazione allinvestimento) within the
meatling of Article 1, paragraph 1, ietter (£) of Legislative Decree no. 58 of 24th February, 1998 (the
“Financial Services Act™), unless an exempticn applies. Accordingly, the sales of the TCES in Ttaly shall
only be offered or sold:

() to professional investots (operatori gualificati), as defined in Article 31, second paragraph of
CONSOB Regulation No 11522 of Ist Jaly, 1998 {thc “Professiona Investors”), as amended, or

(i} in other circumstances which are exempted from the rules on publie solicitations pursuant to
Aticle 100 of the Financial Services Act and Article 33, first paragraph, of CONSOB Regulation
No 11971 of 14th May, 1999 (as amended},

provided that in any case the JCES cannot be offered, sold or distributed, either in the primary or in the
secondary market, to any individuals in Italy.

Moreover and subject to the faregoing, the Manager has represented and agreed that the ICES taay
not be offered, sold or defivered and aeither this document nor any other material relating to the ICES
may be distributed or made available in Ialy unless such offer, sale or delivery of iCES or distribution or
availability of copies of this document ot any other material relating to the ICES in Italy is made:

(2) by investment firms, banks or financial intermediaries permitted to conduct such activities in Ttaly
in accordance with the Financial Services Act and Legistative Decres No 385 of 1st September,
1993 (the “Italian Banking Act”); and

(b} in compliance with Article 129 of the Italizn Banking Act and the implementing instructions of
the Bank of Kaly, pursuant to which the issue, trading or placement of securities (e.g., bonds) in
ltaly is subject to prior and subsequent notification to the Bank of Italy, unless an exemption,
depending inter alia on the amount of the issue and the characteristics of the securities, applies,
and

(¢} in compliance with all relevant Italian securities, tax and exchange control and other applicable
faws and regulations and any other applicable requirement or Hmitation which may be imposed
from time to time by CONSOB or the Bank of Italy,

Insofar as the requirements above are based on laws which are superseded at any time pursuant to the
Prospecius Directive, such requirements shall be replaced by the applicable requirements under the
Prospectus Directive or the relevant implementing laws.

General

. No action has been or will be takea in any jutisdiction by the Issuer, OFP or the Manager that would
permit a public offering of the ICES or any Ordinary Shares, or possession or distribution of this
Prospectus or any other offering or publicity material relating to the ICES and/or the Ordinary Shares, in
any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required, Accordingly, the Manager has agreed
that it will {to the best of its knowledge and belief) comply with alt applicable securities laws and
Tégutations in force in any jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers ICES or any Ordinary
Shares or possesses ot distributes this Prospectus and will obtain any consent, approval or permission
(including as 1o listing) required by it for the purchase, offer, sale or delivery by it of ICES or any Ordinary
Shares under the laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction to which it is subject or in which it makes
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such purchases, offers, sales or deliveries and none of the Issuer or OTP shall have any responsihility
therefor.

Purchase of ICES and Stabilising Activities

The ICES are a new issue of securities with no established trading market. Aceordingly, the Issuer
cannot assure the liquidity of the trading market for the ICES.

Purchasers who purchase ICES from the Manager may be reqeired to pay stamp taxes and other
charges in accordance with the laws and practices of the country of purchase in addition to the Tssue Price
set out on the cover page of this Prospectus.

In connection with the offering of the ICES, Merrill Lynch International is permitted to engage in
certain transactions that may stabifise the price of the ICES or the price of the Ordinary Shares. These
transactions may consist of bids or purchases for the purpose of pegging, fixing or maintaining the price of
the ICES or the price of the Ordinary Shares.

In addition, if Merrill Lynch International over-allots by seiling more YCES than are set out on the
cover page of this Prospectus, and thereby creates a short position in the ICES in connection with the
offering, the Manager may reduce that short position by purchasing ICES in the open market.

In general, purchases of a security for the purpose of stabilising or reducing a short position conid
cause the price of the security to be higher than # might otherwise be in the absence of such purchases.

None of the Issuer, OTP or the Manager makes any representation or prediction as to the direction or
magnitude of any effect that the transactions described above may have on the price of the ICES or the
price of the Ordinary Shares, In addition, none of the Issuer, OTP or the Manager makes any
representation that Merdll Tynch International will engage in such transsctions at all or that such
transactions (i entered inte) will net be discontinwed without notice, once they are commenced.

From time to time, the Manager and its affiliates have or may have provided, and may continue to
provide, investment banking services to members of the Group for which they have been or will be paid
customary fees. Merrill Lynch International is a party to the Secarities Lending Agreement entered into by
the Isswer in connection with the ICES {see “Security for the JCES™). Ta addition, Merrill Lynch
Intemnational has entered into separate arrangements with OTP and the Tssuer to facilitate the sale of
Ordinary Shares by OTP to the Issuer on or before the Closing Date and pursuant to the Subordinated
Swap Agrecment,

In connection with the offering of the ICES, any of the Manager and/or its affiliates may act as an
investor for its own account and may take up ICES in the offering described in this Prospectus and in that
capacity may retain, porchase or sell for its own sccount such seeurities and any securities of the Issner or
OTP or related investments and may offer or seli sech securitios or other investments otherwise than in
connection with such offerimg. Accordingly, references herein to the ICES being offered should be read as
including any offering of ICES to the Manager and/or its affiliates acting in such capacity. Such persons do
not intend fo disclose the extent of any such investment or transactions otherwise than in accordance with
any legal or regulatory obligation to do sa,
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GENRRAL INFORMATION
{1} Listing

Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for the ICES to be admitted to the
official list and traded on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange Regulated Market. Such admission and trading
are expected to commence on 31 October 2006, :

(2} Awthorisation

The Issuer and OTP have cbrained ali necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in conzection
with the issue and performance of the ICES. The issue of the ICES by the Issuer was authorised by 2
resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer passed on 19 October 2006 and the making of the
offering and the entry into of the documentation to which OTP is or will be & party was anthorised by a
resolution of the Board of Directors of OTP passed on 18 October 2006,

{3) Clearing Reference Numbers

The ICES have been accepted for clearance through the Cleasstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear
systems with a Common Code of 827272355, The ISIN for the ICES is XS0272723551. The address of
Euroclear is 1 Boulevard du Rof Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, Belgitm and the address of Clearstream,
Luxembourg is 42 Avenue JF Kennedy L-1855 Luxembourg.

The Ordinary Shares trade on the Budapest Stock Exchange under the symbol “OTP”. The ISIN in
respect of the Ordinary Shares is HK0000061726.

{4) Financial Position

There has been no significant change in the firancial or trading position of, and no material adverse
change in the financial position or prospects of, the Issver since § February 2006, its date of incorporation.

There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position, and no materia! adverse
change in the financial position or prospects, of OTF or the Group since 31 December 2005,

(5) Legal Proceedings

The Issuer has not been invelved in any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings {inchiding aay
such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Issuer is aware) since 1 February 2006, its
date of incorporation.

Neither OTP nor any other member of the Group Is or has been involved in any governmental, legal
or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which OTP
is aware) in the 12 months preceding the date of this Prospectus which may have or have in such period
had 2 significant effect on the financial position or profitabiiity of OTP andfor the Group.

(6) Anditors

The auditors of OTP are Deloitte Auditing and Consulting Kft. of Dézsa GySrgy u. 84/, 1068
Budapest, Hungary, who have andited OTP's consolidated acconnts, which have been prepared without
qualification, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards for each of the two financial
years ended on 31 December 2004 and 2005, respectively. The anditors of OTP have no matedal interest in
OTP Deloitte Auditing and Consulting Kft. are members of the Chamber of Hungarian Auditors.

Deloitte Auditing and Consulting Kft. have alse audited OTP’s unconsolidated accounts in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards for each of the two financial years ended on
31 December 2004 and 2005, respectively. The opinion covering the audit of those accounts are qualified
because, and only because, those accounts have been published earlier than the consolidated accounts in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards for the corresponding periods and as & result
could not include consolidated financial information.

The reports of the auditors of QTP are incorporated by reference in this Prospectus as described
under “Documents Incorporated by Refereace” above.

The independent audjtors of the Issuer are Deloitte S.A. of 560, nie de Neudorf, 1.-2220 Luxembourg,
Luxembousrg (a member of the Institut des Réviseurs d"Entreprises). The Issuer has not prepared any
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audited financial statements since its ineorporation. The Issuer expects that its first audited financial
statements wili be prepared in respect of the financial year ending 31 December 2006, The anditors of the
Issuer have no material interest in the Issuer.

(7} Trustee's refiance

The Trust Deed provides that the Trustee may rely on certificates or reports from OTF's auditors in
accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed whether or not any such certificate or report, or
engagernent letier or other document entered into by the Trustes and OTP’s suditors in consection
therewith, contains any limit on the Hability of OTP’s auditors.

(8} Share Capital—General

The following table shows the avthorised and issued share capital of OTP as at the date of this
Prospectus:

Authorised  Issued
HF mn  HUF mm
Common Shares v .o oot crn e e 28,000 25,000

The fully diluted ordinary share capital of OTP at the date of this Prospectus was as foliows:

Number of
Crdinary
Shares

Ordinary Sharesindssue ... ... .o 280,000,000
Fully dituted Ordinary Share capital . ......................... 280,000,000

(%) Changes in Issued Share Capital
Since 1 January 2003, there have been no changes in the issued ordinary share capital of OTF,

Dliring the three years Immediately preceding the date of this Prospectus, there have been no ssues of
share capital of OTP and no such issues are proposed.

(107 Directors' Interests

{a) No Director has or has had any interest in any transaction which is or was unusual in its nature or
conditions or significant to the business of the Group and which was effected by QTP during the
eurrent or immediately preceding financial year or during any earlier financial year and which
remains it any respect outstanding or unpesformed, :

(b As of 31 Janunary 2006, the Directors have an aggregate of HUF 142.2 million in loans from OTE

(11) Employees’ share option schemes

The Execntive Share Option Program (the “Program™) has been adopted by resolution No. 9/2005 of
OTP's annual general meeting, The objactive of the Program is to help attain OTP’s strategic objectives for
the financial years 2003 - 2009, to recognise the achievement, both at the level of OTE and the OTP
Grouap, of OTP’s management and its key officers, as well as of the management of OTP’s subsidiaries, and
to provide an appropriate incentive to them for the future. The Program is intended to reward
achievements for the financial years 2005 . 2009,

Achicvement of two predefined consolidated performance indicators of the OTP Group is the
precondition for the exercising of the Program. The number of participants and shares may change during
the five-year term of the Program, however the number of OTP shares arnounced and available for
purchase within the framework of the Program may not exceed 3 million in any assessed financial year,

In order to qualify for the Program, a person must be 2 member of an executive bedy for a period of at
feast six months during the assessed financial year which must still be valid on the last day of the assessed
financial year, or have an employment contract associated with the given position,

The purchase price of shares for sale in a given eption period is the average of daily mid-rates
recorded at the Budapest Stock Exchange in the month when the annual ordinary generzl meeting is hetd
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in the assessed financial year (first in 2005) and in the calendar month preceding that month. OTP’s Beard
of Directors determines the option purchase price in their first or second meeting following the menth in
which the annual ordinary general meeting is held in the assessed financial year.

{12 Material Contracts

OTP has not entered into any material contract (other than in the ordinary course of business) which
could result in it or any member of the Group being under an cbligation or entitlement that is materiaf to
OTP’s ability to perform its obligations under the ICES and the Subordinated Swap Agreement,

(13) Expenses
The total expenses related to the admission to trading are estimated to be €5,300.

{14) Documents for display

With effect from the date of this Prospectus and thereafter for so long as any ICES remain
outstanding, copies of the following documents will be available (during usual buasiness hours on any
weekday (Saturdays and public holidays excepted)} for inspection at the registered office of OTP and from
the specified offices of the Paying, Transfer and Exchange Agents for the time being:

(a) the Articles of Incorporation of the Issuer and the By-Laws of OTP (each with an English
transiation thereof);

(b} the consolidated and non-consolidated audited financial statements of OTP in respect of the
financial years ended 31 December 2004 and 2005 (with an English translation therecf), togather
with the awdit reports prepared in connection therewith. OTP currently prepares audited
consolidated and non-consolidated accounts on an annual basis;

{c) the most recently published audited comsolidated and non.consolidated annual financiai
statements of OTP and the most recently published unaudited interim financial staternents of
OTP (with an; English translation thersof), in each case together with any audit or review reports
prepared in connection therewith, OTP currently prepares unaudited consolidated and
non-conselidated interim accounts on a quarterly basis;

(d) the most recently published audited anaual financial statements of the Issuer, together with the
audit report prepared in connection therewith. No financial statements of the Issuer have been
prepared or published as at the date of this Prospectus. The first financisl statements to be
prepared and published by the Issuer will therefore be in respect of the pericd from' its
incorporation {being 1 February 2006) to 31 December 2006, The Issuer is not required to and
does not intend to publish interim financial statements;

(2} the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Subordinated Swap Agreement, the Custody
Agreement, the Securities Lending Agreement, the MI. Guarantee and the Security Deposit
Agreement {or pending their execution, drafts thereof in substantially final form); and

(f) this Prospectus.

(15) JPMorgan

JPMorgan Chase entered into an agreement with The Bank of New York Company, Inc. (“BNY™)
pursuant to which JPMorgan Chase exchanged select portions of its corporate trust business, including
municipal, corporate and structured finance trusteeships and agency appoiniments, for BNY’s consumer,
smali-business and middle-market banking businesses, This transaction was approved by both companies’
toards of directors and was completed on 1 October 2006,
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